
 

 

Executive Board 
 

Thursday, 11 June 2020 
Time: 6.00 pm 

Virtual Meeting, see link below: 
Join Here 

 
 

 
AGENDA 

Information may be provided by each Executive Member relating to their 
area of responsibility 
 
1.   Welcome and Apologies  

 
2.   Minutes of the Previous Meeting  

 Minutes - March 2020 4 - 14 

 
3.   Declarations of Interest  

 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST FORM 15 

 
4.   Equality Implications  

 The Chair will ask Members to confirm that they have 
considered and understood any Equality Impact 
Assessments associated with reports on this agenda ahead 
of making any decisions. 
 

 

5.   Public Forum  

 To receive written questions or statements submitted by 
members of the public no later than 4pm on the day prior to 
the meeting. 
 

 

6.   Questions by Non-Executive Members  

 To receive written questions submitted by Non-Executive 
Members no later than 4pm on the day prior to the meeting. 
 

 

7.   Youth MPs Update  

 To receive an update from the Youth MPs along with any 
issues they would like to raise. 
 

 

8.   Executive Member Reports  

 Verbal updates may be given by each Executive Member. 
 

 

Leader  
 

 

Adult Services and Prevention   

Public Document Pack

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_YjhiYTgzZWYtOWZiYS00ZDA5LWFiNGUtMTc1NDhjMmYxYWY0%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%22dcfb3fe3-e9c9-423a-a1da-148a4b3a2e60%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%2269c7acd0-b51d-4cc3-a771-6977a69570c5%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d


 

 

 
Children, Young People and Education  
 

 

8.1   Fostering Report Quarter 3  

 Fostering Q3 
Fostering Q3 Appendix 

16 - 31 

 
8.2   Adoption Bi-Annual Report  

 Adoption Bi-Annual Report 
Adoption Bi-Annual Report Appendix 

32 - 50 

 
8.3   School Holiday Pattern 2021/2022  

 School Holiday Pattern 
Appendix 1 - EIA 
Appendix 2 School Holiday Pattern 

51 - 57 

 
Environmental Services  
 

 

Public Health and Wellbeing  
 

 

Digital and Customer Services  
 

 

Growth and Development  
 

 

8.4   Masterplan - Bank Hey  

 Bank Hey Masterplan 
Appendix 1 Masterplan 
Masterplan Appendix 2 
Masterplan Appendix 3 

58 - 179 

 
Finance and Governance  
 

 

8.5   Corporate Revenue Budget Monitoring Report - Quarter 
4 - 2019/20 

 

 Revenue Monitoring 2019-20 QTR4 - OUTTURN 
QTR 4 2019-20 Revenue Monitoring Appendix 1 
QTR 4 2019-20 Revenue Monitoring Appendix 2 

180 - 
190 

 
9.   Corporate Issues  

 
9.1   Disposal of Land off Ellison Fold Way, Darwen  

 Ellison Fold Way P1 
Appendix - Ellison Fold Way 

191 - 
196 

 
9.2   Update on Decisions taken under Emergency Powers in 

relation to the Council's initial response to the Covid-19 
Pandemic 

 



 

 

 Update on Covid 19 Decisions taken 197 - 
200 

 
9.3   Corporate Plan Progress Report  

 Corporate Plan Report 
Appendix 1 Corporate Plan 
Appendix 2 Corporate Plan 

201 - 
219 

 
10.   Matters referred to the Executive Board  

 
10.1   Petition: Disposal of Open Space off Old Gates Drive  

 Petition - Old Gates Drive 
Appendix 1 Old Gates Drive 
Appendix 2 Old Gates Drive 

220 - 
236 

 
 
PART 2 – THE PRESS AND PUBLIC MAY BE EXCLUDED DURING 
CONSIDERATION OF THE FOLLOWING ITEMS 
 
11.1   Disposal of Land off Ellison Way, Darwen  

 Ellison Fold Way P2 237 - 
243 

 
 

Date Published: Wednesday, 03 June 2020  
Denise Park, Chief Executive 

 



Executive Board 
Thursday, 12th March, 2020 

EXECUTIVE BOARD 
Thursday, 12th March, 2020 

 
PRESENT 
 
COUNCILLOR: PORTFOLIO: 
Councillor Maureen Bateson MBE Children, Young People and Education 
Councillor Mustafa Desai Adult Services and Prevention 
Councillor Mohammed Khan OBE Leader of the Council 
Councillor Quesir Mahmood Digital and Customer Services 
Councillor Vicky Ellen McGurk Finance and Governance 
Councillor Phil Riley Growth and Prosperity 
Councillor Jim Smith Environmental Services 
 
EXECUTIVE MEMBER: NON-PORTFOLIO: 
Councillor John Slater Leader of the Conservative Group 
 
ALL IN ATTENDANCE: 
Zara Hayat 
Khalid Omar 
Muhammad Bapu 

 
Youth MP 
Deputy Youth MP 
Deputy Youth MP 

  
 

 Item Action 
1   Welcome and Apologies 

 
The Leader of the Council, Councillor Mohammed Khan, 
welcomed all to the meeting. Apologies had been received from 
Councillor Damian Talbot. The Leader referred to the current 
situation relating to Covid-19 and outlined the steps the Council 
had taken to date to deal with the ongoing serious situation. 
 

 

2   Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 
The Minutes of the Meeting held on 13th February 2020 were 
agreed as a correct record. 
 

 
 

Agreed 

3   Declarations of Interest 
 
There were no Declarations of Interest submitted. 
 

 

4   Equality Implications 
 
The Chair asked Members to confirm that they had considered 
and understood any Equality Impact Assessments associated with 
reports on the agenda ahead of making any decisions. 
 

 
 

Confirmed 

5   Public Forum 
 
No questions had been received from members of the public. 
 

 

6   Questions by Non-Executive Members 
 
No questions had been received from Non-Executive Members. 
 
 

 

Page 4

Agenda Item 2



 Item Action 

Executive Board 
Thursday, 12th March, 2020 

7   Youth MPs Update 
 
The Youth MPs updated the Executive Board on recent activities 
and events they had attended and on the progress of their key 
themes. Councillor Maureen Bateson outlined the ways the Youth 
MPs could assist and get involved, including fundraising for 
Kaleidoscope and a visit to Appletrees, which had recently been 
rated as ‘Beyond Outstanding’ following a recent inspection. 
 

 
 

Noted 

   

 
8.1  Establishment of a Joint Health and Overview Scrutiny 

Committee 
 
The Executive Board were informed of the requirement to 
establish  a Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee of the 
upper tier local authorities; Blackburn with Darwen Borough 
Council ,  Lancashire County Council, Cumbria County Council 
and Blackpool Borough Council as required under the National 
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended by the Health and Social 
Care Act 2012) to consider and respond to consultations relating 
to  “substantial reconfiguration” proposals for health services 
affecting more than one of the local authority areas.  
 
The Draft terms of reference for the proposed Joint Health Scrutiny 
Committee had been drawn up for consideration and were 
attached at appendix 1. These were being presented to each of 
the constituent bodies who would make up the Joint Committee.   
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That the Executive Board: 
 

1. Notes the report and the requirement to appoint a 

mandatory joint committee for responding to consultations 

relating to “substantial reconfiguration” proposals for health 

services affecting more than one local authority area. 

2. Recommends to Council to: 

i) agree to the establishment of the joint committee and 

nominate [3] members of the Council to it, as 

referred to in the report;  

ii) not to delegate to the joint committee and retain the 
power to allow the Council to make its own referrals 
to the Secretary of State, and request that the Terms 
of Reference be amended accordingly.    

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Noted 
 
 
 
 

  Approved 

 
 

8.2  Update on RIPA Activity, Procedural Guide and Desktop RIPA 
Inspection 
 

 
 
 Page 5



 Item Action 

Executive Board 
Thursday, 12th March, 2020 

Members received an update report on, RIPA activity/applications 
RIPA training delivered to officers, the outcome of a recent 
desktop inspection undertaken by the Investigatory Powers 
Commissioner’s Office [‘IPCO’] and current plans to amend / 
update the RIPA procedural guide 
 
Since the last full RIPA inspection, the Council had continued to 
regularly, review and monitor any RIPA related activity undertaken 
by the authority. This included training and review of the 
Procedural Guide for updates as required. 
 
RESOLVED – 
 
That the Executive Board: 
 
Note that:                
2.1  There have been no RIPA applications since the last full 

inspection in June 2016. 

 

2.2  The training delivered to officers as detailed in the body of this 

report. 

 
2.3  The outcome of the IPCO desktop inspection. 

 
Approve that: 
2.4 That the actions required from the observations within the 

inspection outcome letter should be implemented. 

 

2.5 That when completed, the draft updated RIPA Procedural 
Guide should be reported to the Policy and Corporate Resources 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee for comments prior to Executive 
Board approval. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Noted 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Approved 

 
 
 

  

 
8.3  LTP 3 2020/21 Detailed Programme 

 
To seek the Executive Board’s approval for the detailed Local 
Transport Plan 3 (LTP3) programme for financial year 2020/21. 
The LTP 3 Strategy covering the period 2011 – 2021 was 
originally approved by the Council Forum on 28th April 2011. 
 
RESOLVED - 
 
That the Executive Board: 
 

1) Approves the Local Transport Plan 3 detailed programme 
for 2020/21; 
 

2)  Delegates authority to the Director of Growth and 
Development, in consultation with the Executive Member for 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Approved 
 
 

Approved 

Page 6



 Item Action 

Executive Board 
Thursday, 12th March, 2020 

Growth and Development, to amend, seek and accept 
tenders subject to adequate budget provision.  

 
 

8.4  Fishmoor Drive Land Disposal 
 
A report was submitted, advising that the Fishmoor Drive area was 
part of the South East Blackburn Housing Zone (designation 
granted by Homes England) and was seen as an important growth 
area that could yield a large number of new homes to meet the 
Council’s needs and aspiration.  
 
During 2018 the Council granted an exclusivity period to Together 
Housing and their joint venture partner Countryside Homes (the 
JV) to develop proposals for building new homes of mixed tenure 
and type on four housing sites in the Fishmoor Drive area. 
 
The JV had now provided scheme proposals for three of the sites 
in the area, presented a land offer for the two Council owned sites 
and prepared a programme of development subject to approvals 
from the respective boards. 
 
RESOLVED - 
 
That the Executive Board: 
 
2.1 Notes the development proposals prepared by the Together 
Housing Association and Countryside Properties Joint Venture 
(JV) 
 
2.2 Notes the financial offer outlined in the Part 2 report for the two 
Council owned sites at Fishmoor Drive and Roman Road  
 
2.3 Grants approval to appoint  Together Housing and Countryside 
Homes as preferred developer to initiate the planning and 
subsequent development programme  
 
2.4 Authorise Council officers to negotiate Heads of Terms to 
finalise the terms of the disposal 
 
2.5 Delegates authority to conclude negotiations, including terms 
of any land sale and contracts to the Director of Growth and 
Development and Growth Programme Director in consultation with 
the Executive Members for Resources and Finance and 
Governance, Growth and Development to approve the final heads 
of terms. 
 
2.6 Authorises the Director of HR, Legal and Governance to 
complete the necessary legal formalities. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   Noted 
 
 
 
   Noted 
 
 
   Approved 
 
 
 
  Approved 
 
 
  Approved 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  Approved 

 
8.5  Treasury Management Strategy 

 
The Executive Board received a report which advised that the 
Council was required to approve a Treasury Management Strategy 
before the start of each financial year. It must also set Treasury 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



 Item Action 

Executive Board 
Thursday, 12th March, 2020 

and Prudential Indicators and a policy for determining a “prudent” 
level of Minimum Revenue Provision for repayment of debt, which 
is consistent with the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy 
(MTFS). 
 
RESOLVED – 
 
It is recommended that the Executive Board: 
 
2.1 Approves the proposed Treasury Management Strategy for 
2020/21, detailed in Appendix 1, including the proposed Treasury 
Management Indicators. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Approved 

    
9.1  Sale of Minority Shareholding in BSF Project Companies 

 
As part of the Building Schools for the Future Programme (”BSF”) 
the Council became a minority shareholder in two project 
companies. The Council has received an offer from the majority 
shareholder, Amber Infrastructure, to purchase the Council 
shares. 
 
As part of the BSF Programme, three new schools were procured 
through two PFI (Private Finance Initiative) Contracts. The schools 
were delivered in two phases and both achieved Financial Close in 
2010:  
Phase 1 – Pleckgate High School.  
Phase 2 - Witton Park High School and Blackburn Central High 
School with Crosshill.  
 
On the 21st September 2009, Balfour Beatty Education was appointed 
as the Council’s selected partner to form the Blackburn with Darwen 
and Bolton Local Education Partnership to deliver the BSF 
investment programme across the Borough.  
 
On the 12th July 2016 the Local Education Partnership (LEP) formally 
notified the Council of Balfour Beatty’s Investment’s decision to sell 
its shares in the PFI Project Companies and the LEP; the 
shareholding was then subsequently sold to Amber Fund 
Management.  
 
Amber Infrastructure had now made an offer to buy both Council’s 
shares in the two PFI Project Companies. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That the Executive Board: 
 

1. Notes the consequences of selling the shares outlined in 
this report; 

2. Approves the sale of the shares to Amber Infrastucture. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

    Noted 
 
    Approved 
 
 

 

9.2  Disposal of Council land at Lomond Gardens, Blackburn, Site 
Appropriation and Disposal of Open Space 
 
Members were advised of the outcome of the Informal tender for 

 
 
 
 

Page 8



 Item Action 

Executive Board 
Thursday, 12th March, 2020 

the Council owned land at Lomond Gardens, Blackburn and 
approval was requested to dispose of the site for housing 
development to the recommended preferred bidder.  
 
The appropriation was for the purpose of enabling the construction 
of up to 35 new family homes. The land at Lomond Gardens was 
previously used as an all-weather pitch for St Bede’s RC High 
school.  
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That the Executive Board: 
 
2.1 Approves the appointment of Bidder A as preferred bidder. 
 
2.2 Approves the appointment of Bidder B as reserve bidder.  
 
2.3 Grants permission for Council officers to negotiate Heads of 

Terms to finalise the terms of the disposal. 
 
2.4 Delegates authority to conclude negotiations, including terms 
of any land sale and contracts to the Growth Programme Director 
and Director of Finance and Customer Services in consultation 
with the Executive Member for Finance and Governance and 
Executive Member for Growth and Development to approve the 
final heads of terms. 
 
2.5 Authorises the Director of HR, Legal and Governance to 
complete the necessary legal formalities.  
 
2.6 Delegates authority to agree a contribution from the purchase 
price to St Bede’s RC High School’s Capital programme to the 
Growth Programme Director in consultation with the Executive 
Member for Finance and Governance and Executive Member for 
Growth and Development. 
 
2.7 Authorise the Director of Growth and Development to 
appropriate the land at Lomond Gardens shown edged red on plan 
attached Appendix A from the Education and Environment 
portfolios to Growth & Development in accordance with section 
s.122 of the Local Government Act 1972 and subsequent use of 
the Council’s powers under s.203 – 206 of the Housing and 
Planning Act 2016 to override any third party rights and easements 
on the land.  
 
2.8 Authorise the Director of HR, Legal and Governance to 
advertise the proposal to appropriate in accordance with the 
statutory process under Section 122 of the Local Government Act 
1972  
 
2.9 Authorise the Director of HR, Legal and Governance to 
advertise the proposal to dispose of ‘open space’ in accordance 
with the statutory process under Section 123(2A) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Approved 
 

Approved 
 

Approved 
 
 

Approved 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Approved 
 
 

Approved 
 
 
 
 
 

Approved 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Approved 
 
 
 
 

Approved 
 
 
 
 Page 9



 Item Action 

Executive Board 
Thursday, 12th March, 2020 

2.10 Note that in authorising the commencement of the 
appropriation process of the Lomond gardens site, the Council has 
considered the provisions of the Equalities Act 2010 and the 
Human Rights Act 1998 as set out in this report. 
 
2.11 Authorise the Director of Growth and Development for the 
consideration of any objections to both the appropriation proposal 
and ‘open space’ disposal. 
 
2.12 If the appropriation is approved, authorise the negotiation and 
payment of any compensation claims potentially emerging from 
the appropriation. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Approved 
 
 
 

Approved 

9.3  Education Capital Growth Scheme 
 
The Council was seeking to expand the provision of early years 
and primary school places to meet demographic pressures and to 
accommodate anticipated pupil growth and demand from the 
development of new homes. 
 
New housing was primarily concentrated into 4 key growth zones 
with sites now delivering housing and more programmed to 
commence over the coming years. The anticipated housing yield 
for each of the areas was as below. 
 

o North Blackburn –900 new homes  
o West Blackburn –2400 new hones  
o Darwen East –1000 new homes  
o South East Blackburn –1200 new homes 

 
As part of the Local Plan, the Council was required to consider the 
impact of housing growth on the demand for school places, and 
where required the Council was expected to create new school 
places to meet this demand. For education, Section 106 
contributions could be requested from developers to support with 
providing new school places where they are needed as a result of 
new development.  
 
The report detailed the proposed increased number of school 
places and proposed locations, as outlined in the 
recommendations below. 
 
RESOLVED - 
 
That the Executive Board: 
 

Approves:  
 

1. An increase in the pupil capacity at Lammack Community 
Primary School from 490 to 630 to meet the anticipated 
demand in pupil growth from the planned housing 
developments in North Blackburn. 

 
2. An increase in the primary school pupil capacity in Darwen in 

principle to meet the anticipated demand in pupil growth from 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Approved 
 
 
 
 

Approved 
 Page 10



 Item Action 

Executive Board 
Thursday, 12th March, 2020 

the planned housing developments in Darwen, subject to final 
sign off of the s106 funding agreements and the outcome of 
ongoing consultations with diocesan bodies and relevant 
schools to confirm the most appropriate school site. 

 
3. The proposal to co-locate Longshaw Nursery School with 

Longshaw Infant School, increasing the numbers of children 
that the nursery can accommodate to meet the anticipated 
demand in pupil growth from the planned housing 
developments in Blackburn South, with the final funding 
package to be confirmed as referenced in the report. 

 
 

 
 
 
 

   
 Approved 

  AT THIS STAGE OF THE PROCEEDINGS THE PRESS AND 
PUBLIC WERE EXCLUDED FROM THE MEETIING 
 

 

11.1  Fishmoor Drive Land Disposal 
 
Further to the report submitted at Agenda Item 8.4, an additional 
report was submitted containing commercially sensitive 
information. 
 
RESOLVED –  
That the Executive Board: 
 
2.1 Notes the development proposals prepared by the Together 
Housing Association and Countryside Properties Joint Venture 
(JV) 
 
2.2 Notes the financial offer outlined in the Part 2 report for the two 
Council owned sites at Fishmoor Drive and Roman Road  
 
2.3 Grants approval to appoint  Together Housing and Countryside 
Homes as preferred developer to initiate the planning and 
subsequent development programme  
 
2.4 Authorise Council officers to negotiate Heads of Terms to 
finalise the terms of the disposal 
 
2.5 Delegates authority to conclude negotiations, including terms 
of any land sale and contracts to the Director of Growth and 
Development and Growth Programme Director in consultation with 
the Executive Members for Resources and Finance and 
Governance, Growth and Development to approve the final heads 
of terms. 
 
2.6 Authorises the Director of HR, Legal and Governance to 
complete the necessary legal formalities. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Noted 
 
 
 

Noted 
 
 

Approved 
 
 
 

Approved 
 
 

Approved 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Approved 

     11.2  Disposal of Council land at Lomond Gardens, Blackburn, Site 
Appropriation and Disposal of Open Space 
 
Further to the report submitted at Agenda Item 9.2, an additional 
report was submitted containing commercially sensitive 

 
 
 
 
 Page 11



 Item Action 

Executive Board 
Thursday, 12th March, 2020 

information. 
 
RESOLVED -  
 
That the Executive Board: 
 
2.1 Approves the appointment of Bidder A as preferred bidder. 
 
2.4 Approves the appointment of Bidder B as reserve bidder.  
 
2.5 Grants permission for Council officers to negotiate Heads of 

Terms to finalise the terms of the disposal. 
 
2.4 Delegates authority to conclude negotiations, including terms 
of any land sale and contracts to the Growth Programme Director 
and Director of Finance and Customer Services in consultation 
with the Executive Member for Finance and Governance and 
Executive Member for Growth and Development to approve the 
final heads of terms. 
 
2.5 Authorises the Director of HR, Legal and Governance to 
complete the necessary legal formalities.  
 
2.6 Delegates authority to agree a contribution from the purchase 
price to St Bede’s RC High School’s Capital programme to the 
Growth Programme Director in consultation with the Executive 
Member for Finance and Governance and Executive Member for 
Growth and Development. 
 
2.7 Authorise the Director of Growth and Development to 
appropriate the land at Lomond Gardens shown edged red on plan 
attached Appendix A from the Education and Environment 
portfolios to Growth & Development in accordance with section 
s.122 of the Local Government Act 1972 and subsequent use of 
the Council’s powers under s.203 – 206 of the Housing and 
Planning Act 2016 to override any third party rights and easements 
on the land.  
 
2.8 Authorise the Director of HR, Legal and Governance to 
advertise the proposal to appropriate in accordance with the 
statutory process under Section 122 of the Local Government Act 
1972  
 
2.9 Authorise the Director of HR, Legal and Governance to 
advertise the proposal to dispose of ‘open space’ in accordance 
with the statutory process under Section 123(2A) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 
 
2.10 Note that in authorising the commencement of the 
appropriation process of the Lomond gardens site, the Council has 
considered the provisions of the Equalities Act 2010 and the 
Human Rights Act 1998 as set out in this report. 
 
2.11 Authorise the Director of Growth and Development for the 
consideration of any objections to both the appropriation proposal 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Approved 
 

Approved 
 

Approved 
 
 

Approved 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Approved 
 
 

Approved 
 
 
 
 
 

Approved 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Approved 
 
 
 
 

Approved 
 
 
 
 

Approved 
 
 
 
 

Approved 
 Page 12



 Item Action 

Executive Board 
Thursday, 12th March, 2020 

and ‘open space’ disposal. 
 
2.12 If the appropriation is approved, authorise the negotiation and 
payment of any compensation claims potentially emerging from 
the appropriation. 
 
 

 
 

Approved 

     11.3  LTP 3 2020/21 Detailed Programme 
 
Further to the report submitted at Agenda Item 8.3, an additional 
report was submitted containing commercially sensitive 
information. 
 
RESOLVED – 
 
That the Executive Board: 
 
1). Approves the Local Transport Plan 3 detailed programme for 
2020/21; 

 
2). Delegates authority to the Director of Growth and 
Development, in consultation with the Executive Member for 
Growth and Development, to amend, seek and accept tenders 
subject to adequate budget provision. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Approved 
 
 

Approved 
   
 
   

11.4  Sale of Minority Shareholding in BSF Project Companies 
 
Further to the report submitted at Agenda Item 9.1, an additional 
report was submitted containing commercially sensitive 
information. 
 
RESOLVED -  
 
That the Executive Board: 
 
1.Notes the consequences of selling the shares outlined in this 
report; 
 
2. Approves the sale of the shares to Amber Infrastucture. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Noted 
 
 

Approved 

    
  

 
Signed at a meeting of the Board  

 
on Thursday, 9 April 2020 

 
 
 

(being the ensuing meeting on the Board) 
 

Chair of the meeting at which the Minutes were confirmed 
 
 

 

Page 13



 Item Action 

Executive Board 
Thursday, 12th March, 2020 

 

Page 14



   

D:\blackburn\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\2\2\AI00003220\$ir34doa4.doc 

         
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST IN  

 
ITEMS ON THIS AGENDA 

 
 
Members attending a Council, Committee, Board or other 
meeting with a personal interest in a matter on the Agenda 
must disclose the existence and nature of the interest and, if 
it is a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest or an Other Interest 
under paragraph 16.1 of the Code of Conduct, should leave 
the meeting during discussion and voting on the item. 
 
Members declaring an interest(s) should complete this form 
and hand it to the Democratic Services Officer at the 
commencement of the meeting and declare such an interest 
at the appropriate point on the agenda. 

 
 

MEETING:       EXECUTIVE BOARD 
      
DATE:                         11th June 2020 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO.:   
 
DESCRIPTION (BRIEF): 
 
NATURE OF INTEREST: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY/OTHER (delete as appropriate) 
 
 
SIGNED :  

 
PRINT NAME:  

 
(Paragraphs 8 to 17 of the Code of Conduct for Members of the Council refer) 

 
 
 

Page 15

Agenda Item 3



EXECUTIVE BOARD DECISION 

 

REPORT OF: Executive Member for Children, Young People and 
Education 

LEAD OFFICERS: Director of Children's Services & Education 

DATE: 
 

Thursday, 11 June 2020 

 

PORTFOLIO(S) AFFECTED: Children, Young People and 
Education 

 

WARD/S AFFECTED: (All Wards);  

KEY DECISION: Y  

 

SUBJECT: 

Q3 Fostering Report Oct-Dec 2019 with Appendix 1 paper. 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

This Report provides information on the management and performance of the Local Authority’s 
Fostering Service and is revised each Quarter. 
 

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

That the Executive Board notes the Quarter 3 Fostering Service Report which is available on the 
Council’s website along with supporting paper, Appendix 1. 
 
 

 

3. BACKGROUND 

 
The Fostering Service Regulations 2011 and the National Minimum Standards for Fostering 
Services requires that the Council Executive: 
 
a) Receive written reports on the management, outcomes and financial state of the Fostering 

Service every 3 months; 
 

b) Monitor the management and outcomes of the services in order to satisfy themselves that the 
service is effective and is achieving good outcomes for children; 

 
c) Satisfy themselves that the provider is complying with the conditions of registration.     
 
The Report has been written to address the areas identified above.  It will be taken into account by 
OFSTED when inspecting the Service. 
 
The Report is for the third Quarter of 2019 covering the period from 1st October to 31st December 
2019, and provides a comprehensive overview of the Service. 
 
 

 

 

 Page 16

Agenda Item 8.1



 

4. KEY ISSUES & RISKS 

The Appendix 1 paper provides a comprehensive overview of the Fostering Service, issues and 
risks with recommendations for Service development. The key areas are as follows: 
 
- Quarter 3 has seen a reduction in the number of children in our care, in comparison to the previous 
periods as outlined in the table below. There has been an increase in the number of children placed 
with family and friends carers, and decrease in the number of Independent Fostering Agency (IFA) 
placements.  
 
- The number of males in our care remains the highest gender group, with a consistent pattern 
each Quarter of the 11-15 age group being the most significant and more challenging in terms of 
sufficiency to identify long-term placements. This age group 11-15 years is the most prominent in 
terms of being in Local Authority foster placements however, with the 3-6 year old age group 
predominantly placed with family and friends carers. There remains in Quarter 3 a higher 
proportion of children in the birth to 2 year age group placed in our care. 
 
- The White British ethnic group, at 80% have a significantly higher number of children in our care 
as opposed to 12% from the Asian population. There are 7 children with disabilities in our care in 
Quarter 3, with no placement requests for this cohort of children in Quarter 2 or 3 which is positive 
and demonstrates the supportive Child in Need packages in place to prevent family breakdown.  
 
- Reasons for placement instability includes the disruption of placements for teenagers displaying 
challenging behaviours and missing from home episodes, and an influx of larger sibling groups. It 
remains the case that babies and under 2’s are placed in parent and Child Assessment Unit’s and 
in foster placements for example for the duration of care proceedings, before settling into their 
permanent placement and this can impact upon figures.  
 
-The regional ‘You Can Foster’ recruitment campaign has been live since September 2016 and has 
helped generate enquiries via the You Can Foster website. During this Quarter, the Service was 
informed that the ‘You Can Foster’ service would end in 2020 for all Local Authorities who have 
currently signed up to this contract. The ‘front door’ service of accepting enquiries and being the 
initial point of contact for five North West Authorities, will cease in March 2020. 
 
- The requests for commissioned placements in Quarter 3 has seen some reduction from October 
to December 2019. The service continues to be as creative as possible and offering short breaks to 
maintain existing placements and prevent disruption where this is achievable. The number of 
requests for parent and Child Assessment Unit placements, which saw an increase in Quarter 2, 
has decreased this Quarter. There is an evident peak in children and young people placed at home 
on Care Orders or Supervision Orders. 
 
 

 

5. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

No policy implications identified. 
 

 

6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

Any increase in demand within the Fostering Service has the potential to have a significant impact 
on the financial position of the portfolio, due to the costs of externally commissioned placements. 
As a result, both the fostering and commissioned placements budgets are closely monitored 
throughout the year. 
 
 

 Page 17



7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

This report is required to meet statutory requirements as set out in the ‘National Minimum 
Standards for Fostering.’ 
 

 

8. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

 
None identified. 

 

 

9. EQUALITY AND HEALTH IMPLICATIONS 

Please select one of the options below.   
 

Option 1   ☒ Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) not required – the EIA checklist has been 

 completed. 
 

Option 2   ☐ In determining this matter the Executive Member needs to consider the EIA 

 associated with this item in advance of making the decision.  
 

Option 3   ☐ In determining this matter the Executive Board Members need to consider the EIA 

 associated with this item in advance of making the decision. 
 

 

10. CONSULTATIONS 

 
None required. 

 

11. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE 

The recommendations are made, further to advice from the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151 
Officer has confirmed that they do not incur unlawful expenditure.  They are also compliant with 
equality legislation and an equality analysis and impact assessment has been considered. The 
recommendations reflect the core principles of good governance set out in the Council’s Code of 
Corporate Governance. 
 

 

12. DECLARATION OF INTEREST 

All Declarations of Interest of any Executive Member consulted and note of any dispensation 
granted by the Chief Executive will be recorded in the Summary of Decisions published on the day 
following the meeting. 

 

CONTACT OFFICER: Pamela Price, Ailsa Smith, , pamela.price@blackburn.gov.uk, 
ailsa.smith@blackburn.gov.uk 

DATE: 11/05/20 

BACKGROUND 
PAPER: 

Appendix 1 paper to be considered alongside this report.  

    

Page 18



 

 

                                             Fostering Quarter 3 Report 

 

                                          1st October to 31st December 2019 

                                        

                                              Executive Report 

 

 

 

 

                       

                                      

 

 

 

 

 

 

Quarterly reports to the Executive Board are a requirement of the Fostering Service to meet Standard 

25.7 of the National Minimum Standards for Fostering Services. They are a key part of the 

documentation considered by OFSTED when conducting a Service inspection.   

Page 19



Introduction 

Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council’s Fostering Service aims to ensure that:  

▪ The best foster carers are recruited for our children;  

▪ All placements receive high quality support, effectively targeted according to need; 

▪ Children are found permanent families without delay;  

▪ Children and young people in foster care achieve the best possible outcomes. 

 

Children in our Care in Foster Care  

Quarter 3 has seen a reduction in the number of children in our care, in comparison to the previous 

periods as outlined in the table below. There has been an increase in the number of children placed 

with family and friends carers, and decrease in the number of Independent Fostering Agency (IFA) 

placements.  

Comparison of Figures 

  
Q1 June 

2019 

 
Q2 Sept 2019 

 

 
Q3 Dec 2019 

 
Number of Children in our 
Care 

 
          408 

 
    403 

 
    399 

 
Number of CioC in Foster Care 

 
264  (64.7%) 

 
    269 (66.7%) 

 
    261 (65.4%) 

Number of children in in-
house foster care placements 

 
148 (36%) 

 
    143 (35.4%) 

  
    131 (32.8%) 

Number of children in family 
and friends foster care 

 
50 (12%) 

 
     58 (14.3%) 

 
    67 (16.8%) 

Number of children in 
independent fostering agency 
placements 

 
66 (16.2%) 

 
     68  (16.8%) 

 
    63 (15.8%) 

 

The remodel of the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub in Quarter 3, commenced as the Children’s Advice 
and Duty Service (CADS). The objective of this remodel is to reduce the number of referrals and 
assessments into the service, with advice provide by skilled and experienced Social Workers and multi-
agency professionals.  
 
The number of males in our care remains the highest gender group, with a consistent pattern each 
Quarter of the 11-15 years age group being the most significant and more challenging in terms of 
sufficiency to identify long-term placements. This age group 11-15 years is the most prominent in 
terms of being in Local Authority foster placements with the 3-6 year old age group predominantly 
placed with family and friends carers. There remains in Quarter 3 a higher proportion of children in 
the birth to 2 year age group placed in our care as the table below demonstrates. 
 
 
 
 

Page 20



Age breakdown CIOC Foster Care   

0-2 49 

3-6 48 

7-10 46 

11-15 89 

16+ 29 

 
The White British ethnic group, at 80% have a significantly higher number of children in our care as 
opposed to 12% from the Asian population.  
 
There are 7 children with disabilities in our care in Quarter 3, with no placement requests for this 
cohort of children in Quarter 2 or 3 which is positive and demonstrates the supportive Child in Need 
packages in place to prevent family breakdown.  
 
Placement Stability  
 
The Department uses a definition of placement stability based on 3 or more placements in a 12 month 

period that is calculated on a cumulative basis over the year.  The average for England is measured 

against the figures for 2013/14 when it was 10.7%; the comparable authority percentage for the same 

year was 10.1%.  Since August 2017, placement stability has been deteriorating. This is not an issue 

specific to the Fostering Service but reflects instability for all types of placements and is an issue for 

Local Authorities overall. The table below demonstrates the steady increase in placement instability 

to date, at 11.5% at the end of Quarter 3.  

Performance Over time 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 Performance to Date 

% Stability of LAC 
placements 

6.4% 8.8% 11.4% 11.5% 

 

Reasons for placement instability includes the disruption of placements for teenagers displaying 

challenging behaviours and missing from home episodes, and an influx of larger sibling groups. It 

remains the case that babies and under 2s are placed in parent and child assessment units and in 

foster placements for example for the duration of care proceedings, before settling into their 

permanent placement and this can impact upon the above figures.  

Disruption meetings are held for any long term matched foster placement that breaks down, and 

learning taken from the findings. Teenagers are another high percentage group who have three or 

more placements, consistently due to behavioural needs and challenges for foster carers to manage 

in the longer term. Changes in educational placement also impact significantly upon placement 

stability. It can be challenging for the young person to emotionally invest in further foster placements 

when the first has disrupted. This is when the Service refers to REVIVE where consultations and 

assessments take place to support this group of young people and their carers.  

There is a focus on establishing a support package for teenagers at the point of a new placement 

commencing, to try to reduce the likelihood of disruption. 

 

 

Page 21



Matching and Ethnicity   

There have been two non-culturally matched placements in this Quarter, both of which have been 

successful and the Service has supported the foster carers where needed at an increased level. Two 

Nigerian, female siblings were placed with white, British foster carers and this was a very positive 

placement for a short period until they returned home to their parents.  

There has also been a white, British female placed with Asian foster carers and again, this has been 

positive with support provided from the Service around her cultural needs.  

Engagement with Children & Young People and the VOICE Group  
 
Children in our care and care leavers continue to attend the Children & Young People Scrutiny 
Committee and Corporate Parenting Specialist Advisory Group, when appropriate. The Corporate 
Parenting Board also included a care leaver who was part of discussions about service delivery and 
new proposals. The Participation Officer held an event to re-launch the VOICE group, and the group 
will now commence on 6th February 2020.  
 
The views of children and young people are gathered via: 
- Participation in the recruitment of staff/interview process 
- Support Groups for Children/Events 
- Foster Carer Annual Review Feedback 
- Feedback from Social Workers/Supervising Social Workers 
- The Investors in Children process 
- Comments fed back to the Fostering Support Officer 
- Looked after Child Review meetings and consultation 
 
 
Feedback from Children in Foster Care: 
 
Children and young people, and foster carers, have made the following comments over Quarter 3: 
‘K is like a Mum to me’ 
‘I enjoy going to visit friends and doing fun things at the weekend’ 
‘I would like to visit my friends more often’ 
‘I have had a number of Social Workers over the past year’ 
 
Birth Children and Birth Parents told us: 
 
‘B has been really welcoming and I am grateful for the care my children received’ 
‘We go to snooker together at the weekend’ 
‘She talks to me about her worries’ 
‘My child has had a lot of different social workers’ 
 
Promoting Children’s Health, Emotional Development, Education and Leisure: 
 
Foster families are provided with pre and post-approval preparation training on the importance and 
availability of health, education and leisure services to enable them to help children achieve their 
potential and enhance their emotional wellbeing. 
 
Looked After Children and young people are encouraged to participate in a variety of activities in which 
they can succeed and are supported in achieving better outcomes.  All local Looked After Children and 
care leavers are provided with a Be Active card, which enables them to access free sport and leisure 

Page 22



activities within the Borough. Foster carers are provided with a MAX Card, which offers heavily 
discounted access to a range of leisure parks and facilities around the North West. This is funded by 
the Fostering Service in partnership with the Foster Carer Association.   
 
Children in foster care have regular medicals at the statutory frequency appropriate for their age.  
There is a Designated Nurse for Looked After Children, who takes an active role in following up health 
issues and assisting with health promotion work.  Foster carers have a Health Passport for each child 
in their care, which is a record of all of the child’s health details.   
 
There are 7 Looked After Children in foster care, who are registered as having a disability.  Foster 
carers are provided with the relevant training and support to meet the specific needs of the child in 
placement and they are able to access support from the Children with Disabilities Team with aids and 
adaptations, Disability Links registration and information and advice where needed. 
 
In relation to emotional wellbeing, Looked After Children have access to Clinical Psychology and 

related services through REVIVE and the East Lancashire Child and Adolescent Service (ELCAS) also 

known as Children and Adolescent Mental Health Service (CAMHS).  The REVIVE Service is a 

partnership between Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council’s Children’s Services and East 

Lancashire Hospital Trust to provide emotional health support for children known to the Local 

Authority and is based at Duke Street.  REVIVE delivers consultation to Foster Carers, training and 

direct intervention on emotional health and well-being.  There were 49 referrals received in Quarter 

3, all of which were offered an initial consultation. In total, 31 of those referrals were children and 

young people subject to a Care Order, and 3 were subject to a Special Guardianship Order.  There 

were 9 children referred from the Children in Our Care team, 2 from Fostering, and 2 from Adoption. 

The remainder came from Assessment and Safeguarding teams.  The Clinical Psychologist from Revive 

will leave the service in Quarter 4, and therefore recruitment to this post has commenced. A review 

of Revive will take place to ensure that children and young people in our care and those on the edge 

of care, continue to receive prompt therapeutic support to prevent placement breakdown and to 

support foster carers with strategies. 

As well as mandatory First Aid training, foster carers also receive training on a variety of health-related 

issues including ‘Infectious Diseases in Childhood’ and ‘Managing Medicine.’  Phase 1 of a ‘Healthy 

Homes’ training package for carers has been developed.  

In line with Standard 8 of the National Minimum Standards for Fostering Services, the Department 
implements a written education policy prepared in partnership with the Virtual Head Teacher and the 
Education Manager for Children in Our Care.  The Virtual Head’s role is to ensure that the educational 
needs of all Children in our Care are being met and that levels of achievement and aspiration among 
our children and young people are raised.  Termly briefings are held with a group of social workers, 
managers and Designated Teachers and Head Teachers to consider ways to improve achievement and 
attainment.  
 
The Pupil Premium allowance, previously paid to schools to support Children in our Care to achieve in 
school, is managed by the Virtual Head who has a system in place to administer and ensure the money 
is spent appropriately to enhance educational achievements. The Virtual Head quality assures all 
Personal Education Plans (PEPs). 
 
The Education Manager, where necessary, actively intervenes with Schools to promote the needs of 
children in Foster Care.  As part of the preparation and assessment process and through the Foster 
Carer Agreement, Foster Carers are set a clear expectation that they will promote and support 
children’s educational attainment. The ways in which Foster Carers meet children’s educational needs 

Page 23



are monitored through the foster carer review process and supervisory visits. Foster Carers regularly 
receive training around ‘Promoting Educational Achievement for Children in Our Care’.   
 
Letterbox Club is available for all children in our care from Reception to Year 6 to encourage reading 

at home. Books and games are sent out on a monthly basis which are age appropriate. Feedback has 

been very encouraging from the children who have stated that they enjoy receiving their parcels and 

carers have stated that they are encouraging the children to read.  

Transitions 

Children and young people in foster care are supported to make a positive transition to adult life and 
Foster Carers attend training on ‘Transitions’ which focuses on their role in developing young people’s 
skills to live independently, as they progress towards adulthood.  The Children in Our Care Team and 
the Fostering Service also encourage carers and young people to consider ‘Staying Put’ and the Leaving 
Care Service also delivers courses for Foster Carers to develop their understanding of this.  The training 
has been positively evaluated by carers and most indicate a willingness to work with ‘Staying Put’.  The 
Leaving Care Service attends Reviews to discuss Staying Put with foster carers for young people aged 
17 years.  
 
The Leaving Care Service has the Investing in Children Award, and the Service was rated as ‘Good’ by 

Ofsted from the last 2017 inspection. The Service is also working hard to encourage and support care 

leavers into apprenticeships, of which there were three young people this Quarter.  The Leaving Care 

Service has achieved Staying Put placements this Quarter, and also continues to offer supported 

lodgings and supported accommodation which increases choice for young people leaving foster care 

and residential placements in favour of semi-independence. The Nightsafe at St Silas project was 

completed in Quarter 3 and Local Authority referrals are now managed by the Leaving Care Team. 

There has already been a positive and swift take up of beds at St Silas for young people aged 16 years 

plus, in a homely environment with support on site for the young people. Participation levels continue 

to be good with young people being involved in interviewing and various training programmes.  

The Leaving Care Service has eight advisors. Three advisors are working with the 16 to 18 year old age 

group resolving issues with accommodation, education, training and employment and Staying 

Put.  Five advisors are providing advice and guidance to the 21 to 25 year old age group, and in 

addition, all advisors have a caseload of at least twenty 18 to 21 year olds for whom they provide 

general support. 

Children and young people with disabilities who are in our care are also referred at 17 years of age to 

Adult Social Care for an assessment of need prior to turning 18 years, and there is a period of twelve 

months for planning to be undertaken around post 18 years provision.  

Care Planning 
 
The Care Planning and Fostering (Miscellaneous Amendments) (England) Regulations 2015 provide a 
revised definition of ‘permanence’ for Children Looked After, including for the first time the definition 
of a long term foster placement.  The responsibilities of the Local Authority in assessing the ability of 
the foster carer to meet the needs of the child now and in the future, and identifying any support 
services needed to achieve this are also set out.  Local Authorities are required to achieve long term 
matching within reasonable timescales.  The Regulations introduce new duties for ceasing to look after 
a child.   
 
 
 

Page 24



The Fostering Service 
 
The Fostering Service is structured into three teams, including the Permanence Team, which  launched 

on 1st July 2018.  The Team completes all assessments of family members/connected persons from 

Child Protection to Public Law Outline pre-proceedings, and Care Proceedings, as highlighted in the 

Ofsted Action Plan. There are four full time Social Workers and one working four days per week. The 

Special Guardianship Social Worker is part time and continues to experience capacity issues due to 

the increasing number of Special Guardianship applications.   

 

There are currently 39 family and friends foster carers approved, with 2 approvals during this Quarter.  

There are two mainstream Fostering Teams in the Service, who focus upon family finding, assessment 

and supervision of Foster Carers, alongside recruitment. There are 88 mainstream foster carers 

approved to provide placements for children in our care and 12 for short breaks. 

Three members of the Team have reduced their hours permanently which has resulted in a full time 

position being recruited to and the successful candidate will commence in post in Quarter 4 due to 

the period of notice in her current post. One supervising social worker has returned from maternity 

leave, and there are two agency social workers in post until the end of January 2020.  

Fostering Support Officer Roles: 

There are two Fostering Support Officers undertaking very different roles.  

One Fostering Support Worker remains located within the REVIVE Service to enable a more cohesive 

approach to supporting children, young people and foster carers, and to achieve improvements in 

placement stability rates.  Fostering Support will continue to develop the Saturday Club for younger 

children in foster care. The venue of this Club moved to Earcroft Children’s Centre during the last 

Quarter and has been a popular choice.  

Another Fostering Support Officer provides direct practical and emotional support to our Family and 

Friends Foster Carers, while also supporting our Fostering Panel process. The Fostering Support role 

is invaluable to the Service and is hugely beneficial for those foster carers who have complex 

placements and require an enhanced level of fostering support.  

Foster Carer Recruitment and Retention 

2019/20 Enquires ROI Approval  Conversion 

Q1 39 6 0 15% 

Q2 42 6 2 14% 

Q3 44 9 3 20% 

Q4 
    

Total 125 21 5 17% 

YCF Approvals =  

 

The service has a Recruitment and Retention Strategy which is updated annually. In Quarter 3 planning 

has taken place for a bus stop campaign in the Borough, to ensure greater visibility in the community. 

Page 25



Bus stop adverts will be launched in Quarter 4 and the aim is to maintain a focus on community 

advertising alongside our digital campaigns.  

In December, a new advert on Heart Radio North West started on their DAX platform which means all 

smart speakers asked to ‘play Heart’ would play this advert before the music started. In Quarter 4 a 

new and updated Heart North West radio campaign for Blackburn with Darwen Fostering will 

commence which is an exciting opportunity and sees advertising transfer from Capital Radio.  

The impact of Google Ads has increased registrations of interest overall, alongside the continued 

advertising on Twitter, Facebook and the Let’s Foster website.  

Our foster carers have been visible in the community supporting our recruitment. The Telegraph and 

The Shuttle ran a story about several foster carers who received their long service awards at the Foster 

Carer Forum in November. They also enjoyed refreshments in the Mayor’s Parlour as a celebration of 

their commitment and dedication to fostering. The photograph below was taken at the Forum with 

long service foster carers.  

 

 

Page 26



 

Regional Campaign 

The regional ‘You Can Foster’ recruitment campaign has been live since September 2016 and has 

helped generate enquiries via the You Can Foster website. During this Quarter we have been informed 

that the ‘You Can Foster’ service will end in 2020 for all Local Authorities who have currently signed 

up to this contract. The ‘front door’ service of accepting enquiries and being the initial point of contact 

for five North West Authorities, will cease in March 2020. Planning and discussion about this going 

forward has already commenced. 

Foster Carer Training  

The following training has taken place in Quarter 3: 

Essentials of Fostering – 23 Foster Carers in attendance. 

Diversity Conference – 20 Foster Carers in attendance.   

Support Group for Prevent and Radicalisation – 9 Foster Carers attended. 

Evaluation has taken place with foster carers about the future training they would like to see being 

provided by the Service, which includes areas such as County Lines, self-harm, mental health and 

making Nurturing and Attachment training mandatory for all new foster carers. This has been noted, 

and plans are being put in place to ensure these training offers are delivered. The Service aims to 

respond to foster carer demand with regard to their training; it is paramount to keep the training offer 

varied and current.  

Fostering Panel and Review Panel 

The Review Panel has seen 16 fostering households presented, with an increase in the number of 

foster carers in attendance, alongside more Social Worker comments. The table below evidences the 

approvals for Quarter 3 for both family and friends and mainstream foster carers. 

Page 27



Main Fostering Panel October November  December 

Mainstream 

Assessments 

2 0 2 

Regulation 24 

Assessments 

0 1 0 

Family And Friends 

Assessments 

0 0 1 

Resignations 2 3 1 

 

Complaints  

There have been no complaints received in this period.  

Compliments  

There were four compliments received in Quarter 3. A foster carer has received a compliment from 

an Independent Reviewing Officer about their skills and expertise, and a recommendation that they 

would be a positive mentor for other foster carers. Other compliments received have been regarding 

a young person making exceptional academic progress in their foster placement, positive comments 

for another foster carer made to the Director of Children’s Services by their Supervising Social Worker, 

and a compliment from the Fostering Panel. 

Allegations  

One allegation has been made in Quarter 3, in respect of a family and friends foster carer and an 

incident involving the child falling into a bath. This progressed to an investigation with LADO and Police 

involvement.   

Serious Illnesses and Accidents   

There have been six reports of serious illness and accidents in Quarter 3. This related to minor falls, 

two young person with an infection, and accidents during sporting activities. All have been reported 

and appropriately managed.  

Bullying Reports 

There have been no reports of bullying this Quarter. 

Specific Incidents and Restraints  

There have been 12 reports in this Quarter and all have been appropriately managed and reported, 

some with further actions put in place where necessary.   

Missing From Home  

There has been 1 missing from home notification this Quarter, and this was reported to the Engage 

Team.  

Exemptions   

There has been 1 exemption in place which has continued from Quarter 2. 

Page 28



Engagement with Foster Carers 

Blackburn with Darwen has a Foster Carer Association (FCA), which meets regularly and has an Elected 

Committee. The Chair of the FCA sits on the Corporate Parenting Specialist Advisory Group.  The FCA 

has its own website, which is used to communicate messages and news updates about events. The 

foster carer support group also meets regularly and is attended by the Children’s Services Elected 

Member. 

At the request of foster carers, membership of the Fostering Network moved in Quarter 1 to Foster 

Talk, which provides similar services to support foster carers.  Foster carers also have access to 

independent support commissioned from the Fostering Network to provide support and advocacy 

services in the event of complaints or allegations. 

A small group of foster carers are recruitment champions, who help drive recruitment forward and 

are involved with planning events, Skills to Foster preparation training, and manning recruitment 

stands and events.  

The Fostering Service holds a bi-annual foster carer forum which took place in November 2019 and 

the next is planned for April 2020. The event offered carers the opportunity to present their views 

about a range of issues related to fostering and to be involved in the future development of the 

Service. The Forum was very well attended, planned with the FCA and held at Livesey Children’s 

Centre. Councillor Bateson was also in attendance at the Forum. 

Short Break Foster Care   

There continue to be 12 short break foster carers approved. Short break carers attend support groups 

every 3 months and the next one is planned for February 2020.    Carers enjoy attending and are able 

to explore and share experiences about their role as short break foster carers.   

Commissioned Placements  

The requests for commissioned placements in Quarter 3 has seen some reduction from October to 
December 2019. The service continues to be as creative as possible and offers short breaks to maintain 
existing placements and prevent disruption where this is achievable. The number of requests for 
parent and child assessment unit placements, which saw an increase in Quarter 2, has decreased this 
Quarter. There is an evident peak in children and young people placed at home on Care Orders or 
Supervision Orders. The table below gives an overview of the types of placements for children in our 
care, primarily the number of agency foster care and independent residential provisions funded from 
the commissioning budget.  
 
 

Placement Type   

Adoptive Placements 14 

Foster Placements (in-house) 143 

Foster Placements (agency) 68 

Friends & Family 58 

Placed with Parents 49 

Independent Living 0 

Children's Homes (in-house) 4 

Children's Homes (agency) 28 

Secure 0 

Prison/HMYOI 1 

Page 29



NHS 1 

Residential Accom Not Subject to 
CH Regulations 

16 

Other 19 

Residential School 2 

 

Budget   

Current placement pressures in-house and across the independent fostering agency landscape 

continue to place the commissioning budget under pressure. The Case Tracking and Commissioning 

Panel monitors placements and ensures that there are robust plans for those that could be brought 

back to in-house provision. The financial position across both of these areas is closely monitored 

throughout the year, with an overspend confirmed for this financial year due to the demands on the 

Service with the numbers of children in our care, placement sufficiency and stability. Placements for 

teenagers and those with complex needs are the most costly, and largely in residential or therapeutic 

placements. This Quarter saw one young person brought back in-house from an independent 

residential placement.  

New Service Priorities and Updates for 2019/20: 

1. The Service has a target of recruiting between 25 and 30 new sets of foster carers in 2019/20. 

Quarter 3 update. Monthly recruitment meetings are taking place and new approaches are being 

used such as Google Advertising and foster carers taking more of a leading role at recruitment 

stands. Recruitment initiatives remain a priority for the Service. 

2. A Team Development Day will be an annual event to value and support the staff, and ensure specific 

training and development areas are actioned. Quarter 3 update: A Team Development Day will take 

place in January/February 2020 when new staff members have commenced in post. Staffing issues 

have meant that this day has been arranged for this specific timescale. 

3. The Revive Team will be reviewed in terms of staffing, workload capacity and developing a review 
process for evidencing that outcomes are being met and the impact of their therapeutic involvement. 
This will enable the Service to manage the referrals and to identify when their involvement can cease 
as outcomes and objectives are met. Quarter 3 update: The Clinical Psychologist for Revive will leave 
their post in Quarter 4, and recruitment planning for this post and a remodel of Revive has 
commenced.  
 
4. Foster Carer training will continue to develop, led by a Fostering Team Manager. The Service will 
focus on the development of online training, and the overall training offer in line with Foster Carer 
feedback such as the addition of Parent and Child Training, and more specialist courses that will 
enhance carer skills. The objective is to increase engagement and attendance.  
Quarter 3 update: Training recommenced in October 2019. A joint training offer with Child Action 
North West (CANW) has been completed and Skills to Foster will now be undertaken in Quarter 4 
as a collaborative effort. Further training offers have also been explored with CANW and initial 
planning and preparation has been positive.  

 

5. The management team will continue to monitor compliance with Fostering Regulations and 
National Minimum Standards and will increase the number of case file audits completed each month 
to support this. 

Page 30



Quarter 3 Update – The monitoring of compliance is ongoing and is central to the Team Manager 
role.  Protocol has been updated to reflect the needs of the Service and all aspects of fostering can 
now be recorded on the database which will help the completion of the dataset.  

 
6. Fostering Panel development – The membership list will be developed to address difficulties in 
sustaining the pool of independent and social work members.  A Panel Member training day will be 
held with a focus on family and friends fostering.  
Quarter 3 Update – Recruitment and training has already taken place for new panel membership 
and we now have a larger cohort of members to ensure approvals can be considered without delay, 
and more panels held where necessary. Although this action has been addressed, the recruitment 
of panel members is an ongoing area of focus for the Service. 
 
7. Recommencing the VOICE Group will be part of the Participation Officer role and will be re-
launched.  
Quarter 3 update: The new Participation Officer commenced in role this Quarter. A re-launch of the 
VOICE group event has taken place and groups will take place on 6th February 2020. 
 
8. Placement sufficiency and stability will be a key area of focus, with areas for learning taken from 
disruption meetings and case auditing. The support offer for foster carers will be reviewed, with 
recommendations made about service development going forward about how to preserve vulnerable 
placements and support an increase with in-house placements. Quarter 3 update: Blackburn with 
Darwen is part of the cohort of North West Authorities collaboration for the DfE SEED Funding and 
research project, which looks specifically at recruitment, retention, sufficiency and producing a 
Market Position Statement. 
 
10. Planning will commence to look at a new proposal for the end of the commissioned fostering front 
door service, and how this will be replaced and replicated where possible, within the Service. Quarter 
3 update: The Fostering Front Door service will end in March 2020. The interim plan is for this service 
to be brought back in-house and managed via the Fostering Service and Business Support. This will 
be reviewed as part of the Fostering Service remodel.  
 
Pamela Price 
Service Lead, Placements 

 

Page 31



EXECUTIVE BOARD DECISION 

 

REPORT OF: Executive Member for Children, Young People and 
Education 

LEAD OFFICERS: Director of Children's Services & Education 

DATE: 
 

Thursday 11th June 2020 

 

PORTFOLIO(S) AFFECTED: Children, Young People and 
Education 

 

WARD/S AFFECTED: (All Wards);  

KEY DECISION: N  

 

SUBJECT: 
Adoption Bi-Annual Report April to September 2019 

 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
Adoption Now (Regional Adoption Agency) has compiled this Report with additional local information included 
by Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council’s Service Lead for Placements. The Report details a summary 
of the period April to September 2019 with analysis, data and patterns that may support service development.  

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
That the Executive Board notes the Adoption Six Monthly Report alongside Appendix 1. 

 
 

3. BACKGROUND 
Adoption Now is a Regional Adoption Agency providing Adoption Services on behalf of a consortium 
agreement with six Local Authorities; Blackburn with Darwen, Bolton, Bury, Rochdale, Oldham and 
Tameside.   
Data remains local data relating to Blackburn with Darwen children, with Post Adoption Support, 
Recruitment and Assessment data including regional data.  
 
This is the six monthly Report produced by the Head of Service from the RAA, with additional information 
and oversight from Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council’s Service Lead for Placements. Local Authority 
employees remain seconded to the RAA to date. There is a regular Adoption case-tracking meeting held to 
enable the Local Authority to have continued shared information and updates about the progress of 
children with Adoption Care Plans in the Borough. This also allows financial oversight and monitoring. 

 

4. KEY ISSUES & RISKS 

 During the first 6 months of 2019/20 from April to September 2019, 18 children were subject to a 
Local Authority decision that they should be placed for adoption 

 

 On 30th September 2019, there were 25 children with a plan for Adoption (subject to a Placement 
Order) who were awaiting placement. This number included 2 children where Foster Carers were 
being assessed as Adopters, with three children in a Fostering for Adoption placement. There were 
2 children who had experienced a disruption. Children are predominantly from the white British 
community. 

 

 On 31st March 2019, the National Adoption Register ceased to operate. Prior to this it has been a 
requirement for all children waiting for families for three months or more to be added to that Register 
along with Adopters who are waiting. There are some likely alternative proposals, however none are 
imminent. A small number of links for children have been made via the Register but the Link Maker 

Page 32

Agenda Item 8.2



has been a much more useful family finding tool for Blackburn with Darwen children so we are not 
expecting there to be a significant impact. 

 

 There have been 11 children placed with Adopters this year and 14 children matched. The numbers 
of matched and placed children may differ due to early permanence placements and children 
matched just before the end of the half year but not yet placed.  Of the 14 matches presented to 
Panels between April and September 2019, there were 6 Fostering for Adoption or Concurrency 
Placements matched, with 1 sibling group of 2 and 1 sibling group of 3 placed.  

 

 There has been one Adoption disruption within this six month period, and learning has been taken 
from the disruption meeting which followed to assist with future planning and matching.  

 

 In the first six months of this year (2019/20), 35 families have been approved, and 1 family has been 
to the Panel and is awaiting Agency Decision Making. One family withdrew post the Panel. 

 

 Since the 1st April, 40 RAA children have already been matched with 36 RAA families. Four of these 
have been sibling groups of two children. Three of these have been Fostering for Adoption 
placements. 2 RAA families are currently being matched with children external to Adoption Now. 
The RAA anticipates that 91 families will be approved by the end of Quarter 4 2020. 

 

 The function of the letterbox co-ordinators remains an area for review and is currently in discussion 
with the RAA Board. 

 

 Adoption Now office premises at Howell Croft in Bolton have been sold and a planned move to 
alternative premises still to be identified will take place in the coming months. 

 

 
 

5. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 
There are no Policy implications. 

 
 

6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
In accordance with the agreed financial model, the operational budget for Adoption was combined with five 
other North West Authorities when the RAA was formed in 2017. As outlined in Appendix 1, the costs of 
placing children with Adopters outside of Adoption Now this year is predicted to be £472,000 against a 
budget of £266,700. These fees have resulted from placing 2 sibling groups of 3,  3 sibling groups of 2 and 
8 single children some of whom were ‘hard to place’ due to their age or complex needs. The first option is 
to source Adopters within the Adoption Now pool.  
 
Discussions are ongoing with the RAA Board about the financial implication of bringing the letterbox 
function into the RAA which is quoted at approximately £12,000 per annum per Local Authority. 

  
 

7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
This Report is required to meet statutory requirements set out in ‘The National Minimum Standards for 
Adoption.’ 

 
 

8. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

 
None identified. 

 

9. EQUALITY AND HEALTH IMPLICATIONS 
Please select one of the options below.   
 Page 33



Option 1   ☒ Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) not required – the EIA checklist has been completed. 

 

Option 2   ☐ In determining this matter the Executive Member needs to consider the EIA  associated with 

this item in advance of making the decision.  
 

Option 3   ☐ In determining this matter the Executive Board Members need to consider the EIA  associated 

with this item in advance of making the decision. 

 
 

10. CONSULTATIONS 
None.  

 
 

11. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE 
The recommendations are made further to advice from the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151 Officer 
has confirmed that they do not incur unlawful expenditure.  They are also compliant with equality legislation 
and an equality analysis and impact assessment has been considered. The recommendations reflect the 
core principles of good governance set out in the Council’s Code of Corporate Governance. 

 
 

12. DECLARATION OF INTEREST 
All Declarations of Interest of any Executive Member consulted and note of any dispensation granted by the 
Chief Executive will be recorded in the Summary of Decisions published on the day following the meeting. 

 

CONTACT OFFICER: Pamela Price, Ailsa Smith   pamela.price@blackburn.gov.uk, 
ailsa.smith@blackburn.gov.uk 

DATE: 25/02/2020 

BACKGROUND 
PAPER: 

Appendix 1 attached. 

    

Page 34



 

 

1 

 

                 Adoption Six Monthly Executive Report 
 
 
                         1st April to 30th September 2019  
 
 
 
                                  

 
  

 
 
  

Page 35



 

 

2 

 

Introduction 
 
Achieving adoption for children contributes to improving outcomes for the most vulnerable children and young 
people in line with priorities outlined in other Council plans. 
Almost 2 years ago there was a significant change in the way that adoption services were delivered as 
Adoption Now went live on 20th November 2017. Adoption Now is a Regional Adoption Agency providing 
adoption services on behalf of six Local Authorities – Bolton, Blackburn with Darwen, Bury, Rochdale, 
Oldham and Tameside.   
Data remains local data relating to Blackburn with Darwen children, and adoption support and recruitment 
data now covers the Region.      
 
 
Adoption Agency Business - Children 
 
Children with an Adoption Plan  
During the first 6 months of 2019/20 from April to September 2019, 18 children were subject to a Local 
Authority decision that they should be placed for adoption (known as SHOBPA).  
The ethnicity of those children is outlined as follows:-  
 

 
 
 
In terms of the age range, 72.2% were aged from birth to 2 years, 11.1% were 3 - 4 years and 16.7% were 
over 5 years old. The gender ratio was 7 males and 11 females.  
 
 
Children Awaiting a Match  
 
On 30th September 2019, there were 25 children with a plan for Adoption (subject to a Placement Order) 
who were awaiting placement. This number included 2 children where Foster Carers were being assessed 
as Adopters, with three children in a Fostering for Adoption placement. There were 2 children who had 
experienced a disruption. Children are predominantly from the white British community. Only 2 other children 
were of dual heritage (see chart below).  
 
 
  

Ethnicity of children with a SHOBPA decision

Wh/Br Lith/Iraqi Asian/Wh UK Pakistani

Page 36



 

 

3 

 

 
 
 

Age and Gender of children waiting 
 

 
 
 
Continued efforts to match all of the children waiting will include them being profiled at exchange days and 
family days where Adopters can discuss children awaiting Adoption. National events are scheduled such as 
activity days. These are events where Adopters and children meet at a large party and get to know each 
other. It has proven very effective in finding families for some older children and those who are part of sibling 
groups.   
 
Family Finding 
 
Professional links and relationships have continued to result in some positive matches, especially with the 
Voluntary Adoption Agencies, which are now partners of Adoption Now. The regional placement group 
meeting has been restructured and continues to operate on a monthly basis, to encourage matches with local 
Voluntary Adoption Agencies. Link Maker continues to be a useful tool used to help match children with 
families nationally.    
 
The development of Adoption Now means that families that would have been approved by the six local 
authorities are all part of the same organisation and are immediately available to children in Blackburn with 
Darwen. In the past 6 months, 89% of children matched have been with Adoption Now adopters. These 
placements do not incur an interagency fee. The target for the 2 year point after the Regional Adoption 
Agency went live was for at least 60% of children to be placed ‘in house’ within the RAA. The current figure 
far exceeds this target of over 60%, which is positive for Blackburn with Darwen children as they are 
supported more effectively by Post Adoption Support and from a financial perspective.  
 

Ethnicity of children waiting

Wh/Br

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

0 - two three -
four

five -
eight

Gender

Children waiting

Male

Female

Page 37



 

 

4 

 

It is good practice to search for a family within our own pool of Adoption Now Adopters in the first instance, 
and then to look further afield to other Local Authorities, RAAs or Voluntary Adoption Agencies. 
 
On 31st March 2019, the National Adoption Register ceased to operate. Prior to this it has been a requirement 
for all children waiting for families for three months or more to be added to that Register along with Adopters 
who are waiting. There are some likely alternative proposals however none are imminent. A small number 
of links for children would have been made via the Register but Link Maker has been a much more useful 
family finding tool for Blackburn with Darwen children so we are not expecting there to be a significant impact.  
 
 
Children Placed for Adoption 
 
There have been 11 children placed with Adopters this year and 14 children matched. The numbers of 
matched and placed children may differ due to early permanence placements and children matched just 
before the end of the half year but not yet placed.   
 
Of the 14 matches presented to Panels between April and September 2019, there were 6 Fostering for 
Adoption or Concurrency Placements matched, with 1 sibling group of 2 and 1 sibling group of 3 placed.  
 
 
The scorecard data for children adopted since 1st April 2019 is as follows: -  
 

 

Measure  Blackburn average 

Placement Order to 
Matching (A2) 

Scorecard Indicator 
- 121 days 

 
223 

Child entering care 
to starting Adoption 
Placement  (A1) 

Scorecard indicator  
– 426 days 

426 

 
 
These figures show that during the last six months, timescales were exactly on target for A1 and over the  A2 
target. Scorecard measures are not ‘counted’ until the year after an Adoption Order has been made, therefore 
these figures will not influence the published Scorecard results for some time yet. 
 
A1 is an indicator that can be affected by Court timescales and can vary hugely due to a variety of other 
factors. The A2 measure represents the family finding process for children. In this cohort of children there is 
a sibling group of 2 with additional needs being adopted and a child with significant disabilities for whom 
family finding had taken a long time. We know that these children do take longer to find families for and this 
impacts upon the figures.  
 
 
Children Adopted 
 
There have been 14 Adoption Orders made during the last six months from April to September 2019. The 
scorecard data refers to these children.  Most Adoption Orders have been made in a timely fashion despite 
birth parents requesting leave to contest applications in Court in the majority of cases.  
  
 
Adoption Disruption  
 
There has been one disruption in the first half of the year. A disruption is identified as a placement where the 
child has moved in with adopters and then the placement has failed. This child was older when placed and 
had additional needs. A disruption meeting has taken place and learning from this case has been in relation 
to the need to share full information with adopters even if this is historical.   

Page 38



 

 

5 

 

Adoption Agency Business - Adopters 
 
Adopter Recruitment  
 
Nationally, there is a shortage of adopters and the number of children has increased again as the ‘looked 
after’ population rises both nationally and locally. This happened shortly after many adopters had had to wait 
for long periods, as a consequence of case law that changed the practice of the Courts in terms of agreeing 
Adoption Plans for children. The message to the public was, and still is to some extent, that there are few 
young children available for Adoption and that numbers have fallen significantly. 
 
The recruitment strategy of Adoption Now has been to dispel this myth, with a go live campaign visibly 
showing how many children were available in this area alone represented by balloons.  
 
The Marketing and Recruitment Team became fully staffed in June 2018 and recruitment campaigns have 
significantly increased with attendance at 15 local events across the six local authority areas and beyond 
over the summer months of 2019. There have been billboard campaigns, bus, tram and train campaigns, 
radio campaigns and significant social media advertising. Early signs are that this activity has increased 
enquiries from prospective adopters.   

 
In the first six months of this year (2019/20), 35 families have been approved, and 1 family has been to the 
Panel and is awaiting Agency Decision Making. One family withdrew post the Panel. 
 
Since the 1st April, 40 RAA children have already been matched with 36 RAA families. Four of these have 
been sibling groups of two children. Three of these have been Fostering for Adoption placements. 2 RAA 
families are currently being matched with children external to Adoption Now. 
 
91 families are anticipated to have been approved by the end of Quarter 4 2020. 
 
 

Service Sufficiency Strategy & Marketing Activity  
 
Adoption Now pays due regard to children’s tracking data as part of the sufficiency strategy, particularly as 
the profile and needs of children in the care system change. This data reflects ethnic diversity amongst the 
Local Authorities, gender, the number of children needing to be placed, the number of children with lifelong 
physical and developmental needs and those with specific diagnoses, for example, Autism, Asperger’s, 
Foetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder. 
 
It is clear that the total number of adopters approved within the RAA is not sufficient to meet the needs of our 
children waiting or those anticipated, and the national climate means that there is reduced availability of 
adopters in the external market. This is particularly prominent for older children, those with additional needs 
or in sibling groups.  Whilst the Adoption Now Recruitment target of 100 adopters approved in 2019-20 would 
go some way towards closing this gap, the expectation is that some external placement will be required from 
our partner Voluntary Adoption Agencies (VAAs) and beyond. It is encouraging that of the children placed in 
the first 6 months of the year there were 67% with RAA families and 89% with either RAA families or our 
partner VAAs. 
 
Since April 2019 the Marketing Team has been continuing to work on increasing awareness of Adoption and 

the need for adopters from all walks of life to meet the needs of local children awaiting families. There has 

also been more work undertaken to increase the brand recognition of Adoption Now.  

April 2019 saw the launch of the Focus Family Finding Programme. This aims to build campaigns for children 

who have been waiting longer for placements, to create an in-depth feel for the children to bring out their 

personalities and hobbies with the aim of bringing them to life for potential adopters. To date the Team has 

focussed on an older child and published an advertorial in the Lancashire Life magazine which resulted in 

one enquiry. This child has since achieved a link with a family from the most recent activity day. Advertorials 

have also been published in Teaching magazines with the aim to recruit adopters for a sibling group. 

Page 39



 

 

6 

 

A key area of recruitment activity has been, and will continue to be in the coming months, the recruitment of 

LGBTQ+ adopters. In July 2019, an advertorial profiling one of our families was produced for Gay Times.  

The Team attended the Bury Pride event in April 2019 and Manchester Pride in August 2019, the biggest 

LGBTQ+ event in the North West. This resulted in twelve requests for further information. A further advert for 

Gaydio radio has been produced to target 100,000 listeners per week across the North West. This went live 

in August, taking advantage of the high-profile Pride season. The station also aired an interview with one of 

our families during BME Week (July 2019).  

The RAA has seen an increase in children under the age of two years waiting for adoption so the Team ran 

a campaign in May 2019 to target those who want to adopt young babies or would consider Fostering for 

Adoption. This was promoted on social media, the RAA website and using the six Local Authority 

Communication Teams’ external and internal resources. An information evening was also held for those 

interested in adopting young babies and adopters shared their stories at this event. Existing adopters on our 

mailing list have also been contacted with a view to encouraging returning applicants. We will continue to do 

this periodically throughout the year. 

The Agency’s large-scale campaign ‘You don’t have to be perfect to adopt’ has continued and relaunched at 

the end of June 2019 on Heart Radio. The Agency is now a partner with the radio station and running a year-

long campaign to instil a more consistent, drip-fed approach ensuring that messaging is always running to 

avoid any lulls in enquiries and increase brand recognition. A fresh advert will be aired in October 2019 to 

capture listeners over National Adoption Week (14th – 19th October).  

Bus advertisements ran through June and July 2019 across all six Local Authority areas and in central 

Manchester due to their success in a previous campaign. This is repeated in Blackburn during National 

Adoption Week as enquiries have been noted to be lower in the Blackburn with Darwen Borough. The Team 

is exploring the use of Facebook Messenger and ‘tweet a longs’ to encourage direct chat as a new way of 

reaching potential adopters who see the national campaign activity, ensuring that we reach people both in 

person and virtually. 

The Team is continuing to use local opportunities for marketing and has advertised on a large digital screen 

in Blackburn during the Festival of Making in the summer. Leaflets were distributed throughout all six Local 

Authority areas in Health and Leisure Centres.  

We know that the Agency website is key to recruiting adopters as it holds important information and the ability 

to enquire online. All our marketing campaigns signpost traffic to the website so it is vital that we encourage 

visits. Therefore, a key focus in the past months has been the launch of pay per click advertising on Google 

and additional Facebook advertising which began in June. In the past 3 months we have completed technical 

search engine optimisation of the Adoption Now website to improve organic rankings by Google.  This has 

had an immediate impact on the search ranking for Adoption Now, with organic searches showing an increase 

on the previous three months (see chart below). 

 

 

Targeting adopters from a variety of cultural, ethnic and religious backgrounds is a key focus for Adoption 

Now. Since April specific work has been undertaken to target Asian communities with two information events 

delivered in conjunction with Mosques and faith groups based in Bolton and Rochdale. This has raised our 

profile within these communities and has resulted in 35 enquiries since April. The Team is also attending the 

Page 40



 

 

7 

 

Muslim Lifestyle Expo taking place in Manchester in October 2019 as a new way of raising the profile of 

adoption to a younger demographic.  

Children’s recent tracking data indicates an increase in children waiting for adoption from African Caribbean, 

Polish and Eastern European communities. We continue to see an increase in children of dual heritage of 

both White British/other and Asian/other. Children’s tracking data also reveals an increasing number of 

unborn children who may have a plan of adoption in addition to children with a range of complex needs 

including physical and emotional challenges. 

Church groups around the six Local Authority areas have been provided with promotional leaflets and this is 

something that we are actively revisiting now, with Social Work presentations having taken place within 

Churches, including those with predominantly Polish and African Caribbean congregations.  The Team also 

had a presence at a Polish family fun day (September 2019). There has been success in targeting the Polish 

community, resulting in 7 enquiries during August. One family is progressing to application, three have been 

offered an initial visit/information evening and three families are not currently ready to progress but have 

indicated that they would contact us in the future when their circumstances change. Further plans are in place 

to target Latvian and Congolese congregations. The Team continues to liaise with Churches Together 

Lancashire to ascertain which promotional events we may be able arrange with them and we have been to 

speak to a Methodist congregation in Prestwich in July 2019. The Team also attended the Preston Caribbean 

Carnival and has been proactive with leaflet drops and engagement with proprietors of African Caribbean/ 

Polish/Eastern European community shops and access points. An advertorial has been published in the 

Keep the Faith magazine based on a sibling group who are waiting for a family to encourage the Black 

African, Christian community to consider adoption.  

The summer months have been a busy time for recruitment activity, with attendance at local and regional 

events such as the Royal Lancashire Show, Manchester Caribbean Carnival and Manchester Pride.  

Our current profile of adopters by ethnicity is as follows:- 

 

 

The data below shows the number of enquiries received since April 2019 by month in line with marketing 

activity: 

 

Page 41



 

 

8 

 

 

The data highlights that the current marketing strategy has had a positive impact having led to a spike in 

enquiries in July and August 2019. There is a marked increase this year (60) from last year (38). We are also 

in a better position this year compared to last year in respect of the numbers of prospective adopters currently 

in assessment/approved. Last year we successfully approved 73 adoptive families by the end of Quarter 4. 

We currently have 95 families at some stage in assessment at the beginning of Quarter 3. Whilst there are 

likely to be inevitable losses, this number is encouraging. 

The Marketing Team was also instrumental in the organisation of Adoption Now’s third Activity Day on 14th 
July 2019 and the Marketing Team and most Recruitment Social Workers participated on the day or 
supported our own adopters in attendance. (14 Adoption Now families attended and 25 from VAAs).   
 
 
Outcomes & Targets 

 
Monitoring and tracking of Adopters currently in the system highlights that we still need to recruit ten to fifteen 
more Adoptive families this year to reach our target of 100, allowing for some inevitable losses in the process. 
As discussed in the sufficiency/marketing section we are also mindful of our children’s tracking data when 
planning recruitment activity.  There has been increasing marketing activity since our Marketing Officers came 
into post in June 2018 and we have a developing database of specific events and activities that result in 
measurable outcomes.  
 
Those families approved since April 2019 are returning to the Panel quickly with matches. The success in 
identifying early links is due to good working relationships between recruitment and assessment, and care 
planning work streams. Adopters in Stage 2 are invited to RAA recruitment events (exchange days and 
Activity Days); a recruitment manager attends monthly children’s tracking meetings to further inform the Team 
about the children coming through the system. A Placement Meeting is held between recruitment and care 
planning teams on a monthly basis to further share details of priority children and available or upcoming 
adopters; early alert profiles are also prepared for both children and families and stored in a shared folder 
accessible to all workers. 
 
At 30th September 2019 there are no approved adoptive families waiting for links.  
 
For the year 2019/20 current indications are positive. The Team target for 2019-20 is 100 approvals; at the 
beginning of Quarter 3, we currently have 35 families who have already been to the Panel and approved. 
One family has been to the Panel but is awaiting Agency Decision Making. One additional family withdrew 
post the Panel (ADM deferred).  There are a further sixty families at some stage in assessment. There is 
every expectation therefore of the Team achieving significantly improved outcomes with the same resources. 
More families will be approved than were approved in the year proceeding the RAA and there is already 
guaranteed improvement on last year’s RAA target. We are doing all we can to raise the challenge of the 
aspirational target set for this year. All social workers within the Recruitment Team are aware of both this 
target and their own individual targets for the year.  
 

Page 42



 

 

9 

 

We have worked hard to develop a team identity by continuing fortnightly team meetings and establishing 
joint working in respect of delivering training and supporting marketing events and Activity/Exchange days. 
A great deal of our work involves evening visits to flexibly accommodate adopter availability and further 
evening and weekend recruitment responsibilities alongside our Marketing colleagues.  We would not be able 
to deliver so many events without the general sense of good will, commitment and positivity that exists in the 
Team. 
 
The Team continues to deliver monthly information evenings and three-day preparation groups. A duty 
system runs daily from 9.30am until 5pm. An answer machine captures potential enquiries out of hours. 
 
Our recruitment and marketing officers are increasingly bringing a level of expertise and opportunity to 
adopter recruitment that our separate agencies would not have had. This is a developing resource as they 
have come to understand our Service and we realise their potential.  The Marketing team workers have been 
trialling recruitment activity and plotting it against outcomes, meaning we will have an evidenced base for 
marketing activity going forward. Following the departure of a member of the Team, there is currently a 
vacancy leaving two full time marketing officers. The post is out to advert. 
 
We have a good number of experienced social workers in the Team who can nurture and peer mentor less 
experienced staff. There is a lot of good will in the Team in respect of this. 
 
The Team works hard to link adoptive families quickly to avoid delays for children being placed with their 
adoptive families. Good links have been developed with care planning colleagues to enable effective joint 
working for the benefit of our children. As can be seen by our data, it is the exception for families to be waiting 
longer than three months before being linked with a child.  
 
Team members are regularly commended by the Panel for the quality of prospective adopter reports which 
have been noted by managers to have increased depth and integrity due to the incorporation of learning from 
the Adult Attachment training. 
 
Areas for Development 

 

Monitoring, recording and reporting using information provided by Liquid Logic continues to be an area for 
development.  Migrating cases and unreliable inputting at the launch of the RAA resulted in considerable 
reporting challenges.  There are still some process issues identified which have been flagged to Liquid Logic 
but we recognise that only reliable and timely recording will result in a system that accurately meets our 
growing reporting expectations. The Service has its own tracking systems, updated sometimes on a daily 
basis, therefore accessing historical information is reliant upon what Liquid Logic can tell us. Our 
performance management colleagues and Liquid Logic are aware of our current difficulties and are working 
with us to improve the quality of reports we can get from the system.  Once the new Pathway changes are 
made, further training will be delivered to the Team.   
 
Year one largely focused on establishing the Team and processes.  Since April we have been building on 
those foundations to focus on our outcomes.   We have some aspirational recruitment targets for the year 
ahead that need to be owned by the Team and individuals in it.  Supporting recruitment activity and then 
improving timescales for stage 1 and Stage 2, so we quickly approve those we attract to the Agency is a 
priority.  
Staffing: 
 
Team Structure: The Service has a core team of 0.8 Family Support Workers, 8 (full time equivalent) Social 
Workers, 1 Deputy Manager and a Team Manager from Blackburn with Darwen. These staff are now 
seconded to Adoption Now and support a much larger service. Family Finding Workers are based largely at 
Duke Street, Blackburn. 
 
 

Page 43



 

 

10 

 

We currently have an additional temporary social worker 2 days per week funded through the Adoption 

Support Fund to support with the development and embedding of our therapeutic parenting course.  

The Adoption Support Service has been running since May 2019 with various staffing issues, including the 

part-time Advanced Practitioner being absent due to long term sickness, a part-time maternity vacancy not 

yet successfully recruited to, 2 full-time workers having been on sick leave and a full-time worker requesting 

to reduce to part-time hours.  

Whilst it has been possible to meet the needs of families during this time, it’s not been without its challenges. 

During this time, families have also been supported through the duty service where allocation has not been 

possible but this has only been for a very short time and where intervention has not been urgent.    

Centralising/Developing the Service:  

Following on from the Therapeutic Life Story Work (equivalent to the first module of the Diploma) and DDP1 

(Dyadic Developmental Practice) completed by all staff last year, staff have now completed the Foundation 

level NVR Non-Violent Resistance (supporting families where child to parent violence is an issue). These 

opportunities have been available to the entire Team, resulting in the approaches being consistently used in 

our assessments and support of families.  

Additionally, there are members of the Team who are continuing their developmental in these areas to 

become certified practitioners. Adoption Now is commissioning clinical supervision for certified practitioners 

and practitioners working towards certification in order to support and sustain this ongoing development.  

Overview of Staff training and qualifications are shown below;  

Theraplay  

2 certified practitioners, 2 practitioners working towards certification. 

DDP – Dyadic Developmental Practice 

The whole Team have DDP 1 

3 social workers with DDP 1 and 2 and working towards certification.  

2 social workers completing DDP 2 (independently) this coming November.  

2 practitioners have completed the Training the Trainer (or equivalent).  

Therapeutic Life Story Work 

Removing additional allowances from 1st April 2019 SGO applicants prior to this date, who have been 

awarded additional allowances, and removes allowances they previously received as a Family and Friends 

Foster Carer.  

Therapeutic parenting courses:  

We have successfully delivered our first Therapeutic Parenting Course, which received very positive 

feedback from the families who completed this with a second course set for November 2019.  

 The comprehensive therapeutic parenting programme includes; 

 1 x family assessment and parent feedback session  

 5-day parenting course 

Page 44



 

 

11 

 

 

The aims of the programme are to help enhance the relationships and positive attachments between family 

members; helping parents to support their children to build trust and security to reduce difficulties and stress.  

Through the programme, parents will gain understanding of the key theories linked to child development, 

increase their understanding of what lies underneath their child’s behaviour and develop confidence and skill 

in therapeutic parenting. 

The family observation session is based on the model used by the Theraplay® Institute; The Marshak 

Interaction Method.  The family session involves all family members attending the office to undertake a 

structured play session, which will be filmed.  This will help identify how the child’s early trauma and loss has 

impacted on their development and help build understanding of how this links to their behaviour. 

Following the family session, parents will attend the office for a feedback session where the family session 

video is reviewed.  Parents will gain useful understanding and insights into their child’s behaviour and 

development.  The strengths within the parents’ approaches will be highlighted and specific advice and 

guidance on ways to help the child will be offered.    

The first 4 days of the parenting course will run over 2 consecutive weeks.  In the first week theoretical 

aspects, including attachment, brain development and trauma will be covered to enhance understanding of 

the needs underlying children’s behaviours.   There is a reflective focus to the course and as well as learning 

how a child’s history and experiences have impacted on them, parents will have time to deepen their 

understanding of their own parenting styles, strengths and skills.  The second week will focus on practical 

ways to support children and will cover themes including Life Story work, Theraplay, DDP and sensory 

processing with tips and strategies offered.   The course has a positive focus, and will build on parental 

capacity and resources through Theraplay games, self-reflection and shared learning and discovery.    

What our parents said about the course and what they found most helpful ….  

“the feedback session following the family session helped to build on our understanding of the drivers under 

our daughters’ responses and we gained new ideas on how to respond” 

“I learnt a lot – loads of different techniques to help deal with various situations that I would usually get upset 

and angry about” 

“the trainers were extremely good; their knowledge, experience, way of teaching and approachability have 

been excellent. The understanding and insight this course has given me is potentially life changing both for 

my son and me. I am so thankful to have been on the course so early into placement” 

“the science behind the behaviours explained a lot” 

Adoption Support Consultation 

We have also introduced adoption support consultations to our Adoption Now colleagues in care planning 

and recruitment and to our Local Authority colleagues for pre-matching, pre-placement support and early 

placement guidance and advice. This can range from advice/support around preparing children for moving 

on, support with the Adoption Support Plan to allocating an adoption support worker to co-work alongside the 

child’s social worker for a seamless transition of support beyond the adoption order as needed.  

‘First Family’ – an independent service to provide birth parent counselling and support has been 

commissioned and is due to launch on 13th November 2019. 

The Peer Mentoring Scheme is almost ready to launch, with 8 mentors and a mentor manager now 

appointed and all having now completed the 1-day training course.  

Page 45



 

 

12 

 

Additionally 15 social workers across Adoption Now completed the Cornerstone Virtual Reality Trauma Aware 

Service – The Individual Child training. Adoption Now have 15 virtual headsets that are already being utilised 

in Adoption Support, Recruitment and training.  

Adoption Support Fund:  

The only certainty regarding the Adoption Support Fund (ASF) is that its future remains uncertain.  

Whilst it has been announced that the fund will continue, unchanged until March 2021, the long-term future 

of the fund remains under review. There continues to be much speculation from ASF monies becoming the 

responsibility of RAAs, further reduced Fair Access Limits to the fund ceasing.  

Adoption Now continues to prepare for every eventuality, from investment in staff training and development 

to widen our service provision in line with Adoption Now’s vision for a more self-sufficient and sustainable 

adoption support service to securing funding through our Local Authority resource processes where required.   

Total monies received 01/04/2019 – 
30/09/2019 

£370,476.67 

Number of children currently receiving 
therapy funded via ASF 

235 

Local Authority Breakdown:  

Blackburn with Darwen     33 

Bolton                                      40 

Bury                                          40 

Oldham                                    32 

Tameside  47 

Rochdale  43 

Number of providers currently being 
commissioned by Adoption Now  

66 

 

We have also been able to make some small applications to the Adoption Support Fund for packages of 

support provided by Adoption Now staff who are certified practitioners or working towards certification. It is 

important to note that some children do receive support throughout the Adoption process via Blackburn with 

Darwen’s REVIVE Service as well as the ASF. 

Total monies received 01/04/2019 – 
30/09/2019 for Adoption Now 
Interventions  

£16,600.00 

Number of children  12 

 

Clinical supervision costs for certified practitioners and those working towards this are met with this income, 

together with various other costs, such as room hire for the parenting course where applicable.  

Cases/workload:  

Adoption Support 

The current open case total is 327 – this total reflects the number of children receiving adoption support.  

 An overall breakdown of the current open cases is as follows:  

01/04/2019 – 30/09/2019  

Page 46



 

 

13 

 

Receiving on-going Adoption Support 
Packages 

252 (includes 30 assessments completed 
01/04/19 – 30/09/19) 

Ongoing Assessments  33 

Pre-order support 42 

Cases closed 74 

  

 Total 401 

 

Access to Records 

01/04/2019 – 30/09/2019  

Completed and closed  29 

Ongoing  54 

 

At the start of 2019 we commenced a piece of work to develop an Adoption Now process for Access to 

Records with our part-time Advanced Practitioner and one of our part-time social workers undertaking all the 

access to records requests in addition to working with our 6 local authorities to develop one process. It was 

hoped that this piece of work would be complete with access to records being rolled back out to the wider 

Team at the end of the summer. However, due to sickness this has been delayed – we have successfully 

developed one process for Pre-Commencement Adoptions which will be ready to roll out across the wider 

Team in January 2020, whilst a process for Post Commencement Adoptions is still in progress.  

In addition to referrals for adoption support and access to records requests, the Service has taken 

264 enquiries from 1st April 2019 – 30th September 2019.  These enquires include step parent adoption; 

letterbox; requests from professionals to access files, intermediary requests/sign posts, access to 

records advice and enquires from birth families.  

Surgeries and Letterbox: The surgeries remain an effective aspect of our Regional Adoption Support 

Service with the busier surgeries still being Tameside, Bolton and Rochdale. The majority of enquires coming 

through the surgeries relate to letterbox and to support birth parents/relatives.  

Good working relationships with letterbox co-ordinators have been established with letterbox support being 

a significant aspect of adoption support. This remains problematic however for Blackburn with Darwen. 

Whilst there are plans for letterbox to become an Adoption now function, the time frame for this is yet to be 

determined. It is desirable from a Blackburn with Darwen perspective that the letterbox function transfers to 

Adoption Now given the impact upon Business Support 

Both Rochdale and Blackburn with Darwen remain without an appointed Letterbox Co-ordinator, which 

significantly impacts on these two surgeries, which are both heavily supporting the day-to-day management 

of the letterbox service at present. Oldham and Bury both have full time, established letterbox co-ordinators 

in post, who hold positive working relationships with many of our regular birth parents needing support. Bolton 

previously had a part-time experienced letterbox co-ordinator; however, this has since changed and has seen 

an increase in the support needed from the surgery with occasions whereby two workers have been needed.  

Support groups/Events: We are coming to the end of our calendar of events for 2019, including support 

groups, training workshops and events and our steering groups remain in place to further develop this core 

offer of services.  

 Training Events;  

In the last 6 months we have run numerous workshops with up to 25 attendees;  

Starting your adoptive family (21 attendees) 

Page 47



 

 

14 

 

The developing brain (22 attendees) 

Life Story Work – Introduction (26 attendees) 

Introduction to Theraplay and PACE (19 attendees) 

Support to family and friends (16 attendees)  

 

 Annual Events; 

We have held 2 events since April – an Easter event (Egg Hunt) with over 100 attendees (parents 

and children). We also held a Summer Picnic, which due to the weather required a last-minute venue 

change. Although over 80 attendees confirmed, over 60 still attended with some not hearing about 

the change in time.  

 

 0-11 Years Support Groups/Events; 

We hold 2 Nurture/Toddler groups (0-4 years) per month with an average of 12 families attending at 

each – with school holidays this often increases to an average of 15 families per session.  

Club Awesome (4-11 years) runs on a monthly basis and on average we have 10 families attending.  

 

We held an annual Summer Picnic at a Church Hall with indoor activities, including a carpet picnic with a 

movie and popcorn for all. This was well attended and enjoyed by all given the positive feedback received.  

The 2020 calendar will be ready to circulate in November 2019 and will be enhanced with the following 

developments:-  

 There is a review of preparation training currently on-going with adoption support workers being part 

of the focus group undertaking the review – the aim being to not only explore what should be included 

in prep training in relation to adoption support, but also to inform how our workshops follow on, 

enhance and support prospective adopters’ development, into placement and beyond.  

 Staring your adoptive family workshop – this is being reviewed in line with preparation training and 

will be launched in 2020, running multiple times throughout the year.  

 A workshop focusing on Trauma and Attachment is currently in development and will launch in the 

2020 calendar.  

 Adoption Now’s Therapeutic Parenting Course will run 3 times during 2020. This is currently provided 

based on assessed need.  

Additionally, two further group based therapeutic interventions are in development; one that will follow the 

therapeutic parenting course for families requiring further support or for families where its assessed that this 

maybe too basic for a family and will draw more on the DDP/PACE approach. The other will explore how we 

can support our families with the teenage years and will draw on various therapeutic approaches, including 

Non-Violent Resistance.  

 

Attachment for school/classroom workshops are delivered with varying models, and an Adoption Now 

workshop is currently in development to ensure consistency.  

 
Adoption Panels 
 

Adoption Panels continue to operate four times per month with an option to run a fifth panel if required. A 
half-yearly Panel Report summarises the work of the Panels. They continue to be busy and two new Panel 
Chairs have been recruited which means there are now 4 Chairs available. 
 
The Panels quality assure all paperwork being presented and it is evident that there is continued 
improvement in the quality and standard of both matching paperwork and Adopter Assessment paperwork. 
73% of matches presented on Blackburn with Darwen children were of good quality or better. 
Inter-country adoption  

Page 48



 

 

15 

 

   
Inter-Country Adoption Services are rarely requested in Blackburn with Darwen, but the Local Authority has 
a statutory obligation to provide or commission a service. Blackburn with Darwen commissions this service 
from The Inter Country Adoption Centre. 
 

 

Participation of Young People   
 
Services being designed are in line with the expressed wishes of some of our young people when they were 
consulted last year. Creative ways continue to be used to encourage participation from children who access 
post adoption support as well as those children who are awaiting adoption, especially, but not exclusively, 
those who are verbal.  
Complaints  
Adoption Now and the Local Authority has not received any complaints in relation to Blackburn children or 
families.  
 
Allegations    
There have been no allegations in the last six months. 
 
Budget 
 
New Adoption Support fund applications have transferred to Adoption Now (see above for the amount 
claimed). 
 
The Operational Budgets supporting Adoption Services were transferred to Adoption Now, and combined 
with the budgets from the other five Local Authorities in 2017. The budget has not been increased this year. 
At the six month stage in September 2019 it is expected that the Adoption Now budget will have a slight 
underspend. There are costs associated with posts in the RAA that had no budget line to support them from 
the outset; however, these are more than covered now by the income being generated and savings achieved 
from other budget lines as part of the economy of scale in bringing the six Local Authorities together. 
 
Children’s Services no longer generate an income through Adoption as the Adopters recruited are within 
Adoption Now. The costs of placing children with Adopters outside of Adoption Now this year is predicted to 
be £472,000 against a budget of £266,700. These fees have resulted from placing 2 sibling groups of 3, 3 
sibling groups of 2 and 8 single children some of whom were ‘hard to place’ due to their age or complex 
needs. The surplus budget developed by Adoption Now this year is to be used to meet the additional costs 
anticipated for the forthcoming year due to a change of premises. 
 
Discussions are ongoing with the Board about the financial implication of bringing the letterbox function into 
the RAA which is quoted at approximately £12,000 per annum per Local Authority. 
 
 
 
 
Team Development   
 
Adoption Now hold regular team meetings where staff learn together and develop practise. In addition there 
has been team building training in each of the work streams. In the last six months there has been training in 
non-violent resistance (managing child to parent violence) for the full adoption support staff team, a course 
for recruitment staff on making good assessments and a variety of training for individual staff.  Further training 
is planned for the coming six months and topics are those requested by the staff in line with service need. 
One of the benefits of the new regionalised approach is that pooled budgets allow for staff to be better 
equipped to manage children and families coping with transition and trauma. Often it is more economical to 
provide whole team training and equally the risk that trained people leave is therefore reduced.  
 
A development plan exists within Adoption Now to ensure continuous improvements are made to the service.  
 

Page 49



 

 

16 

 

 
Completed by Karen Barrick, Adoption Now 
 
Additional Information provided by Pamela Price, BwD Service Lead for Placements 
 

Page 50



EXECUTIVE BOARD DECISION 

 

REPORT OF: Executive Member for Children, Young People and 
Education 

LEAD OFFICERS: Director of Children's Services & Education 

DATE: 
 

Thursday, 11 June 2020 

 

PORTFOLIO(S) AFFECTED:   

WARD/S AFFECTED: (All Wards);  

KEY DECISION: Y  

 

SUBJECT: 

School Holiday Pattern for Community and Controlled Schools 2021/2022 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The Local Authority (LA) has responsibility for setting the school holiday pattern for Community and Controlled 
schools. It does this in consultation with neighbouring LAs, schools and teacher associations. For other maintained 
schools (Voluntary Aided and Foundation) the governing body sets the holiday pattern. Trustees of Free schools and 
Academies (schools independent of the LA) have responsibility for setting their term and holiday dates 

 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

That the Executive Board: 
 
Agrees the school term and holiday pattern for Community and Controlled schools for 2021/2022 
(as set out in Appendix 2 "Recommended Dates 2021/2022. 
 

 

3. BACKGROUND 
The LA is required to set the school holiday pattern for its Community and Controlled schools. The dates are agreed 
12 months in advance of schools beginning the new academic year. In February the dates were circulated for 
consultation with primary and secondary schools. In addition the dates were sent to Teacher Associations for their 
observations and comments. 

 
 

4. KEY ISSUES & RISKS 

Schools have a preference for the LA to set a pattern that is aligned with Lancashire County 
Council. In this way there is less disruption for families and employees.  
 
Due to the composition of the maintained school sector in the Borough agreeing a uniform set of 
dates is not possible as all of the secondary schools and over a half of primary schools can set 
their own holiday patterns. This may well increase in the years ahead as more schools change 
from maintained schools to academies. 
 

 

5. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

Schools, Governors and Teacher Associations were all asked for comments in relation to the 
proposed holiday pattern. In recent years the Local Authority has received only a very limited Page 51

Agenda Item 8.3



number of comments and these have been consistent with comments received in previous years 
wanting the pattern to be aligned as much as possible with Lancashire’s holiday pattern, to avoid 
problems with members of staff who have children attending schools in Lancashire. There have 
been no responses received this year. 
 
It is important to note that once agreed by the LA and published, the holiday pattern is binding on 
all community and voluntary controlled schools in Blackburn with Darwen. Voluntary Aided and 
Foundation governing bodies are requested to give consideration to the advice from the Local 
Authority when determining their school calendar. 
 

 

6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
There are no financial implications arising from this report. 

 
 

7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
Maintained schools must be open for at least 190 days during any school year to educate their pupils. The Local 
Authority is responsible for setting the school holiday pattern for Community and Controlled schools. 

 
 

8. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
There are no resource implications arising from this report. 

 
 

9. EQUALITY AND HEALTH IMPLICATIONS 

Please select one of the options below.   
 

Option 1   ☐ Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) not required – the EIA checklist has been 

 completed. 
 

Option 2   ☐ In determining this matter the Executive Member needs to consider the EIA 

 associated with this item in advance of making the decision.  
 

Option 3   ☒ In determining this matter the Executive Board Members need to consider the EIA 

 associated with this item in advance of making the decision. 
 

 

10. CONSULTATIONS 
Schools, Governors and Teacher Associations were all asked for comments in relation to the proposed holiday 
pattern. The Local Authority has not received any responses. 
 

 

11. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE 

The recommendations are made further to advice from the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151 
Officer has confirmed that they do not incur unlawful expenditure.  They are also compliant with 
equality legislation and an equality analysis and impact assessment has been considered. The 
recommendations reflect the core principles of good governance set out in the Council’s Code of 
Corporate Governance. 
 

 

12. DECLARATION OF INTEREST 

All Declarations of Interest of any Executive Member consulted and note of any dispensation 
granted by the Chief Executive will be recorded in the Summary of Decisions published on the day 
following the meeting. Page 52



 

CONTACT OFFICER: Andrew Hutchinson, Ailsa Smith, , andrew.hutchinson@blackburn.gov.uk, 
ailsa.smith@blackburn.gov.uk 

DATE: 28/04/2020 

BACKGROUND 
PAPER: 

Initial EIA assessment (attachedAppendix 1) 

    

Page 53



Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council        EIA version [0.2] 

Version 1.0         1 

INITIAL EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

Name of the activity being 
assessed 

School term and holiday pattern 2021/2022 

Directorate / Department Children’s Services Service Schools and Education Assessment lead Andrew Hutchinson 

Is this a new or existing 
activity? 

☐ New 

☒ Existing 

Responsible manager / director for the 
assessment 

Jayne Ivory 

Date EIA started 27/03/2020 Implementation date of the activity 01/09/2021 

 

SECTION 1 - ABOUT YOUR ACTIVITY 

How was the need for this 
activity identified? 

The Local Authority (LA) has responsibility for setting the school term and holiday pattern for community and controlled schools. 
It does this in consultation with schools, teacher associations and neighbouring Local Authorities (LAs).  Community and 
Controlled schools make up a half of schools maintained by the LA. Other maintained schools (Voluntary Aided and foundation) 
are encouraged to follow the LA’s pattern but this decision is made by the school’s governing body. Academies and free schools 
are independent of the LA and it is their trustees or local governing boards that set the pattern at these establishments 

What is the activity 
looking to achieve?  
 
What are the aims and 
objectives? 

The LA is fulfilling its responsibility, and by consulting with stakeholders it is providing a pattern that provides the least disruption 
to pupils, families and teachers employed in Community and Controlled schools. 
 
Schools should be open for pupils for 190 days in an academic year. The pattern set by the LA is 195 days and community and 
controlled (CC) schools need to open within this window and include 5 days closure for in-service training (INSET days) for 
teachers. 
 

Services currently 
provided (if applicable) 

The LA should publish the pattern well in advance of the start of the academic year so that this in turn is able to be fully 
communicated to stakeholders. This is an annual activity prior to the beginning of each academic year. 

Please outline 
recommendations that 
have been identified for 
implementation following 
a review of the activity. 

The traditional academic year begins in September and ends in July. The end of the Autumn term has a 2 week break around the 
Christmas celebrations and there is traditionally a 2 week break at Easter. Schools with a high percentage of Asian heritage 
population have flexibility to set INSET days around Eid celebrations. 
The Executive Board approves the school term and holiday pattern for Community and Controlled schools for 2021/2022. This 
pattern has to be followed by all Community and Controlled schools. These dates will be commended to schools in the voluntary 
aided sector but as above this is a decision for the governing body of the school to make 

Type of activity 
☐ Budget changes                            

☐ Change to existing activity                           

☐ Decommissioning 

☐ Commissioning                                                             

☐ New activity   

☒  Other Setting the school holiday 

pattern for Community and Controlled 
schools 

  

P
age 54



Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council        EIA version [0.2] 

Version 1.0         2 

SECTION 2 - UNDERSTANDING YOUR CUSTOMER 

Who else will be involved in undertaking the equality analysis and impact assessment?                 
Please identify additional sources of information you have used to complete the EIA, e.g. reports; journals; legislation etc. 

The Education Act 2002 Section 32 places responsibility on local authorities for fixing dates of terms and holidays for Community and Controlled schools. 

Who are you consulting with? How are you consulting with them? (Please insert any information around surveys and consultations undertaken) 

Consultation has already taken place with Headteachers, governing bodies and teacher associations. This took place in the Spring of 2020. Feedback received 
in the past calls for a pattern that aligns with our near neighbours Lancashire County Council. 

Who does the activity impact 
upon?* 

Service users ☒ Yes ☐ No ☐ Indirectly  

Members of staff ☒ Yes ☐ No ☐ Indirectly  

General public ☐ Yes ☐ No ☐ Indirectly  

Carers or families ☒ Yes ☐ No ☐ Indirectly  

Partner organisations ☒ Yes ☐ No ☐ Indirectly  

Does the activity impact 
positively or negatively on 
any of the protected 
characteristics as stated 
within the Equality Act 
(2010)?* 
 
The groups in blue are not 
protected characteristics 
(please refer to p. 3 of the 
guidance notes) 

Positive impact 

☐ Age ☐ Disability 
☐ Gender 

reassignment 

☐ Marriage & 

Civil Partnership 

☐ Pregnancy 

& maternity 

 ☐ Vulnerable 

groups 

☐ Race 
☐ Religion 

or belief 
☐ Sex 

☐ Sexual 

orientation 

 ☐ Deprived 

communities  
 ☒ Carers 

Negative impact 

☐ Age ☐ Disability 
☐ Gender 

reassignment 

☐ Marriage & 

Civil Partnership 

☐ Pregnancy 

& maternity 

 ☐ Vulnerable 

groups 

☐ Race 
☐ Religion 

or belief 
☐ Sex 

☐ Sexual 

orientation 

☐ Deprived 

communities 
 ☐ Carers 

Don’t know 

☐ Age ☐ Disability 
☐ Gender 

reassignment 

☐ Marriage & 

Civil Partnership 

☐ Pregnancy 

& maternity 

 ☐ Vulnerable 

groups 

☐ Race 
☐ Religion 

or belief 
☐ Sex 

☐ Sexual 

orientation 

☐ Deprived 

communities 
 ☐ Carers 

*I*If no impact is identified on any of the protected characteristics a full EIA may not be required. Please contact your departmental Corporate 

Equality & Diversity representative for further information.  

P
age 55



Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council        EIA version [0.2] 

Version 1.0         3 

 

Does the activity contribute towards meeting the Equality Act’s general Public Sector Equality Duty?   Refer to p.3 of the guidance for more information 

A public authority must have ‘due regard’ (i.e. consciously consider) to the following: 

DUTY DOES THE ACTIVITY MEET THIS DUTY? EXPLAIN 

Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and 
victimisation and other conduct prohibited by the Act 
(i.e. the activity removes or minimises disadvantages 
suffered by people due to their protected characteristic) 

The traditional academic year begins in September and ends in July. The end of the Autumn 
term has a 2 week break around the Christmas celebrations and there is traditionally a 2 week 
break at Easter. Schools with a high percentage of Asian heritage population have flexibility to 
set INSET days around Eid celebrations. In addition separate guidance has been provided for 
school staff in relation to Ramadan and Eid.   
 
This pattern has to be followed by all Community and Controlled schools. 

Advance equality of opportunity between those who 
share a protected characteristic and those who do not 
(i.e. the activity takes steps to meet the needs of people 
from protected groups where these are different from the 
needs of other people) 

Foster good relations between people who share a 
protected characteristic and those who do not (i.e. the 
function encourages people from protected groups to 
participate in public life or in other activities where their 
participation is disproportionately low) 

 

ASSESSMENT Is a full EIA required? ☐ Yes                      ☒ No 

Please explain how you have reached your conclusion (A lack of negative impacts must be justified with evidence and clear reasons, highlight how the activity 
negates or mitigates any possible negative impacts) 

The LA is expected to set one pattern to be followed by all community and controlled schools. It does this after seeking comments from schools about the 
proposed dates.  
The traditional academic year begins in September and ends in July. The end of the Autumn term has a 2 week break around the Christmas celebrations and 
there is traditionally a 2 week break at Easter. Schools with a high percentage of Asian heritage population have flexibility to set INSET days around Eid 
celebrations. In addition separate guidance has been provided for school staff in relation to Ramadan and Eid 

 

Assessment 
Lead 
Signature 

 

Date 27/03/2020 

 

  

P
age 56



Appendix 2 
 

DRAFT 
SCHOOL TERM AND HOLIDAY PATTERN 2021/2022 

 
 
 
 
AUTUMN TERM 2021 
Re-open on      Wednesday 1 September 2021 
Mid Term Closure     Monday 25 October- 

Friday 29 October 2021 (inc) 
Closure after school on    Friday 17 December 2021 
Number of openings     73 
 
 
SPRING TERM 2022 
Re-open on      Tuesday 4 January 2022 
Mid Term Closure      Monday 14 February- 
       Friday 18 February 2022 (inc)  
Closure after school on    Friday 01 April 2022 
Number of openings     59 
 
 
SUMMER TERM 2022 
Re-open on       Tuesday 19 April 2022 
May Day Closure     Monday 2 May 2022 
Mid Term Closure     Monday 30 May - 
       Friday 03 June 2022 (incl) 
Closure after school     Friday 22 July 2022 
Number of openings      63 
 
 
 
 
 
TOTAL NUMBER OF OPENINGS - 195 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Edgworth CE/Methodist Primary School and Belmont Community Primary school have 
traditionally followed the agreed holiday pattern of Bolton LA. This arrangement will continue 
for 2021/2022  

Page 57



EXECUTIVE BOARD DECISION 

 

REPORT OF: Executive Member for Growth and Development 

LEAD OFFICERS: Director of Growth & Development 

DATE: 
 

Thursday, 11 June 2020 

 

PORTFOLIO(S) AFFECTED: Growth and Development  

WARD/S AFFECTED: Blackburn South and Lower 
Darwen; Ewood; 

 

KEY DECISION: Y  

 

SUBJECT: 

Masterplan for land at Bank Hey, Blackburn 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The Bank Hey Masterplan relates to land allocated for housing in Blackburn with Darwen’s Local 
Plan Part 2 and is located between Heys Lane and Bog Height Road in Blackburn.  
 
The masterplan has been prepared collaboratively with the landowners to guide the layout and 
form of new housing development on the site. It seeks to create a high quality, distinctive 
neighbourhood, identifying spatial principles for land use, transport, design and green 
infrastructure which need to be adhered to in bringing forward development on the site.  
 
Fundamentally, it provides a structure to the development of the whole site and ensures that it is 
not brought forward in a piecemeal manner. 
 
An Infrastructure Delivery Phasing Plan has also been prepared to support the masterplan which 
sets out the necessary infrastructure requirements for each phase of development to ensure the 
site is brought forward in a sustainable manner. Council officers have been fully involved in the 
masterplanning process, infrastructure requirements and phasing plan for the site.  
 

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

That the Executive Board: 
 
Approves the Bank Hey Masterplan and accompanying Infrastructure Delivery Phasing Plan to 
inform the comprehensive development of the site for new housing and to ensure the necessary 
infrastructure is delivered at each phase of development. 
 

 

3. BACKGROUND 

Blackburn with Darwen’s Local Plan Part 2 (adopted in December 2015) allocated the Bank Hey 
site for residential development in order to contribute towards meeting the borough’s identified 
housing requirement over the Plan period to 2026.  One of the requirements of the allocation was 
that the site would be brought forward in line with a masterplan which covers the whole of the 
allocation. This must be agreed by the Council prior to the granting of planning permission for 
development on any part of the site. 
 Page 58

Agenda Item 8.4



The preparation of the Bank Hey Masterplan is essential for ensuring that development of the site 
is brought forward in a comprehensive manner. It will guide new development so that it is 
successfully integrated with the existing urban area, is delivered in a cohesive manner and it 
creates a distinctive new neighbourhood. 
 
The masterplan provides spatial principles for land use, transport, design and green infrastructure. 
Fundamentally, it provides a structure to the development of the whole site and ensures that it is 
not developed in a piecemeal manner. It has been prepared collaboratively with all landowners. 
 
The masterplan will shape development on the site to achieve high quality design, to retain 
important features and assets and to be sensitive to its location. It also provides more detailed 
guidance on the anticipated built form in individual character areas and provides a clear brief in 
terms of the quality of the development. It is a guide for the preparation of development proposals 
and a framework against which planning applications for the site will be assessed. It will be an 
important material consideration in the determination of planning applications on the site. 
 
The masterplan seeks to create a high quality sustainable neighbourhood that is integrated 
socially and physically with the existing urban area. A number of detailed technical studies have 
been completed by the landowners, to inform the preparation of the masterplan. These include: 
 

- Topographical survey; 
- Phase 1 and initial Phase 2 Site Investigations report; 
- Phase 1 Habitats Survey; 
- Drainage and Flood Risk Assessment; 
- Transport Assessment; 
- Air Quality Assessment; and 
- Consultation report 

 
Another important role of the document is to coordinate the provision of critical infrastructure which 
is necessary for achieving the vision for Bank Hey and the delivery of a successful, sustainable 
place. An Infrastructure Delivery Phasing Plan is included within the masterplan which sets out the 
required infrastructure for developing the site and the timeframe for its delivery. Council officers 
have been fully involved in the masterplanning process, infrastructure requirements and phasing 
plan. 
 
Consultation on the draft masterplan took place between December 2017 and January 2018. The 
site boundary included in the consultation material included an additional piece of land in the south 
eastern corner of the site. However, since the consultation took place, the landowner of this 
portion of the site has requested his site be omitted from the masterplan area. The Bank Hey 
masterplan boundary now reflects this change, with a corresponding reduction in yield over the 
masterplan site as a result. 
 
The Local Plan (both Core Strategy & Local Plan Part 2) is currently being reviewed. As the Bank 
Hey site is still available for development and remains a deliverable site, the site will be included 
as an allocated housing site in the draft Local Plan which is due to be consulted on in September 
2020. This will provide a further opportunity for comments to be submitted on the masterplan and 
its supporting documents as part of this consultation. 
 

 

4. KEY ISSUES & RISKS 

A number of key issues were raised by residents through public consultation on the masterplan 
document which took place between December 2017 and January 2018. The masterplan 
addresses these concerns as set out below:  
 
 Page 59



- Principle of housing on the site 
The site is allocated for residential development in the adopted Local Plan Part 2 and as a 
result the principle of development has already been agreed. The masterplan ensures that 
development of the site happens in a comprehensive rather than piecemeal manner and 
that any development adheres to the principles included in the masterplan relating to 
transport, design, drainage and green infrastructure. It also sets out the infrastructure 
requirements across each phase of development, ensuring the delivery of a successful 
place.  
 

- Greenspace and existing features 
Green infrastructure is a strong element in the masterplan. It will provide an overarching 
framework for new development and will provide separation, often across more steeply 
sloping land, between housing parcels and accommodates a network of footpaths and 
cycleways. 
 
The topography of the site, existing woodland and the overhead power lines have been 
used to inform the green space design. The masterplan includes a central corridor of open 
space which bisects the site from west to east. This follows the alignment of the overhead 
power lines. There are other zones of greenspace which link to the central corridor and 
includes existing blocks of woodland and generally steeper ground. These run through to 
the southern boundary of the site. In addition, two NEAPs (Neighbourhood Equipped Areas 
of Play) are proposed in the central greenspace corridor. 
 

- Education 
Taking into account planned growth set out in Local Plan Part 2, the Council’s education 
department has identified a need for a new primary school to serve new developments in 
the South Western area of Blackburn. Land has been reserved for a new school on the Gib 
Lane site which is currently under construction and located close to the Bank Hey 
development site. As a result, the Bank Hey development will contribute £3.3 million over 
the 4 phases of development towards the delivery of the school. Further information can be 
found in the Infrastructure Delivery Phasing Plan appended to this report. 
 

- Transport & traffic 
As part of the masterplan work, a Transport Assessment has been undertaken to assess 
the impact developing the site for housing will have on the local highways, and identifies 
required mitigation measures to be implemented as part of the site’s development. A total of 
£3million in S106 developer contributions will be required to be paid by developers over the 
four phases in order to contribute towards a new link road at Bog Height Road/ Ashwood 
Avenue and junction improvement works at A666 Bolton Road/Jack Walker Way. In 
addition, a number of highway works will be required which will be delivered through S278 
agreements.  
 
The land which is necessary to facilitate the construction of the proposed link road and to 
undertake the junction improvements is in multiple ownership. It is expected that the 
negotiations can be concluded by agreement but if this cannot be achieved then the 
Council may need to consider the promotion of a Compulsory Purchase Order. This will 
form the basis of a separate Report. 
 
A list of the highway mitigation measures to be undertaken as part of the site’s development  
can be found in the Infrastructure Delivery Phasing Plan appended to this report. 
 

- Drainage 
The masterplan has been informed by a Drainage and Flood Risk Assessment which 
provides an assessment of the potential risk of flooding. The main flood risk is considered 
to be overland flow and surface water runoff generated through an overall decrease in site 

Page 60



permeability. Development of the site will need to address this through the introduction of 
Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SuDS) and input from the Council’s Drainage team.  

 
 

5. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

Adoption of the masterplan meets the requirements of Policy 16 in Local Plan Part 2 which 
requires a masterplan to be agreed by the Council prior to the granting of planning permission for 
any part of the site. Once adopted, it will become a material consideration when assessing any 
planning applications on the site. 
 

 

6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

There are no financial implications associated with the adoption of the Bank Hey masterplan. 
 

 

7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

If adopted, the masterplan will form a material consideration in the determination of planning 
applications on the site. 
 

 

8. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

There are no resource implications associated with the adoption of the Bank Hey masterplan. 
 

 

9. EQUALITY AND HEALTH IMPLICATIONS 

Please select one of the options below.   
 

Option 1   ☒ Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) not required – the EIA checklist has been 

 completed. 
 

Option 2   ☐ In determining this matter the Executive Member needs to consider the EIA 

 associated with this item in advance of making the decision.  
 

Option 3   ☐ In determining this matter the Executive Board Members need to consider the EIA 

 associated with this item in advance of making the decision. 
 

 

10. CONSULTATIONS 

The masterplan was subject to a six week public consultation in December 2017. A total of 96 
representations were received which informed the masterplan. A Consultation Report, which 
summarises the comments received through this consultation and the project team’s response to 
these, are appended to this report. 
 
The site will be included as an allocated housing site in the draft Local Plan. The land at Bank Hey 
Masterplan and accompanying Infrastructure Delivery Phasing Plan will be included as part of the 
Local Plan supporting documents to evidence that the site is still deliverable and to support the 
continued allocation for housing in the new Plan. Public consultation on the draft Local Plan is 
scheduled for September 2020 which will provide a further opportunity for any comments to be 
submitted regarding the masterplan and Infrastructure Delivery Phasing Plan. 
 

 

11. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE 

Page 61



The recommendations are made further to advice from the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151 
Officer has confirmed that they do not incur unlawful expenditure.  They are also compliant with 
equality legislation and an equality analysis and impact assessment has been considered. The 
recommendations reflect the core principles of good governance set out in the Council’s Code of 
Corporate Governance. 
 

 

 

12. DECLARATION OF INTEREST 

All Declarations of Interest of any Executive Member consulted and note of any dispensation 
granted by the Chief Executive will be recorded in the Summary of Decisions published on the day 
following the meeting. 
 

 

CONTACT OFFICER: Laura Ainscow-Gorst, , laura.ainscow-gorst@blackburn.gov.uk 

DATE: 12/03/2020 

BACKGROUND 
PAPER: 

 

    

Page 62



C
ass

 associates

Bank Hey, Blackburn

Masterplan 

March 2020

P
age 63



Document Control

Originator: Checked & Authorised by:

Name of person & qualification: 

Paul Silcock CMLI

Name of person & qualification: 

Graham Trewella MRTPI

Job Title:

Senior Landscape Architect

Job Title:

Director

Signature: Signature:

Project Number:

1225

Report Reference:

MP-001-F

Issue Detail:

09/03/2020
c o n s e r v a t i o n

2

Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

P
age 64



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

3

Appendices
Appendix 1 - Development in proximity to overhead 
power lines

5. Masterplan Framework
5.1 Housing Requirements
5.2 General Housing Requirements

6. Transport Framework
6.1 Road Design Principles
6.2 Walking and Cycling
6.3 Travel Plans 
6.4 Parking

7. Green Infrastructure
7.1 Green Infrastructure Overview
7.2 Informal Green Space
7.3 Landscape Design
7.4 Biodiversity

8.  Design Framework
8.1 General Guiding Design Principles
8.2 Character Areas
 
9. Delivery Strategy
9.1 Planning Application Requirements
9.2 Phasing of Development and Infrastructure  
 Delivery
9.3 Housing Trajectory
9.4 Developer Contributions, Viability and the   
 Planning Obligations

1. Introduction
1.1 The Site
1.2 Purpose of the Masterplan
1.3 Producing the Masterplan
1.4 Structure of the Masterplan

2. Planning Policy Context
2.1 National Planning Policy Context
2.2 Core Strategy
2.3 Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and   
 Development Management Policies
2.4 Supplementary Planning Documents

3. Evidence Base
3.1 Topography
3.2 Ground Conditions
3.3 Flood Risk
3.4 Landscape and Visual Assessment/Views
3.5 Ecology and Biodiversity
3.6 Traffic and Transportation Analysis
3.7 Services and Utilities
3.8 Green Space Analysis
3.9 Educational Needs
3.10 Character Area Appraisal

4. Vision and Objectives
4.1 Vision
4.2 Objectives

Contents

P
age 65



4

Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

The land between Heys Lane and Bog Height Road 
(the site) is allocated for housing development in the 
Blackburn with Darwen Local Plan Part 2.  The plan 
estimates that around 315 houses could be built on 
the site by 2026 and acknowledges that housing 
development is expected to continue beyond 2026.

The Local Plan Part 2 was adopted in December 
2015.  Along with the previously adopted Core 
Strategy (Local Plan Part 1), it aims to shape the future 
development of Blackburn with Darwen in order to 
create jobs, attract and retain a skilled labour force, 
and strengthen the Borough’s competitive position in 
the North West.  It identifies strategic land allocations 
which are essential to delivering these objectives and 
sets out development management policies which will 
be used when assessing planning applications.

The Local Plan requires the site to be brought forward 
in line with a masterplan. This must be agreed by the 
Council prior to the granting of planning permission 
for development on any part of the site.

This document presents the Bank Hey masterplan. It 
provides guidance for the development of the site and 
will be used to inform the determination of planning 
applications.

01 Introduction

View of existing trees adjacent to Bog Height Road      

P
age 66



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

5

R
ep

ro
du

ce
d 

fro
m

 O
rd

na
nc

e 
S

ur
ve

y 
m

at
er

ia
l w

ith
 th

e 
pe

rm
is

si
on

 o
f t

he
 c

on
tr

ol
le

r 
of

 H
er

 M
aj

es
ty

’s
 S

ta
tio

na
ry

 O
ffi

ce
 u

nd
er

 th
e 

Li
ce

nc
e 

N
o 

18
62

87
.

Figure 1 - Location Plan

N

PleasingtonPleasington

Cherry TreeCherry Tree

LiveseyLivesey

TockholesTockholes

Abbey VillageAbbey Village

BrinscallBrinscall
WheeltonWheelton

BrindleBrindle

SamlesburySamlesbury

Mellor BrookMellor Brook

FourFour
Lane EndsLane Ends

SunnybowerSunnybower

WhitebirkWhitebirk

RishtonRishton

WilpshireWilpshire

BrownhillBrownhill

Wensley FoldWensley Fold

WittonWitton

GuideGuide

Queen’s ParkQueen’s Park

Whinny HeightsWhinny Heights
Mill HillMill Hill

Higher CroftHigher Croft

EarcroftEarcroft

BellthornBellthorn

Knowl FoldKnowl Fold

HoddlesdenHoddlesdenWithnellWithnell

KnuzdenKnuzden

WestWest
EndEnd

ClaytonClayton
BrookBrook

FeniscowlesFeniscowles
A666

M65

A666

M61

M6

BLACKBURN

DARWEN

A677

A59

A678

31

9

2

3 4

5

6

6

Development
Site

P
age 67



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

6

1.2  Purpose of the Masterplan

The masterplan bridges the gap between the strategic 
policy aspirations set out in the Local Plan and the 
detailed development proposals that will be the 
subject of specific planning applications. It is a guide 
for the preparation of development proposals and 
a framework against which planning applications 
for the site will be assessed.  It will be an important 
material consideration in the determination of planning 
applications. 

The preparation of a masterplan is essential for 
ensuring that development on the site is brought 
forward in a comprehensive manner. It will guide new 
development so that it is successfully integrated with 
the existing urban area, is delivered in a cohesive 
manner and it creates a distinctive new neighbourhood 
consistent with the Pennine countryside.

The masterplan provides spatial principles for land 
use, transport, design and green infrastructure.  
Fundamentally, it gives a structure to the development 
of the whole site and ensures that it is not developed 
in a piecemeal manner.

Another important role of the document is to co-
ordinate the provision of critical infrastructure which 
is necessary for achieving the vision for Bank Hey and 
the delivery of a successful place. The masterplan will 
shape development on the site to achieve high quality 
design, to retain important features and assets and 
to be sensitive to its location.  It also provides more 
detailed guidance on the anticipated built form in 
individual character areas and provides a clear brief 
in terms of the quality of the development.

The site is located on the southern edge of Blackburn, 
approximately three kilometres from Blackburn town 
centre and 600 metres west of junction 4 of the M65 
motorway. It comprises around 41 hectares of largely 
agricultural land which is used principally for grazing.
The site is bordered to the north and east by existing 
residential areas. The western boundary is formed 
by Heys Lane, beyond which lies agricultural land 
and then the Gib Lane development.  The southern 
boundary of the site is formed by Bog Height Road, 
beyond which lies the M65 motorway, the West 
Pennine Moors and the town of Darwen. The site 
boundary is shown in Figure 2.

The site is rural in character but adjoins the suburban 
fringe of Blackburn.  It comprises a series of enclosed 
fields.  Gritstone walls, trees and hedges define the 
edge of the site and field boundaries.

The site rises significantly from the north and east 
towards the south- west.  There are panoramic views 
from the site at the highest point.

The site is in five separate ownerships, as shown in 
Figure 3.

1.1  The Site

01 Introduction

View south east of the site from Jack Walker Way1

P
age 68



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

7

Figure 2 - Aerial Photograph

N

Development
Site

M
ap

 D
at

a 
©

 2
01

9 
G

oo
gl

e

P
age 69



R
ep

ro
du

ce
d 

fro
m

 O
rd

na
nc

e 
S

ur
ve

y 
m

at
er

ia
l w

ith
 th

e 
pe

rm
is

si
on

 o
f t

he
 c

on
tr

ol
le

r 
of

 H
er

 M
aj

es
ty

’s
 S

ta
tio

na
ry

 O
ffi

ce
 u

nd
er

 th
e 

Li
ce

nc
e 

N
o 

18
62

87
.

Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

8

Fowler Height
Cottage

Barn-side
Cottage

Fowler Height
FarmFowler Height

House

Higher Fowler Height
Farm

Well Lower

HE
YS

 LA
NE

New Row
Methodist Church

Pump
House

25

11

Issues

Well

FARMER'S ROW

20
14

39

47

81

72

69

HEYS CLOSE

FO
W

LER HEIGHT CLO
SE

34

44

52

66

68

76

84

67

57

43

55

18

ALPINE GRO
VE

33

CO
CKRIDGE CLO

SE

8

10

22

23

17

PARKLANDS W
AY

El
Sub Sta

78

56
60

62

76

10
5

99

97

87 79

77
71

61 69

59

12

26

14

28
32

50
46

11 13
9

1

33

Well

York View

1

4

Morris Bank

Holden Fold

Well

Turners Farm

1

5

Black Bull
Inn
(PH)

BOG HEIGHT ROADPEAK BROW

Well

89

88

Well

5
4

3a
3

2a
2

1

The Hollies

Well

HEYS LANE

Green
Row

Pond

Pond

Bank Hey
Cottages

Pond

FARMER'S ROW

Bank Hey Farm

24
0

24
2

33

23

11

9

158

68

10

2

HE
YS

 C
LO

SE

39

35

32

40

48

50

22

10

8

2

30

24

7
1

HE
YS

 LA
NE

11

15

16
4

WINTERBURN ROAD

LEYBURN ROAD29

23 21
15 11

7

2

10

21

33

17 19

OT
TE

RB
UR

N 
RO

AD

1

1

15
0

5

123

MOORLAND

RO
AD

17
19

8
6

125

137 1

3

11
15

1

3

11
15

8

HEYWORTH AVENUE 3l

20

2

4

17

25

2

2

1

23

24

28

Craven's
Farm

FERGUSON STREET

14

2

542

544

5

1

Fernhurst
Farm

BOLTON ROAD

OAKFIELD ROAD

EDMUND ST
REET

14

2

15

1

12

2

506

514

522

59
9

597

15

1

524

532

540

Garage

10

26

23

21

17

19

27

18

8

M
EADO

W
FIELDS

ARBOUR DRIVE

38

44

43

47

50

25

11

WATER MEADOWS

15

HENDRY LANE

2

4

1
3

11

5

2

8

2
4

OLD FARMSIDE

15

23

2

1

MEADOWFIEL
DS

DALGLISH DRIVE

8

2

DOUGLAS CLOSE

1

11

2

14

1

2

4

8

THO
RNYLEA

7

12

18

1

7

9

21

30

12

10

2

14

39

KENDALL CLOSE

21

22

10

12

2

28

22

14

29

5

1

ENGLAND AVENUE

1

FLOW
ERS CLOSE

GA
RN

ER

AVENUE

29

36

1

2

1

3

9

15

6

10

23

9

5

9

1

GREENFIELDS

1

7

6

2

7

11

20

1

18

FORRESTSIDE

14

20

3

THE GREENWOOD

2

1

11

15

3

17

32

29
3526

2

14

9

W
HE

LA
N 

CL
OS

E

1

1

7

Well

MEADOW HEAD LANE

Farm Cottage

49

Well

BO
G HEIGHT RO

AD

87

PEAK BROW

Bog Height House

El Sub Sta

BOG HEIGHT ROAD

43

41a

72

50

BEECH GROVE

17

12

2

29

Issues

Issues 31

32

22

Pond

Sinks

THE DELL

OAKMERE CLOSE

PARKDALE GARDENS

HEATHERLEIGH GARDENS

TH
E S

HI
RE

S

ARBO
UR DRIVE

2

1
2

6
7

1
3

5

11
15

1

3

1

5

7

11

9

22

2420

10

8

2

4

5

9

1

3

5

9

2

4

10

16

18

M 65

11

15

25

33

13

15

12

2

4

RYE GARDENS 24
2

1

5

8

49

ORCHARD CLOSE

4

20

28 1

5

12

32

11

27

15
17

ASHW
OOD AVE

3

6

39

20

1

2

10

23

11

8

GREENWOOD
THE

1

9

15

25

CRAVEN'S AVENUE

63
2

63
6

63
8

64
0

1

9

4 2

St Bartholomew's
Vicarage

598

60
8

60
4

BOLTON ROAD

Craven's Brow

56
8

588

57
8

558

23
5

24
7

556

16
4

22
3

21
1

El

605

617

Sub
Sta

Garage

61
0

61
2

MEADOWFIELDS

16

6

9
11

46

40

22 Golden
Cup Inn

BEECH GROVE

BOG HEIGHT ROAD

9

1

27

BO
LTO

N RO
AD

CRAVEN'S BRO
W

Craven's Cottage

2
4

10
12

30
28

20

M
EADOW

 VALE
1

3

5

11
15

21

25

31

35

LEA DRIVE

CR
AV

EN
S 

HO
LL

O
W

THE GLEN

3
5

3

1

7

1

12
6

16

14

12

2
4

3
5

21
23

4

5

1

M 65

5
1

11

10
2

1

2

THE GLADE

15

31

26

36

46 50

37

Spout House Farm

Spout House Barn

M 65

Issues

M 65

M 65

Garage

M 65

10
4

Well

Whalley
Terrace

Bog Bank Farm

Higher Bog Height
Farm

Higher Bog Height

41

60

39

39

27

Darwen Vale High School

18

(PH)

13

30

1

14

34

El Sub Sta

Figure 3 - Site Ownership

N

Smalley Family

Tertiary Limited

Lucas

Blackburn with Darwen
Borough Council

Lancashire County 
Council

LEGEND

Bog Height Road

Bog Height Road

H
ey

s 
La

ne

Jack W
alker W

ay

Ash
wood

Avenue

Hey
s L

an
e

P
age 70



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

9

Transport and Traffic
• The capacity of Heys Lane and Bog Height 

Road to accept the traffic generated by new 
development.

• Concerns about the new link between Bog Height 
Road and Ashwood Avenue, particularly in relation 
to impacts on Jack Walker Way and its junction 
with the A666.

• Parking issues around the Redeemer primary 
school.

Drainage
• The drainage proposed on the site will need 

sufficient capacity to ensure that neighbouring 
properties are not flooded or affected in any way.

• The drainage network on the site and the 
watercourses that lead from the site will need to 
be properly maintained.

A total of 96 representations were received during 
this consultation period.  A report summarising 
the comments received and the response of the 
project team to frequently asked questions has been 
assembled. This report has been published alongside 
the masterplan.

The key concerns raised by local people fall under a 
number of headings:

New Housing
• Concentrate development on brownfield sites 

rather than edge of town locations.
• New housing could overlook and overshadow 

existing properties.

Greenspace and Existing Features
• Can existing features such as woodland and dry 

stone walls be retained?
• Who will maintain the green spaces?
• There is a need to protect habitats that are 

important for wildlife.

Local Amenities
• The impact on local schools which are already 

oversubscribed.
• Increased pressure on health services.

1.3  Producing the Masterplan

The project team has worked in collaboration with the 
owners of the land and with Blackburn with Darwen 
Council to develop this masterplan for the site.

The masterplan is informed by a series of detailed 
technical studies which have been completed to 
provide a robust evidence base. These include surveys 
and reports to examine specific features of the site 
and to assess the potential impacts of development 
in this location:

• Topographical Survey
• Phase 1 and Initial Phase 2 Site Investigation 

Report
• Phase 1 Habitat Survey, 
• Drainage and Flood Risk Assessment 
• Transport Assessment
• Air Quality Assessment
• Consultation Report

A summary of this background evidence is provided 
in Section 3.

The process of producing the masterplan has included 
public consultation.  This has been an important part 
of the process which has highlighted matters that are 
of particular local concern.

A public exhibition took place on the 7th December 
2017.  Feedback was received for a period of six 
weeks after this date.

01 Introduction

P
age 71



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

10

The masterplan has three main sections. The first 
section provides additional context and background 
information about the site. Specifically, Chapter 2 
provides an overview of the national and local planning 
policy context and Chapter 3 summarises the key 
issues that emerged from the evidence base prepared 
to support the masterplan.

The second section of the masterplan establishes 
the principles that will guide the development of the 
site. Chapter 4 sets out a strategic vision for the site 
and identifies a number of development objectives. 
The masterplan framework itself, which is the 
overarching plan to guide the quantum and layout 
of development across the site, is set out in Chapter 
5.  The subsequent chapters provide key guiding 
principles in relation to transport (Chapter 6), green 
infrastructure (Chapter 7) and the approach to built 
form and public realm (Chapter 8).

The final section of the masterplan is a framework for 
delivery.  Chapter 9 sets out the planning application 
requirements for development proposals on the site, 
identifies infrastructure requirements to support the 
development and incorporates a phasing plan showing 
the proposed sequence of development. This chapter 
also provides details of how local infrastructure will be 
improved in a co-ordinated and phased way.

1.4  The Structure Of The Masterplan

01 Introduction

View from within the site looking north east towards the Fernhurst estate

P
age 72



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

11

The national Planning Practice Guidance provides 
further advice on securing high standards of design 
in new development. It emphasises the importance 
of successfully integrating new development with 
its surrounding context and encourages new 
development to be distinctive.  It needs to respond 
to natural features and locally distinctive patterns 
of development, incorporate attractive and well-
connected permeable street networks and integrate 
a system of easily accessible open and green spaces.

The Planning Practice Guidance also recognises that 
masterplans can be important tools for achieving 
good design. It notes that masterplans can set out a 
strategy for a new development including its general 
layout and scale and can be used to set the most 
important parameters for an area such as the mix 
of uses, requirements for open space or transport 
infrastructure, the amount and scale of buildings and 
the quality of buildings.

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets 
out the Government’s planning policies for England 
and how these are expected to be applied.

A core principle of the NPPF is to proactively drive and 
support sustainable economic development to deliver 
the homes, infrastructure and thriving local places 
that the country needs. It seeks to boost significantly 
the supply of housing and widen the choice of high 
quality homes and requires local planning authorities 
to identify key sites which are critical for meeting the 
objectively assessed needs for market and affordable 
housing in their area.

The NPPF also emphasises the importance of 
securing high quality design and recognises that good 
design is a key aspect of sustainable development 
and is indivisible from good planning. The Framework 
highlights the importance of planning positively for the 
achievement of high quality and inclusive design for 
all development, including individual buildings, public 
and private spaces and wider area development 
schemes. It recommends that local character 
should be respected and reinforced to reflect local 
distinctiveness whilst not preventing or discouraging 
innovative development which raises the standard of 
design within an area.

2.1  National Planning Policy Context

02 Planning Policy Context

Existing greenspace off Jack Walker Way

Highpoint marker post

P
age 73



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

12

2.3  Local Plan Part 2 : Site Allocations and   
       Development Management Policies

02 Planning Policy Context

The Local Plan Part 2 was adopted in December 2015.  
It is based on the development strategy contained 
in the Core Strategy and seeks to support its 
implementation by identifying strategic land allocations 
that are essential for delivering Blackburn with Darwen 
Council’s objectives.

The Part 2 Plan identifies a series of sites which are 
considered to be central to the delivery of the Council’s 
overall strategy for new housing, including key sites 
in urban regeneration areas, major urban sites and a 
number of urban extensions.

The land to the east of Bank Hey is an urban extension 
site that has been identified in the Local Plan Part 2 
as a housing allocation. It estimates that 315 houses 
could be built on the site by 2026 but acknowledges 
that housing development is expected to continue 
beyond 2026. A number of key development 
considerations are identified for the site, including 
the need for development to minimise impacts on the 
countryside, to protect important landscape features 
and to control surface water run-off. 

The development considerations also require that 
the housing should be brought forward in line with a 
masterplan to be agreed by the Council prior to the 
granting of planning permission for any part of the 
development.

The Core Strategy provides an overarching planning 
document for Blackburn with Darwen. It sets priorities 
for the future development of the Borough for a 15 to 
20 year period, including how much and what types 
of development there should be, where it should be 
focused, when it is likely to take place, and how it will 
be delivered. 

The Core Strategy seeks to provide for the development 
of approximately 9,000 new houses between 2011 
and 2026 and contains a Targeted Growth Strategy 
(Policy CS1) which seeks to direct the majority of new 
development in the Borough to the urban areas of 
Blackburn and Darwen.

The strategy does, however, recognise that there is a 
finite supply of land for development in the urban area 
and that the continued concentration of development 
in this area is unlikely to be sustainable. It also 
acknowledges there may be insufficient development 
sites in the urban area that are capable of supporting 
the Council’s aspirations for delivering more high 
quality housing of a type which may require the use 
of land in attractive settings.

The Core Strategy therefore identifies a potential 
need for some growth in the urban area during the 
Plan period and, if necessary, a limited number of 
small scale urban extensions. The Core Strategy 
states that any changes to the urban boundary 
will be determined through a Site Allocations and 
Development Management Policies Plan.  Core 
Strategy Policy CS5 indicates that the first preference 
for locating any urban extension sites will be on land 
not currently in the Green Belt.

2.2  Th e Core Strategy (Local Plan Part 1)

 

  

 

 

Core Strategy 
  

 Part of the Blackburn with Darwen 
 Local Development Framework 
  

  

  

 
Adopted January 2011 

 
 

   

� �� �� � ����� � � ���������������� ��
������ �� ����������������������������������	���
������������������������������	�� � �� � � �� ��� � ���
���
���������������

�� � �

P
age 74



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

13

United Utilities are unable to supply water to 
properties at this location above 180 metres, 
investment in a pumped supply or dedicated 
service reservoir would be required.

A contribution is required towards the provision 
of additional primary school capacity.

Contribution towards necessary local highways 
improvements.

Potential ecological impacts should be considered 
due to the greenfield nature of the site, and 
important features, such as woodland and 
hedgerows, protected.

Completion of appropriate ground investigation 
works to establish the extent of any ground 
contamination and whether any mitigation 
measures are required. There is infilled land in the 
area, and a known landfill on site.

This site is to be brought forward in line with a 
masterplan taking account of site 16/9 West of 
Gib Lane and the area south of Broken Stones 
Road previously granted planning permission for 
a holiday lodge complex. The masterplan must 
be agreed by the Council prior to the granting of 
planning permission for any part of the site.

The site adjoins the West Pennine Moors, and will 
be required to be designed so as to minimise the 
impact of development on the countryside, and 
to enhance access to the countryside.

Protection of the setting of designated heritage 
assets – there is a listed building adjacent to the 
western boundary of the site on Heys Lane and 
Bog Bank Farmhouse, a Grade II listed building, 
is located close to the site. Any development 
proposal should conserve the setting and 
significance of the listed buildings.

Incorporation of overhead lines into design 
masterplan. Statutory safety clearances between 
overhead lines, the ground, and built structures 
must not be infringed.

Site 16/10 - Land east of Heys Lane Blackburn

Site Allocations and Development Management Policies 
Submission Edition July 2014 

Site 16/10 – Land east of Heys Lane, Blackburn

Site Area  49 hectares 

Site Location: Edge of urban area 

Housing Delivery: The estimated number of houses to be developed on this site by 
2026 is 360, with 40 expected to be delivered by March 2018.  
Housing development is expected to continue beyond 2026. 

 
The land is bordered to the north and east by existing residential development.  The site 
comprises agricultural land with isolated trees and a number of farmsteads. 
 

 

Chapter 4 – Housing 
Page 59 

1.

2.

3.

4.

Key Development Considerations:

5

6

7

8

9

P
age 75



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

14

Other Guidance

1.  Borough Design Guide
Although this is no longer a formally adopted SPD as 
it hangs off former Local Plan policies, the information 
in it remains useful guidance which should inform 
planning policy. The guide outlines a series of 
principles for securing high quality urban design and 
provides general guidance to promote better design 
on individual sites/developments. The guidance is 
not intended to provide design solutions for every 
eventuality. Instead it seeks to raise awareness of 
good design and encourages an innovative design-led 
approach to development.

2.  Nationally Applied Guidance
Reference should also be made to design guidance 
that is applicable across the United Kingdom as a 
whole.  Particular examples are Building for Life 12 and 
the National Design Guide which aim to secure new 
housing which is attractive, functional and sustainable.  
Also important is Secured By Design which aims to 
minimise the risk of crime through well conceived 
developments.

A number of Supplementary Planning Documents 
(SPD) have been prepared to provide additional 
detail to policies set out in the Local Plan. These 
give additional, more detailed planning guidance on 
specific issues. Those of relevance to the land to Bank 
Hey include:

Residential Design Guide Supplementary Planning 
Document
The SPD provides targeted advice to enhance the 
quality of new homes and residential places across 
the Borough. It seeks to ensure that new development 
reflects the area’s special character and promotes 
the highest standards in design. The SPD also aims 
to ensure that the new homes and residential places 
in the borough are on a par with, or even exceed, the 
most attractive and popular historic residential areas 
in Blackburn, Darwen and the outlying villages.

Green Infrastructure and Ecological Networks 
Supplementary Planning Document
This relates to the protection, improvement and 
creation of green infrastructure and ecological 
networks. It aims to make the most of opportunities 
to enhance the natural environment.

The SPD identifies significant parts of the site as 
Stepping Stones. These are areas of local ecological 
importance and areas of priority habitat. The 
masterplan will need to recognise this ecological role 
and maintain natural corridors which link the site to 
surrounding areas and create long term, continuous 
areas of habitat. Unbroken corridors of natural habitat 
which is suitably managed will go some way to an 
overall net biodiversity gain at the site.

2.4  Supplementary Planning Documents

02 Planning Policy Context

Existing sloping topography 

Distant view of Darwen Tower

P
age 76



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

15

A wide range of technical studies have been produced 
to provide a robust base for the preparation of 
the masterplan. These studies provide a thorough 
appraisal of the site and its strategic context and 
highlight a number of physical and environmental 
constraints and opportunities which will influence the 
future development of the site.

This evidence base provides a foundation that has 
helped to shape the masterplan and the development. 
A summary of the key findings of this work, and the 
implications for the masterplan, is provided below. 

03 Evidence Base

View south west towards Bog Height Road

View north west towards Heys Lane View south  showing the site topography

View along northern boundary

P
age 77



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

16

Terra Consult Limited has carried out a preliminary site 
investigation (desk study) and has followed this with 
an initial intrusive site investigation.  The conclusions 
which arise from this work are set out in a Phase 1 
and Initial Phase 2 Site Investigation Report.  This has 
informed the preparation of the masterplan.

The report identifies that potential sources of 
contamination are likely to be associated with the 
landfill and made ground in the central southern 
sector of the site.  The findings of the exploratory 
boreholes and changes in topography have been used 
to estimate the extent of landfill material.  It is likely 
that the landfill material will need to be processed but 
further investigation is recommended to characterise 
the material.  Chemical analysis so far of soil samples 
from the landfill area have shown that there are no 
concentrations of contaminants which are of concern 
for the housing proposal.  Surface water samples 
show very low concentrations of contaminants.  
There is no indication that landfill material is causing 
a deleterious effect to water quality.  Notwithstanding 
this, more detailed investigation is recommended and 
a full Remediation Strategy will be required.

Beyond the area of landfill there are natural materials 
with layers of topsoil, glacial fill and bedrock (mainly 
sandstone and local zones of mudstone).  The site 
investigation report provides guidance on geotechnical 
design, foundations and other environmental 
requirements across the different parts of the site.

3.2  Ground Conditions

The character of the landscape changes from north 
to south. In the north, the land is gently sloping with 
a more enclosed character. To the south the slopes 
steepen, rising to a high point on the boundary with 
Bog Height Road.

The site slopes from its lowest point at the northern 
corner at around 154m AOD generally towards the 
southern boundary. The site reaches its highest point 
of 226m AOD on the southern boundary adjacent to 
properties 87 and 88 Bog Height Road.

It is important to ensure that there is a considered 
response to the topography of the site. In particular, 
development should take full account of topography 
and respond to the characteristics of the site. 

3.1  Topography

03 Evidence Base

Existing overhead power lines

Existing boundary trees along Bog Height Road 

P
age 78



R
ep

ro
du

ce
d 

fro
m

 O
rd

na
nc

e 
S

ur
ve

y 
m

at
er

ia
l w

ith
 th

e 
pe

rm
is

si
on

 o
f t

he
 c

on
tr

ol
le

r 
of

 H
er

 M
aj

es
ty

’s
 S

ta
tio

na
ry

 O
ffi

ce
 u

nd
er

 th
e 

Li
ce

nc
e 

N
o 

18
62

87
.

Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

17

Figure 4 - Site Topography 

Bog Height Road

Bog Height Road

H
ey

s 
La

ne

Hey
s L

an
e

Jack Walker Way

Ashwood Avenue

M65

A666

N

P
age 79



Body Text

Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

18

groundwater and sewer) considered to be low or 
negligible. There have been no recorded instances of 
historic flooding at the site.

The proposals for managing surface water run-off from 
the proposed development are based on no increase 
in flow rates of surface water discharged into the local 
sewerage system or drainage network.  Attenuation 
of increased surface water volumes will be provided 
where necessary to ensure that flows are reduced to 
external areas to an acceptable Greenfield rate for all 
events up to and including the 1 in 100 year + 40% 
climate change rainfall event.  The drainage strategy 
shows that all runoff generated within the housing 
areas can be managed and attenuated on site, up to 
and including the 1 in 100 year + 40% climate change 
rainfall events.  (There is no flooding of the conceptual 
surface water drainage for the 1 in 30 year + 40% 
climate change rainfall events.) 

The final design of the drainage network will be in 
accordance with criteria set by the Environment 
Agency and lead local flooding authority, who in this 
instance will be Blackburn with Darwen Council.  
The proposed development will not increase flood 
risk to the site or to third party land provided that the 
suggested mitigation measures proposed within the 
Flood Risk Assessment and Surface Water Drainage 
Strategy are implemented. 

An assessment of the potential risk of flooding has 
been undertaken in accordance with the requirements 
of the National Planning Policy Framework-Technical 
Guidance and local flood assessment documentation, 
including the Blackburn with Darwen Local Flood 
Management Strategy and Stage 2 Strategic Flood 
Risk Assessment.   The main flood risk is considered 
to be overland flow and surface water runoff generated 
through an overall decrease in site permeability. 

The potential flood risk associated with overland 
flows from the surrounding external catchment 
area impacting upon the site can be considered as 
negligible, although overland flow from greenfield 
open-space within the developable land boundaries 
may need to be intercepted and conveyed to 
appropriate drainage controls to prevent impacts 
upon the proposed housing. The design of drainage 
to intercept surface water runoff from any public open 
spaces should be undertaken as part of the further 
detailed surface water drainage design to ensure that 
the surface water drainage strategy for the proposed 
housing will not be adversely influenced under extreme 
rainfall conditions.

Flood mapping for planning from the Environment 
Agency shows the proposed development site to be 
fully in Flood Zone 1, with the risk of flooding to the 
development of the site from all other sources (fluvial, 

3.3  Flood Risk

03 Evidence Base

Flood Zone 2

Flood Zone 1Flood Zone 3

Main River

Figure 5 - Environment Agency Flood Risk Map

LEGEND

P
age 80



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

19

particular, there are far reaching views south to the 
more elevated areas of the West Pennine Moors and 
to prominent landmarks such as Darwen Tower.  There 
are panoramic views of Blackburn to the north.  

The development should seek to capitalise upon these 
views but the siting of buildings and infrastructure 
should also be carefully conceived to account for 
the long distance views towards the site from the 
surrounding area.

there are wooded areas and tree belts across the 
site, notably on the southern boundary close to Bog 
Height Road. These are valuable landscape features 
which contribute to the character of the area and the 
development should seek to retain and enhance these 
features to help integrate it with the local landscape.
 
There are prominent views towards the site from 
the surrounding area and the topography of the site 
provides opportunities for broad panoramic views 
in all directions. At the southern part of the site in 

The site adjoins the urban area and is bordered to the 
east and north by existing residential development.  
The site is not subject to any formal local or statutory 
landscape designations.

The site is rural in character and comprises sloping 
pasture contained by field boundaries.  These are 
formed by gritstone walls, mature and semi-mature 
trees and hedges.

The site is predominantly open in character but 

3.4  Landscape and Visual Assessment/     
       Views

03 Evidence Base

Panoramic view looking north west

Panoramic view looking north towards Blackburn

2

3

P
age 81



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

20

Panoramic view looking north east towards the Fernhurst estate

Panoramic view looking south west over  existing grazed pasture

Panoramic view looking north from the high point adjacent to Bog Height Road

Panoramic view looking south east from the public footpath adjacent to Bank Heys Cottages 

4

5

6

7

P
age 82



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

21

The southern portion of the site is dominated by poor 
semi-improved pasture and marshy grassland with the 
ground sloping, often steeply to the north. Two small 
areas of low ecological value woodland are located within 
this area, one growing on flat ground along the southern 
perimeter and the second on sloping ground to the north-
east. Habitat occurring on steeper, non-wooded slopes 
is species poor acid grassland. 

The northern portion of the site is characterised by flatter 
ground and is dominated by improved pasture together 
with sections of hedgerows and linear scrub.  There are 
a number of scattered ponds together with  field drains 
and ditches and a section of watercourse which follows 
a natural course.  Scattered mature trees occur around 
much of the perimeter.

There are no statutory environmental designations 
covering the site, although it falls within the impact zone 
of the West Pennine Moors Site of Special Scientific 
Interest (SSSI), located approximately 2 km to the south 
and is adjacent to Higher Bog Height Pasture Biological 
Heritage Site (BHS).

A significant part of the site is identified as Stepping 
Stones.  These are areas of ecological importance and, 
as such, Policies 9 and 40 of the Local Plan Part 2 (page 
12) should be taken into account.  There is an emphasis 
on preserving the most significant habitats, maintaining 
the integrity of ecological networks and creating new 
habitats, including multi-functional public open space.

Future ecological surveys at the planning application 
stage should focus on assessing the value of the site for 
ground nesting birds and determining the presence of 
legally protected species, including great crested newts, 
bats and slow worms, together with notable species such 
as brown hare and hedgehog.

03 Evidence Base

3.5  Ecology

Figure 6 - Ecological Constraints and Opportunities Plan

Ponds offer suitable aquatic
habitat for amphibians

A number of habitats on site
including woodland and hedgerows
provide suitable habitat suitable for

foraging and commuting bats,
nesting birds, slow worms, brown

hares and hedgehogs

A number of field boundaries
comprise poor quality 

hedgerows and scattered trees
 and scrub.  Native species

planting will improve the quality
and connectivity of linear

habitats, benefitting a range of
fauna

Ponds offer suitable
aquatic habitat for 

amphibians

These areas provide
habitat suitable for ground

nesting birds

Higher Bog Height
Pasture Biological

Heritage Site

A number of trees with bat
roost potential are located
within the site with a high

concentration in the western
woodland

Woodland
LEGEND

Pond

Watercourse

Hedgerow

Scattered trees and scrub

Individual tree

Woodland/tree with bat roost potential

Himalayan balsam (non-native invasive species)

Japanese knotweed (non-native invasive species)

Biological Heritage Site

Proposed network of ecological enhancement

   
 
BOW17/887 Heys Lane, Blackburn - Ecological Statement 

 
4 

Appendix A – Ecological Constraints and Opportunities Plan 

 

P
age 83



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

22

The development is divided into eight plots of land. 
The plots can be served by up to six new points of 
access onto the surrounding road network. Pedestrian 
and cycle only accesses will be provided throughout 
the site, connecting all plots. The development will 
be permeable for pedestrians and cyclists from all 
directions. The development will incorporate many 
new routes for leisure walking by making the whole 
site accessible by all for the first time.

The initial phase of development will be supported 
by two new points of access for pedestrian, cycle 
and vehicular movement.  The first access point will 
be located just to the south of Redeemer School on 
Jack Walker Way and to the north of Water Meadows.  
It will take the form of a simple priority junction and 
will extend the shared cycle/footway infrastructure 
currently provided.  Traffic regulation orders may be 
required to ensure that occasional parking at pick up 
and drop off times for the school does not impact on 
visibility splays out of the junction.  The second point of 
access into the first phase of residential development 
will be taken from Moorland Road to the north of Eden 
School.  Moorland Road connects to Heys Lane via 
an existing mini roundabout junction.

Capacity assessments have been undertaken at a 
number of off-site junctions around the development 
site. The assessments show that at the majority of 
the junctions there is either sufficient spare capacity 
to accommodate the proposed development or the 
development will not have a material impact on the 
operation of these junctions.

3.6  Traffic and Transportation Analysis

03 Evidence Base

The junctions which operate close to or at capacity 
either currently or with the proposed development in 
place are discussed below alongside any proposed 
improvements:

1 Livesey Branch Road / Heys Lane Junction

The mini roundabout junction of Livesey Branch 
Road with Heys Lane requires improvements which 
are to be agreed. 

2 Bog Height Road junction with the A666 Bolton 
Road

The Bog Height Road junction with the A666 Bolton 
Road is predicted to operate over capacity in the 
AM peak period with development traffic from the 
committed Gib Lane and Sappi Paper Mill residential 
developments alone. Blackburn with Darwen Council 
(BwD) have collected contributions from the Gib Lane 
developer towards the mitigation of traffic impacts 
at this location. 

The BwD preferred strategy for the mitigation of 
the impact of committed development traffic at this 
junction is the provision of a new link road connecting 
Bog Height Road to Ashwood Avenue. This would 
bypass the eastern section of Bog Height Road.  

Without the link road or any other form of mitigation at 
this junction assessment suggests that development 
of up to 455 units on the site should be realised 
without significantly worsening the level of service 
at this junction.

3 Jack Walker Way / A666 Bolton Road (northern 
junction)

The Jack Walker Way (N) junction with the A666 will 
accommodate future levels of peak hour demand 
with committed development traffic allowed for and 
Bank Hey built out. However, this is dependent on 
improvements being undertaken.  

A standard roundabout with improved pedestrian 
crossing facilities will offer the optimum level of service 
for vehicular traffic.  There is no requirement for land 
outside existing adopted highway boundaries, or for 
any physical widening of the carriageway. 

4 Jack Walker Way / A666 Bolton Road (southern 
junction)
The Jack Walker Way / A666 Bolton Road (southern 
junction) operates within capacity without the link 
road in place and the Bank Hey development built 
out to 455 units.  There would be a need for interim 
improvements to be undertaken, entirely within 
adopted highway land, which would take the form of 
creating two right turn lanes out of Jack Walker Way 
and the necessary accommodation works associated 
with that provision.  

With the link road in place, and the full build out and 
occupation of all units on the site, the reassignment of 
existing and committed development traffic from Bog 
Height Road through this junction will create capacity 
issues without further additional improvement.  An 
improvement scheme has been tested in this location 
which shows that the junction will continue to operate 
within capacity in 2030 with the full development and 

P
age 84



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

23

verges. Duct crossings will be installed as part of the 
infrastructure works to allow the distribution cabling 
to be installed without excavation of roadways.

Gas
Supplies will be taken at medium pressure to the site 
along the verges adjacent to the main access roads 
into the site. The primary mains will be routed through 
the development following the spine road network.  
Pressure reducing sets will be located within the 
development areas within purpose built enclosures. 
Gas supplies will be routed to the individual property 
meters at low pressure from the pressure reducing 
sets. 

Telecoms
T h e  d e v e l o p m e n t  w i l l  b e  s e r v i c e d  f o r 
telecommunications from the existing infrastructure 
that runs past the site on Heys Lane and Jack Walker 
Way. Ducting, cabling and service pillar(s) will be 
installed as part of the infrastructure works along the 
development spine roads to allow for the final cabling 
to the properties once constructed.

Water
The development will be serviced from existing water 
mains located to the west of the site on Heys Lane 
and to the east on Jack Walker Way.

The water main pipework will be extended from 
the point of connection through the site following 
the spine road network. Provision will be made for 
connections from the main to the meters at the 
individual properties. The new main will be made live 
once a firm load is on line to avoid contamination or 
legionella problems.

03 Evidence Base

3.7  Services and Utilities

The incoming services to the development will be 
obtained from the existing electricity, gas, water and 
telecommunications networks around the site. The 
utility companies will confirm what requirements they 
have to ensure that there is sufficient capacity within 
the distribution networks in the area to serve the 
developments.

In all instances the incoming services will be routed 
under pavements or designated service strips to 
the side of roadways or footways to be adopted 
in compliance with current Council highway design 
guidance. All roadway crossings will be ducted with 
additional ducts installed to allow the future installation 
of services without excavation of the finished road 
surfaces.

The surfaces will be arranged generally as detailed in 
the National Joint Utilities Group design guidance and 
to the requirements of the utility providers.

Electricity, gas and water meters will be located in 
meter boxes and be easily accessible to allow them to 
be read, maintained and isolated when necessary. The 
meter boxes will, where possible, be flush mounted 
on the outside, flank wall of all properties.

Power
It is anticipated that the power supply will be obtained 
at 11,000 volts. Connections will be gained from 
existing substations. The high voltage ring main 
cables will be routed along the spine roads to serve 
new 11,000 to 400 volt substations located within 
the development areas. The low voltage distribution 
to individual properties will be obtained from the 
sub stations and routed under pavements or in 

the link road in place.  This scheme takes the form of 
additional widening into Jack Walker Way to lengthen 
the double right turn facility and widening into the 
western verge of the A666 south of Jack Walker Way 
to create separate left turn and ahead lanes. 

P
age 85



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

24

New residential development will contribute towards 
the provision of high quality open space.  The nearest 
public open space is Lower Darwen Recreation 
Ground, approximately 500 metres to the east of the 
site.  The neighbourhood more generally is currently 
deficient in access to parks and gardens and amenity 
greenspace.
 
The site is close to open countryside.  Two public rights 
of way run across the site.  There is an exceptional 
opportunity to link new (and existing) development to 
the broader public rights of way network.

There are also opportunities to provide large areas of 
open space within the development.  The new open 
space will need to account of the overhead power 
lines, the topography and areas of woodland.  The 
greenspace will include footpaths and cycleways, 
areas of landscape planting, the sustainable drainage 
infrastructure and equipped play areas, possibly in the 
form of linear trails.  

3.8  Green Space Analysis

03 Evidence Base

Public right of way adjacent to Bank Heys Cottages

P
age 86



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

25

03 Evidence Base

The Heights Free School

3.9  Educational Needs

Taking into account the planned growth which is set 
out in the Local Plan Part 2, the Local Education 
Authority has identified a need for a new primary 
school to serve new developments in the south 
western sector of Blackburn.  Land has been reserved 
at the Gib Lane development.  The options to increase 
primary school capacity are either a contribution to 
the new school at the Gib Lane development or a 
contribution to assist in funding the expansion of 
another primary school.

Secondary school places have been provided through 
the Building Schools for the Future programme.  This 
has been calibrated to support projected population 
growth.  Planning for secondary education is carried 
out across a wider geographical area and, as such, it 
is less sensitive than primary education provision to 
the location of new development. There is sufficient 
capacity in secondary schools in the borough to 
support the new development at the present time. 
This will be kept under review.

P
age 87



R
ep

ro
du

ce
d 

fro
m

 O
rd

na
nc

e 
S

ur
ve

y 
m

at
er

ia
l w

ith
 th

e 
pe

rm
is

si
on

 o
f t

he
 c

on
tr

ol
le

r 
of

 H
er

 M
aj

es
ty

’s
 S

ta
tio

na
ry

 O
ffi

ce
 u

nd
er

 th
e 

Li
ce

nc
e 

N
o 

18
62

87
.

Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

26

95.6m

El Sub Sta

River Darwen

FB

Griffin Football Ground

BM 96.71m

96.1m STANCLIFFE STREET

Pavilion

96.9m

96.7m

Adult
Training
Centre

48

38

Garage

Works

El Sub Sta

THORNBER ST

14
6

13
6

121

135

13
4

Works

El Sub Sta

GRIFFIN STREET

2
4

8
6

10

116

106

96

117

Mill

El Sub Sta

Bowling Green

NEWCASTLE STREET
Griffin House

GRIFFIN
Stancliffe House

39

25

Garage

Posts

Play Area

W
EL

LIN
GT

ON RO
AD

1

15

1

12
0

8

12
2

17

27

39

18

28

13

HAN
CO

CK STREET

12
4 105

12
0

10
6

92

95
15

1

93

LB

St Luke's and St Philip's

Nursery

PO
RT

LA
N

D 
ST

RE
ET

CURZON PLACE

1

6

7

11 12
14

22 23

20 21

19

15

82

84

80

74

58

Play

Area

10

CHARTERHO
USE

PLACE

24

81

93

105

115

72

62

50

38

2

12

64

54

NORMAN STREETBO
M

BA
Y 

ST
RE

ET 1

PE
RT

H 
ST

RE
ET

SANDON STREET

41

31

19

11

21

33

22

32

44

32

30

16

2

31 23

15

2

6

26

18

HARDMAN STREET

El Sub Sta

RO
DN

EY STREET

STAN
SFELD STREET

AGNES STREET

15

1

16

2

13

1

80

92

49

61

63

73

GALLIGREAVES WAY

107.6m

TAYLOR CLOSE

2

90

78

66

77

18

28
5

28
2

28
1

27
9

27
8

27
4

230

228

232
231

234
233

18

12
14 14

16

12

11 10 9

36

26

COLERIDGE STREET

28

16

4

51 66

35

63

1

DICKINSON CLO
SE

DW

DW

22

1
3

SANDON TERRACE

C of E

Primary School

Wks

22
24

2
2a

Griffin Mill

64

Posts

Posts6

4

Rainbow

House

TAYLO
R

STREET

Lower Hollin

Bank Street

102.9m

100.4m

HAM
ILTO

N
STREET

Alpha Works

Works

1

4 Works

FLE
TC

HER ST
REET

7

Balmoral Works

Ward Bdy

Und

LO
W

ER
 H

OLL
IN

Works

STREET

CHADWICK

115.4m

112.0m

BO
LT

ON 
RO

AD

HALL STREET

173

Wellington
Mill

El Sub Sta

Def

171

268

22
21

12

11

10

5

6

El Sub Sta

St Luke's and
St Philip's C of E
Primary School

25

7

38

43

44

45

95

1

4

37
36

49

46

27
26

51

ESSEX CLOSE

50

ROEBUCK CLOSE

GA
LL

IG
RE

AV
ES

W
AY

CR

108.6m

SHARPLES STREETPO
M

FR
ET

 ST
RE

ET

Wellington
New Mills

Britannia
Mill

TAYLOR CLOSE

177

180

21
3 20

8
20

7

19
8

19
7

193

196

27
2

269

242
241

240
239

264

249
248

247

243

263
262

152
137

138

139

11
8

11
7

80

82

84
83

60

151 150

184

181
185 182

186 183

62
65

68
71

74
77

63
66

64
67

69
72

70
73

75
78

76
79

61

140
141

176

94
93

190
187

23

189188

192191

120
119

130
129

131

132

10
3

10
1

10
6

100

HEATLEY CLOSE

10
8

10
7

Depot

GarageWard
 Bdy

MP 24

21
5

21
4

20
9

DICKINSON CLOSE

170

173

156

172

133

158 157

Und

CF

MP 9.75

SL

BA
NK

 ST
RE

ET

Depot

43 45

99101

20
18

2
4

1
3

11

15
17

2

4

14

16

HAVELO
CK C

LO
SE

Lower Hollin

Bank St

BETH
ESD

A CLO
SE

67

35

10

47
47

a

4949a

51
51

a

53
53a

55

81

89

Posts

Play Area

TCB

17

1

2

8

AV
ON C

LO
SE

BET
HESD

A CLO
SE

N
O

RFO
LK STREET

ZEBUDAH STREET

St Aidan's C of E
Primary School

Posts

Posts

10

2

23

33

35

49

Mill Hill
Gardens

Post

HERTFO
RD STREET

SUFFO
LK STREET

23

33

24

34
36

50

49

35

26

38

52

51

37

25

ST AIDAN'S AVENUE

127129 116

114

106

84

Works

94

Warehouse

AVENUE
ST AIDAN'S

El Sub Sta

24

34

58

15

to
36

PARKINSON STREET

Back Parkinson Street

Mill Hill

Station

55

43

41

27
29

3

13

2

12

BEDFORD
STREET

1

11

2

12

24

1

13

23

28

16

2

1

9

GOIT STREET

Works

Works

Playground

WATERFALL

ALBERT STREET

Prospect
House

El Sub Sta

29

AQUEDUCT ROAD

SPRING BANK TERRACE

Shelter

Foot Bridge

15

QUEEN VICTORIA STREET

Works

Works

PEEL STREET

El Sub Sta

STAKES HALL PLACE

Stakes

Hall

14

1

3

Depot

(PH)

W
ard BdyCR

71

HOLLIN BRIDGE STREET

Depot

River Darwen

97.4m

98.0m

El Sub Sta

Harrison
Recreation Ground

99

85

96

84

12
2

11
0

Warehouse

AM
BERLEY STREET

Mill

DIM
M

O
CK STREET

Works

LB

Havelock
Bridge

PH

96.8m

96.7m

BM 96.73m

81

1

HOLLI
N ST

REET

HOLLIN STREET

EXETER STREET

CR

36

32

28

14

6

2

76

62

8

Griffin Football Ground

PRINCESS STREET

Works

ST
AN

CL
IF

FE
 S

TR
EE

T

Depot

Depot

Works

Works

Works

Havelock
Inn
(PH)

96.4m

Works

Depot

MP .25

CHARNLEY STREET

Works

25

15

31

8

1
25

6

12
14

GREEN

CLO
SE

PARK

Griffin Mill

11

HAVELO
CK ST

REET

Works

Norfolk Terrace

1
5

Riverside House

3

7
7a

9a

7

Green Park

Bowling Green

Posts

2

6

1

11

74

H
AM

ILTO
N

STREETRiver Darwen

W
ard Bdy

CR

AQUEDUCT ROAD

ST AIDAN'S AVENUE

CCR

FB

Allotment
Gardens

143

153

111.4m

110.7m

HO
LLIN

 BRIDGE

STREET

Garage

110.8m

El Sub Sta

BM
124.91m

122.3m

M
ARLTO

N RO
AD

12

2
16

32

14

2

16

13

3

36

24

127.4m

SUNNY BANK RO
ADWOODBURY

AVE
NUE

61

1a

3

6
8

5

2

10

46

1
3

Surgery

PRITCHARD STREET

130.9m

Harrison
Recreation Ground

Path

58

35

40

44

47

52

102.2m

HOLLIN BRIDGE STREET

Hollin
Bridge

108.8m

114.6m

BM 112.57m

28

131

129

39

29

18

1

17

133

BM 104.39m

Garage

111.3m

BM 111.44m

2

LO
N

G
SH

AW
LAN

E

Blackburn
Royal Infirmary

TEERTS HTROWHTUOS

BM 130.45m

129.3m

49

14
8

15
0

1

10
2

51

CRANBROOK STREET

EXETER STREET

1

4

2

27

58

40

81
79

77

63

51

41

82

72

62

BM 99.05m98.6m

48

HOLLIN BANK

13

52

54

123

127

38

36

26

102.6m

FB

113.4m

BM 113.89m

To
wi

ng
 P

at
h

Lo
ck

 N
o 

6

Ov
er

flo
w

Le
ed

s a
nd

 Li
ve

rp
oo

l C
an

al

114.5m

BO
LT

O
N

 R
O

AD

BM 112.09m

126.7m

129.5m

INFIRM
ARY

RO
AD

IVY STREET

TEERTS NOSYD

15

21

42

41

45

23

31
33

2

38

24

16

15

1

11

GR
AF

TO
N 

ST
RE

ET

WILSON STREET

100.3m

BM 101.07m

103.6m

HA
M

IL
TO

N
 S

TR
EE

T

HERBERT STREET

27

17

114.0m

BM 117.30m

BM 114.03m

Shelter

116.8m

117.3m
TCB

119.3m

122.6m

INFIRMARY STREET

INFIR
MARY CL

19

31

6

54

3

11

1 2

3

6

43

40

28

16

123.8m

Harrison
Gymnasium

Ward
 Bdy

CR

HOLLI
N ST

REET
105.9m

101.9m

Harrison
Centre

CHARLES STREET

35

El Sub Sta

Works

6

5

28

16

LOWER HOLLIN BANK STREET

114.1m

BM 118.05m

BO
OT

HM
AN

ST
RE

ET

197

11

The Angel
(PH)

(PH)

W
ar

d 
Bd

y

Def

CC

Towing Path

Bolton Road Bridge

FB

FB

BM 119.58m

117.7m

Overflow Overflow

Basin

5 oN kcoL

Wharf

195

116.7m

Posts

Posts

2

16

40
38

17

31

7

1

8

18
16

2

28

22

36

40

The Moorings

7

8

6

1

12
14

15

16

19

1

3

EDISKCOL

6
4
2

1
3

5

7

CR

17

119
121

St Emmanuel
(Home for the Aged)

45

87
89

105
107

El Sub Sta

GVC

21
22

Posts

11
13

The Bungalow

Kensulat Park

GRANT ROAD

72

62

54

4 2

6

49

59

111

7

11

4

19

27

37

El

Sub Sta
52

42

12

SEL
OUS R

OAD

Warehouse

15

3

NARES ROAD

NAN
SE

N RO
AD

Sub Sta

29

43

44

30

32

22 46

1

13 8

2

23

55

52

70

74

43

33

VA
RD

ON RO
AD BR

ID
GE

 S
TR

EE
T

M
ILL

 H
ILL

98.4m

Witton Bank Home

97.76m

100.9m

GRIF
FIN

 ST
RE

ET

STANCLIFFE TEERTS

Football Ground

Rive
r D

arw
en

97.0m

96.0m

94.8m

92.0m

52

36

44

5

6

67

75

57

47

1

3

2

2

4

PREST
ON

OLD
 RO

AD

MARKHAM ROAD

ROAD

FRANKLIN

43

12

22

34

1

15

27

39

40

26

1

841

47

10

10
a

10
b

101

SPRING LANE

LB

14

2

1

13

16

2

100.0m

BM 99.68m

Griffin Park

4

2 12
6

118

2

14

31

33

SCAR STREET

GRIFFIN STREET

LB

BM
 10

5.2
2m

Allotment Gardens

FS

176

180

12

St Mark's

Campbell Place

PA
RK

 P
LA

CE

TCB

100.3m

2

4

6

175

185

1a
1

5
3

17

17

31

2

2

4

1

3

99.4m

1

11

2

12

2

SPRINGFIELD STREET

WITTON

Griffin Park
Primary School

18

Griffin Lodge

CAVENDISH PLACE

Lodge

1

4

27

30

20

8

74

66

LANSDO
W

NE STREET

36
 3

8

56 CHARTERHOUSE PLACE

44

50

40 42

52 54

163

167a

167
GP

99.7m

169
171

19
6

18
6

171 173

2

BROOMFIELD PLACE

GU
RN

EY
 ST

RE
ET

11

10

40

76

48

42

BM

El

Car Park

Path

Pa
th

35

27 30

TCB

Path

Conservative
Club

25

21

17

9
1

122

112

102

73
83

93

92

107.9m

Primrose Hill Bridge

Victoria Mill

62

72

82

1

13

2

16

49

37BONSALL STREET

STAN
LEY RAN

G
E

PERCY STREET

Works

Laneside
(Home for the Aged)

52

2

4

32

23

31

19

SH
ORR

OCK L
ANE

FRANCIS STREET

104.5m

El
Sub Sta

35

12

22

42

60

37

5

3
1

21

15
17

27

35

8
2

32

46

FIELD STREET

STEPHEN STREET

M
ATTH

EW
 STREET

2

30

2

4

2a

16

Works

103.9m

35

103.0m

46
60

62
72

7

Mill Hill Gardens

PO

Back P
arkin

son

Str
ee

t

106.1m

m25.601 MB

1

106.4m

12

2

20
 18

2

1

13

23

HENRY WHALLEY STREET

MAYFLOWER STREET

SPEEDW
ELL STREET

16

101.5m

M
AR

SD
EN

 ST
RE

ET

62

MP 33.75

MP 33.75

RAILWAY VIEW

TEERTS MAHTNARG

36

50 24

12

2

19

31

N
EW

 CH
APEL STREET

PARKINSON STREET

Mill Hill Station

BM 106.99m

61

73

34

24

1

106.7m

24

12

2

River Mill

htaP

95.1m

96.6m

BOWER STREET

PRIMROSE

2

14

24

54
52

St Peter's
RC Church

13

27

Presbytery

St
 P

et
er

's
RC

 P
rim

ar
y S

ch
oo

l

JE
SS

EL
 ST

RE
ET

M
ILL

 H
ILL

 ST
RE

ET

YO
UN

G 
ST

RE
ET

PENZANCE STREET

2

14

24

1

9

13

17

14
 12

24

342

1

9

19

1

11

13

25

TCB

16

BM 100.35m

103.9m

2
2a

4

14

100.0m

St Peter's
RC Infants School

HA
W

KI
NS

 S
TR

EE
T

El

Sub Sta

5563

1

6577

38

2

1828

2

10

42
56

68
82

96.6m

95.7m

BO
W

EN
 S

TR
EE

T

WATSON STREET

LIN
DL

EY
 S

TR
EE

T

1
5

40

2837
39 41

1

9

17

16

1

LB

QUEEN VICTORIA STREET

25

43

Workshop
for The Blind

47

1

7

14

3

BROOK STREET

Waterfall
Mills98.1m

2

Works

15

CARTM
ELL ROAD

GRANGE ROAD

51

57

3a

11 40

26

12

River Darwen

Works

17
19

20

12

VA
RD

ON RO
AD

SPEKE STREET

NAN
SE

N
RO

AD

Mill
Hill

Hotel
(PH)

M
ILL

 H
ILL

 B
RI

DG
E 

ST
RE

ET

Mill Hill Bridge

84

88

10

8
95.1m

95.1m

NARESROAD

W
illia

m G
riff

ith
s C

ou
rt

Football Ground

Griffin Mill

CF

CR

W
ard Bdy

DELA
MERE

CLO
SE

2

22

10

BO
W

ER
CL

O
SE

Community
Centre

LB

23
21

39
37

41

15
14

12
11

2 1

1

PR
IM

RO
SE

 C
LO

SE

El Sub Sta

43

1

9

11
15

23

34

11
15

10

16

8

2

49

Pavilion

45

Sub Sta
El

48
50

28
30

14

4 2

Fortuna Mill

70

56

51

61

TERRACE

1a

and Library

13to19

75

ZEBUDAH

STREET

22

14

157

163

76
78

NEW GARDEN STREET

EC
CL

ES
 ST

RE
ET

EC
CL

ES
 ST

RE
ET

HALL STREET

RO
CK

FIE
LD

 ST
RE

ET

Works

Auction Mart

Highfield Works

Rockfield Mill

HIGHFIELD ROAD

124.9m

Works

Chy

BM 124.92m

Bo
lla

rd
s

PATER
SO

N ST
REET

Rockcliffe Mill

El
Sub Sta

FB

125.1m

Lo
ck

SW
AN ST

REET

ROSE STREET

DERHAM
 STREET

UNITY

STREET

132.9m

7

27

13

1

9
26

a
26

16

6

1

67

61

59

14

2

Posts

DERHAM

STR
EET

BM 13
4.9

7m
4

45

1

2

12

1

5

2

1

11

15

19

25

19

1
ROBERT STREET

YORK ST
REET

FREDERICK STREET

MOSLE
Y ST

REET

133.9m
Works

2

8

3

4

IRON STREET

SHARPLESSTREET

Depot

100

96

92

86
84

 8
2

80
 7

8

72

8

2

1

Mill

74

PH

Ware
ho

use

Depot

Works

14

NOVA SCOTIA

MAYF
IEL

D ST
RE

ET

Warehouse

BM 127.72m
FB

Lee
ds a

nd Liv
erp

ool

Canal

MP 125.3m

lliM egdirB kraP
Lock

Bollards

htaP gniwoT127.8m

54

48

46
 44

PH

5
7

131.5m

BM 128.91m

UNION ST
REET

HARGREAVES LAN
E

68

56

46

LB

Depot

115.4m

LISTER STREET

Depot

Depot
34

24

BO
LT

ON RO
AD

116.9m
PL

AIN PL
ACE

1

KAY STREET

BM 121.93m

HOPWOOD ST
REET

HUTCHINSO
N ST

REET

CUM
PSTEY STREET

123.5m

124.3m

Mosley Mill

123.2m

126.7m

ST ANN'S STREET

GRIM
SHAW

 PARK JOINER'S ROW

RUSSELL STREET

Church

159

Grimshaw Park
Bridge

Garage

26

48
50

Garage

TCB

Garage

88
90

76

Highfield Road
Bridge

Christ
Church

2 35

27

22

30

20

14

24

12

El Sub Sta

28

30

28

Depot

Pamian

New
 Barn

Court
ROCKCLIF

FE 
STR

EET

GRIM
SHAW

 PARKPROCTER STREET

YORK ST

141.1m

141.2m

LB

TCBS

21

25

1

11

2

16

45

134.8m

145.1m

Jack Croft

G
IL

LI
ES

 S
TR

EE
T

DAOR NEDGNILSAH
149.7m

BM
 1

51
.3

6mPH

64
74

57
59

156.0m

153.6m

8
2

1

101

87
85a85

73

82

94

110

163.3m

23 33

15
21

126

ESOLC HGUOLC ERAH

132.3m

El
Sub Sta

371

3

PH

GRIMSHAW PARK

CROSSFIELD STREET

Bakery

2

12

44
32

1

2 12

BARN GILL CLOSE

144.6m

2826

16

24

20

El Sub Sta

128.0m

BM
128.44m

127.9m

128.19m

127.7m

Brewery

133.6m

BE
N

N
IN

G
TO

N
 S

TR
EE

T

ESOLC KOORB NEDERAH

W
H

ITEN
D

ALE CRESEN
T

27
17

15
9

28

Leeds and Liv
erpool Canal

PRINGLE STREET

BM
 130.93m

56

66

10

BM

Bridge

El Sub Sta

MOSLE
Y ST

1

5

11

15

19

37

47

14

ST M
ARYS W

HARFE

St Mary's and St Joseph's
RC Primary School

El Sub Sta

ST ANNES
CLO

SE

2

12 14
9 7

1

49 to 59
61

69

75 12

ST MARYS W
HARFE

27

84

2
12

24

36

KEM
PTO

N
 RISE

27

76-56

11

HARE CLOUGH CLOSE

1210

23
a25

1 7

6

10

1

19

26

MALH
AM G

ARD
EN

S

7

30

11 11a 13

26

18

10

11

1

32

2

2

14

28

15

28

40

N
O

RW
O

O
D AVEN

UE

SO
UTHW

O
RTH STREET133.2m

10

33

40

39

31

35

47

59

42

56

55

41

PILM
UIR RO

AD

LYNTHORPE ROAD
El Sub Sta

71

1

82

68

69

83

30

44

24

150.9m
BM 153.36m

LYNDHURST ROAD

3

85

95

58

2

8

60

1

158.5m

PARK LEE ROAD

LAXEY RO
AD

7

BM 166.35m

CR

Park Lee
Hospital

M
ETA STREET

18

140a

14
2

14
4

257

245

231

3

15
6

14
4

13
2

28

18

5

11

17

2

16

1
15

LB

PO

12
2

11

PRITCHARD STREET

BRYAN STREET

52

64

74

84

35a 37

47

1

35

21

20

249 13
4

Working Men's Club

142.6m

54

14
6

125

113

155

157

167

10

2

12

1

11

145.4m

143.3mBM 144.36m

COLDSTREAM ECALP

32

22

Tank

13
6

102

92

82

72

13
8

3

15

27

37

3

13

23

6

205

217

WALSH STREET

DYSON STREET

130.5m

132.6m

36

26

14

4

14
0

13
4

12
4

81
83

187

104

193

11
0

98

106

85 96

86

74

64

42

35 2

39

87

99

108

12
0

BM
 13

5.2
9m

BM
 13

6.8
9m

139.9m

INFIRMARY STREET

ABR
AHAM ST

RE
ET

Works

143

14

28

40

13

27

33 44

56

66

78

31

43

53

65

75

24

36

39

1

LEACH STREET

13
9.6

m

BM
 13

8.5
9m

HALL STREET

Longshaw Mill

107

119

131

CR

12

49

63 16

68

60

30

32

65

126.2m

BM 128.70m

PH

Neighbourhood

Car Park

IVY S
TR

EE
T

2

76
a

78

90

10
0

10
4

11
4

161

40

175

MOSL
EY

 ST
RE

ET

BM 132.49m

13
1.1

m

159

26

38

135

4137

40

52

6241

29 2

14

147

GROVE STREET

VALE STREET

69

83

81

85

83

95

RO
CK

LIF
FE

 ST
RE

ET

13
9.3

m

Bowling Green

Bowling GreenPavilion

Highfield Park

70

68

7

355

69
32

28

24

22
 23

14
 15

3

1 47

45

8

4

SM
ALLE

Y W
AY

HONEY HOLE

139
.6m

119.8m

Works

HALL STREET

Hall Street

Towing

Overflow

Basin

4 oN kcoL

CC

Bridge

3 oN kcoL

Path 122.2m

Towing Path

Leeds and Liverpool Canal

Rockfield Mill

Overflow

Works

36

60

62

38

40

54

64

761

6893

107

121

14

13
0.5

m

PH

42

77

91

43

55

67

28

16

4

3

13

25

6

14

24

70

45

HIGHFIELD ROAD

ALASKA STREET

WILL
IAM ST

REET

2

9
11

16

2

28

26

11 
12

9 1
0

1

2

2a

4

16
 14

1

13

23

35

30

40

50

60

ROBERT STREET

UNITY STREET

140.5m

BM 14
0.2

9m

75

15

Centre

LOCKSIDE

12

9
10

Ward Bdy

Und

Und

FW

FW

FW

Und

CW

CW

20

27
22

20 24

BANKSIDE

19

14

37

35

23

9
11

15

1
3

44a

44 46

58

8

39

HIGHFIE
LD

GDNS

Playground

At
lan

tic
 H

ot
el

(P
H)

32

1
2

6

12
14

Car Park

Park Lee Hospital 28

Mowbray Lodge

El Sub Sta

56

42

25

37

M
O

W
BR

AY
AV

EN
UE

170.7m

CR

PARK LE
E R

OAD176.5m

136

1
3

10

12

4
2

14

13BM
175.02m

9 11

148

59

PARK LEE ROAD

47

172

160

MOWBRAY AVENUE

MOWBRAY AVENUE

70

84

98

189.3m

ENAL KNAB DLO

224

236

2

10

2

1

ROMAN ROAD

Sh
elt

er

BM 190.29m

3

22 24

27 29

11

17 15

1

7

14

12

Sa
bd

en
 W

alk

45 43

25 23

CLOSE

NEWCHURCH

20

3
1

9

2

4

TCB

178.0m

184
18

8

182

Stop & Rest Inn

(PH)

21
0

204
202

20
8

20
6

19
8

19
6

20
0

194

19
2

71

155

112

179.8m

BM
179.53m

178.0m

LB

Depot

1 9

185

181185.0m

HONEY
 HOLE

12
14

20

10

21 to 26

39 to 44

51
 53

40
38

1 3

5

9

15
7

11

2 4

22
 24

22
 24

31

9 1
115

 17

33

31

84
82

64
62

44
42

PE
NDLE 

DRIVE

CLOSE

NOTGNIMIR

165.5m

BM 160.11m

172.8m

31
29

33 to 43

BRANDY HOUSE BROW

1719

149

YATES FOLD
COBOURG CLO

SE

20
 21

16 
17

46
 47

40 41

1 2

5 6

20

22

32 to 37

Newbarn
Court

39

ROCKC
LIF

FE 
STR

EET

38

GRIMSHAW PARK

143.9m

2 4

20
18

7 t
o 12

1 t
o 6

14 to 19

Sub Sta
El

Works

Tanks

El Sub Sta

Depot

122120 HASLINGDEN ROAD

154.5m

Vicarage

Ward
 Bdy

99

Mast

64 66

48
 to

 5
8

46

36
26

16

14

2

128

126

114

139

14
9

14
7

14
5 11

7

13
7

10
5

11
3

142

130

3531

5

28

20

16

2

14

59

69

73

11

23

15

13
1

83

93

Allotment Gardens

Nursery

El Sub Sta

Audley Junior and Infants School

El Sub Sta

140.5m

Shelter

Q
UEEN

'S
RO

AD

LANGDEN BROOK
SQ

UARE

WHITENDALE CRESCENT

CROASDALE SQUARE

W
HI

TE
ND

AL
E

CR
ES

CE
N

T

Q
ueen's Park

6260

1

Path

Path

Golf Driving Range

97

144
150

152

160

170

172
180

184182

190

3

71

1

55
57

1

7

15

El Sub Sta

SKELSHAW
 CLO

SE

14
12

6

34

20

Centre

3

3

1

37

4

8

Play Area

QUE
EN

'S 
RO

AD

S'NEEUQ DAOR

143 145 1

13

207

217

108

94

84

76

El Sub Sta

CS

PC

Playground

Boat
House

Boating Lake

BM 159.75m

159.7m

BM
 151.82m

149.3m

BM
145.90m

156.4m

BM 156.67m
156.4m

BM 156.29m

BM 158.16m
157.6m

BM 160.84m

BM
166.66m

165.2m

166.1m

144.5m

155.8m

Pavilion

Fn

FS

TCB

Lodge

Bowling Green

Bowling Green

FB

FB

Queen's Park

Shelter

156.7m

SM

SM

78

Pa
th

Path

LB

W
ar

d 
Bd

y

Playing Fields BM 192.52m

191.1m

ROM
AN ROAD

RO
M

AN
 RO

AD

(course of)

Path (um)

193.9m

HASLINGDEN ROAD

191.7m

Observatory
Hotel

(PH)

ENAL KNAB DLOBM 192.48m

192.0m

192.3m

190.5m

BM 187.65m

186.5m TCB

192.3m
196.3m

El
Sub Sta

Subway

Pa
th

BM 180.29m

182.6m

HASLINGDEN ROAD

BM 173.53m

Tank

14

28

1

47

4240

4 38
16 26

2

46

36

12

24

45

33

1
3

15

23

13 23 33

14
0

18
6

17
4

15
2

WHINNY HEIGHTS

BM 191.86m

Ward Bdy
191.7m

El
Sub Sta

16
4

13

27

39

Pleasant
View

OBSERVATORY ROAD

OBSERVATORY ROAD

CR

DLO BANK LANE

Nursing Home

Golf Driving Range

BRITTEN
 CLO

SE

8

18

20

26

3033
29

27

21

19

9

11

14

Queen's Park Hospital

Tank

27

29

41

51 53

18

16

ELGAR CLOSE

ELGAR CLOSE

5

7

9

Car Park

)mu( htaP

190.8m

151
155

m6.002 m79.102 MB 201.5m
ENAL KNAB DLO

m54.691 MB

m5.391

191.1m

BM 192.44m

192.0m

HASLINGDEN ROAD

W
ar

d 
Bd

y

FW

CR
195.1m

Trough

Whinny Field

Un
d

CS

W
ard Bdy

CR

197.8m

SM

Pa
th

latipsoH kraP s'neeuQ

Mast

Tank

Tank

Play
Area

FB

Un
d

SKYE
CRESCENT

OBAN
DRIVE

LARGS
ROAD

EN
N

ER
DA

LE
 A

VE
N

UE

O
BA

N
 D

RI
VE

TROON AVENUE

W
ar

d 
Bd

y

Un
d

CS

184.7m

186.2m

188.7m

192.6m

196.0m

El Sub Sta

Gleneagles
Court

Queen's
Tennis Club

Shadsworth
Hutted School

Wilkinson House

Sh
ad

sw
or

th
Vi

lla
s

El
Sub Sta

TCB

El
Sub Sta

Tennis Courts

Woodlands

118128

10

26

35

21

9

2

12

20
19

13

227
225

3
1a

2

10

20

30

42

54

64

80

82
88

37
39

7880

82
84

19

11

18 20

42 44

70 72

74 7633
35

31

21

11

1

5355

29
31

200

206

2 4

30 32

23

13

1

2

14

24

27

19

9

57

13

208

210

18
2

19
6

20
8

22
6

22
4

PA
TT

ER
DA

LE
 A

VE
N

UE

54 56

GRIS
ED

AL
E A

VE

W
ASD

ALE AVE

El Sub Sta 2

6

10

16

22

30

36

40

44

1

7
11

15

19
25

33 35

BO
RR

O
W

DA
LE

 A
VE

N
UE

2 4

8

10

16

57
59

69
71

75

2

4
6

28

28

38

SH
AD

SW
ORT

H 
RO

AD

St Antony's RC Church
Presbytery

18
4

17
818

0

116

10
6

3230

11
2

37 39

10
4

98

94

103

91
81

10
20

32

41
43

61
63 7779

2
4

6

8

102

104

90
92

25

27

36

24

26

38

48

60

36111

99

87

75

63

51

2

25

13

1

13

81

113

44

34

1
3

5

11

43

LARGS ROAD O
BA

N
 D

RI
VE

BU
TE

 R
O

AD

Rovers
Return

(PH)

Community
Centre

Old People's

Hostel

SHADSWORTH

SKYE CRESCENT

DUNOON
DRIVE

AILSA ROAD

Playground

231243

255

267

279

229

226

214

202 1
7

1

5

190200

2
8

131
121

200

BM 197.90m

196.7m

198.1m

Industrial Estate

Vicarage

Shelter

El
Sub Sta

OLD BANK LANE
193.1m

SH
AD

SW
O

RT
H

 R
O

AD

LA
RG

S 
RO

AD

195.0m

Shelter

ROTHESAY ROAD

El Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

191.7m

OBAN DRIVE

m65.591 MB194.9m

Crosshill
School

Shadsworth
Junior School

Church Of The

196.9m

W
ar

d 
Bd

y
CR

Redeemer

MARTINDALE CLOSE

Path

Shadworth Leisure

Queens Park High School

Centre

Sett End Inn

GRISEDALE
AVENUE

12

18

1

2

4

10

14

20

20

(PH)

153

141

129

76

199

193

78

92

104

221

211

201

223

10
6

11
0

172

42

36

117

107

EVIRD NABO

BM
 183.23m

178.6m

179.7m

186.8m

ARRAN
 AVEN

UE

ARRAN AVENUE

BUTE RO
AD

ROTHESAY ROAD

184 181.9m

227

School

189
191

Community Centre

LB

109

119

ARRAN
 AVEN

UE

Works

Works

SE
TT

 E
N

D
 R

O
AD

 N
O

RT
H

Works

Works

Works

Playground

Depot

FB River Darwen

Weir

CR

Car Park

Stone 91.1m

PCs

PRESTON OLD ROAD

90.8m

Fortuna Mill

Shelter

1 92

78

105

91.4m

CARTM
ELL RO

AD

FRANKLIN
 ROAD

89.0m

Athletic Arena

89.6m

CR

River Blakewater

BM 92.21m

93

83

Pavilion

92.0m

Allotment Gardens

Ornamental Pond

Witton Park

Ward Bdy

Playing Field
Pavilion

Car Park

Ward Bdy

5

11
15

27

32

20

EVIRD EFFILCSINEF

37

46

58

46

Pavilion

El
Sub Sta

Pa
th

MP .5

MP .5

Stone

Acrehouse Footbridge

HENRY WHALLEY STREET

BONSALL STREET 97

156

49

35

21

Stone

128

142

105

2

10

20

13

1

WILLIS ROAD

FENISCLIFFE

23

36

28

26

17

27

Feniscliffe Playing Field

309

2

14

16

27

13

1

2

CECILIA ROAD

22

12

315

Hall3

Church
St Francis'

5

ST FRANCIS' RO
AD

LB

102.4m

316

Shelter
Vicarage

320

1

100.6m

BM 103.45m

307

River Mill Path

Witton Park

PR
ES

TO
N O

LD
 RO

AD

Fe
nis

clif
fe 

Bro
w

Weir CR

95.4m

m0.39

Feniscliffe
Bridge

Pipelin
e

293

River Darwen

Chy

Fortuna Mill

CARTM
ELL RO

AD

SELOUS

ROAD

Playing Field

Pavilion

El Sub Sta

CF

CFWard Bdy

CR

29

39

51

Scotsman's Wood

Willow Ground Wood

Def

FW

D
ef

Pond

newraD reviR

CR

FW

Def

SS
Crow W

ood

BM 92.77m

ydB draW

Witton Park

Sinks

Pleasington Playing Fields

Stone

Collects

Collects

36
8

2

15

38
8

37
0

104.9m

40
42

TCB

GEDDES STREET

38
0

Stone

BM 106.30m

106.4m

37

3

16

10

64

52

369

369a371

383

FENISCLIFFE DRIVE

Artson Works

G
ar

ag
e

Drain

Path

TOWER ROAD

15

27

37

49

Feniscliffe Bank
(Home for the Aged)

H
IL

LC
RE

ST
 R

O
AD

11

6

38
8

338a

340a

34
0

331

343

353

40

22

31

107.3m

PR
ES

TO
N

 O
LD

 R
O

AD

W
lLL

IS
 R

O
AD

29

39

357

32

CECILIA ROAD

35
4

Und

50

1

38

26 107.0m

321

329

14

28

32
6

Witton Park

El

Sub Sta

324

1

10

8 324a

Billinge View

5

9

Def

Dr
ain

Rive
r D

arw
en

Sycamore

CR

Playing Field

Playing
Field

Pond

Ward
 Bdy

Ward
 Bdy

W
ard Bdy

Def

Und

93

1

2

95

103

15

16

30

42

55

43

33

MORLEY AVENUE

38
28

16

19

33

111

71

100 12
6

11
4

109

59

Neighbourhood Centre

79

2 10

10

13

1

77

GREEN
 LAN

E

14

23

13

28

20 FIELDING

W
HI

TE
LE

Y 
AV

EN
UE

CRESCENT

28
5553

5149
47

39
37

3133
35

H
URSTW

O
O

D
AVEN

UE

85
87 89

9

Meadow Head House

Mead
ow

Head
 Cotta

ge

GREENSIDE AVEN
UE

NOOK TERRACE

SPRINGFIELD TERRACE

119.8m

9

3

1

1

15

7

11 15

21

27

D
ALBY CRESCEN

T

1
1115

94
108

201

215

71

El
Sub Sta

80

92

109

189191
195 193199

197

1

2

120.7m

BM
 1

21
.3

2m

BROTHERS STREET

118.0m

167
165

171
169175

173179
177

57

119

2

183
181187

185

1
3

57

42

59

33

21 26

34

114.3m

BEAUMARIS

AVENUE

49

DALBY LEA

49

39

2

27

37

1

11

15

4

59
69

36
26

14 2 48

TNECSERC YBLAD

99

89

79

lanaC loopreviL dna sdeeL

68

Sluice

111.6m

Stone

SP
Stone

Allotment Gardens

110.9m

BM 112.50m

Post

Stone

htaP gniwoT
111.3m

MP .5

Path

111.3m

129

127

5

M
EAD

O
W

 H
EAD

 CLO
SE

W
ard Bdy

DALBY LEA

Works

67

CHERRY LEA

AM
BERW

O
O

D DRIVE

41
46

El Sub Sta

ecarreT doowtforC

1

2

2

ESOLC DOOWLLIM

10

l5

22

67

23

6

89

11

9

12

18

3

11

23

33

14

97

95

12
8

13
8

14
8

195

126.5m

181

128.6m

124.1m

BM
 1

27
.6

1m

82

68

54

45

55

65

77

FU
LL

VIEW

2

16

32

1

11

21

31

24

32

1

44

ALD
ERN

EY CLO
SE

PLANTATION

ROAD

38

2

33

39

BEAUMARIS AVENUE
120.7m

173

163

10
8

11
8

5

1

91 93

149

Meadow Head County
Infants School

43
35

25

2

34

40

25

39

Health Centre

Bentham Rd
Meth Ch

El
Sub Sta

KI
N

G'
S 

RO
AD

120.1m

BM 120.32m

6

20

JERSEY STREET

1

11

19

15

1

12

2

21

1

11

15

11

16

Moorgate Mill

115.8m

BE
AU

M
AR

IS
 A

VE
N

UE

TEERTS SREHTORB

SH
O

RR
O

CK
 L

AN
E

22

12

2

45

33

86

96

10
6

31

19

7

129

143

56

44

30

145

65

51

40

28

16

118.3m
BM 119.12m

LB

BR
O

AD
W

AY
 S

TR
EE

T

BE
VE

RL
EY

 S
TR

EE
T

DAOR MAHTNEB

2

21

26
18

8

19

11

1

2

12

20

25

13

1

2

12

20

4

2

21

11

1

KI
N

G'
S 

BR
ID

GE
 S

TR
EE

T

114.9m

MILL
HILL

King's B
ridge

King's
Inn
(PH)

116.7m

TankTowing Path

BM 111.81m

110.9m

BM 111.49m

Overflow

TEWKESBURY STREET

Works

66
54 44

21

13

3
1

64

74

42

83b
85

93

115.5m

Post
Towing Path

Leeds and Liverpool Canal

AN
GE

LA
 S

TR
EE

T

CANAL
STREET

HE
RS

CH
EL

L 
ST

RE
ET

111.3m

2

12

1

9

17

19

29

41

34 32
30

18

6
4

2

PH

TCBS

El Sub Sta

El
Sub Sta

Q
UE

EN
'S

 T
ER

RA
CE

Pioneer Mill

NEW WELLINGTON STREET

111.6m

107.9m

111.3m

BM 111.86m

htaP gniwoT
El Sub Sta

111.6m

114.0m

BM 114.03m

STAN
LEY RAN

GEVictoria Mill

Laneside
(Home for the Aged)

Shorrock Bridge

22

34

83

71

BM 106.69m

ST
IRL

IN
G ST

RE
ET

ST GEORGE'S AVENUE

St George's
Church

51

61

2

14

26

45

49

13

1

45

31

38

24

53

45

35

107.0m

109.4m

CA
VE

 S
TR

EE
T

FRANCIS STREET

M
ATTH

EW
STREET

37

46

34

24

12

22
12

33

23

13

22

12

2

17
15

1a1

15

1

EUNEVA S'NADIA TS

N
EW

 CH
APEL STREET

105.8m

106.7m

BM 106.92m

Works

1 80
842

25
33

41

1

9

9
23 196

190 184

Bank

205 201

17

1
3

Mill Hill
Gardens

1
4

1

KING'S BRIDGE CLOSE

ecarreT yelreveB

CC

32

34

35

59

45 22

30

1614

26

27
29

35

49
51

5254

18

20

3

12

BENTHAM
CLO

SE
TRESCO

 CLO
SE

Ward Bdy

CR

Works

Works

25

2

9
10

11

17 19

1 to 12KINGSBRIDGE WHARF

24
a

49a
47a

47

8

1 to 9

Bridge House

Wharf House

Posts

190A

ecarreT doowtforC

34
32

24
26

1

G
IB LAN

E

146.3m

32

El Sub Sta

16
21 26

11

31

23

WOODSIDE GROVE

43

30
28

1

2 26

35

M
EAD

O
W

 RISE

39 12
10

1925

1

5

7

9

6
2

27

8

YAWSNEEUQ

14

423

413

403

BM
 141.82m

140.2m

11
11a

15

20

8
2

393

ERNLOUEN
CLO

SE
1

11
15 17

2

14

15

19

29

37

3624

CH
ER

RY
CL

OU
GH

W
AY

21

31

42

32
Presbytery

El Sub Sta

Und

54

464 458

1

DAOR HCNARB YESEVIL

El Sub Sta

135.9m

134.4m

BM
134.90m

16

30

377
387

430

424

St John Vianney's
Church

139.9m

44

373

363

Hall

BM 142.92m

142.0m

58

341

353

355

22

St Bede's RC

High School

Tennis

Courts

Tennis Courts

GREEN
LAN

E

123.4m

119

1

2

2

28

15

4

1

13

FOXSTONES CRESCENT

27

16

30

41

25

26

GREEN
SID

E
AVEN

UE

84

42

37

49

72

El
Sub Sta

BM 120.81m

120.4m

FIELDING CRESCENT

107
109

111

56

71

14

46

57

1

59 2

14

GREEN LANE

H
URSTW

O
O

D
 AVEN

UE

RAILTON AVENUE

15

5

17

21
19

3

1

14

4

2

23

27

El Sub Sta

53
51

98
96

38

W
ard Bdy

Letter Box

Tennis
Courts

Garage

ALPIN
E GRO

VE

ALPINE GROVE

QUEENSWAY

15

11

2

6 30

47
45

1

11

PARKLANDS

WAY

22

1

32

15

19

53

CO
CK

RI
D

GE
CL

O
SE

9
7b7a

3
1

18
16b 16a

14

2

17

5
3b3a

1

34

40

1b 1a

5b5a

11

7
19

9

28
26b 26a

24
22b 22a

20

2

64

W
ATERLO

O
 CLO

SE

TCB

16

14

LE
YB

UR
N

 R
O

AD LANE HOUSE CLOSE

El Sub Sta

47

50

47
45

b
45

a
43

b
43

a
41

39

32

36

38

11

1

48

FERN
LEA CLO

SE

GLEN
BRO

O
K CLO

SE

17

15

11

11

15

1
8

6

4
2

2
4

11 El Sub Sta

20

25

33

35
45

25

BUN
KERS H

ILL CLO
SE

El Sub Sta

53

43
41b

41a 39b
39a 37

62

48

58
44

52
50

4746b 46a

44b 44a

42

40 37

35b
35a

30
28b 28a

26

35
b35
a

33
31

b31
a

29
b29

a
27

13

St Andrew's
C of E

94
60

86
68

78
76

62

52

50

44
42b
42a

40

32

38

33
31

b31
a

29

Primary School

AN
DR

EW
 C

LO
SE

11
17

49 51

WATERLOO

141.1m

CHERRYCLOUGH WAY

1

9

18

10

311

2
6

2

1

8

9

11
15

Play Area

TCB

39

51

41

2

14

26

63

42
28

36
34

BROOKWAY

El Sub Sta

Play
Area

BROOKWAY

77

79
85

132

120

12
5

9587
81 89

69 71
61 79

106
108

102
112

96
118

ECARRET KNAB DNALTOCS

Play Area120

112

110

100

78

88

98

76

70

97

111

59
47

35

PICTO
N

 STREET

135.9m

BM 140.47m
LB

PO

Youth and

Com
m

unity

Centre

Wellington

Inn
(PH)

Posts

Depot

18
4

18
6

221

295
297

43

33 4

31

344

346

360

7

1

354

297

ANGLESEY STREET

DUKE O
F SUSSEX STREET

Lord
Raglan
Hotel
(PH)

137.2m

139.6m

3

15

4

9

1

17

326

336

324a 324

308

316

1

7

285

LIVESEY BRANCH ROAD

306

29
6

28
8

27
8

239

251

261

13

1

25

23

15

59

132.9m

26
6

25
4

25
2

23
8

229
221 217

61

69

97

87

142

49

BM 132.62m

131.4m

Garage

51
57

53
55

236
222

216
202

181
185

TCB

131.4m

BM
135.57m

15
2

16
2

197

209

SH
O

RR
O

CK
 L

AN
E

El Sub Sta

Meadow Head
County Junior

School

131.1m

134.7m

BM 135.52m

KI
N

G'
S 

RO
AD

FU
LL

VI
EW

86

10
2

83

97

2
16

18

28

133

5
1

11 15

60

72

86

100

3727

PLANTATIO
N

RO
AD

St Andrew's

Vicarage

34

46

112

CR

43

CF

12

10

CP

CF

CP

CR

CP

W
ar

d 
Bd

y

31 29

33 37

32

28

26

ESOLC REILEH TS

Allotment
Gardens

ST HELIER CLOSEWEIV LLUF

48

53

St Francis'
C of E

Primary School

FIR
TR

EE
S D

RIV
E

111.3m

Cricket Ground

23

33

18

16

Pa
vili

on

Su
nd

ay 
Sch

oo
l

Cherry Tree

U Ref Ch

111.3m

50
4

469

BM
115.29m

Tennis Courts

Bowling Green

Pavilion

Tennis
Court

MP

Leeds 73.25
Liverpool 54

Cherry Tree Cricket
and Tennis Club

37

111.3m

Nook Cottage

Springfield

113.1m

48
4

49
4

464

447

449

455

1

13

25

435
437

PRESTON OLD ROAD

111.6m

Cherry Tree Terrace

Club

107.0m

47
4

439

Le
ed

s a
nd

 Li
ve

rp
oo

l C
an

al

Hunters
Lodge

El
Sub
Sta

To
wi

ng
 P

ath

1 2

20
21

Und

1

5

35
31

NOOK TERRACE

El Sub Sta

SPRINGFIELD TERRACE

Stone
Stone

MP 33

MP 33

Dismantled Railway

Tree
Tops

Works

444

454

GLADSTO
NE TERRACE

BM
 10

6.2
7m

404

PO

Be
e H

ive
Inn

(PH
)

43
4 395

12
11

8
7

42
4

414

1

111.3m

Warehouse

Depot

Station
Hotel
(PH)

4

111.3m

114.6m
BM 112.48m

DALBY LEA

FW

16

8

Towing Path

Cherry Tree
Bridge

W
ard Bdy

Stone Stone

Pleasington Playing Fields

BM
 10

9.2
7m

7

98

Preston Old Road
Bridge

39
0

21
3

Cherry Tree
Station

108.2m

WOOD VIEW

GREEN LANE

52. PM

MP .25

Green Lane

Stone

109.1m

Allotment Gardens

Bridge

yresruN nraB kooN

N
O

O
K LAN

E

O
LD GATES DRIVE

71

65

73
75

52

48

38

32

Court
Tennis

15
12

Spinney

The

El Sub Sta

Works

10
11

Path

64

11
1

99

10
3

97

83

91

77

60

54

Cherry Tree Court

461

463

459

D
ef

CHERRY LEA

1

3

8 12

11 15

l5
14

1716

47
4645

44

19
18

39
38

33
3227

26

2

2

12

22

1
11

RA
N

N
O

CH
 D

RI
VE

MEL
FO

RT
 C

LO
SE

2

1

7

8

15

34

24

Play Area

17

EUNEVA YAWLOS

15

6

14

11

15

TORRIDON CLO
SE

21

21

27

4

8

18

11

15

1

Path (um
)

9

20

29

LOMOND GARDENS

2 14

6

Playing Fields

Towing Path

Leeds and Live
rpool Canal

HO
LLIES CLO

SE

El
Sub Sta

BRACKEN CLO
SE

FIR
TR

EE
S

DRIV
E

DOOWENIP

Path

O
LD

 GATES D
RIVE

LARCH CLOSEBOXWOOD DRIVE

CYPRESS RIDGE

THE EVERGREENS

BANBURY CLOSE

El Sub Sta

LINDEN LEA

HOLLY TREE WAY

Old Gates Nursing Home

Holly Tree House

LIVESEY BRANCH ROAD

Tank

425

437

449

461

471

481

491

503

515

527

527a

662
660

1

11

15

25

33

43

121
131

1

7

14

2

1

6

12

14

19

40

28

14

2

2

14

26

27

15

11

1

22

12

2

1

11

15

23

31

1
11

15

23

33

1

11
15

27

39

51

26

14

12

2

35
37

86

78

14

12

9

5

1

1

11
15

14

2

1

11

15

19

12

2

76

64

54

44
34

10

5

132
26

14

2

1

11
15

23

33

26
14

2

53

St Bede's RC
High School

30 El Sub Sta

Path

Tudor House

43

59

63

The Oak Tree
(PH)

El Sub Sta

Works

81
87

99

111

122

100

88

110

2 8

17

7

LANGHO
 STREET

122.1m

BM 117.83m

94

82

80

66

1

13

59

65

BADEN TERRACE

CA
TT

ER
AL

L
ST

RE
ET

LIVESEY BRANCH ROAD

El Sub Sta

116.3m

13

3

64

54

46

2

12 57

Moorgate Mill

72

84

51

65

Chy

MOORGATE

Club

75 to 79

67
73

SLATER STREET

ALBIO
N STREET

Day Nursery

5

1

25

37

Moorgate
Bridge

Pioneer Mill

BM 111.91m

111.2m
Towing Path

44

Overflow

El
Sub Sta

M
O

O
RG

AT
E 

ST
RE

ET

111.2m

Elim
Gospel

Hall

2

10

111.4m
BM 112.11m

MP

CCLiverpoool 55
Leeds 72.5

Leeds and Liverpool Canal

10
4

82
76

Towing Path111.6m

84

94

Golden Hill
Bridge

El
Sub Sta

m1.111

BM 111.88m

11
4

Leisure Centre

Caravan Site

ST
 JA

M
ES

' S
TR

EE
T

Su
rg

er
y

20

34

49

35

133

19

2
1

4 2
6

18

32
34

38

3

12

2

GARDENS

Club

21

33

51
63

73

81

91

60

48

38

3637
43

12

99

133

101

11
1

12
3

To
wing

 Path

BM 11
0.9

7m

111.2m

N
O

RFO
LK

STREET

BR
IN

DL
E 

ST
RE

ET

Vicarage

St Aidan's
Church

Works

180 172

175187

12

4

13

Mill Hill
Gardens

195 191

ST AIDAN'S AVENUE

El
Sub Sta

55

168

156

153

163

1

11

2

14

165

ST AIDAN
'S CLO

SEPlayground

LB

135137

10
1

93

26

14

2

13

1 ST AIDAN
'S AVEN

UE

12
3

11
5

11
3

11
1

10
9

10
3

122

112

108

106

100

Green Park

Bowling Green

Bowling Green

Bowling Green

36 to 58

60 to 82

Pavilion

53

50

42

4038

12

4 2

20 14

19

25

2731

1

3

9

TRESCO CLOSE

TRESCO CL

94

96

Works

Brackendale
El Sub Sta

2

16

1

5

WELLINGTONNEW

7

11

19

15

18

38

28

SM
Ward Bdy

CR

2

4

10

36

20

34

N
EW

 W
ELLIN

GTO
N

 CLO
SE

23

15
11

5

1 3

Play Area

ELIM GARDENS

9

111
3

2
4

10
12

36

Works

EL
lM

 P
LA

CE

NEW WELLlNGTON STREET

2

24

5 7

1
3

M
O

O
RG

AT
E 

G
AR

D
EN

S

2

8

W
O

RSTEN AVENUE

11

1

2

12

2

15
11

1

1

MITTON CLOSE 11
15

SO
ULBY CLO

SE1

11

El Sub Sta

Fox and Hounds Inn
(PH)44

38

3
13

LIVESEY BRANCH ROAD

Ew
oo

d

103.1m

AL
BIO

N R
OAD

25
2

240

230

220

20
8

TEERTS YRTSEPAT

N
UT

TA
LL

 S
TR

EE
T

365

367a

2

367

377

389

44
56

68

43

46

57

Albion
Works

102.5m

BM
103.39m

20
6 

20
4

202

20
0

Posts

Albion
Hotel
(PH)

3
15

8
20

32

329

341

353

TEERTS OCILAC

CR

Caravan

Site

102.7m

BO
LTO

N
 RO

AD

TCB

303
311

321

River Darwen

Ewood Bridge

34

26

33

Hollin Bank

M
ission Church

M
P 23.25

M
P 23.25

Stone

Road Safety
Training Centre

AQ
UED

UCT RO
AD Garage

110.1m

106.7m

BM 107.89m

Aqueduct Inn
(PH)

184

283

3

13

1

14

28
 2

6

257

4

10

2

14

W
O

LSELEY STREET

267
170

24

275 BM 113.32m

112.6m

KIRBY RO
AD

SP

S

S

21

1

30

40

50

60

23

33

43

53

63

12 76
a

76

11

23

LONGSHAW STREET 86

98

11
0

21

11

1

2

12

24

25

13

1

RAMSEY ROAD

118.0m

111.1m

Bowling Green

Green Park

Bowling
Green

To
wing

 Pa
th Ward

 Bdy

CC

Lee
ds a

nd
 Liv

erp
ool C

an
al

BM
 11

2.0
6m

CCR

Ewood
Aqueduct

110.1m

LB

IS
H

ER
W

O
O

D
 S

TR
EE

T

150 152

154

1a

1
11

21
31

156

WOODBURY

AVENUE

LONGSHAW

STREET

118.2m

118.6m

BM
 120.28m

M
ARLTO

N RO
AD

16
2

1

11

74

50

38

25

13

26

25

62

MALVERN AVENUE

ABBOTSFORD AVENUE

SUNNY BANK RO
AD

129.1m

BM 129.49m

El Sub Sta

2

14

1

13

2

14

26 32

28

26

20

18
16 11

21

Path

Path

Path

Path

Path

Path

Play Area

Posts

Posts

Allotment Gardens

Car Park

Car Park

El Sub Sta

PC

FB

Und

W
ard Bdy

DWDW

W
ard Bdy

CR

2

FB

GVC

Stand

Garage

El Sub
Sta

Ewood Park
(Blackburn Rovers Football Club)

DW

DW

DW

1

43

4
2

30 28

1

11
15

2

O
US

EB
UR

N
 R

O
AD

m78.441 MB

27

14

26

38

12
2

13
4

14
4

12
0

143.9m

CP

Playing Fields

103

119

Def

RH

ESOLC WERDNA

Mill

53

35
27

19 25

9 1

El Sub Sta

49 50

37

96
10

8

94
86

78

73
87

13
7.

2m

68

58

50

31
25

8 2

23
13

30

40

48

42

ECARRET KNAB DNALTOCS

4

2
6

18
20

28

1

H
EY

S 
LA

N
E

BM 136.11m

132.3m

44

58

60
68

76

59

H
O

N
IT

O
N

 A
VE

N
UE

2

12

24

11
15

64

52

40

67
77

57

37

47

St Andrew's

Church

Hall

128.9m

BM 127.96m

177

163

PH

161

129.5m

4

16

30
42

15
45

2

1
11

15

TIVERTON DRIVE

El
Sub
Sta

2

8
16

24

27

15 11

1

21

1511

1

14

16

28

1

D
AW

LI
SH

 C
LO

SE

EWER CLOSE

FE
RN

HU
RS

T 
ST

RE
ET

Allotment Gardens

8

18

55

19

15

11

3

6
227

1

25

23

2
6

MYRTLE BANK

ROAD

DAWLISH CLOSE

200

190

M
O

O
RGATE STREET

DOROTHY

STREET

LIVESEY BRANCH ROADPH

Works

125.3m

BM 124.44m

LB

126

132
2

13
6

14
0

168

178

164
162

140

129

117

129

157

143

15
2

PH

TCB

125.3m

126.2m

BM 126.38m
140a

138

128

126

120

123

117

115

101

CR
ED

IT
O

N
CLO

SE

1

89

21

33

47

56

42

32

18

77

CA
TT

ER
AL

L
ST

RE
ET

CARRINGTON AVENUE

59a

51
49

20

6

19

5

40

30

2

12

1

1115

23

1

11
15

25

29

27

33

41

2

6

Boro Const and Ward Bdy

Ward Bdy
CR

24

20

14

39

ST HELIER CLOSE

51

55

57 67

69

77

83

87

44

40

30

26

20

12

51

Allotment Gardens

ARKWRIGHT FOLD

32

22
20

4
2

1

35
11

15
17

H
EYS CO

URT

4

130

160

Play Area

93

1B

31

103.0m

2
4

Fernhurst Hotel
(PH)

48
6

543

545

Allotment Gardens

FIN
SBURY PLA

CE

561

57
9

49
0

56
3

Issues

Issues

ASHVILLE
 TERRACE

VINCENT STREET

2

40
4

4

18

15

1

2

16

11

1

402

406

106.1m

TOP 0' TH' CROFT

El
Sub Sta

42
6

43
4

1

13

10

2

STEWART STREET

521

525

424

52
7

BM
 106.28m

Post

Allotment Gardens

105.5m

BO
LTO

N RO
AD

St Bartholomew's

Church

362

374

388

PO

348

Path

C of E School

St Bartholom
ew's

Ri
ve

r D
ar

w
en

35

47

1

El
Sub Sta

31
4

322

31
6 

to
 3

20

EWOOD

Club

324

LB

104.9m

459

447

437

338

45

43

2

4
2

1

21

23

7

El Sub Sta

FE
RN

HU
RS

T 
ST

RE
ETCARRINGTONAVENUE

LIVESEY BRANCH ROAD

104.5m

103.9m

30
0

401
435

423

411

Ewood Park
(Blackburn Rovers Football Club)

6

1

2

VIN
CEN

T CO
URT

Path

Path

BM
105.26m

TEERTS REDDIK

TCB

VELVET STREET

Stand

TWEED STREET

NUTTALL STREET

Stand

Stand

Stand

El Sub Sta

12
14

KENDALL CLOSE

2

6

25

1

5

11

17

3

El Sub Sta

21

35

ENGLAND AVENUE

ECKERSLEY CLOSE

2
10

16

19

111

15

Stone

CR

Longshaw

PH

22
24

26
28

46 47
44 45

Nursery School

136.9m 140.5m

LB

El
Sub Sta

CRO
SBY RO

AD

1

30 36

68

80

8

DAOR NAMXNAM

89

79 81

77

38
44

10

46

1

83

2

ANSDELL
TERRACE

RO
SSALL TERRACE

52

2

12
11

1

54

60

2

6

13

CLEVELEYS RO
AD

53

31

36

47

133.5m

57
21

59

69
33

35

66

63

75

37

TCB

56

24

27

36

43

39

45
53

34

46

33

45

55

63

84

83

95

Allotment Gardens SUNNY BANK RO
AD

135.9m70

58

TYN
W

ALD RO
AD

Church of The Saviour
Memorial Hall

35

21

8

37

22

6

2

44

34

14

41

16

22

2

14

PILM
UIR RO

AD

53

M
O

N
A RO

AD

24

14

13

13

1

24

BRADDA RO
AD

23

BRADDA RO
AD

56

70

71

59

129.5m

RAMSEY

ROAD

Vicarage

36

46

45

39

2

1

6

10

135.6m

ONCHAN ROAD

Church of
The Saviour

5

12

7

13

20

22

8

2

21

32

27

27

19

LONGSHAW

SNAEFELL ROAD

39

29

41

30

1

32

51

2

LAXEY RO
AD

63

40

42

38

47

35

130.8m
LB

N
O

RW
O

O
D AVEN

UE PARK LEE ROAD

SULBY ROAD

2

14

2

8

9

1

37

25

24

16

1

13

139.6m

143.6m

13

1

24

26

2

10

22

16

1

9

Longshaw County

Junior School

26

12

11

23

Path

Path

Path

FB

W
ard Bdy

CR

Ward Bdy

W
ard Bdy

Und

CF

CR

Park Lee Hospital

Woodlea House

18

1

11

23

15

CLEVELEYS
ROAD12

1

11

10

2 35

39

38

FLEETW
O

O
D

CLOSE

GLASSON CLOSE

1

11

161.2m BM 162.64m

29

58

48

2 41

166.1m

ROAD

MORECAMBE

SILLO
TH CLO

SE

64

El
Sub
Sta

ST BEE'S CLOSE

FISHMOOR DRIVE1

5

65

72

62

HIGHER CROFT

94

84

1222

96

1

15

2

16

MORECAMBE
ROAD

168.9m

1

171.0m

BM 170.89m ROAD

LYTHAM

CRESC
EN

T

HEY
SH

AM

7659

69

71

83

39

31

90

102

67

TCB

116 114a
114 112110 108

106

79

ROAD

MANXMAN

MANXMAN ROAD

2136

128

120 to 124

116a

118a

118

PO

LB

16

12

14

2

3

5

85

99

1

1

FAIRH
AVEN

RO
AD

WHITBY DRIVE

BM
174.98m

9

101

113

156

148

138

17

Park Lee Hospital

Mowbray Lodge
(Adult Training Centre)

89

Path

Pa
th

Club

Community
Centre

34

30

2

1048

GUERNSEY AVENUE

1

7 
.

8 .

2

LIN
DISFARNE AVENUE

Woodlea House

1

11
15

27

2

10

FAROES CLOSE

33

15

78

92

SARK
GARDENS

7

3

W
ALNEY GARDENS

1

7

74

76

Pond

River Darwen

Und

BM 131.52m

MP .75

Sinks

Issues

Allotment
Gardens

SP Issues

131.4m

133.8m

Our Lady of
Perpetual Succour

School
RC Primary

Issues

Def

Sinks

Our Lady of Perpetual Succour
RC Church

Issues

SP

Stone

MP 23

129.2m

42

30

44

50

49

59

71

52

62

74

FS

Longshaw
Infant's School

12
0

140.0m

138.1m

BM 141.81m

MAHTYL ROAD

13
2

137

1
3

144

Longshaw
Nursery School

PEEL CLO
SE

133.5m

29

37
39

9

27

1

7

28

14

10

2

17

CRO
SBY RO

AD

El
Sub Sta

Longshaw Hostel
(home for the aged)

23

16

10

84

96

10
8

115

105

95 14

18

ANSDELL

TERRACE

PILMUIR ROAD

BM
 139.45m

138.4m

140.8m

15
17

125

Posts

Issues

Boro Const & Ward Bdy

Path

Path

Path

Path

Path

Path

Path

W
ard Bdy

FB

FB

FB

Issues

Issues

Our Lady of
Perpetual Succour
RC Primary School

73
53

BM
 151.43m

63

52
40

148.7m

34

67

55

53

41

36

75

69

HOLM
BROOK

CLOSE

17
29

31

39

9

7

1

H
IGH

ER CRO
FT RO

AD

151.2m

83

95

Pa
th

 (u
m

)

Issues

64

Higher

Br
oo

k

Our Lady of

RC Church

BM 144.30m

143.6m

PILMUIR ROAD
26

24

22

149

157
158

15
0

48

50

58

2

3

732
30

18

8

20

34

2

6

153.6m

Path

28

1

FIS
HM

O
O

R 
DR

IV
E

68

78

Posts

Higher Croft
Cottages

6

1

76

10
5

FBPath

The
Centurion

(PH)

Weir

FORMBY CLOSE

2

1

11

2

12

2

139

146.9m7

THORNTON CLOSE
24

18

14

12

8

21

15

12

15

23

22

SIL
VER

DALE

CL
OSE

20
21

26

28

9

1

60

66

19

27

58

52

Seaton

Court

Roman Road
Junior and

Infants School

Health

Centre

LY
TH

AM
 RO

AD

CLEVELEYS ROAD

152.7m

BM
 15

3.5
8m

22

30

27

9

1

17

3229

27

1

11

2

12

11

15

156.7m

NORBRECK CLOSE

34

FLIM
BY

CLOSE

36

26

18

16

10

8

2

27

23

11

17

25

19

25

M
ORECAM

BE ROAD

LEVENS

CLOSE El
Sub Sta

44

50

Community

Centre

LB

34

42

51

59

Cro
ft

Library
Path

Perpetual
Succour

TCB

Family Centre

Pavilion

Playing Field

Nursery

W
HITEHAVEN CLOSE

RAVENGLASS

CLOSE

ULVERSTON

FISHMOOR DRIVE

SEASCALE CLOSE

BROUGHTON

CARNFORTH CLOSE

LYTHAM ROAD

WHITBY DRIVE

MANXMAN ROAD

RO
M

AN RO
AD

RO
M

AN RO
AD

RO
M

AN RO
AD

Higher Croft Wood

Higher

Pum
ping

Station

Water Filtration
Plant

Tank

Tank

Tank

Tank
Tanks

O
verflow

170.0m

165.8m

174.3m

178.3m
179.2m

BM 184.49m

182.6m

184.7m

187.5m

Everton

RH

Def

CB

FW

Overflow

Weir

Sl
op

in
g 

m
as

on
ry

Fishmoor Reservoir

101

103

33

39

2

1

7

9

17

19

23

31

2

12

14

18

34

26

29

17

9

15

1

37

31

11

21 2

10

16

18

26

38

28

35

2711

25

1

1

9

1

5

7

13

24

20

43

47

40

32

30

26

18

10

8

4

24

18

1

5

7

13

15

29

31

47

40

32

24

20

30

26
18

10

8

2

16

10

15

29

31

47

44

36

28

34

26

20

8

18

6

2

8

2

56

140

106

118

128

103

115

127

8

34

18

129

131

54

42

1

17

21

33

6

2

170

160

8
2

40

13

7

1

SCARBOROUGH ROAD

CLOSE

CLO
SE

(course of)

Croft Brook

2

6

2

4

8
10

SULLIVAN DRIVE

W
ALTO

N
 CRESCEN

T

Ward Bdy

Def Tank

BRITTEN
 CLO

SE

STANFORD GARDENS

1

5

7

11

15

17

Play Area

TCB

El
Sub
Sta

2

4

12

14

1

3

9

11

15

10
8

2

6

5

1

2
4

21

15

ELGAR CLO
SE

ELGAR CLOSE

11

19

23

25

1

3

1

7

1

3

5

7

23

12

2

19

TIPPET CLOSE

CR

Def

CR

Play

Un
d

22a
22

El Sub Sta

Gas Gov

Play
Area

Play
Area

Play Area

Posts

Play
Area

Area

117

129

24

22

12

LINDISFARNE

AVENUE

14
1

2

8

14

16

26

W
ILL

IA
M

S D
RIV

E

ARNOLD CLOSE

HOLST GARDENS

DELIUS CLOSE

1

25
27

27

11 15

Un
d

W
ar

d 
Bd

y

201

205

20
7a

207

217

Valve Houses

Fishmoor Reservoir

Weir

Inlet
Sluice

Sluice

HASLINGDEN
ROAD

189.9m

Sloping m
asonry

190.5m

BM 190.83m

BESANT CLOSE

1

172

El Sub Sta

Higher Croft

Brook

Higher 
Croft

Bro
ok

Higher Croft Brook

Issues

Stone

FB

Weir

FB

FB

Overflow

El 
Su

b S
ta

El 
Su

b S
ta

Path

170.4m

171.9m

171.9m

Playground

High
er 

Cro
ft

Wood

164.6m
BM 165.44m

167.9m

Water Filtration Plant

Beechwood

CR

ER
MIN

E C
LO

SE

BE
ATR

ICE P
LA

CE

LE
O

PO
LD

 W
AY

N
EW

FIELD
DRIVE

FO
SSE

 CLO
SE

RI
DG

EW
AY

 A
VE

NU
E

RIDGEW
AY AVEN

UE

WHITEHAVEN CLO
SE

RO
M

AN RO
AD

BEECHW
O

O
D M

EW
S

48

40

36

32

1
3

9

15

21
23

31

33

41

45

53 55

57

75
77

79

85

87

95

98

94

92

66

68

64

56

52

48

46

42
38

40

30
32

28

24

22

18

16

10

6
8

2

4
28 30

24 26

13

1

31

43

51

59

61

73

68

48

31 14

2 22

12

1

13

19

21

49

51

63

52

42

40

30

22

12

2

10

2

26

14

8

12

31

43

23

29

24

10
12

2
4

18
20

14
16

1

3

9

11

15
17

19
21

23
25

43
45

47
49

55
57

59

67

81

9193
95

10
1

10
3

10
5

11
3

12
1

12
3

127
131

14
1

14
3

23

1

4

15

7

3

1

7

38

7

23

25

1

5

10

9

1

2

4

1

1

2

3

4

Post

Pa
th

Library

Path
 (um)

Path
 (u

m)

Path

910
11

12

Nursery

2

Cotswold Mews

Path

Cemetery

8

46

64

39

29

7

37

Community

Centre

Play Area

1

5

29

27a

27b

25a
25b

52
a

52
b

54

56

58

64

85
a 85

b

83
a 83

b

81

63a
63b

65a

65b

67a

67b

36

45a

45b
39

36

28

26

14

12

4

2

1

3

9

11

5

2

1

12

10

4

2

1

3

11

15

19

21

2

10

2

8

12

24

2

5

29

11
15

11

4

2

17

BRITW
ELL CLOSE

Aston W
alk

Streatly Walk

SILBURY CLOSE

AVEBURY CLOSE

BISHOPSTONE CLOSE

Child
rey

 W
alk

IDSTONE CLOSE

10

14

9

11

15

14

2

4

1

3

5
7

2

8

10

16

1
3

7

EA
STC

OTT
 CLO

SE

WOODSEN
D CLO

SE

LID
DI

NG
TO

N 
CL

1

3

2

10

40

Blackamoor

Dame Evelyn Fox
Special Schools

Broadlands and

7

11
15

19

Day Nursery

37
39

91 59

63

67

86

88

84

80

76

72

7

5

44

11

12

2
4

1

3

N
EW

 M
EADO

W
 CL

Fishmoor Reservoir

Evelyn Fox Special
Schools

166.8m

162.5m

BM 164.14m

RO
M

AN
 RO

AD
CR

NEWFIELD

DRIVE

11
4

12
4

Depot

BLACKAMOOR ROAD

176.2m

143

153

Newfield Brook

Higher House
Farm

Pump

Trough

147

145

yrnosam gnipolS

11
0

1

Cotswold Mews

Cemy

Blackamoor Broadlands and Dame

ED & W
ard Bdy

Tank

El Sub Sta

CR

191.4m

BM 193.53m

Reservoir

30
0

1

3

233
235

Sudell
Nook

193.5m

BM 191.50m

HASLINGDEN ROAD

200.8m

199.2m

196.3m

193.3m

El Sub Sta

Industrial Estate

SH
AD

SW
O

RT
H

 R
O

AD

SETT END ROAD WEST

(covered)

Ward Bdy

Tks

Tks

Tk

Tks

ESS

El Sub Sta

CR

Depot

Works

Works

Works

Depot

El Sub Sta

Ta
nk

LI
O

N
S 

D
RI

VE

SE
TT

 E
N

D
 R

O
AD

 N
O

RT
H

Cattle
Grid

W
ALKER RO

AD

Depot

BLACKAMOOR ROAD

179.5m

184.6m

188.7m

192.4m

BM 186.93m

Overflo
w Pump

House

FB

Overflow

Weir

Weir

Tank

Guide Reservoir

198

200

212

230

232
234

236
238

Fishmoor
Reservoir

Weir

Reservoir

283
285

HASLINGDEN ROAD

201.9m

328

33
0

Inl
et

Sloping m
asonry

Sloping masonry

BM 202.29m

197.2m

Overflow

El
Sub Sta

O
verflow

218

220

Sloping masonry

(covered)

yawpilS

Meadowend
(Boarding Kennels)

EVIRD SNOIL

Belthorn House

LB

Path (um)

Clayton House

Aspinall House

Walker Office Park

44

42

32

22

12

10

6

3

5

15

289

301

311

323

40
2

41
4

42
4

42
6

428

43
0

329

32
9a

33
1

33
3a

33
3

33
5

33
7

33
7a

33
9

351
353

355

35
3a

361

373

208.5m

204.9m

207.1m

TCB

DAOR ROOMAKCALB

HASLINGDEN ROAD

Club

PO

Warehouse

Garage

The
King

Edward
(PH)

Reservoir

Sinks

GUIDE

325

LIONS DRIVE

1
10

56

esuoH loohcS dlO ehT

2

43
6

44
0

SP
IN

NIN
G A

VE
NUE

32

27

30

4

16

29

15

1

3

Path (um)

Path (um
)

78

55

20

14

57

SUNNYSIDE AVENUE

68

19

9

8

2

1

17
18

VICTO
RIA AVENUE

El
Sub Sta

43

9

SPRINGFIELD AVENUE

1

564

556

2

15

519

The Woodlands

10

2

LB

Shelter

110.3m

109.7m

Library

PRESTON OLD ROAD

CHERRY TREE

CHERRY TREE LAN
E

Clinic

546

534

493

503

505

St Francis'
C of E Primary School

Brooklands

CHERRY TREE

LANE

481

Post

58

WOODLANDSAVENUE

48

38

29

THE C
RESC

EN
T

42

52

54

8

10

43

24

El
Sub Sta

55

65

78

66

2

THE CRESCENT

110.9m

524

51
2

51
0

50
8

90

475
477

TCB

Stone

MP 0.75

Stone

28

26a

26

24a

Dismantled Railway

32

41

1

LIVESEY HALL CLOSE

THE CRESCENT

27

23

20

12

11

15

15

11

14

2

1

77

Spreads

Pleasington Playing Fields

Stone

FB

28

Stone

Stone

Stone

Stone

Def

PC

16 14

23
21

Pleasington Playing Fields

Drain

Butler's
Bridge Pavilion

DAOR REWOT

D Fn

FB

Def

Ponds

Posts

Posts

River Darwen

Pipe

Warren Wood

Scotsman's Wood Willow Ground Wood

Drain

W
O

O
DL

AN
DS

 A
VE

N
UE SUNNYSIDE AVENUE

PRESTON OLD ROAD

VICTO
RIA AVENUE

105.6m

BM

103.46m

106.7m

El Sub Sta

Library

CHERRY TREE LANE

Clinic

Playing Fields

Towing Path

111.3m

99.7m

LB
TCB

KENTM
ERE DRIVE

GREYSTO
KE AVENUE

KENTM
ERE DRIVE

KESW
ICK DRIVE

111.3m

BM
112.61m

110.9m Livesey Hall
Bridge

BURFO
RD CLO

SE

WYTHBURN AVENUE

W
YT

H
BU

RN
 A

VE
N

UE

El Sub Sta

111.3m

To
wing

 Pa
th

Lee
ds a

nd
 Liv

erp
ool C

an
al

BEEC
HWOOD DRIVE

W
O

O
D

STO
CK

CRESCENT

El Sub Sta

EVIRD EREMTNEK

Stone

BM 112.12m

HIGHER BROADHALGH

MP .5
111.6m

Overflow

LANGDALE CLO
SE

NEW
LA

NDS C
LO

SE

WITN
EY AVEN

UE

TETBURY

CLO
SE

BEECHWOOD DRIVE

BEECHW
O

O
D

DRIVE

D
AL

E 
CR

ES
CE

N
T

LANGDALE ROAD

ARNSIDE CRESCENT

CRESCENT

LIVESEY BRANCH ROAD

TCB
LB

82

61

67

7

1

590

598

610

12

2

588

578

5

576

568 527

533

537

549

563

577

1

7

1

11

15

27

37

49

587
585

583
581 579

2
4

6

20

25

15

11
9

2
4

11

1

2
4

95

83

71

17
15

11

1

6

20

34

33

23

15

11

1

110

116

48

38

26

14

2

108

96

27

2

4

14

22

69

57

43

41

84

74

6048

10
11

103

97

2
8

7

1

95

81

67

55

41

109
111

66

78

92

2

24

12

25
23

17
15

21

19

7

1

26

32

34

46

60

21

15

11

1

2

12

24

36

33

27

2
6

7
1

25

15
11

1

2

12

20

7

1

94

108

2

8

7

3

2
14

24

2

12

18
20

7

1

135

145

155

666
668

3
1

670

680

692

704

718

2

14

24

21

15

11

1

2

12

20

39

31

1

8

549

541

531

529b

529a

529

KIRKSTONE AVENUE

Sub Sta
El

ESKDALE

29

3

11
15

50 52

26

79

591

94

1

4

2

62

15

9

11
17

TOWER ROAD

SR

SR

FF

FF

De
f

De
f

Def

Playing Field

Playing Field

Playing Field

Warren Wood

Stone

Stone

Di
sm

an
tle

d 
Ra

ilw
ay

(dis)
Shaft

Tr
ac

k

El Sub Sta
Aqueduct

Scotman's
Wood

Ri
ve

r D
ar

w
en

Garage

96.6m

96.9m

BM 98.11m

Three Arch Bridge

D
ism

an
tle

d 
Ra

ilw
ay

FEILDEN PLACE

ECLIPSE RO
AD

El Sub Sta

Works

BM 111.51m

LA
N

G
D

AL
E 

RO
AD

Towing Path

Leeds and Liv
erpool Canal

111.3m

ST M
ARTIN

'S DRIVE

47

22

25

35

52

41
39

42

44

11
15

17

15
11

1

2

2

2
4

1

1

1

7 11

15

24
18

10

2

593

603

613

32

3
1

17

619

621

Tk

Water

654

56

66

CO
VE

RD
AL

E

DRlVE

Pleasington Cemetery

and Crematorium

Issues

Scotsm
an's

W
ood

CG

MP
Leeds 74.25
Liverpool 53

Tow
ing Path

111.3m

111.3m

Feniscowles
Bridge

m6.411

BM 115.03m

Leeds and Liverpool Canal

Warehouse

Warehouse

STO
CKCLO

UGH LANE

118.9m

H
O

RD
EN

RAKE

HO
RDEN

VIEW

BM 115.86m

(PH)

LA
N

G
D

AL
E 

RO
AD

LANGDALE ROAD

El Sub Sta

56

68

78

88

96

98

102

59

57

43
778780

78
2

2

12

20

WB

1

18

8

1 3 5 7

4

2

6

LB

LIT
TO

NDALE

GARDENS

2 4

14
16

21 23
11 15

BISHOPDALE CLOSE

Ashmere

The Cottage

12

2

11

9

15

3

1

1

9

11

14

1

3

2
4

W
HARFEDALE CLO

SE

17

20

32

11

36

2 4

38

40

12
14

15
17

1 3

DENTDALE CLOSE

The Limes

31

Meadow View

COVERDALE DRIVE

ST
O

CK
CL

O
UG

H
 L

AN
E

Laneside
Works

Lower
Stockclough

El 
Su

b 
St

a

D
ism

an
tle

d 
Ra

ilw
ay

Higher Stockclough Wood

Owlet Hall Wood

Stepping
Stones

Well

Dr
ain

Stockclough Brook

W
hitehalgh Brook

CR
Ward Bdy

M 65

Refuse Tip

D
ALE CRESCEN

T

ARNSID
E C

RESC
EN

T

LANGDALE

RO
AD

ST 
MICHAEL'

S C
LO

SE

LIV
ESE

Y BRANCH ROAD

LANGDALE ROAD

Garage

(PH)

ST
 D

AV
ID

'S
 A

VE
N

UE

ST
 M

IC
HA

EL
'S 

CL
OSE

HORDEN VIEW

126.5m

130.1m BM 131.42m

HORDEN RAKE

132.0m

136.2m

BM 142.79m

143.9m

10
6

10
8

73

63

10

22

32

29

15
11 24

22

29

15

722

72
4

736

74
8

76
0

772

774

776

627

625

613

603

591

579

577

571

567

557

1

2

11

15

16

18

2730

37

44

49

80

66

62

60

52

42

87

75

65

54

64

74

82

92

40

30

1

11

20

10

2

2822

Shalom

59

61

4

ST M
ICHAEL'S CLOSE

48

46

BROKEN STONE ROAD

BM 152.41m

HORDEN RAKE

150.9m

Trough

Pa
th

 (u
m

)

Horden Farm

157.3m

Green Hills Wood

Cockridge Wood

Lower Whitehalgh Farm

Higher
Whitehalgh

Fowler Fold

Potter's Plantation

Green Hills Wood

Hole Bottom Wood

Hi
gh

er
Sto

ck
clo

ug
h

W
oo

d

BROKEN STONE ROAD

St
oc

kc
lou

gh
 B

ro
ok

Pond

Pond

Issues

Issues

Spring

Spring

Pa
th

 (u
m

)

Path(um
)

Track

Track

Path (um)

Wate
r

Tank

Refuse Tip

168.9m

163.7m

Flare Potters

180.1m

ydB draW

ETL

Pond

STOCKCLOUGH LANE

M 65

56 M

BM 193.55m

188.1m

Bunker's Hill

Issues

Und

181.4m

BM 176.73m

G
IB LAN

E

Bunker's Hill Wood

Cockridge Wood

Sinks

10

255

61

162.2m

Sinks

Issues

Spring

40
36

33
45

53 1

7

9

11
15

19

BM 153.11m

RISEDALE
GRO

VE
24

12

34

45

53

10

Q
UEEN

SW
AY

48

ESIR WODAEM

ESOLC ESUOH REHGIH

14 19

11

63
60

57

Higher
House

10
8

15

42
38

7a7b
7c

W
ard Bdy

Fowler Height

Higher Fowler Height

Cottage

Barn-side
Cottage

Fowler Height
FarmFowler Height

House

Higher Fowler Height
Farm

Lower Fowler Height

Trough

WellPp
Lower

HE
YS

 LA
NE

New Row

Methodist Church

CR 183.5m

Pa
th

Path

Pump
House

25

11

Issues

Well

FARMER'S ROW

20
14

39

47

81

72

69

HEYS CLOSE

Spring

FO
W

LER H
EIG

H
T CLO

SE

34

44

52

66

68

76

84

67

57

43

55

ALPIN
E

G
RO

VE

8

14

28

18

43

Well

ALPIN
E G

RO
VE

23

33

CO
CKRID

GE CLO
SE

2

8

10

22

23

17

15

5

PARKLAN
D

S W
AY

El
Sub Sta

54

42

82
78

56
60

62

76

10
5

99

97

87 79

77
71

61 69

59
55 DAOR NRUBYEL

2

12

26

14

28
32

50
46

11

13
9

1

33
37

1

2

HIGHER HOUSE CLOSE

Well

Bo
ro

 C
on

st 
& 

W
ar

d 
Bd

y

CP

CF

Ward Bdy

CW

CF

Path (um
)

Track

1a

Glendale

Fair View

Hill Crest

224.9m

1

Bottom of
Morris Brow

RH

Lower Meadow Head
Farm

Spreads

Hole Bottom Wood

Sheep Bridge

TO
CK

HO
LE

S 
RO

AD

M
O

RRIS BRO
W

Def

Path (um)

Issues

Track

Coppice Farm

Coppice Cottage

Cross
(site of)

York View

1

4

Morris Bank

Path (um)

Holden Fold

RH

FW

ETL

Pa
th

 (u
m

)

Well

TCB

Trough

212.1m

207.9m

BM
 2

08
.4

8m

FW

Def

Turners Farm

1

5

Black Bull
Inn
(PH)

BOG HEIGHT ROADPEAK BROW
BS

Well

FW

Und

217.6m

225.2m

89

88

195.7mBM 184.64m

Hills
Green

Wood

200.9m

G
IB LAN

E

BROKEN STONE ROAD

Und

210.3m

Well

Path
 (um)

5
4

3a
3

2a
2

1

The Hollies

Well

Path (um
)

196.9m

BM 194.83m

HEYS LA
NE

CR

LB

Ward Bdy

and W
ard Bdy

Tank

184.4m

Waddington
Farm

Green
Row

Brook

Sunny

Lower
Fowler
Height

Bo
ro 

Con
st 

an
d W

ard
 Bd

y

Pond

M 65

Pond

M 65

Pond

Mast

Path

Pond

Bank Hey
Cottages

Pond

FARMER'S ROW

Bank Hey Farm

BM
 1

74
.2

5m

171.0m

24
0

24
2

33

23

11

9

158

68

10

2

Bank Hey School

CR

162.5m

HE
YS

 C
LO

SE

39

35

32

40

48

50

22

10

8

2

30

24

7
1

156.1m

HE
YS

 L
AN

E

11

15

16
4

WINTERBURN ROAD

O
US

EB
UR

N
RO

AD

DAOR NRUBYEL

30 28
26

29

23 21

15 11
7

2

10

21

33

17 19

O
TT

ER
BU

RN
 R

O
AD

150.3m

14

2

1

1

15
0

5

CP

Pa
th

121
123

Boro Const & Ward Bdy

24

RH

Bo
ro

 C
on

st 
& 

W
ar

d 
Bd

y

Ward Bdy
CF

MOORLAND

RO
AD

17
19

8
6

125

137 1

3

11
15

1

3

11
15

8

HEYWORTH AVENUE 3l

20

2

4

17

25

2

2

1

23

24

28

32

Craven's
Farm

Def

Fernhurst Wood

CS

FERGUSON STREET

Und

BM 111.53m

14

2

542

544

5

1

Fernhurst Farm
Cottage

FIN
SBURY

PLACE

Fernhurst
Farm

BOLTON ROAD

OAKFIELD ROAD

ED
MUND ST

REET

LB

PTP

107.9m

109.1m

10
8

11

1

14

2

15

1

12

2

50
6

514

522

59
9

59
7

583

504

496

15

1

524

532

540

CR

ydB draW & tsnoC oroB

Garage

Boro Const & W
ard Bdy

10

26

23

21

17

19

27

18

8

M
EADO

W
FIELDS

ARBO
UR DRIVE

38

44

43

47

50

25

11

WATER MEADOWS

15

HENDRY LANE

2

4

1

3

11

5

2

8

2
4

EDISMRAF DLO

15

23

2

1

MEADOWFIE
LDS

DALGLISH DRIVE

8

2

DOUGLAS CLOSE

1

11

2

14

1

2

4

8

TH
O

RN
YLEA

7

12

18

1

7

9

21

30

12

10

2

14

39

KENDALL CLOSE

21

22

10

12

2

28

22

14

8

27

29

El Sub Sta

9

7
5

1

18

10

ENGLAND AVENUE

1

FLO
W

ERS CLO
SE

GA
RN

ER

AVENUE

29

36

1

2

1

3

9

15

6

10

23

9

5

9

1

GREENFIELDS

1

7

6

2

7

11

20

1

18

FORRESTSIDE

14

20

3

THE GREENWOOD

2

34

1

11

15

3

17

32

29
3526

2

14

9

W
HE

LA
N

 C
LO

SE

1

1

7

Well

MEADOW HEAD LANE

Farm Cottage

198.7m

49

BM

Well

BO
G

 H
EIG

H
T RO

AD

87

WORB KAEP

223.7m

Pillar

219.8m

BM 218.74m

ETL

Bank Hey

esuoH thgieH goB

El Sub Sta

BM 164.37m

172.0m
DAOR THGIEH GOB

162.7m

43

41a

72

150.5m

50

BEECH GRO
VE

146.7m

17

12

2

29

Issues

Issues 31

32

22

Pond

ETL

Sinks

THE DELL

OAKMERE CLOSE

PARKDALE GARDENS

HEATHERLEIGH GARDENS

TH
E 

SH
IR

ES

ARBO
UR D

RIVE
2

1
2

6
7

1
3

5

11

15

1

3

1

5

7

11

9

22

24
20

10

8

2

4

5

9

1

3

5

9

2

4

10

16

18

M 65

11

15

25

33

1
3

15

12

2

4

RYE GARDENS 24

2

1

5

8

49

ORCHARD CLOSE

4

20

28 1

5

12

32

11

27

15
17

ASHW
OOD AVE

3

6

39

20

1

2

10

23

11

8

DOOWNEERG
THE

1

9

15

25

CRAVEN'S AVENUE

63
2

63
6

63
8

64
0

1

9

4 2

BM
 126.57m

127.7m St Bartholomew's
Vicarage

Pavilion

Lower Darwen

U R Church
Recreation Ground

Bowling Green

Tennis Court

598

60
8

60
4

BO
LTO

N RO
AD

Craven's Brow

122.2m
FB

Scotshaw Brook

4951

Unity Mill

118.0m

56
8

588

57
8

Old Mill Race

BRANCH ROAD

El
Sub Sta

Weir
Sl

Brook Mill

113.4m

Und

CR

558

23
5

24
7

556

13
0

14
2

15
2

16
4

22
3

21
1

19
9

18
7

River Darwen

Collects

Spring

El

CR

605

617

Und

CR

Works

112

Path

Bo
ro 

Con
st 

& W
ard

 Bd
y

Path

Boro Const & Ward Bdy

Tanks

Tank
Scotshaw Brook

Industrial Estate

Sub
Sta

Boro Const & W
ard Bdy

Sandy
Brook
House

1

2

3

7

8

9

Garage

61
0

61
2

MEADOWFIELDS

16

6

9

11

115.2m

KINGSTON PLACE

SANDY LANE

CR
O

SS
 S

TR
EE

T

2

12

24

2

10

2

14

21

26

SAN
G

ARA D
RIVE

115.5m

114.6m

BM 116.05m

Lower Darwen
Bridge

Garage

Garage

WOODLAND PLACE

TO
TTEN

HAM
 RO

AD

1

3

11

2

14
Lower Darwen Mill

Works

El Sub Sta
Weir

TEERTS SSERPME

High
er 

Cro
ft B

ro
ok

11

1

2 4

9 3

7

ALBERT PLACE

6

22

1

16

27

15

The Croft

D
UCH

ESS
STREET

BM 118.46m

Sl

18

11

15

14
10

1

7

4
2

8
6

1

17

MARQUIS CLOSE

COUNTESS ROAD

FB

BRANCH ROAD

45

33

25

23

Works

Un
ity

 M
ill

11

Uncle
Jacks
(PH)

Weir

2

8

SW
AN

 FARM
 CLO

SE

DOVER STREET

M
ILLBRO

O
K STREET

11

5

112

4

1
9

19
29

30
20

10
2

2

3 to 7 9
25

1

2
8116.7m

TCB

15

The Bungalow

PO

8
18

6 2

29
33

35

1

20

4

FORE STREET

Village Farm

Low
er

D
arw

en
M

ethodist
Church

120.4m

Higher Cr
of

t B
ro

ok

FB

123.7m

LOWER DARWEN

Works

River
Darwen ESOLC MRAF NAWS

23 33

15

44

30

125.0m

BM 125.50m

132.0m

SD

S

Ra
ke

s
Br

idg
e

Def

Stone

33

37

War Memorial

137.5m

HIGHER CRO
FT RO

AD

Bowling Green

2

27

141.4m

BM 138.72m

FISHMOOR EVIRD

51

45

32
16

8

147.2m

20

Pavilion

Posts

FB

Boro Const & Ward Bdy

Sandy Brook
House

Stocks

46

40

22 Golden
Cup Inn

143.3m

BEECH GROVE

BOG HEIGHT ROAD

9

1

27

BM 140.50m

BLACKBURN
 RO

AD

645

140.5m

139.3m

EARCROFT

163

190

653

El Sub Sta

15
0

SA
NDY

 LA
NE

13
8

125

133

143

147

12
6

155

14
8

135.9m

Spring

BM
 137.22m

BO
LTO

N
 RO

AD

CRAVEN
'S BRO

W

132.9m

BM 134.32m

Pavilion

92

10
8

126.5m

Craven's Cottage

132.6m

Ashleigh

Oakleigh

Lower Darwen
Congregational Church

Recreation Ground

BM 121.70m

Pavilion

Church

66

Tennis

Court

78

Sco
tsh

aw
 Brook

16
2

17
2

178

ETL

11
0

DALE VIEW

El Sub Sta

2
4

12
14

165

1

9

11

26 24

39

27

15

36

2
4

10
12

30

28

20

M
EADO

W
 VALE

1
3

5

11
15

21

25

31

35

LEA DRIVE

CR
AV

EN
S 

H
O

LL
O

W

THE GLEN

3

5

3

1

7

1

12
6

16

14

12

2
4

3
5

21
23

4

5

1

M 65

M 65

5
1

11

10

2

Path

Th
e B

un
ga

low

Ppg Sta

1

2

TH
E G

LAD
E

15

31

LB

Bear Hotel

26

36

46 50

37

2a

2b

ANTIGUA DRIVE

Issues

D
avy Field Brook

Weir

River Darwen

120.7m

120.1m

95

83

GREENBANK TERRACE

119

107

26

Issues

Crossfield

Sangara

SA
N

DY
 L

AN
E

117.0m

Bro
ok

Sc
ot

sh
aw Works

TOTTENHAM
 ROAD

36

4

24

14

Works 120.1m

73
63

51

24

4
2

MILKING LANE

FARFIELD DRIVE

32

9 11

2
4

15 17

1

11 15

23

2

M
AR

Q
UI

S 
CL

GREENACRE

1

5
11

13

14

6
12

24
22

M 65

M 65

Weir

FB

FB

Warehouse

1

3

11

12

DOMINICA AVE

1
5

1

5

19
12

15
11

14

18

MARTINIQUE DRIVE

10

2

RL
VE

RS
W

AY
 D

RI
VE

2

18

19

W
IN

W
AR

D

CLO
SE

2

12

1

11

LEE
WARD

CLOSE

19

63

1

ANTIG
UA D

RIV
E

11

17

19

27

51

57

9

AUGITNA DRIVE

30

23

20

17

7

14

18

18a

16

2

2
8

14

5
7

4

18

19

11
15

2

14

24

36

7

314

8

1

11

15

27
39

51

63

52

40241

8

2

22

2
12

32

1

11

21

18
14

12
10

1a 1
15

35

45

57

67

77 77a
79 81

83
99

BARONS W
AY

KINGSWAY

El

MP.25FB

Def

147.9m

BM 145.57m

El Sub Sta

GREENFIELD

VIEW

139.1m

131.9m

ST
OR

E 
ST

RE
ET

High
er

Crof
t

Bro
ok

Viaduct

PH

125.3m
RAKES EGDIRB

Spring

Pa
th

 (u
m

)

Weir

STOPES BROW

153.0m

157.1m

161.1m

St James'
Church

Vicarage

St James Primary
School

New
fiel

d Brook

Higher Croft
Brook

BARO
NS CLO

SE

4

8

Path

Cemetery

Path

Path

Sub
Sta

Boro Const, ED & Ward Bdy

24
18

AINTREE 
DRIVE

28

2

6

1

5

33

37

39

43

ASTER CHASE

10

18

WISTERIA DRIVE

1

7

5

2 4

58

52

7

20

15

25 29

40

34

30

23

56

2

4

1

7

ASTER CHASE

24

15

52

57

49

Pond

DAHLIA CLOSE

32

1

1a

35a

PRUN
ELLA D

RLVE

PR
IM

UL
A 

DR
IV

E

42

23

19

1

2
12

11

18

29

25

18

1

11
15

25

11

10

1

2

DELPHINIUM
 W

AY

COUNTESS ROAD

20

32

44

56

66

46

52

60

74

15

17

21

14

16

26

55

41

23

33

2

5
7

BEGONIA VIEW

1

79

65

16
4

2

10

1

9

2
1

14
4

14
2

101

117

13
8

13
6

23

37

38

48

52

66

8

22

36

6

2

161

171

175

177
179

2

14

26

38

25

15

1

BLACKAMOOR ROAD

STOPES BROW

PICKERING FOLD

St James'
Church

RO
M

AN
 RO

AD

Issues

Works

156.6m

158.6m

161.8m

161.9m

163.6m

163.4m

166.7m

170.3m

173.7m

BM 173.30m

El
Sub Sta

TCB

Blackamoor
Inn
(PH)

War Memorial

LB

Shelter

BLACKAMOOR

BM 163.52m

BM
157.18m

CR

11

35

156.4m

173

25

3

5

2

Cemetery

Works

etatsE lairtsudnI

Tank

W
ard Bdy

CENTURIO
N CO

URT

WB

W
IST

ER
IA

 D
RI

VE

9

15

11

17

23

41

48

39

41

31

8

14

28

36

Pond

6

18

21

33

28

20

27

23

1
3

2
2

14

24

40

38

BARO
NS

CLO
SE

CO
UNTESS RO

AD

BARONS WAY

DAVY FIELD RO
AD

LO
W

ER
ECCLESH

ILL
RO

AD

Farfield
Farm

Lower Darwen
Primary School

Depot

MP 22

Boro Const and W
ard Bdy

Def

MILKING LANE

Weir

120.3m

Refuse Tip

Post

2

18

10

11

1

1

5

6

20

14

1

9

61

TFORCROOM

2

12

MILKING LANE

(Track)

Path

Davy Field

LE
AC

RO
FT

MEADOWCROFT

2 11

19

1

11
15

23

27

Industrial Estate

11a

15

20

10

2

55

53

BRIARCROFT

37

43
45

GREEN
BAN

K TERRACE

MH

D
avy Field Brook

10

2

3

73

67

14

KN
IG

HT
CR

ES
CE

N
T

75

El Sub Sta

85

1

66

64 El Sub Sta

63

89

90

58

1

88

VI
SC

OUN
T A

VE
NUE

LORD'S
CRESCEN

T

2

1

8

LA
DY

 C
LO

SE

1

16

80

60

Playground

BM 136.75m

Def

CR
W

ard Bdy

D
AVY FIELD

 BRO
W

RO
M

AN
 RO

AD

154.7m

137.9m

Bridge

Waste
Disposal
Centre

WB

Electricity Sub Station

El Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

DAVY FIELD ROAD

Bo
ro 

Con
st 

Bd
y

ook

Gas Gov

1

El Sub Sta

Works

Industrial Estate

ETL

CENTURIAN WAY

Ward
 Bdy

M 65

M 65

M 65

NEPTUNE W
AY

El Sub Sta

WB

WB

W
AL

KE
R 

RO
AD

W
ard

 Bd
y

CR

El Sub Sta

Depot

El Sub Sta

Walker Park lndustrial Estate

Issues

Path (um
)

Pond

Aspinall Fold

W
ard

 Bd
y

CR

Issues

Issues

Spreads

Path (um)

ET
L

Pa
th

Pa
th

(u
m

)

)mu( htaP

146.5m

159.0m

163.4m

FF

Def
FF

FF

Def

SS

RO
M

AN RO
AD

JOHNSON ROAD

Wood Bank Farm

Mount Pleasant Farm

Grimshaw Brook
Mill

The Bungalow

View

Eccleshill Gardens

Lower Grimshaw

Issues

Stones

El Sub Sta

Grim
shaw

 Bridge

Grimshaw
Brook

LB

TCBShelter

30

27

25

1 9

Tanks

Field

7

Boro Const Bdy

Issues

FF

Def

FF

W
ard

 Bd
yCR

Pa
th

Depot

Ponds

Pond

Playground

Shaw's Farm

Path (um
)

Path (um)

Path (um)

Path (um
)

Owlet Hall
Wood

Little Arch
Issues

Issues

Drain

W
hitehalgh

Brook

Track

Pond

Issues

Pa
th

 (u
m

)

Waterfall Sh
ee

p B
rid

ge
 Br

oo
k

Shaw's Plantation

hglahetihW Brook

Adam Plat
Wood

Issues

Heald Wood

Chapels Brook

Spring

Pickering
Fold

Squirrels Run

Barn

Bridge

Path (um)

Pa
th

 (u
m

)

Issues

FB

Shaw
Brook

Issues

190.2m

Chapels

Spring

Issues

Path (um)

CH
AP

EL
S 

LA
NE

194.8m

Lower

Path (um
)

Old
School

Track

yrettaC syaK

Swallows

Greenthorn

Ingledene

LB

213.1m

Overdale

Ling Hill

Brook

Lower Meadow Head Farm

Tr
ac

k

Tockholes Fold Farm

Path (um)

FW
D

ef

Tank

Bo
ro

 C
on

st
an

d
W

ar
d 

Bd
y

Issues

214.9m

Vine House

Cottages

Path
 (u

m)

M
EA

D
O

W
 H

EA
D

 L
AN

E

Def

Path (um)

Smithy House

Bridge
Barn

Sinks
Pond

TO
CK

H
O

LE
S 

RO
AD

Path (um)
BM 246.19m

Path

The Old Vicarage

CHAPELS LANE

Gorse Farm

Gorse Cottage

193.9m

Play

The Mullions

Hi Ways

Chingles

BM 228.21m

230.1m
ENAL TIP LAOC

Worsley's Farm
242.0m

Charles Brow

St Stephen's

BM 204.51m
ROCK LANE

212.1m
Rock Inn

(PH)

Issues

Brook Field

Close
Farm

Path (um
)

Duck Hall Farm

Cotton Hall

3

1

2

(u
m

)

(um)

Path

Sea View

FW
FW

D
ef

1.
22

m

LANE

MEADOW HEAD

Spout House Farm

RH

Spout House Barn

M 65

Track

M 65

Path (um
)

M
os

s B
ro

ok

Path (um)

Badger Brook

Tr
ac

k

Issues

Greenlands
Farm

M 65

M 65

M
EA

D
O

W
 H

EA
D

 L
AN

E

Meadow Head

Farm

Def

Well

Boro Const & Ward Bdy

FF

BM 216.81m

Issues

Path
 (u

m)

Path (um)

Path (um
)

Pa
th 

(um
)

Moss Brook

CALDER AVENUE

BI
RC

H
 H

AL
L 

AV
EN

UE

RIBBLE AVENUE

HYNDBURN DRIVE

DOUGLAS
GROVE

WYRE CRESCENT

M
ERSEY AVENUE

LB
TCB

BM 161.05m

157.6m

54

58

15

1

70

98

2

10

29

13

6

8

20

13

4

43

146.0m

144.5m
Works

40
8

24

EVELYN ROAD

443

3a 5a

5

29

357

AN
CHO

R AVEN
UE

ANCHOR GROVE

HECTOR ROAD 27

33

34

20

Moss B
rook

Lower Moss Fold
Farm

Farm

Moss Fold

Moss Fold
Farm

Weir

45
8

44
8

42
8

VIEW ROAD

473

1

11

2

REDVERS ROAD

44

30

31

140.2m

MOSS FOLD ROAD

BLACKBURN
 RO

AD
507

497

PO

DAISYFIELD STREET

1

2

22

14

6

SM

SM FB

138.7m

49
8

49
0

137.8m

Garage

605

571

57

TCB

El Sub Sta

Nursing Home

553

Sta

SWODAEM EHT

2
8

11

9
11

18

24

M 65

MEADOW TERRACE

1

1

OAKWOOD CLOSE

2

10

ST BED
ES PARK6

12

14

24

11

15

AN
CHO

R AVEN
UE

(Football Ground)

29

68

54

Ri
ve

r
Da

rw
en

HECTOR ROAD

MHs

Pa
th

 (u
m

)

Playing Field

Depot

Tanks

M 65

M 65

42

30

152.1m

13

6

BIRCH HALL
AVENUE

146.6m

St Edward's
RC Primary School

Sacred Heart

36
6

146.9m

Heart
Presby

327

341

COLVILLE

ROAD

343

25

MILNER

ROAD

325

AN
CH

O
R G

RO
VE

16

2

1

11

19

27

ANCHOR AVENUE

14

28

ANCHOR ROAD

1

323
321

Garage

Anchor Inn

El Sub Sta

TCB

315

BM
 147.41m

33
4

HALDANE
ROAD

1

33
6

146.9m

35
4

VERONICA

STREET

36
2

25

BIRCH HALL

25

35 15

7

2

15

LE
VE

N
G

RO
VE

2

12

Works

Chy

13

1

MONTON ROAD

32
0

11

1

30
2

BLACKBURN
 RO

AD

301

299

289

HOLLINS ROAD

Crown

1

SANDRINGHAM
 RO

AD

14

2

5

1

24315

12

2

147.8m

LB

14

WEST
WELL

 ST
REET21

23

M
OSTYN STREET

150.3m

46

LYNWOOD AVENUE

59

47

RIBBLE AVENUE

24

38

HODDER GROVE

63

75

10
4

BIRCH HALL
AVEN

UE

11
2

WYRE CRESCENT

7

11
8

49

46

95

85

36

52

10
7

10
5

95

75

90

80

70

24

22

20 9

17

HARTINGTON ROAD

51

41

58

68

75
73

48

ST ALBAN'S R
OAD

The Albany

14

House

House

Westwood

HAWKSH
AW AVEN

UE

Hollins Grove

Congregational

31

BM 146.96m

TH
E

M
EAD

O
W

S

1

20

2

6

17

LA
NESH

AW CLO
SE

House

CLIFTO
N STREET

OXFORD STREET

DEAN STREET
STAFFO

RD STREET

BEDFORD STREET

Crown House

Conduit

Co
nd

ui
t

Sluice

Scrap Yard

Reservoir

Reservoir

Reservoir

River Darwen

Yard

BM
 1

53
.36

m

153.0m

HO
LL

IN
S G

RO
VE

 ST
RE

ET

W
ar

d 
Bd

y
CR

Sinks

FB

Paper Mill

Queens Mill

144.2m

HOLLINS ROAD

BM 135.64m

El Sub Sta

HOLLINS

140.2m

Pipe Bridge

132.6m

River

Darwen

Works

AN
CHO

R AVEN
UE

The Anchor Ground

ANCHOR ROAD

Conduit

River Darwen
Weir

Be
d

1

2

24

2

3

17

43

33

21

43

27

25
21

40

50

21 O
ut

fa
ll

Allotment Gardens

W
estwwod

Clifton

7

1

BEDFORD MEWS

14

Tanks

Tanks

WB

Garage

Depot

Def

W
ard Bdy

141.0m

LO
W

ER ECCLESH
ILL RO

AD

SP

Boro Const Bdy

Bo
ro

 C
on

st
 &

 W
ar

d 
Bd

y

135.2m

136.6m

144.2m

Depot

Depot

Works

Path (um)

FB

Depot

ydB draW

CR

M 65

El Sub Sta

YAW LABOLG

Playground

ETL

Pa
th

 (u
m

)

)mu( htaP

Flash Brook

Brook

ROM
AN ROAD

ROM
AN ROAD (Course of)

Def

Davy Field Brook

Boro Const Bdy

CR

El Sub Sta

W
ar

d 
Bd

y

CR

154.8m

HOLLI
NS G

ROVE S
TR

EET

159.1m

Works

LO
W

ER
 E

CC
LE

SH
IL

L 
RO

AD

Works

164.0m

GO
O

SE HO
USE RO

AD

De
f

W
ar

d 
Bd

y

El Sub Sta

Depot

Depot

Scrap Yard

Und

Well

Tank

Pond

El Sub Sta

WB

Tanks

Depot

El Sub Sta

187.1m

Ward Bdy

192.0m
196.3m

194.2m

Pa
th

Manor House

ETL

Works

153.8m

BM 154.87m

ET
L

JOHNSON ROAD

Eccleshill Gardens

173.98m

Eccleshill Fold

Eccleshill

Issues

(PH)

BM 196.40m

22

BM
 1

89
.62

m

ETL

Track

The

Bent Farm

Pond

9

13

14

ETL

18

Tank

Cattle Grid

Winter Hill

Path (um)

Winter Hill Farm
FF

Def

FW

Def

W
ard Bdy

Cottage

Well

segattoC lliH retniW

262.4m

262.7m

239.3m

Path (um)

Pa
th 

(um
)

Charles Brow

Hindleborough

Winter Hill Cottage

222.2m

217.3m

210.6m

W
YRE CRESCENT

M
ERSEY AVENUE

DUDDON AVE

185.9m

Track

Farm

Def

El
Sub Sta

MARABOU DRIVE

PE
RE

GRIN
E D

RIV
E

Earnsdale Farm
Cottage

CB

Issues

Darwen Golf Course

1

14

6

1

2

1

3

7

9
11

4

30

28

26

22

41

29

5

34

KESTREL DRIVE

Sunnyhurst 
Brook

MARABOU DRIVE

DUDDON AVEN
UE

168.2m

HALL AVENUE

Pa
th

BM 167.96m

BM 163.19m

LY
NWOOD

AVEN
UE

Dingle House

Water

Und

HAWKSH
AW AVEN

UE
The Nook

159.4m

BM 157.19m

WARWICK AVENUE

ST
 ALB

AN'S 
RO

AD

HARTINGTON

ROAD

DAVENHAM
 ROAD

153.3m

Weirs

Weir

The Cedars

LYNDHURST ROAD

ELLESM
ERE ROAD

Depot

Works

Works

W
ESTM

INSTER RO
AD

St Chad's Hall

146.3m

ST CUTHBERTS CLOSE

CR

FALCON AVENUE

Club

Bowling Green

BLACKBURN RO
AD

9
11

13

18

2

101

11
5

106

10
3

5

4

14

4

12

26

36

44

15

5

15a

15

6

26

21

20

13

17

19

25

69

2

1

14

4

44

32

31

33

48

8 1

13

15

3

15

14

10

8

11 15

St Cuthbert's C of E Primary School

SM

BIRCH

OLDFIELD AVENUE

BM

LYNW
O

O
D CLO

SE

4

16

18

1

3

29

Sycamore House

14

12

CLIFTO
N STREET

DEAN

STREET

PITVILLE STREET

BM 144.80m

George

Works

CLARENCE STREET

Weir

Works

Scrap

Yard

HOLLINS GROVE STREET

Works

Allotment Gardens

Allotment Gardens

SURREY AVEN
UE

DORSET AVENUE

SO
M

ERSET AVEN
UE

El Sub Sta

GILLIBRAND STREET

HOLLINS

Sub StaFALCON AVENUE

EARNSDALE ROAD

PO

TCB

St Cuthbert's

St Chad's

Club

LYNDHURST ROAD

BLACKBURN RO
AD

El Sub Sta

PERCIVAL STREET

ARGYLE STREET

GREEN
W

AY STREET

Und

Path

SNAPE STREET

CAVENDISH STREET
BM 153.20m

WINDSOR ROAD

Playing Field

138.4m

149.4m

139.0m

139.6m

14
0 

TO
 1

48

1

7

10
4

10

2

90

82

9

19

20

10

2

62

9 2 74

52

62

74

49

69

57

50

2

3

13

25

41

51

55

30

16

4

67

1

13

25
29

61

39
35

1191

14

36

48

43

25
23

13

101

125

133

141

5
7

13

25

33

9
9a

25

48

44

14

2145

157

3

21

33

43

26

6

2

161

1

1

15

12

171

2

39

49

53

11

21

29

15

5

2

8

2

8

2

16

30

44
44a

56

66 101

87

75

71

81

84

58

53

75

85

66

51

83

68

Posts

WESTMINSTER CLOSE

Garage

SNAPE

STREET

GOOSE HOUSE LANE

El Sub Sta

BM 169.88m

Scrap Yard

Plane Tree

179.2m

Langriggs Farm

Church

Bury Square

MOOR LANE
184.7m

189.0m

KN
O

W
LE

 L
AN

E

Knowle Fold

Allotment
Gardens

185.3m

7

1

1
11

19

2

20

37

35

Drain

The Old
School House

Track

Und

Path

Path

Path

KN
OW

LE
 LA

NE

Knowle Fold

Lea

Beehive Mill

El Sub Sta

BM 196.73m

MOOR LANE

Pavilion

Chy

FB

FO
LD

198.4m

37

3

25

3a7a

29

31

40

36

Willellen

Und
208.0m

Path (um
)

Dandy Row

ROM
AN ROAD

Und

2
4

20

34

46

48

50

34

22

ETL

BM 248.64m

Path (um)

Def

FF

FW

Boro Const &

Hindleborough

232.3m

2

Darwen Golf Course

Path (um)

Farm

BM
179.76m

199.3m

Club House

The
Height

Def

Pa
th

 (u
m

)

Path (um)

CB

RH

FF

Boro Const &
 W

ard Bdy

1

9

10

6

2

3

9

15

32

22

12

30

28

26

41

19

6

18

7

22

48

16

The Barn

1.
22

m
 R

H

Middle

Farm

Well

Higher
Meadow Head

FWDef

Def

Path (um)

FF

Path (um)

Brook
Moss

Playing Fields

Cricket Ground

161.5m

163.4m

64

68

2

8

15

7

78

88

15

7

1

90

98

10

16

24

21

1

18

18
a

15

2
4

1

3

11

59

45

37

Track Barn

Farm

BM 210.00m

Kosy Kot

East View

West View

Ashleigh

Highmount

Pickop Brow

Badger

Manor House

Path (um)

Issues

FW
D

ef
1.2

2m
 FF

Path (um
)

Tithe Barn

Path
 (u

m)

Foot Bridge
Issues

Foxes Barn
Barker Fold

Sinks

Issues

Pickering Fold

Path (um)

Cross Land

Gorse Barn

Trough

Issues 224.3m

Area

Sunnyside

225.2m

236.8m

Path (um)

C E Primary School

200.3m El Sub Sta

BM 221.59m

222.8m

Path (um)

Depot

Rose Cottage

Issues

2

2

Pa
th

Path

Path (um)

Pickup CottageOld Wife Hey Farm

CS

176.5m

Dingle View

Bowling Green

Issues

Pa
th

164.0m

Earnsdale
Cottage

Pav

Water

Ward Bdy

157.9m

HAWKSHAW

FB

Sluice

CS

Sunnyhurst Brook

The Coach House

Heim
at

152.1m

Playing Field

FF

FW

FF

FW

145.7m

Church

13

18

10

13
2

12
2

109
116 93

81

3

11

3

12

18

28

23

15

11

15

13

9

6

1

19

16

21

11

10

18

20

26

25

8

5

1

59

69

79

76

62

60

46

12

7

14

2

44 1

3

33

68

58

12

4

30

20 3

19

3

11

19

18

18

16

BM 16
4.1

5m

161.5m

SM

24

Sunnyhurst Wood

5

172.93m

2

16

18

9
11

15

27

5

9

2

Posts

14

BM 144.80m

Hotel
(PH)

Works

Bank

River Darwen

Works

MP 21

CR

SP

BM
 151.91m

GROVE

El

Mill

BM 140.34m

Church

Hall

BM
 141.54m

CR

Ward Bdy

CR

Allotm
ent Gardens

BM 141.68m

140.8m

152.4m

144.8m

150.3m

152.1m

152.7m

139.0m

LB

4

2

15
2

98

20

96

1

10

2

74

1

19

26

14

60

84

71

38

50

13

25

37

38

26

14

57
55

59

3

13

33

43

54

46

38
34

67

71

25

37

47

49

35

25

1191

2

22
24

54

41

27

51

35

1

101

103

113

143

5

1

11

66

56

36

26

13

31

43

51

59

36

18

6
4

167

9

17

19

259

2

173

35
37

51

1

13

21

23

1

2

8

16

10

7

1

16

8

2

12

24

30

32

56a

74

86

63

46a 49

61 78

56

46

58

65 86

76

54

60

72

63

73

The Limes

2

20

6

12

Garage

5

50

42

18

1

Depot

RC Church

of the 36
8

BM 147.71m

Sacred

327

351

25

13

Peel Mill

Bowling Green

2
Anchor

(PH
)

3
34

6

35
6

36
4

Hall

15

25

Birch Hall Cricket Ground

Darwen Cricket and Sports Club

BM
 1

53
.9

7m

9

1

1

2

10

9

25

32
2

31
2

1

4

30
0

147.5m 279

House

1

13

15

29

36

26

271
265

255

243

BM
 148.51m28

2

1

22

28
4

28
6

1

148.1m
11

9

22

24

21

24

36

47

35

34

44

El Sub Sta

Lees
Court

25

26

13

121

14

63

166.7m

BM
168.00m

2
4

7

1

11
4

167.6m 97

37

52

10
5

85

15
6.7

m

100

90

73

63

59

51

58

154.2m

BM 155.71m

a
a

73

39

29

17

(Home for the Aged)

14

4

2

The Gables

147.5m

231

Hollins

46

Surikha

Earlsfield

146.9m

BM
 147.60m

2

Church

31

37

BM 146.96m

21

4

15a

17

2

Presby

Earlsfield

El Sub Sta

Crown House

Tank

Sluice

Pipe Line

Breaker's

Issues

139.6m

BM 135.64m

133.5m

W
B

Tank

147.5m

El
Sub Sta

Peel Mill

(Football Ground)

Sewage Works

Slu
dg

e
Be

d

Treatment
Works

13

2

12

22

12

17

21

32

23

Path

BM 134.64m

O
ut

fa
ll

Co
nd

ui
t

Do
ub

le 
W

all

15

Reservoir

Tank

173.7m

168.6m

Glen Avon

Cottage

Bury Square

CHAPELS

186.8m

BM 185.28m

37

2

23

15

1

4

1

2

12

El Sub Sta

Track

Chapel House

187.1m

Eccles Hill
Und

Path

Path

187.1m

Moor

Garscube

Lyndene

Ellmar

Summer
Hill

BM 196.73m

193.2m

Moorland High School

Sports Ground

El Sub Sta

BM 205.71m203.0m

199.6m

Oddfellows' Arms
(PH)

11
15

23
25

35

5a

7a

5

1

43

29

4

29

39

Ward Bdy

CR

BM 160.23m

Tank

Tank

Tank

Cooling Tank

154.8m

Path (um)

Goose House
Bridge

160.3m

150.6m

Ward Bdy
Und

Works

Chy

El Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

Und

193.5m

Track

BM 194.93m

Path (um)

Pa
th

Farm Cottage

Manor House Farm

ETL

Pa
th

 (u
m

)

BM
 211.01m

Shaw Fold

FW

Und

214.2m

Track

Harwood
Fold

Path (um)

W
ard Bdy

12

44

56

64

32

12

1

7

11

17
19

Track

162.2m

Path (um
)

178.9m

Cottages

189.9m

20

23

1

2
4

6

BM

BM
 1

89
.62

m

Pa
th 

(um
)

ETL

Pottery Farm

Dismantled Railway

Bowling Green

Track

Playground

Water Lily

163.7m

BM 164.56m

Higher
Grimshaw13

14

ETL

18

Sheep Bridge

Pa
th

 (u
m

)

Sh
ee

p B
rid

ge
 Br

oo
k

Path (um)

Issues

Chapels Brook

Middle

Barn

Issues

Pond

St Stephen's Church

Path (um)

Chapels Farm Barn

190.2m

Barndene

190.2m

Farm SD

Lych
Gate

188.1m

Path (um
)

Issues

Spring

Crow Trees Farm

Path (um
)

Lodge Farm

194.2m

The
Farmhouse

The

House

Pond

Chapel House

yrettaC syaK

Track

Tower View

Lyndhurst

BM 196.14m

1

Badger Brook

Def

FF

Yew Tree Farm

Issues

BM 214.38m

10
4

Pa
th

 (u
m

)

Well

Fourwinds

Tr
ac

k

Whalley
Terrace

Pickup Brow

Boro Const

View

CR

Ward Bdy

Issues

Sinks

Issues

CR

ydB draW

Sheep Bridge Brook

Path (um)

D
ef

D
ef

1.22m RH

RH

Badger Brook

Bo
ro

 C
on

st
 &

 W
ar

d 
Bd

y

Path (um)

Path (um
)

Well

Path (um)

Tr
ac

k

Bog Bank Farm

Higher Bog Height
Farm

Higher Bog Height

199.62m

41

190.8m

Path (um)

Path (um)

188.5m

BM 180.96m

178.5m

60

39

39

27

40
6

39
6

24

2

1

3

441
427

357
355

ANCHOR

15

35

43

31

33

Higher Moss
Middle

Mill

43
8

41
8

475

16

2

459
457

11

41

38

26

Works

31

141.7m
BM 142.63m

485

48
2

47
8

46
8

46
0

3

17

LB

Oaksfield

12

18

24

12

6

MOSS BRIDGE

138.1m

561

7

Darwen Vale High School
595

583

14

7

1

El
Sub

5

25
23

15

4

8

10

1

20

19

26

The Anchor Ground

31

Anchor Bank

Ri
ve

r

Treatment Works

40

River D
arw

en

ETL

Sewage Works

Tanks

El Sub Sta

Hotel

18

139.0m

Posts

(PH)

144.8m 13

30

1

BM 140.60m

Earcroft Farm

637

14

34

Earcroft Farm House

El Sub Sta

ETL

Sewage Works

El Sub Sta

Davy Field Brook

17

Statue

ETL

Def

CR

127.3m

Def

Bo
ro

 C
on

st
 &

 W
ar

d 
Bd

y

River D
arw

en

Lower Darwen

Paper Mill

Track

Spreads

El Sub Sta

Works

Tank

)mu( htaPIssues

Def Davy FieldBrook

142.4m

Brook

Boro Const Bdy

Depot

Boro Const Bdy

Ward Bdy

CR

Works

Davy Field
Brook

121.3m

101

98

9

20

12

2

15

2

7

2

9

BM 136.75m

136.5m

Davy Field

Da
vy

F i el d Br ook

Depot

CR

Flash Brook

Issues

ETL

(u
m

)

(u
m

)

164.2m

De
f

FF

FF

De
f

Def

FF

FF

Def

Pleasant
Farm

Issues

Issues

Stepping

Davy Field
Brook

El Sub Sta

Grim
shaw

 Bridge

Grimshaw
Brook

BM 153.54m

153.9m

Nursery Nook

El Sub Sta

27

25 8

6

1

Settling

Davy

28

Boro Const Bdy

High Winds

Def

FF

Figure 7 - Site Context

N

Key

Public Park or Playing Field

Site Boundary

Hospital

Sports

Religious Ground and Cemeteries

Allotments and Community Growing Spaces

Schools

Train StationsMain Traffic Routes

Railway

Canal

Public Rights of Way

Witton Weavers Way

Weavers Wheel Way

Gib Lane Development

Site Boundary

Public Park or Playing Field

Hospital

Sports

Main Traffic Routes

Religious Ground and 
Cemeteries
Allotments and growing 
Zones
Schools

Railway Stations

Railway Line

Canal

Public Rights of Way

Witton Weavers Way

Key

Public Park or Playing Field

Site Boundary

Hospital

Sports

Religious Ground and Cemeteries

Allotments and Community Growing Spaces

Schools

Train StationsMain Traffic Routes

Railway

Canal

Public Rights of Way

Witton Weavers Way

Weavers Wheel Way

Gib Lane Development

Key

Public Park or Playing Field

Site Boundary

Hospital

Sports

Religious Ground and Cemeteries

Allotments and Community Growing Spaces

Schools

Train StationsMain Traffic Routes

Railway

Canal

Public Rights of Way

Witton Weavers Way

Weavers Wheel Way

Gib Lane Development

Key

Public Park or Playing Field

Site Boundary

Hospital

Sports

Religious Ground and Cemeteries

Allotments and Community Growing Spaces

Schools

Train StationsMain Traffic Routes

Railway

Canal

Public Rights of Way

Witton Weavers Way

Weavers Wheel Way

Gib Lane Development

Key

Public Park or Playing Field

Site Boundary

Hospital

Sports

Religious Ground and Cemeteries

Allotments and Community Growing Spaces

Schools

Train StationsMain Traffic Routes

Railway

Canal

Public Rights of Way

Witton Weavers Way

Weavers Wheel Way

Gib Lane Development

Key

Public Park or Playing Field

Site Boundary

Hospital

Sports

Religious Ground and Cemeteries

Allotments and Community Growing Spaces

Schools

Train StationsMain Traffic Routes

Railway

Canal

Public Rights of Way

Witton Weavers Way

Weavers Wheel Way

Gib Lane Development

Key

Public Park or Playing Field

Site Boundary

Hospital

Sports

Religious Ground and Cemeteries

Allotments and Community Growing Spaces

Schools

Train StationsMain Traffic Routes

Railway

Canal

Public Rights of Way

Witton Weavers Way

Weavers Wheel Way

Gib Lane Development

Weavers Wheel 
cycle network
Gib Lane housing 
development

LEGEND

A666

Witton 
Park

Cherry 
Tree

Mill
Hill

Ewood 
Park

A6062

A666

M65

Royal Blackburn 
Teaching Hospital

A666

Development
Site

P
age 88



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

27

grit buildings of the quiet rural settlements on the 
valley sides.

• Numerous communication routes run along the 
valley bottoms, including the Leeds and Liverpool 
Canal, the Preston–Colne railway and the M65 
motorway.

• Scattered villages and hamlets on valley sides 
are comprised of older sandstone grit buildings, 
often of the longhouse type and isolated rows of 
stone terraced houses are perched at precarious 
angles on the steep slopes.

• Species-rich hay meadows are becoming less 
common throughout the area with the application 
of modern agricultural techniques.

• Historic farm buildings are still visible today. They 
either remain in their original isolation or have 
been subsumed in later urban growth. Linear and 
dispersed farmstead groups predominate, with 
some courtyard steadings developed from the 
late 18th century when arable farming increased. 
There are field barns for cattle on higher ground.

This general characterisation of the open land at the 
edge of Blackburn has been supplemented with a 
more detailed examination of the key features that 
are local to the site.

Natural England’s National Character Areas (NCAs) 
is an assessment which identifies places that share 
similar landscape characteristics and which follow 
natural lines in the landscape rather than administrative 
boundaries, making them a good framework for 
decision-making.  The site lies within NCA 35 
Lancashire Valleys.  

Key Characteristics are:

• Field boundaries are regular to the west and more 
irregular to the east. They are formed by hedges 
with hedgerow trees and by stone walls and post 
and wire fences at higher elevations.

• Farmed land is predominantly pasture for grazing 
livestock, with areas of acid and neutral grassland, 
flushes and mires. 

• Small, often ancient, broadleaved woodlands of 
oak, alder and sycamore extend along narrow, 
steep-sided cloughs on the valley sides.

• There are many examples of proto-industrial 
heritage, including lime hushing, important 
turnpike and pack-horse routes involved in the 
early textile trade and rural settlements with 
handloom weavers’ cottages.

• There is evidence of a strong industrial heritage 
associated with the cotton weaving and textile 
industries, with many common artefacts such as 
mill buildings, mill lodges and ponds and links to 
the Leeds and Liverpool Canal.

• The many towns, including Blackburn, which 
developed as a result of the Industrial Revolution 
give the area a strong urban character.

• Robust Victorian architecture of municipal 
buildings contrasts with the vernacular sandstone 

3.10  Character Area Appraisal

03 Evidence Base

New Row Methodist Church on Heys Lane

Existing drystone field boundary walls

P
age 89



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

28

Bog Height Road
The eastern section of Bog Height Road towards the 
A666 junction is defined by a double row of terraced 
cottages.  They are sandstone faced with slate roofs, 
stone lintels, sills and door frames.

Beyond the cottages lies an area dominated semi-
detached houses, rendered with red tile roofs.  The 
front curtilages are defined by low level brick walls 
and piers.

Further west along Bog Height Road the character 
moves from urban to rural with properties more 
dispersed and either individual buildings or small 
clusters.  These are generally set back from the 
highway and in some instances are screened by 
hedgerows and boundary treatments.  Towards the 
junction with Heys Lane lies a group of stone cottages.  
These sit on the ridge line and have panoramic 
views of the countryside and Blackburn itself.  These 
properties are close to the highway with a limited area 
of front curtilage of around three metres in depth.

3.11  Character Area Appraisal

03 Evidence Base

View east along Bog Height Road Cottages 87/88 Bog Height Road

View south from entrance to Bog Height Farm Cottages near to the junction of Bog Height Road and the A666

P
age 90



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

29

Heys Lane
Heys Lane is narrower in width than Bog Height Road 
and is flanked by drystone walls and hedgerows on 
both sides giving an enclosed feel.  Travelling north 
from the junction with Bog Height Road the route is 
rural in character.

One property of note is the New Row Methodist 
Chapel, an early 19th Century purpose-built detached 
Chapel of two storey appearance.  The building is 
located within a large tree fringed graveyard.  The 
exterior walls are render finished with a roof clad in 
slate. The building is currently vacant and not in use.  
It is Grade II listed.

Beyond the Chapel are blocks of traditional stone 
terraced cottages and individual properties.  The 
northern section of Heys Lane, closest to Livesey 
Branch Road, is the edge of the main urban area.  This 
area contains a range of properties from social housing 
to detached properties with a suburban character.  

3.12  Character Area Appraisal

03 Evidence Base

Boundary to New Row Methodist Church graveyard

Heys Lane bounded by drystone wallsProperties at 240/242 Heys Lane

View north east of urban fringe

P
age 91



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

30

3.13  Character Area Appraisal

03 Evidence Base

Fernhurst Estate
To the north east of the site lies the Fernhurst Estate.  
This is also of a suburban character and consists of a 
mix of house types and styles.  The exterior walls are 
predominantly faced in brick.  They have tiled roofs.  
The estate is generally open plan but with curtilages 
at key junctions defined by low level brick walls.

View north east down Ashwood Avenue Junction of Jack Walker Way with Winter Meadows

View north west along Jack Walker Way View south east along Jack Walker Way

P
age 92



R
ep

ro
du

ce
d 

fro
m

 O
rd

na
nc

e 
S

ur
ve

y 
m

at
er

ia
l w

ith
 th

e 
pe

rm
is

si
on

 o
f t

he
 c

on
tr

ol
le

r 
of

 H
er

 M
aj

es
ty

’s
 S

ta
tio

na
ry

 O
ffi

ce
 u

nd
er

 th
e 

Li
ce

nc
e 

N
o 

18
62

87
.

Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

31

N

Key

3

2

4

5

6

7

1

Figure 8 - Site Analysis

Key

Site Boundary

Stone Walls

Existing Power Lines

Hedge

Public Rights Of Way

Watercourses

Pond

Culverts

Slope and Gradient

Public Access

Former Quarry

Photo Location1

Key

Site Boundary

Stone Walls

Existing Power Lines

Hedge

Public Rights Of Way

Watercourses

Pond

Culverts

Slope and Gradient

Public Access

Former Quarry

Photo Location1

Key

Site Boundary

Stone Walls

Existing Power Lines

Hedge

Public Rights Of Way

Watercourses

Pond

Culverts

Slope and Gradient

Public Access

Former Quarry

Photo Location1

Site Boundary

Existing Power 
Lines
Stone Walls

Existing Trees and 
Woodland

Public Rights of Way

Watercourses

Pond

Culverts

Slope and Gradient

Public Access

Former Quarry

Panoramic Location

N

LEGEND
Bog Height Road

Bog Height Road

Hey
s L

an
e

Jack W
alker W

ay

Ash
wood

Avenue
Hey

s L
an

e

P
age 93



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

32

innovative design is used to regulate traffic speed.

• To incorporate existing Public Rights of Ways 
and create a new network of routes for both 
pedestrians and cyclists.

• To provide a high quality living environment with 
an attractive network of greenspaces, including 
managed and improved woodland which provides 
a biodiversity, landscape and recreational/play 
function.

• To manage surface water run-off through a 
coordinated network of sustainable drainage 
(SuDS) techniques which are integrated into, and 
enhance, the green infrastructure network.

• To ensure that appropriate infrastructure is 
provided alongside the new development at the 
right time and in the right place.

In order to achieve this vision, the masterplan has 
been based on the following objectives:

• To create a new sustainable neighbourhood which 
is integrated with the adjacent parts of the town.

• To deliver a high quality scheme and well-
designed houses which have a relationship to 
the suburban built form at the eastern edge of 
the site and to the more rural character on other 
edges of the site.

• To provide a mix of housing in terms of character 
and size of properties, but with a reasonable 
proportion of larger family housing.

• To ensure the scheme design and layout responds 
to the topographical character of the site in a 
creative way.

• To include streets where there is a distinction 
between public and private spaces and where 

4.2  Objectives

The Bank Hey site will be developed as a high quality, 
sustainable neighbourhood that is integrated socially 
and physically with the urban and rural areas that 
surround it.

New development will have a strong local identity. 
It will be characterised by pockets of housing set 
in a generous framework of green spaces.  It will 
be structured around existing landscape features 
including significant areas of woodland and sections 
of stone walls.

The comprehensive footpath / cycleway network will 
encourage walking and cycling as an alternative to 
travelling by car and provide clear links to existing 
urban neighbourhoods on one side and to the open 
countryside on the other.

4.1  Vision

04 Vision and Objectives

P
age 94



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

33

The masterplan framework leads to the following mix 
of land uses:

The preferred approach to earthworks results in 
discrete parcels of development land separated by 
more steeply sloping zones of greenspace.  The 
development parcels will be linked together by a 
network of footpaths and cycleways.  Some of the 
parcels are linked by roads where finished site levels 
can facilitate this.

The greenspace provides a setting and structure for 
the parcels of development.  It occupies almost 40% 
of the total site area and is formed by zones between 
and around new housing including a linear greenspace 
corridor which follows the high voltage power lines 
bisecting the site.

The greenspace also incorporates areas of existing 
woodland.  The most significant woodland is within 
and around a former quarry on the southern margin 
of the site but other groups of trees fall on steeper 
sections of land not affected by earthworks.  Where 
practical, these will be retained.

The framework for the masterplan is a tailored 
response to the sloping land across the site.  The 
starting point has been to examine ways to create 
platforms for new development through a balanced 
programme of earthworks.  Options for the cut and fill 
of soils have been tested in order to meet a number 
of key objectives:

• To accommodate new housing development on 
land with less severe slopes.

• To achieve an approximate balance in the cut and 
fill of material across the site.

• To create platforms for new development with a 
cross gradient of around 1:20.

• To avoid significant changes in levels at the 
periphery of the site where there is an interface 
with existing housing.

5.1  Introduction to Masterplan

05 Masterplan Framework

Land Use
Approximate 

Area (ha)

Residential (including 
sustainable drainage)

25.0

Existing Woodland 2.0

Open Space and Green 
Corridors

12.5

Edge Planting 1.5

Total 41

P
age 95



R
ep

ro
du

ce
d 

fro
m

 O
rd

na
nc

e 
S

ur
ve

y 
m

at
er

ia
l w

ith
 th

e 
pe

rm
is

si
on

 o
f t

he
 c

on
tr

ol
le

r 
of

 H
er

 M
aj

es
ty

’s
 S

ta
tio

na
ry

 O
ffi

ce
 u

nd
er

 th
e 

Li
ce

nc
e 

N
o 

18
62

87
.

Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

34

Figure 9 - Masterplan Framework

Plot A

Plot B

Plot C

Plot E

Plot D

Plot FPlot G

Plot H

N

Public Open Space

Sustainable Drainage  / Habitat Pond

Proposed Development Plot

Retained Trees and Woodland

Proposed Trees and WoodlandExisting Overhead Power Lines

Retained Footpath / Cycleway

Proposed Highway

LEGEND

Bog Height Road

Bog Height Road

H
ey

s 
La

ne

Jack W
alker W

ay

Ash
wood

Avenue

Hey
s L

an
e

P
age 96



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

35

There are some key design principles that will shape 
the approach to development within the housing 
parcels.  These principles are set out below.  Further 
detailed guidance is then provided for individual plots 
in a later section of this masterplan document.

5.2  General Housing Requirements

05 Masterplan Framework

Layout

• It is anticipated that housing layout will be based 
on an interconnected network of urban or 
perimeter blocks linked by a network of streets.

• The block layout should ensure that buildings are 
orientated to face the streets and to front onto 
areas of open space.

• The clear distinction between public and private 
spaces is important, particularly along streets 
where good quality boundary walls and hedges 
should be used to define the extent of private 
curtilage areas.

• A high quality edge to the development is vital 
particularly along the Heys Lane and Bog Height 
Road corridors.

• Particular attention should be given to the transition 
from the new development to the surrounding 
countryside. The character,orientation and 
detailing of the housing at the point of transition 
needs to be carefully conceived.

Density

• It is expected that the density of housing 
development will vary across the site as a whole.

• Higher density development should be 
concentrated on the plots towards the eastern 
edge of the site next to the existing suburban 
housing (30 – 40 dwellings per hectare (dph)
across the net developable area).

• There is an opportunity for a lower density of 
development where housing is next to the open 
countryside to provide an appropriate transition 
from urban to rural. The maximum density should 
be 30dph (of net developable area).

Mix

• Policy CS7 of the Core Strategy looks to broaden 
the choice of housing and to meet the need in 
particular for high quality family housing.

• It is expected that the majority of the new housing 
will be family housing in character and scale but 
there are opportunities to meet the needs of other 
households.  

• There is an affordable housing requirement of 20% 
(Policy CS8 of the Core Strategy).  The level of 
affordable housing will be subject to an appraisal 
of viability.  If it is viable to contribute to meeting 
affordable housing needs then this will be in the 
form of a commuted sum to be used by the 
Council to deliver affordable housing elsewhere 
in the Borough.

P
age 97



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

36

Occasional buildings located close to the back of 
footpaths should be used to create pinch points.  This 
should send the message to motorists that speed 
should be reduced.

Where traffic volumes are more limited the opportunity 
should be taken for a more informal approach to road 
design.  Shared surface urban lanes, with a maximum 
width of 4.8 metres, should be incorporated into the 
layout of the development.  These should be bounded 
by low hedges and should be surfaced in a way that 
makes them distinct, perhaps using contrasting 
colours of tarmac.  This approach is particularly 
encouraged where there is an interface with open 
countryside and a transition between rural and urban 
is needed.

The masterplan is based on key links to each of the 
surrounding roads.  This has the effect of distributing 
traffic generated by the development around the 
existing road network rather than concentrating traffic 
at one or two primary points of access.  Road links are 
proposed onto Heys Lane, Bog Height Road, Jack 
Walker Way and Ashwood Avenue.  Significantly, a 
new road link is planned between Bog Height Road 
and Ashwood Avenue.

The approach to access with multiple connections 
to existing roads and the fact that it is not possible 
to form inter-connections between all the parcels 
of housing means that there is no one primary road 
running through the development as a whole.  As a 
consequence, roads through the housing areas can 
be a regular matrix and at a modest scale with a 
maximum width of 5.5 metres and 2 metre footpaths.  

6.1  Road Design Principles

The site has the potential to be linked to several roads: 

• Bog Height Road
• Heys Lane
• Jack Walker Way 
• Ashwood Avenue

Other significant roads in close proximity to the site 
include:

• The M65 Motorway
• A666 Bolton / Blackburn Road to the east
• A6062 Livesey Branch Road to the north

An overview of the proposed and existing road 
network is provided in Figure 10. 

06 Transport Framework Vision and Objectives

5.5m Spine Road2m3-5m 2m 3-5m

9.5m Road Corridor6m Driveway 6m Driveway

Footpath Footpath

On Plot
Tree Planting

On Plot
Tree Planting

Hedgerow Hedgerow

P
age 98



R
ep

ro
du

ce
d 

fro
m

 O
rd

na
nc

e 
S

ur
ve

y 
m

at
er

ia
l w

ith
 th

e 
pe

rm
is

si
on

 o
f t

he
 c

on
tr

ol
le

r 
of

 H
er

 M
aj

es
ty

’s
 S

ta
tio

na
ry

 O
ffi

ce
 u

nd
er

 th
e 

Li
ce

nc
e 

N
o 

18
62

87
.

Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

37

Figure 10 - Movement Framework

Plot A

Plot B

Plot C

Plot E

Plot D

Plot FPlot G

Plot H

Primary Node

Secondary Node

Primary Entrance

Pedestrian / Cyclist Entrance

Proposed Highway Link

Proposed Primary Road

Proposed Secondary Road

Existing Public Right Of Way

NN

LEGEND

Bog Height Road

Bog Height Road

H
ey

s 
La

ne

Jack W
alker W

ay

Ash
wood

Avenue

Hey
s L

an
e

P
age 99



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

38

Figure 11 - Typical Roadways and Footpath Types

Street with footways Street with visitor parking

Urban lane with visitor parking (shared surface) Urban lane with verge edge (shared surface)

Urban lanes and shared surface roads

• Shared surface roads within residential 
developments with contrasting colours of 
tarmac defining road surfaces and grassed 
service strips either side incorporating 
visitor parking spaces.

• Areas of roads and footpaths should reflect 
Manual for Streets standards with varying 
surface finishes and textures to delineate 
pedestrian and car parking areas.

• Road widths should range from 4.1m 
for urban lane links to 5.5m for streets 
dependent upon location and function.

3.5-5m2m 2m

Planting to form 
traffic calming

3.5-5m2m 2m 3.5-5m2m 2m

3.5-5m2.5m 2m2m

Visitor 
parking 
layby

P
age 100



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

39

It is imperative that car parking is considered as an 
integral part of the design process.  It needs to be 
carefully conceived so that it does not dominate the 
visual impression of any street.  With this in mind, there 
are several options for the successful incorporation of 
car parking into the layout of the housing development.

These include:
• Parking and garaging to the side of houses in 

preference to parking in the front curtilage zone.
• Provision for on-street parking, possibly using 

occasional visitor parking bays at appropriate 
locations.

The level of car parking should comply with the 
Council’s adopted standards and should be provided 
through a well considered combination of on plot, off 
plot and on street solutions.

Each parcel of new housing should be supported 
by a Travel Plan which sets out the measures to be 
employed to encourage the use of sustainable modes 
of transport, particularly walking and cycling.  There is 
an overarching Travel Plan for the site which should 
act as a point of reference.

The site is likely to be developed in stages and by 
a number of developers.  As such, a mechanism 
will need to be put in place to ensure that individual 
Travel Plans are integrated.  There could be a need, 
for instance, for a single Travel Plan Co-ordinator 
who will take on the role of promoting and facilitating 
sustainable transport across the site as a whole.

6.4  Parking6.3  Travel Plans

The footpath and cycle network across the site will 
function to provide essential links between individual 
housing parcels and will form connections with the 
adjacent neighbourhoods and public routes through 
the countryside.  Footpaths and cycleways will run 
through the greenspace and, in turn, will be integrated 
with surfaced paths through the housing development.

It is not possible to link together all of the housing 
parcels through the network of roads within the site 
but it is important for pedestrians and cyclists to 
move easily around the new development as a whole.  
As a consequence, cycle and footpath routes will 
need to be designed to traverse the slopes between 
development parcels.  Good quality, bound surfaces 
will be required.

6.2  Walking and Cycling

06 Transport Framework Vision and Objectives

P
age 101



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

40

The topography of the site, existing woodland and 
the overhead power line have been used to inform 
the green space design.  The masterplan includes a 
central corridor of open space which bisects the site 
from west to east.  This follows the alignment of the 
overhead power lines.  The width of this corridor takes 
into account advice and guidance about development 
in proximity to overhead power lines (Appendix 1).  
There are other zones of greenspace which link to 
the central corridor and include existing blocks of 
woodland and generally steeper ground.  These run 
through to the southern boundary of the site.

The design of the informal greenspace should be 
progressed to meet its multiple functions.  Design 
will need to be comprehensive and co-ordinated but 
will also need to show that greenspace infrastructure 
can be delivered in stages as the development is 
progressed.

It is recommended that the most appropriate approach 
to meeting the need for children’s play is in the form 
of centralised, high quality equipped facilities.  Two 
NEAPs (Neighbourhood Equipped Areas of Play) are 
proposed in the central greenspace corridor.  These 
can be separate from housing but still benefit from a 
degree of overlooking and surveillance.  They will be 
maintained by the Management Company which is 
to be set up to maintain those parts of the strategic 
greenspace that will not be used for the grazing of 
animals.

7.2  Informal Green Space

Green infrastructure is a strong element in the 
masterplan.  It will provide an overarching framework 
for new development.  The green infrastructure 
provides separation, often across more steeply sloping 
land, between housing parcels and accommodates a 
network of footpaths and cycleways.  It is a valuable 
amenity for the community.

There are a number of purposes for the green 
infrastructure to serve:
• It is a visual amenity which provides a high quality 

setting for the new housing development.
• It will meet recreational needs as an area of 

accessible open land penetrated by footpaths 
and cycleways.

• It will provide an opportunity to retain and enhance 
habitats for wildlife and to create wildlife corridors.

• It will be the location for dedicated areas for 
children’s play, including equipped areas for play, 
perhaps in the form of a linear ‘adventure’ trail.

• It will accommodate the sustainable drainage 
infrastructure.

• It will assist in making a transition from the urban 
extension to the open countryside.

7.1  Green Infrastructure Overview

07 Green Infrastructure

P
age 102



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

41

Figure 12 - Green Infrastructure - Open Space and Drainage

Plot A

Plot B

Plot C

Plot E

Plot D

Plot FPlot G

Plot H

Central 
Greenspace

Village 
Green

Retained 
Woodland

Retained 
Woodland

Public Open Space

Sustainable Drainage  / Habitat Pond

Proposed Footpath / 
Cycleway Route

Retained Trees and Woodland

Proposed Trees and Woodland

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

N

R
ep

ro
du

ce
d 

fro
m

 O
rd

na
nc

e 
S

ur
ve

y 
m

at
er

ia
l w

ith
 th

e 
pe

rm
is

si
on

 o
f t

he
 c

on
tr

ol
le

r 
of

 H
er

 M
aj

es
ty

’s
 S

ta
tio

na
ry

 O
ffi

ce
 u

nd
er

 th
e 

Li
ce

nc
e 

N
o 

18
62

87
.

LEGEND

Bog Height Road

Bog Height Road

H
ey

s 
La

ne

Jack W
alker W

ay

Ash
wood

Avenue

Hey
s L

an
e

Indicative Neighbourhood 
Equipped Area for Play (NEAP)

P
age 103



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

42

A Landscape Strategy should be submitted with all 
planning applications.  It should achieve the following 
objectives:

• Retained stone boundary walls and hedges 
should be supplemented by new lengths of stone 
walls and hedges at the edge of development 
plots and through the open space.

• The sustainable drainage strategy for the site 
should, where possible, use existing watercourses 
and drainage ditches.

• The incorporation of Public Rights of Way into the 
landscape structure of the development.

• Existing trees and woodland of value should be 
retained as important landscape features and 
should inform the layout of new development.

• New structural and edge planting will be required 
throughout the development.

• Key views into and out of the site should be taken 
into account in the design of the development.

7.3  Landscape Design

07 Green Infrastructure

P
age 104



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

43

Development should establish and preserve the 
functional ecological networks and create new green 
infrastructure. 

Options to further enhance the biodiversity of the site 
include the creation of species-rich grassland, wetland 
areas, open watercourses and the installation of bird, 
bat and hedgehog boxes.

Key ecological considerations associated with future 
development at the site include:

• Ponds within the site offer potential breeding 
habitats for amphibians, including great crested 
newt.

• The woodlands, hedgerows, scrub and drystone 
walls provide terrestrial habitat for amphibians.

• A number of trees within the site offer potential 
roosting habitat for bats.

• The woodlands, hedgerows, scrub, ponds 
and watercourses on site provide foraging and 
commuting habitat for bats.

• The woodlands, hedgerows, scrub, drystone 
walls and trees provide potential nesting habitat 
for birds.

• The marshy grassland and pasture provide 
potential nesting habitat for ground nesting birds.

• The woodlands, hedgerows, scrub, grassland 
and drystone walls provide potential habitat for 
slow worms.

7.4  Biodiversity

07 Green Infrastructure

P
age 105



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

44

Five character areas are proposed.  These take 
into account the existing landscape, ecological 
and topographical characteristics of the site. These 
character areas are identified in Figure 13.  The 
development at each character area will be a reflection 
of its location within the site.  There is a broad division 
between housing parcels at the edge of the existing 
built up area (character areas 2,3 and 4) and those 
that will be at the interface with open countryside 
(character area 1 and 5).

• The urban or perimeter block principle should be 
used so as to ensure that streets, public spaces 
and open spaces are directly overlooked by 
housing and that there is a connected network 
of routes.  Cul-de-sacs should be avoided unless 
they are associated with informal private drives 
serving a small number of houses.

• Incidental open space in development parcels 
need to be incorporated, providing interest and 
variety in the layout of housing.  These open 
spaces need to have a purpose.  They can meet 
the needs of play for small children near to where 
they live, they can be gathering or informal seating 
areas for local people or they can be used as focal 
points in the development and aid navigation 
through the residential streets.

• The outside edges of the development along 
Heys Lane and Bog Height Road have the 
greatest potential to establish the character of 
the development.  The approach to building and 
landscape design, including robust boundaries, 
and the quality of materials used along these 
edges should be given particular attention.

The character of the new development will be a 
reflection of the location of the site on the edge of 
the Pennine countryside and will be influenced by the 
interplay between parcels of housing and the broad 
zones of open space.

There are several overarching design objectives 
which, in combination, will assist in creating a distinct 
character of development.  These objectives are set 
out first before guidance on the design of development 
in individual character areas.

Overall Approach
The masterplan shows a comprehensive approach 
to the development of the site but it is envisaged 
that the finer grain of design detail will vary across 
individual housing parcels or character areas.  Site 
wide principles that will be common to the design of 
housing on all parcels include:

• Each development parcel has a primary point of 
access.  This needs to be celebrated through 
the design of attractive and bespoke gateways.  
These should combine buildings with hard and 
soft landscape to create an inviting and high 
quality entrance to individual development 
parcels.

8.1  General Design Principles 8.2  Character Areas

08 Design Framework

P
age 106



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

45

R
ep

ro
du

ce
d 

fro
m

 O
rd

na
nc

e 
S

ur
ve

y 
m

at
er

ia
l w

ith
 th

e 
pe

rm
is

si
on

 o
f t

he
 c

on
tr

ol
le

r 
of

 H
er

 M
aj

es
ty

’s
 S

ta
tio

na
ry

 O
ffi

ce
 u

nd
er

 th
e 

Li
ce

nc
e 

N
o 

18
62

87
.

Character Area 1

Character Area 2

Character Area 3

Character Area 4

Character Area 5

Character Area 1

Character Area 2

Character Area 3

Character Area 4

Character Area 5

N

Figure 13 - Character Areas

LEGEND

Bog Height Road

Bog Height Road

H
ey

s 
La

ne

Jack W
alker W

ay

Ash
wood

Avenue

Hey
s L

an
e

P
age 107



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

46

Streets, public open space and landscape
• The adjacent central green corridor will form a 

distinct setting for this development.  Pedestrian 
routes through the open space need to connect 
with paths in the development.

• Roads to follow contours of the land.
• Streets with narrow carriageways, using shared 

surfaces where appropriate.
• On plot parking arranged so that cars do not 

dominate the street scene.
• Views from the plot are to be taken into account.
• Provide landmark buildings of interest at the 

gateway entrance to the plot.
• Landscape to provide structure and enclosure 

to spaces.
• Exist ing stone wal ls integrated into the 

development to form feature boundaries to streets 
or landscaped areas.

• Use of hedgerows and landscape features to form 
key structural elements.

• Investigate the potential to take direct access to 
individual plots from Bog Height Road.

Boundary treatments and enclosure
• Buildings to have a small and varied setback from 

the street.
• Routes and key junctions to be defined with 

drystone boundary walls.
• Gable ends of dual fronted properties can be 

used to define the edge of the street and create 
variety and interest.

• Boundaries at the edge of the central green space 
to be reconstituted stone walls or hedgerows.

This area is at an elevated position and falls at the 
interface with open countryside.  To the south is 
Bog Height Road which is a rural road bounded by a 
stone walls and hedgerows. This area will have a rural 
character with properties set back but looking onto 
Bog Height Road and onto the greenspace network 
to create an informal edge to development. 

Key characteristics are:

Layout and density
• Lower density of between 20 – 30 dwellings per 

hectare (dph).
• Informal arrangement of buildings which resonate 

with the form and character of the clusters of 
properties in the surrounding countryside.

• Footpath links into the central green corridor.

Land use
• Housing and areas of associated landscape.
• Sustainable drainage included within the central 

green corridor.

Scale and form
• Detached houses, or small clusters of buildings 

and the opportunity for innovative designs.
• Properties will either front onto Bog Height Road 

or overlook the green corridor.

08 Design Framework

8.1  Character Area 1

Detail of built form
• Irregular plots arranged to work with the 

topography.
• Orientation of buildings to front streets and open 

spaces, to maximise views or work with the  
topography.

• Buildings to be predominantly stone faced.
• Garages and parking to be set back from front 

building lines, preferably between buildings.

P
age 108



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

47

Figure 14 - Character Area 1

3.5 - 4.8m RoadBog Height Road 2m 3-5m

On Plot 
Tree Planting

Tree Planting in 
Grass Verge

Existing 
Stone Wall

Existing 
Cottages

4m

Proposed 
Development 

Plot A

Fo
ot

pa
th

G
ra

ss
 V

er
ge

E
xi

st
in

g 
S

to
ne

 W
al

l

B
og

 H
ei

gh
t R

oa
d

E
xi

st
in

g 
C

ot
ta

ge
s

N

Illustrative plan of interface with Bog Height Road

Illustrative section of interface with Bog Height RoadNatural stone materials used as 
boundary treatments

Use of natural stone

Key Plan

P
age 109



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

48

08 Design Framework

8.2  Character Area 2

Scale and form
• The main green space will be bound by frontage 

buildings of two storeys with opportunities for 
higher buildings on corners to provide variety 
and interest.

• Housing mix of detached, semi-detached and 
clusters of terraced housing. 

• Minimum interface distance with properties 
on Heyworth Avenue, Clayton Way and The 
Greenwood in accordance with the Council’s 
separation standards with the intervening space 
planted to reduce overlooking between new and 
existing properties.

Streets, spaces and landscape
• Main access road from Jack Walker Way to have 

a distinct character.
• Emphasis at arrival points through a distinct layout 

incorporating gateway landscape features.
• Exploit views across the green space.
• Central green to have open character laid in grass, 

with some feature planting.
• Drainage ponds and swales to have informal 

landscape character.

Boundary treatments and enclosure
• Buildings to have varied setbacks from the street.
• In order to form attractive urban streets there is 

a need for boundaries to the front curtilage of 
individual houses which distinguish private from 
public space.

• Boundaries alongside the central green corridor 
to be robust estate style fencing.

This area is the largest of the development parcels.  
It will have a suburban character to resonate with the 
late 20th Century housing along Jack Walker Way.  
The area will include a central green which will form a 
hub.  There is an opportunity for a tighter urban grain 
around the green and a more open informal character 
at the southern edge of the parcel overlooking the 
green corridor.  There will need to be a sense of arrival 
into the new neighbourhood with swales, landscape 
and buildings forming the gateway from Jack Walker 
Way.  Buffers are to be created adjacent to the rear 
boundaries of the existing properties on Heyworth 
Avenue, Clayton Way and The Greenwood. 

Key characteristics are:

Layout and density
• Medium density (30-40dph) but with the 

opportunity for more intense development around 
the central green.

• Less dense and more open grain fronting the 
green corridor along the southern boundary of 
the area.

• Footpath links into the central green corridor.

Land use
• Residential and a central open green.
• Area of green space separating Plots B and C to 

accommodate sustainable drainage swales and 
attenuation basins.

Detail of built form
• Frontage to village green to have irregular plot 

widths with buildings forming a distinctive edge 
with occasional setbacks for variety and interest.

• Options for building clusters such as terraced 
dwellings to form distinctive groups.

• Building designs to have considered balance 
of solid to void, with vertical rhythm of window 
openings. Larger glazed features can be used 
to exploit views, provide interest and maximise 
solar gain.

• Materials to be predominantly red brick with 
accents of stone and render.

P
age 110



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

49

Figure 15 - Character Area 2

N

Existing Rear Garden 

(Properties on Campbell Close)Rear Garden

Proposed Landscape Buffer

6-8m 

Trees and 
Understorey PlantingProposed 

Development Plot B

Existing
dwelling

Play
Area

Landmark 
Building

Corner
Unit

Corner
Unit

Corner
Unit

Illustrative plan of housing overlooking central green space

Corner plots to have dual aspect houses Illustrative section of rear boundary treatment with properties on Campbell Close

Key Plan

Housing style and facing material

P
age 111



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

50

08 Design Framework

8.3  Character Area 3

Street, public open space and landscape
• Creation of a landscape buffer between the 

development and Bog Height Road.
• Roads to follow contours.
• Incidental spaces at points where panoramic 

views are available.
• Creation of informal green spaces which link into 

the green network.
• Existing stone walls along Bog Height Road to be 

integrated into the development.
• Use of hedgerows and landscape features to form 

key structural elements.
• Mainly on plot parking .
• Provide landmark buildings of interest at key 

points.
• Emphasise the point of arrival at the entrance from 

Bog Height Road with a distinct combination of 
buildings and landscape features.

Boundary treatments and enclosure
• Buildings to have varied setbacks from the street.
• In order to form attractive urban streets there is 

a need for boundaries to the front curtilage of 
individual houses which distinguish private from 
public space.

• Boundaries alongside the central green corridor 
to be hedges or reconstituted stone.

This area lies adjacent to the southern boundary along 
Bog Height Road.  It is at a higher elevation and offers 
panoramic views of the surrounding countryside.  To 
the east and west of the parcel are retained woodland.  
The outer edge of development in this area in particular 
will have a predominantly informal rural character with 
occasional landmark statements at key focal points.

Key characteristics are:

Layout and density
• Density of 25 – 35 dph.
• Informal organic character at the outer edge 

where there is an interface with open countryside.
• Footpath links into the green corridors.

Land use
• Housing with areas of open space including 

drainage ponds and swales.

Scale and Form
• Detached or semi-detached houses of two 

storeys.
• Opportunity for housing with varied footprints.
• A transitional area of landscape which connects 

the new development to the countryside margin 
of Bog Height Road.

Detail of built form
• Buildings which will front, and be visible from, Bog 

Height Road to reflect the rural Pennine vernacular 
with stone facing but with an opportunity for 
contemporary features such as glazed panels to 
maximise views.

• Dual fronted housing with high quality boundaries 
and landscape treatment of key junctions.

• Garaging to be discretely located and either 
designed as integral to buildings or located to 
form part of a boundary edge.P

age 112



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

51

Figure 16 - Character Area 3

3.5 - 4.8m Road2m3-5m 4m Verge

Footpath

On Plot
Tree Planting

Proposed 
Development 

Plot A

Proposed Tree
Planting within Public 

Open Space

Proposed Tree
Planting with 

Hedgerow and Estate 
Fencing

N

A
cc

es
s 

R
oa

d

Secondary Road

Landmark 
Building

Footpath

Corner
Unit

Corner
Unit

Illustrative section of interface with green corridor

Illustrative plan of entrance access from Bog Height Road

Use of natural stone

Key Plan

Dual aspect corner plots

P
age 113



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

52

08 Design Framework

8.4  Character Area 4

Scale and Form
• Housing mix of detached and semi- detached 

units with clusters of terraced housing to form 
strong building enclosures.  

• Minimum interface distance with properties on 
Heatherleigh Gardens of 27m and the intervening 
space subject to a form of landscape treatment 
that will reduce the potential for overlooking 
between new and existing properties.

Street, public open space and landscape
• Footpath links to the structural greenspace areas
• Emphasise the arrival point at the entrance with a 

distinct arrangement of buildings and landscape.
• Trees and structural landscape to break up the 

street scene and incidental open spaces for 
purposes such as children’s play.

• SuDS and swales to have informal landscape 
treatment with meandering footpaths and feature 
planting.

This area lies on lower ground in the south eastern 
corner of the site.  It will be accessible from a primary 
link road from Plots B and C.  The area will have a 
suburban character which takes design influences 
from existing housing along Jack Walker Way.  Buffers 
are to be created adjacent to the rear boundaries of 
the existing properties on Heatherleigh Gardens.  

Key characteristics are:

Layout and density
• Medium (30-40dph) density comprising residential 

buildings.
• Less dense and more open grain fronting the 

green corridors along the northern and western 
boundaries of the area.

• Footpath links into the central green corridor to 
the north of the parcel.

• Housing to front the greenspace along the 
western and northern boundaries.

Land use
• Housing with areas of open space including 

drainage ponds and swales.
• Graded slope accommodating a landscape buffer 

between the two plots.

Boundary treatments and enclosure
• Buildings to have varied setbacks from the street.
• In order to form attractive urban streets there is 

a need for boundaries to the front curtilage of 
individual houses which distinguish private from 
public space.

• Boundaries alongside the central green corridor 
to be hedges or reconstituted stone.

Detail of built form
• Options for building clusters such as terraced 

dwellings to form distinctive groups of buildings.
• Building designs to have considered balance 

of solid to void, with vertical rhythm of window 
openings taking references from Pennine 
vernacular architecture. Larger glazed features 
can be used to exploit views, provide interest and 
maximise solar gain.

P
age 114



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

53

Existing Rear Garden (Heatherleigh Gardens)Rear Garden

Proposed Landscape 

Buffer 6-8m 

Minimum 27m

Trees and 
Understorey Planting

Proposed 
Development Plot G

Existing
dwelling

N

Figure 17 - Character Area 4

La
nd

sc
ap

e
B

uf
fe

r

Plot F

Plot G

Illustrative section of rear boundary treatment with properties on Heatherleigh Gardens

Illustrative plan of boundary between Plots G & F

Key Plan

Houses to over look the green corridor

Illustrative plan of interface with green corridor

P
age 115



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

54

08 Design Framework

8.5  Character Area 5

Street, public open space and landscape
• Housing fronting vehicular routes and the central 

green core.
• Street edges defined by boundary walls,  

hedgerows and trees.
• Landscape buffer to eastern and northern edge 

includes SuDS drainage and an opportunity for 
recreational routes with meandering footpaths 
penetrating the landscape.

• Mainly on plot parking concealed to the side of 
dwellings.

• Minor streets to have shared surfaces of block 
paving or contrasting colours of tarmac.

• Provide landmark buildings of interest at key 
junctions, perhaps using dual aspect housing.

Boundary treatments and enclosure
• Buildings to have varied setbacks from the street.
• The entrance gateway and key junctions to be 

defined with drystone boundary walls and railings.
• Gable ends of properties on dual fronted houses 

can be used to define the edge of the street and 
create variety and interest.

• Boundaries overlooking the central green corridor 
to be hedgerows or reconstituted stone.

This area lies adjacent to the north western boundary 
along Heys Lane.  The outer edge of development 
in this area in particular will have a informal rural 
character with occasional landmark statements at 
key focal points.

Key characteristics are:

Layout and density
• Medium to low density (25-35dph).
• Medium to large plots.
• Footpath links into the central green corridor.
• High quality and distinct frontage to Heys Lane.

Land use
• Housing with incidental open spaces and green 

corridor.

Scale and Form
• Two storey detached and semi -detached houses 

in generous plots.
• Opportunity for bespoke housing design to some 

plots.
• Properties will either front onto Heys Lane or 

present a principal elevation to the greenspace 
along the southern boundary of the plot.

Detail of built form
• Areas of regular plot widths broken up with 

larger plots and dwellings forming key nodes 
and features.

• Buildings set back from street edge with 
landscaped front areas and paved drives.

• Garages to side of dwellings and parking arranged 
so as to not dominate the street.

• Orientation of buildings to front streets and 
spaces, to maximise views and work with the 
topography.

• Materials to be predominantly red brick with 
accents of stone and render.

P
age 116



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

55

Heys Lane Proposed Mounding Footpath Sustainable Drainage / Habitat Creation

Existing
Cottage

Proposed Tree
Planting within Public 

Open Space

Existing
Stone
Wall

Public 
Open Space

E
st

at
e 

Fe
nc

in
g

N

Figure 18 - Character Area 5

Fo
ot

pa
th

Illustrative section at interface with Heys Lane and greenspace

Illustrative plan of interface with green corridor

Footpath

Key Plan

Estate fencing used adjacent to the green corridor

P
age 117



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

56

The masterplan has been based around the ability to 
bring development forward in phases.  It shows four 
key phases.  These coincide with the character areas 
and take account of different land ownerships.

It is essential that there is a clear understanding of 
the infrastructure required for each phase of the 
development.  Each phase is served by a separate 
point of access to the existing road network but 
there will be a need to link phases of development to 
other road improvement works that are beyond the 
phase boundary and of more strategic significance.  
The same applies to the drainage network and to 
the areas of structural greenspace.  This is why the 
planning application requirements for plots or phases 
will need to be presented in the context of the whole 
development.  

With this in mind, the phasing plan shows the broad 
extent of the phase boundary, including those parts 
of the strategic greenspace and the network of 
pedestrian routes associated with each phase.
 
Development and new infrastructure will be provided 
progressively over time but there will be trigger points 
which require the completion of aspects of strategic 
infrastructure such as off-site road improvements.  
The schedule opposite gives an indication of the 
infrastructure requirements for each phase of 
development. There is a companion Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan which provides more detail.

9.2  Phasing of Development and           
       Infrastructure Delivery

be accompanied by a context plan and statement 
to explain how the development proposed relates 
to the other parts of the site and the contributions 
the development will make to infrastructure.  The 
contributions will be in the form of physical works 
and financial contributions and could include road 
infrastructure, off-site road improvements, drainage 
infrastructure, open space and footpaths, play 
areas and contributions to the provision of primary 
education.  The context plan and statement will 
also need to demonstrate how the impacts and 
implications on planning matters such as transport 
and traffic, drainage and strategic open space 
provision relate to projected impacts and implications 
across the site as a whole.

Under the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 
2011, the development could require Environmental 
Impact Assessment (EIA) and an Environmental 
Statement.  It is recommended that a Screening 
Opinion is submitted to the Council in advance of 
submitting planning applications to establish if EIA is 
required or not.

The development will be brought forward in phases 
over a time-frame which is up to 10 years.  As a 
consequence, it is vital that the masterplan exerts 
a strong influence over the approach to design in 
individual character areas and on the delivery of 
infrastructure to support developments.

It is anticipated that separate planning applications for 
individual phases or character areas will be submitted 
although there is the option of a two stage approach to 
planning with an outline planning permission to provide 
an overarching statutory approval for new development 
followed by a series of reserved matters applications. 
If an outline planning application is submitted then 
there will be an intermediate stage which requires 
the submission and approval of a Design Code. This 
will be secured by planning condition. Whichever 
planning route is adopted, Blackburn with Darwen 
Council would encourage pre-application discussion 
with interested parties.

All planning applications will need to be supported 
by essential information to show the design detail 
but the Design and Access Statement will assume 
a particularly important role.  It should explain the 
rationale for all design decisions and demonstrate 
how the proposed development aligns with all 
aspects of the masterplan.  Other key documents 
will include a Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage 
Strategy, a Transportation Assessment, a Land Quality 
and Remediation Statement, Ecological Surveys, a 
Landscape Strategy and an Air Quality Assessment.  

If planning applications are brought forward for 
individual plots or phases then they will need to 

09 Delivery Strategy

9.1  Planning Application Requirements

P
age 118



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

57

9.2  Phasing of Development and           
       Infrastructure Delivery

09 Delivery Strategy

Phase Key Infrastructure Requirement Delivery 

One

Access to Jack Walker Way and Heys Lane Developer   

Interim improvements Jack Walker Way (S) / A666 Bolton Road junction Developer   (S278)

Improvements at the junction of Heys Lane and Livesey Branch Road Developer   (S278)

Strategic greenspace and associated footpaths (part) and the construction of a Neighbourhood Equipped Area for Play (NEAP) Developer   

Surface water drainage network (part) Developer

Utilities connections and if needed enhancements Developer (utilities provider)

Bog Height Road/Ashwood Avenue link road BwD Council   (developer contribution)

Improvements to the junction of Jack Walker Way (S) / A666 BwD Council   (developer contribution)

Two

Access from Heys Lane Developer   (S278)

Strategic greenspace and associated footpaths (part) and the construction of a Neighbourhood Equipped Area for Play (NEAP) Developer

Jack Walker Way (N) / A666 Bolton Road junction Developer   (S278)

Surface water drainage network (part) Developer

Utilities connections and if needed enhancements Developer (utilities provider)

Bog Height Road/Ashwood Avenue link road BwD Council   (developer contribution)

Improvements to the junction of Jack Walker Way (S) / A666 BwD Council   (developer contribution)

Improvements at Heys Lane / Brokenstone Road junction Developer   (S278)

Three

Bog Height Road/Ashwood Avenue link road BwD Council   (developer contribution)

Improvements to the junction of Jack Walker Way (S) / A666 BwD Council   (developer contribution)

Access to Bog Height Road Developer   (S278)

Strategic greenspace and associated footpaths (part) Developer

Surface water drainage network (part) Developer

Utilities connections and if needed enhancements Developer (utilities provider)

Four

Access to Bog Height Road Developer   (S278)

Strategic greenspace and associated footpaths (part) Developer

Surface water drainage network (part) Developer

Utilities connections and if needed enhancements Developer (utilities provider)

Improvements to the junction of Jack Walker Way (S) / A666 BwD Council   (developer contribution)

Note:

(1) Where infrastructure delivery is to be undertaken by BwD Council there is anticipated to be a contribution from the developer through a planning obligation (S106 Agreement)

(2) For each phase it is also anticipated that there will be a contribution towards the provision of additional primary education places. This will be secured through a planning obligation (S106 Agreement)   

P
age 119



R
ep

ro
du

ce
d 

fro
m

 O
rd

na
nc

e 
S

ur
ve

y 
m

at
er

ia
l w

ith
 th

e 
pe

rm
is

si
on

 o
f t

he
 c

on
tr

ol
le

r 
of

 H
er

 M
aj

es
ty

’s
 S

ta
tio

na
ry

 O
ffi

ce
 u

nd
er

 th
e 

Li
ce

nc
e 

N
o 

18
62

87
.

Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

58

Fowler Height
Cottage

Barn-side
Cottage

Fowler Height
FarmFowler Height

House

Higher Fowler Height
Farm

Well Lower

New Row
Methodist Church

Pump
House

25

11

Well

20
14

39

47

81

72

69

34

44

52

66

68

76

84

67

57

43

55

Sub Sta10
5

99

97

87 79

77

14

28
32

50
46

11 13
9

Well

York View

1

4

Holden Fold

Well

Turners Farm

1

5

Black Bull
Inn
(PH) Well

89

88

5
4

3a
3

2a
2

1

The Hollies

Well

Green
Row

Pond

24
0

24
2

33

23

11

9

158

68

10

2

39

35

32

40

48

50

22

10

8

2

30

24

7
1

11

15

16
4

2

10

21

33

17 19

17
19

8
6

125

137 1

3

11
15

1

3

11
15

8

3l

20

2

4

17

25

2

23

Craven's
Farm

14

2

542

544

5

1

12

2

15

1

524

532

540

Garage

10

26

23

21

17

19

27

18

8

38

44

43

47

50

25

11 15

1
3

5

2

8

2
4

2

1

8

2

1

11

2

14

1

2

4

8

7

12

18

1

7

9

21

30

12

10

2

14

39

21

10

12

2

1

1

29

36

1

2

1

3

9

15

6

10

23

9

5

9

1

1

7

6

2

7

11

20

1

18

14

20

3

2

1

11

15

3

17

32

29
3526

2

14

9

1

1

7

Well

49

Well

87

Bog Height House

43

41a

72

50

17

12

2

29

Issues 31

32

22

Pond

Sinks

2

1
2

6
7

1
3

5

11
15

1

3

1

5

7

11

9

22

2420

10

8

2

4

5

9

1

3

5

9

2

4

10

16

18

11

15

25

33

13

15

12

2

4

24

2

1

5

8

49

4

20

28 1

5

12

32

11

27

15
17

3

6

39

20

1

2

10

23

11

8

1

9

15

25

63
2

63
6

63
8

64
0

1

9

4 2

St Bartholomew's
Vicarage

598

60
8

60
4

Craven's Brow

56
8

588

57
8

Old Mill Race

558

23
5

24
7

556

13
0

14
2

15
2

16
4

22
3

21
1

19
9

18
7

El

617

Sub
Sta

Garage

61
0

61
2

16

6

9
11

46

40

22 Golden
Cup Inn

9

1

27

645

190

653

Craven's Cottage

Ashleigh

Oakleigh

2
4

12

5

1

9

11 15

2
4

10
12

30

28

20

1
3

5

11
15

21

25

31

35

3
5

3

1

7

1

12
6

16

14

12

2
4

3
5

21
23

4

5

1

5
1

11

10
2

1

2

15

31

Bear Hotel

26

36

46 50

37

2a

2b

Spout House Farm

Spout House Barn

Issues

Garage

605

10
4

Well

Whalley
Terrace

Bog Bank Farm

Higher Bog Height
Farm

41

60

39

39

27

595

583

18

(PH)

13

30

1

637

14

34

Earcroft Farm House

El Sub Sta

BOG    HEIGHT    ROAD

M 6 5

BOG    HEIGHT    ROAD

HE
YS

   L
AN

E

HEY
S  

 LA
NE THE HEIGHTS

FREE SCHOOL

THE REDEEMER
CE PRIMARY

SCHOOL

BANK HEY
FARM

BOLTON   ROAD

BLACKBURN RO
AD

JACK   W
ALKER   W

AY

BANK HEY
COTTAGES

CA
D 

FI
LE

 N
AM

E:
Z:

\D
ra

wi
ng

s\1
22

5\1
22

5-
01

2 P
ha

sin
g P

lan
.dw

g

chk'd
Original paper size (A1) 841x 594mm

drn

scale @ A1

date

drawing title

© This drawing is the property of Cass Associates and the information can only be reproduced with their prior permission

client

project

purpose

Cass
associates conservation

architecture

masterplanning

planning

landscape

Studio 204B The Tea Factory
82 Wood Street
Liverpool L1 4DQ
T   +44 (0)151 7070 0110
E   all@cassassociates.co.uk
W  www.cassassociates.co.uk

1225-012Lea Hough & Co

Bank Hey, Blackburn

Phasing Plan

1:2000

18/10/2019

PS PS

Information

Reproduced from Ordnance Survey material with
the permission of the controller of Her Majesty's
Stationary Office under the Licence No 186287

DescriptionRev.

REVISIONS
Date By Chk'd

Figure 19 - Phasing Plan

N

Phase 1

Phase 4

Phase 3

Phase 2

Bog Height Road

Bog Height Road

H
ey

s 
La

ne

Jack W
alker W

ay

Ash
wood

Avenue

Hey
s L

an
e

Phase 1   - 355 Units

Phase 2   - 100 Units

Phase 3   - 40 Units

Phase 4   - 115 Units

LEGEND

P
age 120



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

59

The rate of delivery of housing will be subject to a wide 
range of factors and so, at this stage, the housing 
trajectory for the site can only be seen as indicative.  
Nevertheless, it is useful to provide an estimate of 
projected house completions over a 10 year period 
and the number of house units to be delivered in each 
phase and in each year.

9.3  Housing Trajectory

Plot
Land 
Area
(acre)

Land 
Areas 
(ha)

Units 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029

PHASE ONE
35.9 14.5 355 30 60 60 60 60 60 25

PHASE TWO
10.3 4.2 100 15 25 25 25 10

PHASE THREE
4.1 1.7 40 20 20

PHASE FOUR 11.6 4.7 115 25 30 30 30

Total 61.9 25.1 610

Estimate of units sold per year 30 60 75 85 85 85 80 50 30 30

Number of house builders on site 1 2 3 3 3 3 3 2 1 1

09 Delivery Strategy

P
age 121



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

60

The Section 106 Agreement could also be used to 
regulate and control two other important requirements 
of the development:

1. The need to establish a Management Company 
to take on responsibility for the maintenance of 
the strategic greenspace (including paths and 
equipped areas for play).

There is essential infrastructure to support the new 
housing in the form of off-site highway improvements 
and additional primary education places. Contributions 
from developers to meeting these essential 
infrastructure requirements will be secured through 
planning obligations (S106 Agreement). The essential 
infrastructure is identified in Part 9.2 of this document. 
Other planning requirements such as the delivery of 
affordable housing will be subject to viability appraisal. 
In accordance with the advice in the NPPF the viability 
appraisal will need to account for the costs of all 
requirements associated with the development, such 
as affordable housing requirements or contributions 
to improve services such as education as well as 
infrastructure improvements and the normal cost 
of development together with the need to provide a 
competitive return to a willing land owner and a willing 
developer.

Subject to any viability appraisal, it is anticipated that 
developers will make contributions to the Council 
through a Section 106 Agreement(s).  This is intended 
to reasonably mitigate the impacts arising from the 
development.  Early discussion with the Council about 
the Section 106 Agreement at the stage of preparing 
planning applications is important.  The discussion, 
in particular, will need to focus on the statutory tests 
for Section 106 obligations set out in the Planning 
Act of 2008.

9.4  Developer Contributions, Viability and  
       Planning Obligation

09 Delivery Strategy

2. The need for an effective and co-ordinated Travel 
Plan to promote the use of sustainable modes 
of travel.P
age 122



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

61

APPENDIX 1 - Development in proximity to overhead power lines  

Third-party guidance 
for working near 
National Grid Electricity 
Transmission equipment

Technical Guidance Note 287

Click here to enter

P
age 123



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

62

APPENDIX 1

Purpose and scope ...................................................................... 3

Part 1 – Electricity Transmission infrastructure .......................... 4

Overhead lines .................................................................................................. 4

Underground cables ......................................................................................... 4

Substations ...................................................................................................... 4

Part 2 – Statutory requirements for working near 
high-voltage electricity ................................................................ 4

Electrical safety clearances ............................................................................... 4

 

Part 3 – What National Grid will do for you and  
your development ........................................................................ 5

Provision of information .................................................................................... 5

Risks or hazards to be aware of ........................................................................ 6

Specific development guidance ...................................................................... 10

Asset protection agreements .......................................................................... 12

Contact details ............................................................................................... 12

02

Disclaimer
National Grid Gas Transmission and National Grid Electricity Transmission or their agents, servants or contractors do not accept any liability for any losses arising under 
or in connection with this information. This limit on liability applies to all and any claims in contract, tort (including negligence), misrepresentation (excluding fraudulent 
misrepresentation), breach of statutory duty or otherwise. This limit on liability does not exclude or restrict liability where prohibited by the law, nor does it supersede the 
express terms of any related agreements.

P
age 124



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

63

Purpose and scope

The purpose of this document is to give 
guidance and information to third parties 
who are proposing, scheduling or designing 
developments close to National Grid Electricity 
Transmission assets.

The scope of the report covers information on 
basic safety and the location of our assets – 
and also highlights key issues around particular 
types of development and risk areas.

In the case of electrical assets, National Grid 
does not authorise or agree safe systems 
of work with developers and contractors. 
However, we will advise on issues such as 
electrical safety clearances and the location 
of towers and cables. We also work with 
developers to minimise the impact of any 
National Grid assets that are nearby.

03

How to identify specific National Grid sites

Substations 
The name of the 
substation and 
the emergency 
contact number 
will be on the site 
sign. 

Overhead lines
The reference  
number of the  
tower and the 
emergency contact 
number will be on  
this type of sign. 

Contact National Grid
Plant protection
For routine enquiries regarding planned, 
scheduled or emergency works, contact  
the Plant Protection team online, by email,  
post or phone.

www.beforeyoudig.nationalgrid.com 

Email: plantprotection@nationalgrid.com 

Phone: 0800 688 588

Write to:
National Grid Plant Protection
Brick Kiln Street
Hinckley
Leicestershire
LE10 0NA

Consider safety
Consider the hazards identified in 
this document when working near 
electrical equipment

Emergencies
In the event of occurrences 
such as a cable strike, coming 
into contact with an overhead 
line conductor or identifying any 
hazards or problems with  
National Grid’s equipment,  
phone our emergency number 
0800 404 090 (option 1).

If you have apparatus within 
30m of a National Grid asset, 
please ensure that the emergency 
number is included in your site’s 
emergency procedures.

Penwortham
Substation

No entry without authority

In an emergency telephone
0800 404090

Danger 400,000 volts

NATIONAL GRID

0800 404090

ZU 1A

APPENDIX 1

P
age 125



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

64

The legal framework that regulates 
electrical safety in the UK is The 
Electricity Safety, Quality and Continuity 
Regulations (ESQCR) 2002. This also 
details the minimum electrical safety 
clearances, which are used as a basis 
for the Energy Networks Association 
(ENA) TS 43-8. These standards have 
been agreed by CENELEC (European 
Committee for Electrotechnical 
Standardisation) and also form part of the 
British Standard BS EN 50341-1:2012 
Overhead Electrical Lines exceeding AC 
1kV. All electricity companies are bound 
by these rules, standards and technical 
specifications. They are required to 
uphold them by their operator’s licence.

Electrical safety clearances
It is essential that a safe distance is kept 
between the exposed conductors and 
people and objects when working near 
National Grid’s electrical assets. A person 
does not have to touch an exposed 
conductor to get a life-threatening 

electric shock. At the voltages National 
Grid operates at, it is possible for 
electricity to jump up to several metres 
from an exposed conductor and kill or 
cause serious injury to anyone who is 
nearby. For this reason, there are several 
legal requirements and safety standards 
that must be met.

Any breach of legal safety clearances 
will be enforced in the courts. This can 
– and has – resulted in the removal of 
an infringement, which is normally at 
the cost of the developer or whoever 
caused it to be there. Breaching safety 
clearances, even temporarily, risks a 
serious incident that could cause serious 
injury or death.

National Grid will, on request, advise 
planning authorities, developers or 
third parties on any safety clearances 
and associated issues. We can supply 
detailed drawings of all our overhead  
line assets marked up with relevant  
safe areas.

Part 1
Electricity transmission  
infrastructure

National Grid owns and maintains the  
high-voltage electricity transmission network 
in England and Wales (Scotland has its own 
networks). It’s responsible for balancing supply 
with demand on a minute-by-minute basis 
across the network.

Overhead lines 
Overhead lines consist of two main parts – 
pylons (also called towers) and conductors 
(or wires). Pylons are typically steel lattice 
structures mounted on concrete foundations. 
A pylon’s design can vary due to factors such 
as voltage, conductor type and the strength of 
structure required.

Conductors, which are the ‘live’ part of the 
overhead line, hang from pylons on insulators.
Conductors come in several different designs 
depending on the amount of power that is 
transmitted on the circuit.

In most cases, National Grid’s overhead lines 
operate at 275kV or 400kV.

Underground cables
Underground cables are a growing feature 
of National Grid’s network. They consist of 
a conducting core surrounded by layers of 
insulation and armour. Cables can be laid in 
the road, across open land or in tunnels. They 
operate at a range of voltages, up to 400kV.

Substations
Substations are found at points on the 
network where circuits come together or 
where a rise or fall in voltage is required. 
Transmission substations tend to be large 
facilities containing equipment such as power 
transformers, circuit breakers, reactors and 
capacitors. Diesel generators and compressed 
air systems are also found there.

Part 2
Statutory requirements for working  
near high-voltage electricity

04

APPENDIX 1

P
age 126



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

65

Part 3
What National Grid will do for 
you and your development

Drawings
National Grid will provide relevant drawings 
of overhead lines or underground cables to 
make sure the presence and location of our 
services are known. Once a third party or 
developer has contacted us, we will supply 
the drawings for free.

Risk or impact identification
National Grid can help identify any hazards 
or risks that the presence of our assets might 
bring to any works or developments.  
This includes both the risk to safety from  
high-voltage electricity and longer-term 
issues, such as induced currents, noise and 
maintenance access that may affect the 
outcome of the development. National Grid 
will not authorise specific working procedures, 
but we can provide advice on best practice.400kV

The maximum nominal voltage  
 of the underground cables in  
National Grid’s network

05

Provision of information
National Grid should be notified well in advance of any works 
or developments taking place near our electrical assets. We 
can then provide the following services:

APPENDIX 1

P
age 127



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

66

Electrical clearance 
from overhead lines
The clearance distances referred to in this section are 
specific to 400kV overhead lines. National Grid can advise 
on the distances required around different voltages i.e. 
132kV and 275kV.

As we explained earlier, Electrical Networks 
Association TS 43-8 details the legal clearances 
to our overhead lines.The minimum clearance 
between the conductors of an overhead line and 
the ground is 7.3m at maximum sag. The sag is 
the vertical distance between the wire’s highest 
and lowest point. Certain conditions, such as 
power flow, wind speed and air temperature 
can cause conductors to move and allowances 
should be made for this.

The required clearance from the point where a 
person can stand to the conductors is 5.3m. 
To be clear, this means there should be at least 
5.3m from where someone could stand on any 
structure (i.e. mobile and construction equipment) 
to the conductors. Available clearances will be 
assessed by National Grid on an individual basis.

National Grid expects third parties to implement 
a safe system of work whenever they are near 

overhead lines. We recommend that guidance 
such as HSE Guidance Note GS6 (Avoiding 
Danger from Overhead Power Lines) is followed, 
which provides advice on how to avoid danger 
from all overhead lines, at all voltages. If you 
are carrying out work near overhead lines you 
must contact National Grid, who will provide the 
relevant profile drawings.

7.3m
The required minimum clearance 
between the conductors of an overhead 
line, at maximum sag, and the ground

There should be at least 5.3m between the conductors and any structure someone could stand on

45o 45o

Maximum 
swing

Length of suspension 
insulator

Sag of conductor  
at crossing position at 
maximum conductor 
temperature Allowable minimum 

clearance

Building

Fence or wall

Structure

06

Risks or hazards to be aware of
This section includes a brief description of some of the hazards 
and issues that a third party or developer might face when 
working or developing close to our electrical infrastructure.

Land and access
National Grid has land rights in place with 
landowners and occupiers, which cover our 
existing overhead lines and underground cable 
network. These agreements, together with 
legislation set out under the Electricity Act 1989, 
allow us to access our assets to maintain, repair 
and renew them. The agreements also lay down 
restrictions and covenants to protect the integrity 
of our assets and meet safety regulations. Anyone 
proposing a development close to our assets 
should carefully examine these agreements.

Our agreements often affect land both inside 
and outside the immediate vicinity of an asset. 
Rights will include the provision of access, along 
with restrictions that ban the development of land 
through building, changing levels, planting and 
other operations. Anyone looking to develop close 
to our assets must consult with National Grid first.

For further information,  
contact Plant Protection:

Email: plantprotection@nationalgrid.com
Phone: 0800 688 588

Diagram not to scale

Section continues on next page »

APPENDIX 1

P
age 128



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

67

Impressed voltage
Any conducting materials installed near 
high-voltage equipment could be raised to 
an elevated voltage compared to the local 
earth, even when there is no direct contact 
with the high-voltage equipment. These 
impressed voltages are caused by inductive 
or capacitive coupling between the  
high-voltage equipment and nearby 
conducting materials and can occur at 
distances of several metres away from the 

07

Underground cables
Underground cables operating at up 
to 400kV are a significant part of the 
National Grid Electricity Transmission 
network. When your works will involve any 
ground disturbance it is expected that a 
safe system of work is put in place and 
that you follow guidance such as HSG 
47 (Avoiding Danger from Underground 
Services).

You must contact National Grid to find 
out if there are any underground cables 
near your proposed works. If there 
are, we will provide cable profiles and 
location drawings and, if required, on-site 
supervision of the works. Cables can be 
laid under roads or across industrial or 
agricultural land. They can even be layed 
in canal towpaths and other areas that 
you would not expect.

Cables crossing any National Grid  
high-voltage (HV) cables directly buried 
in the ground are required to maintain 
a minimum seperation that will be 
determined by National Grid on a case-
by-case basis. National Grid will need to 
do a rating study on the existing cable to 
work out if there are any adverse effects 
on either cable rating. We will only allow 
a cable to cross such an area once we 
know the results of the re-rating. As a 
result, the clearance distance may need 
to be increased or alternative methods of 
crossing found.

For other cables and services crossing 
the path of our HV cables, National Grid 
will need confirmation that published 
standards and clearances are met.

Section continues on 
next page »The undergrounding of electricity cables at Ross-on-Wye

equipment. Impressed voltages may damage 
your equipment and could potentially injure 
people and animals, depending on their 
severity. Third parties should take impressed 
voltages into account during the early stages 
and initial design of any development, 
ensuring that all structures and equipment are 
adequately earthed at all times.

« Section continued from previous page

APPENDIX 1

P
age 129



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

68

08

Earth potential rise
Under certain system fault conditions – and 
during lightning storms – a rise in the earth 
potential from the base of an overhead line 
tower or substation is possible. This is a rare 
phenomenon that occurs when large amounts 
of electricity enter the earth. This can pose a 
serious hazard to people or equipment that are 
close by.

We advise that developments and works are not 
carried out close to our tower bases, particularly 
during lightning storms.

Noise
Noise is a by-product of National Grid’s 
operations and is carefully assessed during 
the planning and construction of any of our 
equipment. Developers should consider 
the noise emitted from National Grid’s 
sites or overhead lines when planning any 
developments, particularly housing. Low-
frequency hum from substations can, in some 
circumstances, be heard up to 1km or more 
from the site, so it is essential that developers 
find adequate solutions for this in their design. 
Further information about likely noise levels can 
be provided by National Grid.

«  Section continued from 
previous page

Section continues on 
next page »

Maintenance access
National Grid needs to have safe access 
for vehicles around its assets and work 
that restricts this will not be allowed.  
In terms of our overhead lines, we 
wouldn’t want to see any excavations 
made, or permanent structures built, 
that might affect the foundations of our 
towers. The size of the foundations 
around a tower base depends on the 
type of tower that is built there. If you 
wish to carry out works within 30m of 
the tower base, contact National Grid 
for more information. Our business 
has to maintain access routes to tower 
bases with land owners. For that 
reason, a route wide enough for an 
HGV must be permanently available. We 
may need to access our sites, towers, 
conductors and underground cables at 
short notice.

30m
If you wish to carry out work 
within this distance of the tower 
base, you must contact National 
Grid for more information

APPENDIX 1

P
age 130



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

69

09

Fires and firefighting
National Grid does not recommend that any  
type of flammable material is stored under 
overhead lines. Developers should be aware that 
in certain cases the local fire authority will not 
use water hoses to put out a fire if there are live, 
high-voltage conductors within 30m of the seat 
of the fire (as outlined in ENA TS 43-8).

In these situations, National Grid would have to 
be notified and reconfigure the system – to allow 
staff to switch out the overhead line – before 
any firefighting could take place. This could take 
several hours.

We recommend that any site which has a 
specific hazard relating to fire or flammable 
material should include National Grid’s 
emergency contact details (found at the 
beginning and end of this document) in its  
fire plan information, so any incidents can  
be reported. 

Developers should also make sure their 
insurance cover takes into account the challenge 
of putting out fires near our overhead lines.

Excavations, piling or tunnelling
You must inform National Grid of any works that 
have the potential to disturb the foundations 
of our substations or overhead line towers. 
This will have to be assessed by National Grid 
engineers before any work begins.

BS ISO 4866:2010 states that a minimum 
distance of 200m should be maintained when 
carrying out quarry blasting near our assets. 
However, this can be reduced with specific 
site surveys and changes to the maximum 
instantaneous charge (the amount  
of explosive detonated at a particular time).

All activities should observe guidance layed 
out in BS 5228-2:2009.

«  Section continued from 
previous page

Microshocks
High-voltage overhead power lines produce 
an electric field. Any person or object inside 
this field that isn’t earthed picks up an 
electrical charge. When two conducting 
objects – one that is grounded and one 
that isn’t – touch, the charge can equalise 
and cause a small shock, known as a 
microshock. While they are not harmful, they 
can be disturbing for the person or animal 
that suffers the shock.

 

For these reasons, metal-framed and  
metal-clad buildings which are close to 
existing overhead lines should be earthed to 
minimise the risk of microshocks. Anything 
that isn’t earthed, is conductive and sits close 
to the lines is likely to pick up a charge. Items 
such as deer fences, metal palisade fencing, 
chain-link fences and metal gates underneath 
overhead lines all need to be earthed.

For further information on microshocks please 
visit www.emfs.info.

200m 
The minimum distance that 
should be maintained from 
National Grid assets when 
quarry blasting  

APPENDIX 1

P
age 131



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

70

The distance between the centre of the 
overhead line and base of the turbine 
needs to be the greater of:

 • the height of the turbine, plus 10% 
of that height again  

 • or, three times the diameter of the 
turbine rotor.

Specific development guidance

10

Wind farms
National Grid’s policy towards wind farm 
development is closely connected to the 
Electricity Networks Association Engineering 
Recommendation L44 Separation between 
Wind Turbines and Overhead Lines, Principles 
of Good Practice. The advice is based on 
national guidelines and global research. It may 
be adjusted to suit specific local applications.

There are two main criteria in the document:

(i) The turbine shall be far enough away to 
avoid the possibility of toppling onto the 
overhead line

(ii) The turbine shall be far enough away to 
avoid damage to the overhead line from 
downward wake effects, also known as 
turbulence

The toppling distance is the minimum horizontal 
distance between the worst-case pivot point of 
the wind turbine and the conductors hanging in 
still air. It is the greater of:

 •  the tip height of the turbine plus 10%
 •  or, the tip height of the turbine plus the 

electrical safety distance that applies to the 
voltage of the overhead line.

Diagram not to scale

Section continues on 
next page »

To minimise the downward wake effect on  
an overhead line, the wind turbine should be 
three times the rotor distance away from the 
centre of the overhead line.

Wake effects can prematurely age conductors 
and fittings, significantly reducing the life of the 
asset. For that reason, careful consideration 
should be taken if a wind turbine needs to be 
sited within the above limits. Agreement from 
National Grid will be required.

Commercial and housing 
developments
National Grid has developed a document 
called A Sense of Place, which gives advice 
to anyone involved in planning or designing 
large-scale developments that are crossed by, 
or close to, overhead lines.

The document focuses on existing 275kV and 
400kV overhead lines on steel lattice towers, 
but can equally apply to 132kV and below. The 
document explains how to design large-scale 
developments close to high-voltage lines, while 
respecting clearances and the development’s 
visual and environmental impact.

Turbines should be far enough away to avoid the possibility of toppling onto the overhead line

APPENDIX 1

P
age 132



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

71

The advice is intended for developers, 
designers, landowners, local authorities 
and communities, but is not limited to those 
organisations.

Overall, developers should be aware of all the 
hazards and issues relating to the electrical 
equipment that we have discussed when 
designing new housing.

As we explored earlier, National Grid’s assets 
have the potential to create noise. This can be 
low frequency and tonal, which makes it quite 
noticeable. It is the responsibility of developers 
to take this into account during the design 
stage and find an appropriate solution.

Solar farms
Development of solar farms is a relatively 
new phenomenon. While there is limited 
research and recommendations available, 
there are several key factors to consider when 
designing them.

Developers may be looking to build on 
arable land close to National Grid’s assets. In 
keeping with the safety clearance limits that 
we outlined earlier for solar panels directly 
underneath overhead line conductors, the 
highest point on the solar panels must be no 
more than 5.3m from the lowest conductors.

11

«  Section continued from 
previous page

This means that the maximum height of any 
structure will need to be determined to make 
sure safety clearance limits aren’t breached. 
This could be as low as 2m. National Grid will 
supply profile drawings to aid the planning 
of solar farms and determine the maximum 
height of panels and equipment.

Solar panels that are directly underneath 
power lines risk being damaged on the rare 
occasion that a conductor or fitting falls to the 
ground. A more likely risk is ice falling from 
conductors or towers in winter and damaging 
solar panels.

There is also a risk of damage during adverse 
weather conditions, such as lightning storms, 
and system faults. As all our towers are 
earthed, a weather event such as lightning 
can cause a rise in the earth potential around 
the base of a tower. Solar panel support 
structures and supply cables should be 
adequately earthed and bonded together to 
minimise the effects of this temporary rise in 
earth potential.

Any metallic fencing that is located under  
an overhead line will pick up an electrical 
charge. For this reason, it will need to be 
adequately earthed to minimise microshocks 
to the public.

For normal, routine maintenance and in an 
emergency National Grid requires unrestricted 
access to its assets. So if a tower is 
enclosed in a solar farm compound, we will 

need full access for our vehicles, including 
access through any compound gates. During 
maintenance – and especially re-conductoring 
– National Grid would need enough space 
near our towers for winches and cable drums. 
If enough space is not available, we would 
require solar panels to be temporarily removed.

HGV access corridor

HGV width

Underground 
cables under 
or near 
overhead lines 
may be subject 
to impressed 
voltage 

The highest point 
on the solar panels 
must be no more 
than 5.3m from the 
lowest conductorsMaintenance 

work area

Tower

There are several factors to 
consider when positioning 
solar farms near National 

Grid assets

Diagram not to scale

N
o 

he
ig

ht
 r

es
tr

ic
tio

ns

APPENDIX 1

P
age 133



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

72

12

Asset protection agreements

Copyright © National Grid plc 
2016, all rights reserved
All copyright and other intellectual 
property rights arising in any information 
contained within this document are, 
unless otherwise stated, owned by 
National Grid plc or other companies in 
the National Grid group of companies.

Contact details

Routine enquiries
Email: 
plantprotection@nationalgrid.com  
(you will be sent an automated  
response to confirm receipt)

Call Plant Protection for free on:  
0800 688 588

Opening hours: 
Monday to Friday 08:00-16:30

Write to:
National Grid Plant Protection,
Brick Kiln Street,
Hinckley,
Leicestershire
LE10 0NA

In some cases, where there is a risk that development will impact on National Grid’s 
assets, we will insist on an asset protection agreement being put in place. The cost of 
this will be the responsibility of the developer or third party.

Emergency situations
If you spot a potential hazard on or near an overhead 
electricity line, do not approach it, even at ground level.  
Keep as far away as possible and follow the six steps 
below:
•  Warn anyone close by to evacuate the area
•  Call our 24-hour electricity emergency number:  

0800 404 090 (Option 1)1

•  Give your name and contact phone number
•  Explain the nature of the issue or hazard
•  Give as much information as possible so we can identify 

the location – i.e. the name of the town or village, 
numbers of nearby roads, postcode and (ONLY if it can 
be observed without putting you or others in danger) the 
tower number of an adjacent pylon

•  Await further contact from a National Grid engineer

1 It is critically important that you don’t use this phone number  

for any other purpose. If you need to contact National Grid for 

another reason please use our Contact Centre at  

www2.nationalgrid.com/contact-us to find the appropriate 

information or call 01926 653 000.  

APPENDIX 1

P
age 134



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

73

PLS-CADD Drawing

42800 42900 43000 43100

140

150

160

170

180

190

200

210

220

230

240

250

140

150

160

170

180

190

200

210

220

230

240

250
X=367671.98
Y=424970.02
ZQ130
L2 D60 E12'

X=367239.43
Y=424882.62
ZQ131
L2 D E16'

441

5.3m

7.6m

Max Swing + 5.3m

Max Swing + 5.3m

PI 42709.36
-38°21'44"

PI 43150.65
-0°08'50"

ZQ130 ZQ131

National Grid plc owns the Copyright of this Document. It may not be reproduced or transmitted in any form or for any purpose, without the express written permission of National Grid plc

FI
R

ST
 IS

SU
E

100 200 300

National Grid plc                     UK Transmission

SCALE:- NGT Project No

NGT Drawing Number

Originator Drawing Number

Site

No. of SheetsSheet No.
ISSUE

A0
CAD

0

APPROVED

CHECKED

DRAWN

ISSUE

Title

Warwick Technology Park, Gallows Hill, Warwick, CV34 6DA

Item Description of Clearance

1 To Ground 7.6

2 8.1To Normal Road Surface

3 9.2

Minimum Clearance
(metre) at 400kV

To road surface of designated
"6.1 metres high load" routes

4 10.5To motorway or other road surface
where "skycradle" can be used

5 To motorway road surface where
sca�olding is to be used on:
(i) Normal 3 lane motorways
(ii) Elevated 2 lane motorways

6 To any object/building on which a
person may stand. Including ladders,
access platform, etc.

7 To any object to which access is not
required AND on which a person cannot
stand or lean a ladder

8 To trees under or adjacent to line and:
(i) Unable to support ladder/climber
(ii) Capable of supporting ladder/climber
(iii) Trees falling towards line with line
conductors hanging vertically only

9 To trees in orchards and hop gardens

10 To irrigators, slurry guns and high
pressure hoses

11 To street lighting standards with:
(i) Standard in normal upright position
(ii) Standard falling towards line with line
conductors hanging vertically only
(iii) Standard falling towards line

16.3
13.3

5.3

3.1

3.1
5.3
3.1

5.3

30.0

4.0
4.0
1.9

Safety clearance zone of 7.6m 

Safety clearance zone of 5.3m

Conductor Height
Max.
Swing

7.6 m

5.3 m

45

Insulator
Length

+
Conductor

Sag

Swing Clearances:
The conductors may swing (blow-out) to a 

maximum of 45 Degrees during very strong 
winds, clearances need to be maintained 

for this situation. 

National Grid Overhead Line Pro�les

Pro�le Description: 
This pro�le is derived from the use of LiDAR data 

and shows the position and status of the power line 
at the time of survey. Please note that ground 

levels may have changed since the survey date. 

As the amount of power increases in the lines the 
conductors heat up and become longer, creating 

greater sag. A computer model has been applied to 
show the conductor at the maximum rated temperature. 

Please note that on an average day the conductors 
may not be at rated temperature and their height 

above ground is likely to change. 

The pro�le states the lines current voltage. Any 
construction under the lines should allow for the 

likely possibility of upgrading of the line from 
132kV to 275kV or 275kV to 400kV. Any permanent 
structures should adhere to the increased clearances

. 

It remains the responsibility of the third party to 
ensure the safety clearances are met by their 

proposed operations by using the bottom conductor 
attachment points as reference benchmarks. 

Drawing Key: 
The following clearances are derived from the Energy 

Networks Association  Technical Speci�cation 43-8.

A
01/03/12

A
s 

S
u

rv
e

y
e

d

112

ZQ001-186A_26711_26911_B

Towers ZQ130 to ZQ131

AK
KM ZQ Daines – Bank Hey, Blackburn

 

165

02/03/12

Survey Date: 24/09/11, 26/09/11

Left - A252,A253,A255   
Right - A252,A256,A254,A26C,A224

C

Clearance at 400KV Displayed

28_NG_0278_1

B
JB
AS

25/04/12

25/04/12

S
it

e
 s

p
e

ci
�

c
to

w
e

r 
w

it
h

 S
T

S
a

p
p

li
e

d
 a

t 
Z

Q
0

0
3 C

JB
NH

20/08/12

20/08/12

G
ra

p
h

ic
a

lly
 s

a
g

g
e

d
to

 r
e

�
e

ct
 w

o
rk

s.
T

o
w

e
r 

la
b

e
ls

 c
o

rr
e

ct
e

d

 ZQ130 - ZQ137, 400kV, 500mm² AAAC - Rubus (L), bundle of 2, Displayed Rated Temp 90 Creep FE

 ZQ130 - ZQ137, 400kV, 500mm² AAAC - Rubus (L), bundle of 2, Displayed Rated Temp 90 Creep FE

 ZQ130 - ZQ137, 400kV, 500mm² AAAC - Rubus (L), bundle of 2, Displayed Rated Temp 90 Creep FE

 ZQ130 - ZQ137, 400kV, 500mm² AAAC - Rubus (L), bundle of 2, Displayed Rated Temp 90 Creep FE

 ZQ130 - ZQ137, 400kV, 500mm² AAAC - Rubus (L), bundle of 2, Displayed Rated Temp 90 Creep FE

 ZQ130 - ZQ137, 400kV, 500mm² AAAC - Rubus (L), bundle of 2, Displayed Rated Temp 90 Creep FE

Vert. Scale

Horiz. Scale

2.5 m

6.0 m

N

APPENDIX 1

P
age 135



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

74

PLS-CADD Drawing

43200 43300 43400

180

190

200

210

220

230

240

250

260

270

280

290

180

190

200

210

220

230

240

250

260

270

280

290
X=367239.43
Y=424882.62
ZQ131
L2 D E16'

X=366937.97
Y=424820.91
ZQ132
L2 D STD

308

5.3m

7.6m

Max Swing + 5.3m

Max Swing + 5.3m

PI 43150.65
-0°08'50"

PI 43458.36
-0°00'12"

ZQ131 ZQ132

National Grid plc owns the Copyright of this Document. It may not be reproduced or transmitted in any form or for any purpose, without the express written permission of National Grid plc

FI
R

ST
 IS

SU
E

100 200 300

National Grid plc                     UK Transmission

SCALE:- NGT Project No

NGT Drawing Number

Originator Drawing Number

Site

No. of SheetsSheet No.
ISSUE

A0
CAD

0

APPROVED

CHECKED

DRAWN

ISSUE

Title

Warwick Technology Park, Gallows Hill, Warwick, CV34 6DA

Item Description of Clearance

1 To Ground 7.6

2 8.1To Normal Road Surface

3 9.2

Minimum Clearance
(metre) at 400kV

To road surface of designated
"6.1 metres high load" routes

4 10.5To motorway or other road surface
where "skycradle" can be used

5 To motorway road surface where
sca�olding is to be used on:
(i) Normal 3 lane motorways
(ii) Elevated 2 lane motorways

6 To any object/building on which a
person may stand. Including ladders,
access platform, etc.

7 To any object to which access is not
required AND on which a person cannot
stand or lean a ladder

8 To trees under or adjacent to line and:
(i) Unable to support ladder/climber
(ii) Capable of supporting ladder/climber
(iii) Trees falling towards line with line
conductors hanging vertically only

9 To trees in orchards and hop gardens

10 To irrigators, slurry guns and high
pressure hoses

11 To street lighting standards with:
(i) Standard in normal upright position
(ii) Standard falling towards line with line
conductors hanging vertically only
(iii) Standard falling towards line

16.3
13.3

5.3

3.1

3.1
5.3
3.1

5.3

30.0

4.0
4.0
1.9

Safety clearance zone of 7.6m 

Safety clearance zone of 5.3m

Conductor Height
Max.
Swing

7.6 m

5.3 m

45

Insulator
Length

+
Conductor

Sag

Swing Clearances:
The conductors may swing (blow-out) to a 

maximum of 45 Degrees during very strong 
winds, clearances need to be maintained 

for this situation. 

National Grid Overhead Line Pro�les

Pro�le Description: 
This pro�le is derived from the use of LiDAR data 

and shows the position and status of the power line 
at the time of survey. Please note that ground 

levels may have changed since the survey date. 

As the amount of power increases in the lines the 
conductors heat up and become longer, creating 

greater sag. A computer model has been applied to 
show the conductor at the maximum rated temperature. 

Please note that on an average day the conductors 
may not be at rated temperature and their height 

above ground is likely to change. 

The pro�le states the lines current voltage. Any 
construction under the lines should allow for the 

likely possibility of upgrading of the line from 
132kV to 275kV or 275kV to 400kV. Any permanent 
structures should adhere to the increased clearances

. 

It remains the responsibility of the third party to 
ensure the safety clearances are met by their 

proposed operations by using the bottom conductor 
attachment points as reference benchmarks. 

Drawing Key: 
The following clearances are derived from the Energy 

Networks Association  Technical Speci�cation 43-8.

A
01/03/12

A
s 

S
u

rv
e

y
e

d

113

ZQ001-186A_26711_26911_B

Towers ZQ131 to ZQ132

AK
KM ZQ Daines – Bank Hey, Blackburn

 

165

02/03/12

Survey Date: 24/09/11, 26/09/11

Left - A252,A253,A255   
Right - A252,A256,A254,A26C,A224

C

Clearance at 400KV Displayed

28_NG_0278_1

B
JB
AS

25/04/12

25/04/12

S
it

e
 s

p
e

ci
�

c
to

w
e

r 
w

it
h

 S
T

S
a

p
p

li
e

d
 a

t 
Z

Q
0

0
3 C

JB
NH

20/08/12

20/08/12

G
ra

p
h

ic
a

lly
 s

a
g

g
e

d
to

 r
e

�
e

ct
 w

o
rk

s.
T

o
w

e
r 

la
b

e
ls

 c
o

rr
e

ct
e

d

 ZQ130 - ZQ137, 400kV, 500mm² AAAC - Rubus (L), bundle of 2, Displayed Rated Temp 90 Creep FE

 ZQ130 - ZQ137, 400kV, 500mm² AAAC - Rubus (L), bundle of 2, Displayed Rated Temp 90 Creep FE

 ZQ130 - ZQ137, 400kV, 500mm² AAAC - Rubus (L), bundle of 2, Displayed Rated Temp 90 Creep FE

 ZQ130 - ZQ137, 400kV, 500mm² AAAC - Rubus (L), bundle of 2, Displayed Rated Temp 90 Creep FE

 ZQ130 - ZQ137, 400kV, 500mm² AAAC - Rubus (L), bundle of 2, Displayed Rated Temp 90 Creep FE

 ZQ130 - ZQ137, 400kV, 500mm² AAAC - Rubus (L), bundle of 2, Displayed Rated Temp 90 Creep FE

Vert. Scale

Horiz. Scale

2.5 m

6.0 m

N

APPENDIX 1

P
age 136



Masterplan for Bank Hey Development Site

75

PLS-CADD Drawing

43500 43600 43700 43800

190

200

210

220

230

240

250

260

270

280

290

300

190

200

210

220

230

240

250

260

270

280

290

300
X=366937.97
Y=424820.91
ZQ132
L2 D STD

X=366539.27
Y=424739.26
ZQ133
L2 D E8'

407

5.3m

7.6m

Max Swing + 5.3m

Max Swing + 5.3m

PI 43458.36
-0°00'12"

PI 43865.34
0°00'07"

ZQ132 ZQ133

National Grid plc owns the Copyright of this Document. It may not be reproduced or transmitted in any form or for any purpose, without the express written permission of National Grid plc

FI
R

ST
 IS

SU
E

100 200 300

National Grid plc                     UK Transmission

SCALE:- NGT Project No

NGT Drawing Number

Originator Drawing Number

Site

No. of SheetsSheet No.
ISSUE

A0
CAD

0

APPROVED

CHECKED

DRAWN

ISSUE

Title

Warwick Technology Park, Gallows Hill, Warwick, CV34 6DA

Item Description of Clearance

1 To Ground 7.6

2 8.1To Normal Road Surface

3 9.2

Minimum Clearance
(metre) at 400kV

To road surface of designated
"6.1 metres high load" routes

4 10.5To motorway or other road surface
where "skycradle" can be used

5 To motorway road surface where
sca�olding is to be used on:
(i) Normal 3 lane motorways
(ii) Elevated 2 lane motorways

6 To any object/building on which a
person may stand. Including ladders,
access platform, etc.

7 To any object to which access is not
required AND on which a person cannot
stand or lean a ladder

8 To trees under or adjacent to line and:
(i) Unable to support ladder/climber
(ii) Capable of supporting ladder/climber
(iii) Trees falling towards line with line
conductors hanging vertically only

9 To trees in orchards and hop gardens

10 To irrigators, slurry guns and high
pressure hoses

11 To street lighting standards with:
(i) Standard in normal upright position
(ii) Standard falling towards line with line
conductors hanging vertically only
(iii) Standard falling towards line

16.3
13.3

5.3

3.1

3.1
5.3
3.1

5.3

30.0

4.0
4.0
1.9

Safety clearance zone of 7.6m 

Safety clearance zone of 5.3m

Conductor Height
Max.
Swing

7.6 m

5.3 m

45

Insulator
Length

+
Conductor

Sag

Swing Clearances:
The conductors may swing (blow-out) to a 

maximum of 45 Degrees during very strong 
winds, clearances need to be maintained 

for this situation. 

National Grid Overhead Line Pro�les

Pro�le Description: 
This pro�le is derived from the use of LiDAR data 

and shows the position and status of the power line 
at the time of survey. Please note that ground 

levels may have changed since the survey date. 

As the amount of power increases in the lines the 
conductors heat up and become longer, creating 

greater sag. A computer model has been applied to 
show the conductor at the maximum rated temperature. 

Please note that on an average day the conductors 
may not be at rated temperature and their height 

above ground is likely to change. 

The pro�le states the lines current voltage. Any 
construction under the lines should allow for the 

likely possibility of upgrading of the line from 
132kV to 275kV or 275kV to 400kV. Any permanent 
structures should adhere to the increased clearances

. 

It remains the responsibility of the third party to 
ensure the safety clearances are met by their 

proposed operations by using the bottom conductor 
attachment points as reference benchmarks. 

Drawing Key: 
The following clearances are derived from the Energy 

Networks Association  Technical Speci�cation 43-8.

A
01/03/12

A
s 

S
u

rv
e

y
e

d

114

ZQ001-186A_26711_26911_B

Towers ZQ132 to ZQ133

AK
KM ZQ Daines – Bank Hey, Blackburn

 

165

02/03/12

Survey Date: 24/09/11, 26/09/11

Left - A252,A253,A255   
Right - A252,A256,A254,A26C,A224

C

Clearance at 400KV Displayed

28_NG_0278_1

B
JB
AS

25/04/12

25/04/12

S
it

e
 s

p
e

ci
�

c
to

w
e

r 
w

it
h

 S
T

S
a

p
p

li
e

d
 a

t 
Z

Q
0

0
3 C

JB
NH

20/08/12

20/08/12

G
ra

p
h

ic
a

lly
 s

a
g

g
e

d
to

 r
e

�
e

ct
 w

o
rk

s.
T

o
w

e
r 

la
b

e
ls

 c
o

rr
e

ct
e

d

 ZQ130 - ZQ137, 400kV, 500mm² AAAC - Rubus (L), bundle of 2, Displayed Rated Temp 90 Creep FE

 ZQ130 - ZQ137, 400kV, 500mm² AAAC - Rubus (L), bundle of 2, Displayed Rated Temp 90 Creep FE

 ZQ130 - ZQ137, 400kV, 500mm² AAAC - Rubus (L), bundle of 2, Displayed Rated Temp 90 Creep FE

 ZQ130 - ZQ137, 400kV, 500mm² AAAC - Rubus (L), bundle of 2, Displayed Rated Temp 90 Creep FE

 ZQ130 - ZQ137, 400kV, 500mm² AAAC - Rubus (L), bundle of 2, Displayed Rated Temp 90 Creep FE

 ZQ130 - ZQ137, 400kV, 500mm² AAAC - Rubus (L), bundle of 2, Displayed Rated Temp 90 Creep FE

Vert. Scale

Horiz. Scale

2.5 m

6.0 m

N

APPENDIX 1

P
age 137



Cass Associates
Studio 204B The Tea Factory
82 Wood Street
Liverpool
L1 4DQ
UK

t     0151 707 0110
e    all@cassassociates.co.uk

www.cassassociates.co.uk c o n s e r v a t i o n

P
age 138



BANK HEY, HOUSING DEVELOPMENT MASTERPLAN

Infrastructure Delivery Phasing Plan

(Covering Section 278 Works & Section 106 Contributions)

Note 1 Phase 1 Phase 2 Phase 3 Phase 4 Totals

Number of 

Dwellings
355 100 40 115 610

Education Provision

1 S106 contribution to new Primary School at Gib Lane Note 2 £2,300,000 £500,000 £150,000 350,000                                                 £3,300,000

Key Highways Improvement Works

2
S278 junction interim improvement works at A666 

Bolton Road / Jack Walker Way (South)

Works completed prior to 

occupation of 1st dwelling

3
S278 junction improvement works at A6062 Livesey 

Branch Road / Heys Lane

Monitored over the first 5 years 

following 1st occupation

4
S278 junction improvement works at Heys Lane / 

Brokenstone Road Junction

Works completed prior to 

commencement of Phase 2

5
S278 junction improvement works at A666 Bolton 

Road / Jack Walker Way (North)

Works completed prior to 

commencement of Phase 2

6
S106 contribution to Bog Height Road / Ashwood 

Avenue – Link Road
Note 3 £750,000 £350,000 £1,100,000

7
S106 contribution for junction improvement works at 

A666 Bolton Road / Jack Walker Way (South)
Note 4 £700,000 £450,000 £350,000 £400,000 £1,900,000

8

S278 highway improvement works to create new site 

access for each development phase required prior to 

occupation of the 1st dwelling

Two new junctions to access the 

development site
One new junction access provided 

One new junction to access the 

development site

One new junction to access the 

development site

9
S278 highway improvement works required where 

boundary of site fronts the public highway
Note 5 None required Required Required Required

Affordable Housing

10 S106 contribution to affordable homes programme Note 6 None expected None expected Required Required

Green Infrastructure

11

Green infrastructure provided on site within each 

phase and managed in perpetuity in accordance with 

a landscape management plan

On site / within phase On site / within phase On site / within phase On site / within phase

Notes

1 Infrastructure delivery plan is for the agreed development phasing as per the Masterplan and therefore any proposed changes in phasing will require proportionate changes in funding profiles

2 Payment schedule for all S106 contributions to be agreed for each Phase and will be considered at Planning Application stage

3 Contribution to the new link road estimated capex of £1.1m (excluding land) 

4 Contribution to the junction widening works estimated capex of £1.90m (excluding land)

5 Other infrastructure works including footways/cycleways, highway widening, drainage, signage, streelighting and highway structures will be considered at Planning Application stage for each phase.

6 Affordable housing contribution required at £12,750 per dwelling for phases 3 and 4 subject to any viability consideration

Bank Hey Infrastructure Delivery Plan (final) 04-02-20 1 of 1 February 2020

P
age 139



 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
  

 

                                                                                LAND TO THE EAST OF BANK HEY, BLACKBURN 

PRE-APPLICATION 

CONSULTATION STATEMENT 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

July 2019 

Cass Associates 

Studio 204 

The Tea Factory 

82 Wood Street 

Liverpool 

L1 4DQ 

 

Tel: 0151 707 0110 

Fax: 0151 707 0332 

E-mail: all@cassassociates.co.uk 

 

Page 140



1225 – BANK HEY, BLACKBURN                                 CASS ASSOCIATES 

PRE-APPLICATION CONSULTATION STATEMENT  JULY 2019 

 

Contents 

1 Introduction 

2 Approach  

3 Consultation Findings 

4 Feedback from Other Stakeholders 

5 Commentary 

 Appendices 

1 Publicity Catchment 

2 Exhibition Boards 

3 Questionnaire 

4 FAQ and Answers Document 

5 Feedback from Other Stakeholders 

 

 

Document Control 

  

Originator Checked and authorised by 

Name of person and qualifications: 

Darren Muir MTCP (Hons) MSc, MRTPI 

Name of person and qualifications: 

Graham Trewhella, MRTPI 

Job Title: Planner Job Title: Partner 

Signature:  

 

 

Signature:  

  

Project No: 

1225 

Report Ref (file ref): 

1225/PCS 

Issue Date: 

10.07.2019 

Page 141



1225 – BANK HEY, BLACKBURN                                 CASS ASSOCIATES 

PRE-APPLICATION CONSULTATION STATEMENT  JULY 2019 

1. Introduction 

1.1 This Consultation Statement provides a summary of the activities undertaken by the land owners to engage 

with the community of Bank Hey in relation to the development of land identified in Figure 1 for housing and to 

consult with other stakeholders. 

 

Figure 1: Land to the East of Heys Lane Housing Allocation 

 

1.2 Paragraph 39 of the National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) states that early engagement has 

significant potential to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of the planning application system for all parties. 

Good quality pre-application discussion enables better coordination between public and private resources and 

improved outcomes for the community. 

1.3 Community consultation with local residents, stakeholders and representatives of Blackburn with Darwen 

Council has been undertaken in a number of ways: 

 Representations to the Council during the Local Plan process setting out the rationale for allocating 

the land for development; 

 The public exhibition, which took place on 7th December 2017 between 3:30pm and 7:30pm at 

Darwen Vale High School. Publicity for this event included an invitation being sent to residents in the 

area. 

 Through a questionnaire which was made available for residents to complete and return either in hard 

copy or electronically. 

 Dedicated website with consultation material and instructions on how to submit comments on the 

draft masterplan. 

 

Page 142



1225 – BANK HEY, BLACKBURN                                 CASS ASSOCIATES 

PRE-APPLICATION CONSULTATION STATEMENT  JULY 2019 

2. Approach 

2.1 The consultation exercise for the proposed development has followed widely regarded best practice for 

community engagement. A number of stages have been followed: 

Stage Commentary 

Notify the community of the public event The method used to notify the local community was to 

issue an invitation directly to residents in a catchment 

area around the site.  

The invitations can be seen in Appendix 1. 

Consultation with the local community The centrepiece of the consultation was the public 

consultation event which took place on the 7th December 

2017 at Darwen Vale High School.  

Information on the proposed development was displayed 

by way of exhibition boards (Appendix 2). Members of the 

project team, which included Planners and Landscape 

Architects from Cass Associates, Transport and Drainage 

Consultants from SCP and Land and Property Advisers 

from Lea Hough & Co were present to answer questions 

and provide additional information.  

Feedback was encouraged through the completion of a 

questionnaire (Appendix 3) 

Measure feedback and assess the outcome A qualitative and quantitative assessment of the 

feedback. 

Publish a summary of the process and outcome of the 

consultation exercise. 

The summary is provided through this Consultation 

Statement. The rest of this Statement will show the 

outcome of the engagement process and report on any 

implications for the proposed scheme of development. 

 

2.2 The objective of the public consultation event was to provide information on the overall shape and context of 

the proposed development. 

2.3 The exhibition provided details on how the proposed housing will be integrated into the Bank Hey area, and 

included information on: 

 Site context and spatial vision; 

 Site analysis and guiding principles; 

 Vision and character; 

 Draft masterplan framework covering development plots, greenspace, access, links and surface 

water; 

 Phasing and earthworks; and 

 Drainage details. 

 
 
 
 

Page 143



1225 – BANK HEY, BLACKBURN                                 CASS ASSOCIATES 

PRE-APPLICATION CONSULTATION STATEMENT  JULY 2019 

3. Consultation Findings 

3.1 The public exhibition provided an opportunity for members of the public to make comments on the proposed 

development. 

3.2 The exhibition was attended by approximately 140 people. A total of 88 questionnaires were completed by 

people who attended the event. Many of the questionnaires were completed by couples, explaining the gap 

between number of attendees and the number of completed questionnaires. 

3.3 The questionnaire was structured to provide two types of information/feedback. 

1. Closed questions on a number of key aspects of the proposed development 

2. An open question giving the respondent the opportunity to express any other comments or views. 

3.4 The responses to the closed questions are summarised in the below table: 

 

3.5 In addition, a range of comments and views have been received in response to the open question. These are 

summarised in the form of Frequently Asked Questions and Answers and are set out in Appendix 4. 

 

 

Page 144



1225 – BANK HEY, BLACKBURN                                 CASS ASSOCIATES 

PRE-APPLICATION CONSULTATION STATEMENT  JULY 2019 

4. Feedback from Other Stakeholders 

4.1 A number of statutory consultees have been contacted as part of the pre-application consultation. At the time 

of preparing this statement, six stakeholders had provided consultation responses. Copies of the stakeholder 

feedback can be seen in Appendix 5. 

Ecology 

4.2 The Wildlife Trust Conservation Officer for Central & Western Lancashire has provided some initial feedback in 

relation to ecology prior to the submission of technical information that will accompany any planning 

application. 

4.3 The Officer states that the Bank Hey area is dominated by intensively farmed pasture, although there is 

potentially an area of more semi-natural grassland at the southern end of the site. Adjacent this area, but not 

within the proposal site, is the Higher Bog Height Pasture Local Wildlife Site. 

4.4 It is recommended that the ecological advisor gives consideration to any opportunities to buffer, expand and 

reconnect the Local Wildlife Site into the wider local ecological network. 

4.5 The Officer also commented on the loss of two ponds and a partly open watercourse. The Officer states that 

there is no direct mitigation as with new ponds proposed being part of a Sustainable Urban Drainage System 

rather than designed for biodiversity mitigation. 

4.6 The ecology consultation response is concluded by welcoming in principle the creation and subsequent 

sympathetic management of semi-natural habitats as part of the public open space within the development. 

Environment Agency 

4.7 A Sustainable Places Officer from the Environment Agency (EA) provided a Preliminary Opinion on the 18th 

January 2018. 

4.8 The EA notes that the site covers an area which has been used as an historic landfill. The materials that were 

in-filled include: 

 Inert material from demolition and construction; 

 Solid industrial waste of a kind which contain no poisonous, noxious or polluting materials; and 

 Food waste received until 1987 which have resulted in significant concentrations of landfill gases 

being measured. 

4.9 Due to the historic use of the land, the EA has recommended that site investigation works are undertaken. The 

stages would be as follows: 

i. A preliminary risk assessment; 

ii. A site investigate scheme; 

iii. An options appraisal and remediation strategy; and 

iv. A verification plan. 

4.10 The EA conclude their consultation response by stating that if the site investigation work is not provided as 

part of any planning application they would request that the Local Planning Authority conditions any grant of 

planning permission to this effect. 

The Canal and River Trust 

4.11 An Area Planner from the Canal and River Trust responded to the consultation stating that as the site is some 

distance from the Leeds & Liverpool Canal and any of their assets, the Canal & River Trust have no comments 

to make on the proposal. 

Page 145



1225 – BANK HEY, BLACKBURN                                 CASS ASSOCIATES 

PRE-APPLICATION CONSULTATION STATEMENT  JULY 2019 

Highways England 

4.12 The response from Highways England stated the strategic road network (SRN) that is operated by them and 

that which is the responsibility of the Local Authority. Their response was therefore in relation to any potential 

impact on Junction 4 and 5 of the M65. The response clarifies that the roundabouts and signals controlling the 

junctions are the responsibility of the Local Authority. 

4.13 Highways England suggests that the Transport Assessment accompanying any planning application considers 

the effects of the development at peak times upon Junction 4 and Junction 5. This should demonstrate 

appropriate trip assignment and modelling of the impacts on both junctions for weekday AM/PM peak periods 

for the year the development first becomes available for occupation, but based on a full-build out. 

4.14 It is also recommended that the proposal incorporates measures to reduce private vehicle demand and 

promote sustainability within the site, such as high standard walking and cycling routes through the site 

connecting to nearby amenities and public transport. 

Natural England 

4.15 The consultation response from Natural England (NE) advises the Council that the proposed development is 

unlikely to affect any statutorily protected sites or landscapes. 

4.16 In relation to protected species, NE has not assessed the proposal but rather refers to their published 

Standing Advice and recommends that the Council considers this as a material consideration in determining 

the application. 

4.17 NE recommends that any planning application incorporates features that will be beneficial to wildlife, such as 

bird nest boxes. Opportunities to enhance the landscape should also be part of any future planning 

application, such as green space provision. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 146



1225 – BANK HEY, BLACKBURN                                 CASS ASSOCIATES 

PRE-APPLICATION CONSULTATION STATEMENT  JULY 2019 

5. Commentary 

5.1 The public exhibition provided an opportunity for the project team to describe and explain the Masterplan for 

the site at Bank Hey and for the local community to set out its reaction to the proposal. 

5.2 There was a mixed response to the proposal, with the majority of respondents unaware of the site being 

allocated for housing in the Local Plan. Around 85% of attendees live adjacent the site. 

5.3 Around half of those who answered supported the overall approach of pockets of new housing with a network 

of green spaces penetrated by pedestrian routes. 

5.4 The greatest concerns related to issues of transport and traffic. Only 25% of those who responded to the 

question supported the even distribution of traffic onto surrounding roads. 

5.5 There was a similar level of concern for the option of creating a new road link between Bog Height Road and 

Ashwood Avenue. 

5.6 Of the two suggested options for the closure of Bog Height Road, Option 2 (to the west of No.43 Bog Height 

Road) was the preferred option. However, the majority of respondents chose ‘neither/no answer’. 

5.7 37.5% of the community support the approach of building SUDs ponds on the site with 21% opposing this 

approach. A further 21% chose ‘don’t know’ and 13% selected ‘neither/no answer’. 

5.8 A large number of residents also raised questions and raised objections via the open question on the 

questionnaire or via subsequent emails. This feedback is summarised in the Frequently Asked Questions (and 

Answers). A copy of this is provided in Appendix 4. 

5.9 The main questions and objections that have been raised are: 

i. Why not build on brownfield land instead? 

ii. What measures will be put in place to address any overlooking and overshadowing? 

iii. Will features such as woodland and dry stone walls be retained? 

iv. Who will be responsible for maintaining greenspace areas? 

v. How will wildlife habitats be affected? 

vi. Will there be sufficient capacity in local schools? 

vii. Can local health services accommodate the increased number of households? 

viii. Are the surrounding roads able to safely cope with the traffic generated by the development? 

ix. Can a new link to Ashwood Avenue be formed while keeping Bog Height Road open to traffic? 

x. When will the new link onto Ashwood Avenue be built? 

xi. Will traffic management measures be improved? 

xii. How will parking be managed, particularly around the Redeemer Primary School? 

xiii. Has the traffic generated by the Gib Lane development been taken into account? 

xiv. Will the drainage attenuation ponds have sufficient capacity and how will they be maintained? 

xv. What other drainage measures will be put in place? 

xvi. What measures will be adopted to prevent flooding of neighbouring properties? 

 

 

Page 147



1225 – BANK HEY, BLACKBURN                                 CASS ASSOCIATES 

PRE-APPLICATION CONSULTATION STATEMENT  JULY 2019 

5.10 As recommended by the Conservation Officer at The Wildlife Trust, the proposal has considered the wider 

ecological network and how the proposed habitats will link with these. Further details will be provided in the 

technical reports that support the masterplan. 

5.11 In reference to the comments on the loss of two ponds and partly open watercourse – the proposed SUDS 

provides both an ecological and engineering solution, offering both habitat creation and sustainable drainage. 

5.12 Site investigation work will be carried out in accordance with the stages recommended by the Environment 

Agency as part of the planning process. 

5.13 As the Council are unable to adopt the attenuation basins, a Management Company will be established by the 

developer to maintain them along with other strategic greenspace. 

5.14 Any future planning application will include a Transport Assessment and shall address the comments raised by 

Highways England. 

5.15 The proposed masterplan incorporates some of the suggestions from Natural England. Any future detailed site 

plans will expand on these further, giving considerations to the consultation response and the Standing Advice 

on protected species. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 148



1225 – BANK HEY, BLACKBURN                                 CASS ASSOCIATES 

PRE-APPLICATION CONSULTATION STATEMENT  JULY 2019 

Appendices 

 

1 Publicity Catchment 

2 Exhibition Boards 

3 Questionnaire 

4 FAQ and Answers Document 

5 Feedback from Other Stakeholders 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 149



1225 – BANK HEY, BLACKBURN                                 CASS ASSOCIATES 

PRE-APPLICATION CONSULTATION STATEMENT  JULY 2019 

1. Publicity Catchment 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 150



Bank Hey, Blackburn
Public ConsultationLeaflet Drop Area

N

R
ep

ro
du

ce
d 

fro
m

 O
rd

na
nc

e 
S

ur
ve

y 
m

at
er

ia
l w

ith
 th

e 
pe

rm
is

si
on

 o
f t

he
 c

on
tr

ol
le

r 
of

 H
er

 M
aj

es
ty

’s
 S

ta
tio

na
ry

 O
ffi

ce
 u

nd
er

 th
e 

Li
ce

nc
e 

N
o 

18
62

87

Development
Site

P
age 151



1225 – BANK HEY, BLACKBURN                                 CASS ASSOCIATES 

PRE-APPLICATION CONSULTATION STATEMENT  JULY 2019 

2. Exhibition Boards 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 152



Bank Hey, Blackburn
Public ConsultationIntroduction

The land between Heys Lane and Bog Height Road is allocated for 
housing development in Blackburn with Darwen’s Local Plan Part 2. 

The site has the potential to be a distinctive and high quality housing 
development that respects the surrounding landscape character and 
become a natural extension to Blackburn.

Ideas for how the site could be developed have been progressed by the 
project team through discussions with Blackburn with Darwen Council.

We want your views on the initial Masterplan.  This exhibition shows 
how the emerging Masterplan has come together and explains the 
main opportunities and constraints that have been taken into account.

Please take time to look at the exhibition and give us your views.

Development
Site

�
��

��
��

	�
�


���
�



��

��
�	

�

�

��
��

�

�

��
��

��
�
�

���

��

�

��

��
��

��
��


�
�
�

��

	

��
��

��
��

�

��


�
��


�
��

��
��

��

�

��
���

��
��



��

	�

�

��
��


��
�


��
	�

�	
�


�
�


!"
#$

"%

�

!

�#&

Page 153



Bank Hey, Blackburn
Public Consultation

Industrial Estate

Rive
r D

arw
en

CRWard
 Bdy

Tank

VValalve
HoHouses

Fishmoor Reservoir

Sloping m
asonry

Fishmoor Reservoir

Newfield Brook

Higher
Fa

SSlloopipinngg mmaasosonnryry

Tank

O

Guide Reservoir

Fishmoor
Reservoir

Sloping
m

ason
y

SSllopiing masonry

Slipway

H
LA

N
E

Refuse Tip

BROKEN STONE ROAD

157157.3m

Fowler Fold

Potter's Plantation

BROKE

Issues

Spring

Path (um)

Refuse Tip

168.9m16

163.7m

Flare

ETL

STOCKCLOUGH LANE

BM 193.55m

Issues

Issues

Well

Spring

Path (um)

Issues

Coppic

Coppice Cott

Path (um)

FW

ETL

Pa
th

 (u
m

)

Well

FW

195.7mBM 184.64m

Hills
Green

Wood

200.9m

G
IB LA

G
N

E

BROKEN STONE ROAD

Und

210.3m

Ward W
Bdy

d Bdy

184.4m184

Waddington
Farm

Pillar
BM 218.74m

Iss

146.5m

Issues

Lower Moss Fold
Farm

Moss Fold

ETL

196.3m

s

Track

Track

Path

E

Knowle Fold

Track

Eccles Hill
UndUndUnd

PaPatthh

187.1m

Ward Bdy

193.5m

Track

BM 194.93m

Pathh ((um))

ETETLL

TTrackk

Badger Brook
B

Pa
th

 (u
m

)

Fourwinds

CR

Issues

Path (um)h (um))

441

190.8m
188.5m

ETL

El Sub Sta

Tank

Works

Witton Park

Willow Ground Wood

Golf Driving Range

Site Context

Spatial Vision

'��
	����(�
���
���
����������
���
���
��
���
������
���
����������)

area are very important:

*
 +����
���
���
�����
�����
���
�����
��������
������
��
���
����,

*
 +���
���
���
 ���-�
���
��������/��
���������0
 ��	�����)
���-��)
���

	�	���),

*
 +���
��	��
��	�������
���
�����
���
�����
���
�����
��	����,

*
 ���
����
���
����
������
��
���
	����	���
��
���
����������)
�����,

These considerations have helped to shape our thinking on the way 
the development can integrate into its setting.  In addition:

*
 '��
�����������
����
 /�	���
 ���
���
 1��/��
��)�3
 ��
 ��
����
 /�

important that it is designed in a way that creates a transition into the 
countryside beyond.

*
 ��������
 �����)�
 ���
����
���
�		���
 ����
 ���
	����������
 ��
��

important issue.  

�
��

��
��

	�
�


���
�



��

��
�	

�

�

��
��

�

�

��
��

��
�
�

���

��

�

��

��
��

��
��


�
�
�

��

	

��
��

��
��

�

��


�
��


�
��

��
��

��

�

��
���

��
��



��

	�

�

��
��


��
�


��
	�

�	
�


�
�


!"
#$

"%

Site Boundary

Public Park or Playing Field

Hospital

Sports

����
'����	
������

Religious Ground and 
Cemeteries

Allotments and growing 
Zones

Schools

Train Stations

Railway Line

Canal

Public Rights of Way

Witton Weavers Way

Development
Site

�#&

4###

4###

4#5#$

Ewood 
Park

Witton 
Park

Cherry 
Tree

Mill
Hill

Royal Blackburn
Teaching Hospital

Weavers Wheel Way

Gib Lane housing 
development

�

Page 154



Bank Hey, Blackburn
Public Consultation

1

2

3

Site Analysis

Site Analysis

* The site has challenging gradients and natural slopes
* Overhead power lines divide the site into two.
* Existing Public Footpaths run across the south from Heys Lane to 

Bog Height Road
* The site offers a number of potential access points.
* 8(�����)
�����
����
����
/���������
������
���
���������
���


across the site are an important countryside characteristic.
* The site contains two existing ponds and a water course 
* Bands of existing native trees.  
* The site offers panoramic views over Blackburn town centre to the 

north east and Darwen to the south east.
* Access will need to be retained for Bank Hey Farm and Bank Hey 

Cottages

Guiding Principles

*
 The development will need to gain access from the surrounding 
�����
��
9�	-
+��-��
+��0
;�)
���)��
����
���
����
����
��

������
�����	
	��
<��
������
���
������

*
 Pedestrian and cycling links should connect the development to 
surrounding areas.

*
 Development must create attractive green space incorporating 
existing trees and woodlands.

*
 An attractive housing development appropriate to its setting on the 
edge of Blackburn

*
 The development will need to incorporate a Sustainable Drainage 
solution

�

1

Site Boundary

Existing Power Lines

Stone Walls

Existing Trees and 
Woodland

Public Rights of Way

Watercourses

Pond

Culverts

Slope and Gradient

Public Access

Former Quarry

Panoramic Location

�
��

��
��

	�
�


���
�



��

��
�	

�

�

��
��

�

�

��
��

��
�
�

���

��

�

��

��
��

��
��


�
�
�

��

	

��
��

��
��

�

��


�
��


�
��

��
��

��

�

��
���

��
��



��

	�

�

��
��


��
�


��
	�

�	
�


�
�


!"
#$

"%

2

Page 155



Bank Hey, Blackburn
Public ConsultationVision & Character

The sloping land and the overhead power line point to the division of 
the land into a series of individual development plots.

Each development plot will be served from new points of access onto 
;�)
���)��
����0
����
����0
9�	-
+��-��
+��
���
4������
4�����=

The development will include a network of green spaces providing 
space for informal recreation.  

�������
>���
�����
���
	�������
����
/�
��	�����
������
���
)����
������-

��
���
�����������0
��)�����
����
������
���
�����������
���
	�	�����

Landmark Buildings will create a focal point and/or terminate a key 
approach or vista. They typically front onto more important areas of the 
public realm.  

The development will include on site water retention areas to manage 
���
<��
��
�����
����
�(�����)
�����	������
���
������=

Key Character Types will be developed:

Character Type 1 - Suburban Transition 
Will have a suburban character to complement the existing housing 
around Jack Walker Way.  Red brick faced dwellings with grey tiled 
roofs and a diverse mix of house types and sizes.

Character Type 2 - Urban Edge
The Urban Edge Character Area provides the interface between the 
town and countryside.  It will draw on the characteristics of adjacent 
properties along Bog Height Road and Heys Lane and could feature 
�����
 ��	��
 �������)�0
 �����
 ����
 �����
 ���
 /���������
 ��
 ��������

walls on key frontages.

The Green Edge 
'����
�����
����
��	����
�������)�
�������-��)
)�������	�0
��
�������

a high quality outlook and surveillance of the space.

Key Site Frontages 
To provide direct outlook and connections to Bog Height Road and 
Heys Lane and links to Jack Walker Way.

11

1

2

2

1
@����	���
'���
!

2
Character Type 2

Proposed Green Space

Existing Trees and 
Woodland

Proposed Road 
Junction

Proposed Road

Proposed Footpath

Proposed Footpath 
����

Overhead Power Lines

Green Edge overlooking 
Public Open Space

Key Site Frontages

Proposed Landmark 
Building

Retained
Woodland

2

2

�

�
��

��
��

	�
�


���
�



��

��
�	

�

�

��
��

�

�

��
��

��
�
�

���

��

�

��

��
��

��
��


�
�
�

��

	

��
��

��
��

�

��


�
��


�
��

��
��

��

�

��
���

��
��



��

	�

�

��
��


��
�


��
	�

�	
�


�
�


!"
#$

"%

3

Page 156



Bank Hey, Blackburn
Public ConsultationDraft Masterplan Framework

Development Plots
There will need to be regrading of the land to create gently sloping 
development plots

�
��

��
��

	�
�


���
�



��

��
�	

�

�

��
��

�

�

��
��

��
�
�

���

��

�

��

��
��

��
��


�
�
�

��

	

��
��

��
��

�

��


�
��


�
��

��
��

��

�

��
���

��
��



��

	�

�

��
��


��
�


��
	�

�	
�


�
�


!"
#$

"%

Plot A

Plot H

Plot B

Plot E

Plot G

Plot F

Plot D

Plot C

Greenspace
N�������	�
<���
/������
���
�����������
�����
�����
��
����
����
��

more steep.

Access
There are individual points of access to development plots with the effect 
��
������/����)
�����	
����
�
���/��
��
�����=

'����
��
���
�����/�����
��


a new route between Bog Height Road and Ashwood Avenue.  This will 
allow the closure of the eastern section of Bog Height Road to through 
�����	=

Links
A network of footpaths through the development and the green spaces 
will connect the site to surrounding areas.

Surface Water
Water retention ponds will be built into the development to control the 
����
��
���	�
�����	�
�����
<���
����
���
����
 ����
�����
	������
��

sewers.

�

Plot Access
Point

Access to: Indicative Number 
of Houses

A Bog Height Road V5
B / Jack Walker Way/Ashwood Avenue $X5
C / Jack Walker Way/Ashwood Avenue !5
D 4 Bog Height Road &5
E 4 Bog Height Road #&
F / Ashwood Avenue / Jack Walker Way !5%
G / Ashwood Avenue / Jack Walker Way V5
H ! Heys Lane !55

1

2

3

4

5

Avenue

5

2 3

2 3

4

4

2 3

2 3

1

Page 157



Bank Hey, Blackburn
Public Consultation

KEY
Phase 1
Plot A

Phase 2
Plot A & B

Phase 3
Plot D & E

Phase 4
Plot F & G

Phase 5
Plot H

BOG    HEIGHT    ROAD

M 6 5

BOG    HEIGHT    ROAD

HE
YS

   
LA

NE

HEY
S  

 LA
NE THE HEIGHTS

FREE SCHOOL

THE REDEEMER
CE PRIMARY

SCHOOL

BANK HEY
FARM

BO
LTO

N   RO
AD

JACK   W
ALKER   W

AY
BANK HEY
COTTAGES

Fowler Height

eight

Cottage

Barn-side
Cottage

Fowler Height
Farm

Fowler Height
House

Higher Fowler Height
Farm

Lower Fowler Height

Trough

WellPp
Lower

HE
YS

 LA
NE

New Row

Methodist Church

CR

Pa
th

Path

Pump
House

25

11

Well

FARMER'S ROW

20
14

39

47

81

72

69

HEYS CLOSE

CLO
SE

34

44

52

66

68

76

84

67

57

43

55

Well

Bo
ro

 C
on

st 
& 

W
ar

d 
Bd

y

CF

Ward Bdy

CW

CF

Path

w

Morris Bank

Path (um)

Holden Fold

RH

Well

Trough

m

207.9m

BM
 2

08
.4

8m

FW

Def

Turners Farm

BOG HEIGHT ROAD
PEAK BROW

BS

Well

FW

Und

217.6m

89

88

2a
2

1

The Hollies

Well

HEYS LA

Green
Row

Lower
Fowler
Height

Bo
ro 

Con
st 

an
d W

ard
 Bd

y

Pond

FARMER'S ROW
BM

 1
74

.2
5m

171.0m
24

0

24
2

33

23

11

9

158

68

10

2

CR

162.5m

HE
YS

 C
LO

SE

39

35

32

40

48

50

22

10

8

2

30

24

156.1m

HE
YS

 L
AN

E

15

16
4

33

Bo
ro

 C
on

st 
& 

W
ar

d 
Bd

y

Ward Bdy

CF

MOORLAND

RO
AD

137

1

3

1

3

11
15

8

HEYWORTH AVENUE

3l

20

2

4

17

25

2

3

Craven's

Farm

Def

Fernhurst Wood

CS

FERGUSON STREET

Und

BM 111.53m

14

2

542

544

5

1

Boro Const & Ward Bdy

Garage
10

26

23

21

17

19

27

18

8

M
EADO

W
FIELDS

ARBO
UR DRIVE

38

44

43

47

50

25

11

WATER MEADOWS

15

5

2

8

2
4

OLD FARMSIDE

2

1

MEADOWFIE
LDS

DALGLISH DRIVE

8

2

DOUGLAS CLOSE

1

11

2

1

2

4

8

TH
O

RN
YLEA

7

12

18

1

7

9

21

30

12

10

2

14

39

21

10

12

2

El Sub Sta

1

FLO
W

ERS CLO
SE

GA
RN

ER

AVENUE

29

36

1

2

1

3

9

6

10

23

9

5

9

1

GREENFIELDS

1

7

6

2

7

11

20

1

18

FORRESTSIDE

14

20

3

THE GREENWOOD

2

1

11

15

3

17

32

29
3526

2

14

9

W
HE

LA
N 

CL
O

SE

1

1

7

Well

MEADOW HEAD LANE

198.7m

49

BM

Well

BO
G

 H
EIG

H
T RO

AD

87

PEAK BROW

223.7m

219.8m

Bog Height House

172.0m BOG HEIGHT ROAD 162.7m

43

41a

72

150.5m

50

BEECH GRO
VE

146.7m

17

12

2

29

Issues 31

32

22

Pond

ETL

Sinks

THE DELL

OAKMERE CLOSE

PARKDALE GARDENS

HEATHERLEIGH GARDENS

TH
E 

SH
IR

ES

ARBO
UR D

RIVE
2

1
2

6
7

1
3

5

11

15

1

3

1

5

7

11

9

22

2420

10

8

2

4

5

9

1

3

5

9

2

4

10

16

18

M 65

11

15

25

33

1
3

15

12

2

4

RYE GARDENS 24

2

1

5

8

49

ORCHARD CLOSE

4

20

28 1

5

12

32

11

27

15
17

ASHW
OOD AVE

3

6

39

20

1

2

10

23

11

8

GREENWOOD
THE

1

9

15

25

CRAVEN'S AVENUE

63
2

63
6

63
8

64
0

1

9

4 2

BM
 126.57m

127.7m St Bartholo
Vicarag

598

60
8

60
4

BO
LTO

N RO
AD

Craven's Brow

122.2m

118.0m

56
8

588

57
8

113.4m

Und

CR

558

23
5

2

556

16
4

22
3

21
1

Boro Const & W
ard Bdy

Garage

61
0

61
2

MEADOWFIELDS

16

6

9

11

46

40

22 Golden
Cup Inn

143.3m

BEECH GROVE

BOG HEIGHT ROAD

9

1

27

BM 140

BO
L

CRAVEN
'S BRO

W

Craven's Cottage

132.6m

2
4

10
12

30

28

20

M
EADO

W
 VALE

1
3

5

11
15

21

25

31

35

LEA DRIVE

CR
AV

EN
S 

H
O

LL
O

W

THE GLEN

3

5

3

1

7

1

12
6

16

14

12

2
4

3
5

21
23

4

5

1

M 65

5
1

11

10

2
1

2

TH
E G

LAD
E

15

31

LB

26

36

46 50

37

Spout House Farm

Spout House Barn

M 65

Issues

M 65

M 65 SM

Gar

M 65

Pa
th

 (u
m

)

Well

halley
rrace

Boro

Bog Bank Farm

Higher Bog Height

Farm

199.62m

41

190.8m

Path (um)

Path (um)

188.5m 178.5m

60

39

39

27

Darwen Vale High School

18

Posts

(PH)

144.8m 13

30

1

14

34

El Sub Sta

purpose

NORTH

0 4020 100m8060

Proposed
Road

Phasing and Earthworks

Phase Housing Units
! V5
2 $V5
3 !!&
4 !V%
& !55

Total 642

Phase 2
Plot B>����
&

Plot H

>����
!
Plot A

Phase 2
Plot C

Phase 3
Plot D

Phase 3
Plot E

Phase 4
Plot G

Phase 4
Plot F

Phase 3
Plot E

Open 
Space

Phase 4
Plot G

Phase 4
Plot F

Proposed
Road Proposed

Road

Proposed
Road

Proposed
Road

Bog Height
Road

Higher Bog 
Height Farm

Orchard
Close

A A1

A

A1

�
��

��
��

	�
�


���
�



��

��
�	

�

�

��
��

�

�

��
��

��
�
�

���

��

�

��

��
��

��
��


�
�
�

��

	

��
��

��
��

�

��


�
��


�
��

��
��

��

�

��
���

��
��



��

	�

�

��
��


��
�


��
	�

�	
�


�
�


!"
#$

"%

Existing Trees

Phasing

The new housing will be brought forward in phases.  Each phase of 
housing will be served by new points of access onto surrounding roads.

The housing in each phase of the development will be accompanied by 
enhanced green spaces.

Links between the phrases will be formed over time.

Earthworks

'��
	����
��	����
/����
�����
����
�����
����
����
��
/�
�
[	��
���
����

exercise in order to form gently sloping housing plots.  

The land between the housing plots is either the more steeply sloping 
ground or land beneath the power lines.

The earthworks in Plot E will be designed to address the tipped material 
under the top soil.

�

Page 158



Bank Hey, Blackburn
Public ConsultationAccess and Drainage

Proposed Green Space

Existing Trees and 
Woodland

Proposed Road 
Junction

Proposed Road

Proposed Footpath

Proposed Footpath 
����

Overhead Power Lines

Proposed Site Entrance P

P

P
P

P

P

P
P

P

P

Proposed Water Retention 
PondsP

�

�
��

��
��

	�
�


���
�



��

��
�	

�

�

��
��

�

�

��
��

��
�
�

���

��

�

��

��
��

��
��


�
�
�

��

	

��
��

��
��

�

��


�
��


�
��

��
��

��

�

��
���

��
��



��

	�

�

��
��


��
�


��
	�

�	
�


�
�


!"
#$

"%

Plot A

Plot H

Plot B

Plot E

Plot G

Plot F

Plot D

Plot C

OPTION 1 - ASHWOOD AVENUE TO BOG HEIGHT ROAD LINK
This option involves the closure of Bog Height Road at the Junction 
����
���
4###
\;��	-/���
����]=

OPTION 2 - ASHWOOD AVENUE TO BOG HEIGHT ROAD LINK
This option involves the closure of Bog Height Road to the West of 
��=VX0
������)
���
���	����
����
���
4###
\;��	-/���
����]
��
���
���
�

limited number of properties.

Access
The new points of access will serve discrete pockets of housing.  The 
����	��
��
 �����	
)��������
/�
 ���
�����������
��
 ���
 ����������)

�����
����
/�
	���������
��
����
��
�
�����	
��������)
�(��	���=

Drainage
4�
����
��
���
�����������0
�����
���������
�����
����
/�
/����=

'����

����
/�
��
����	����
��^�
��
�����
�����	�
�����
��
/�
������
��
���
����

in periods of high rainfall and then released slowly into water courses 
and sewers.  Water retention ponds will also provide new habitat and 
�����	����
��������=

'��
�����
����
/�
����)���
���
��������
/�����
���

��	��������
�����������
������
���
/��-
�������=

Development
Site

Development
Site

���
���-
����

between Bog 

Height Road and 
Ashwood Avenue

���
���-
����

between Bog 

Height Road and 
Ashwood Avenue

Bog Height Road 
stopped to the 
����
��
��=
VX

Bog Height Road 
stopped at the 
Golden Cup

Page 159



1225 – BANK HEY, BLACKBURN                                 CASS ASSOCIATES 

PRE-APPLICATION CONSULTATION STATEMENT  JULY 2019 

3. Questionnaire 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 160



Bank Hey, Blackburn
Public Consultation

Questionnaire

Land to the East of Heys Lane, Blackburn
Questionnaire 

1. How far away from the site do you live?
  Adjacent      Between ¼ - ½ mile      Between ½ - 1 mile      Over 1 mile

2. Were you aware that the site is allocated for new housing in the new Blackburn with Darwen Local  
 Plan Part 2?

3. Do you agree that a range of housing should be provided but with an  emphasis on  family houses ?

Yes             No  

Yes              No                 Don’t Know  

4. Do you support the overall approach of pockets of new housing with a network of green spaces 
 penetrated by pedestrian routes?

5. Do you support the way we propose to provide access to new housing with a number of separate 
	 links	onto	surrounding	roads	to	distribute	traffic	more	evenly?

6. Do you support the option of creating a new road link between Bog Height Road and Ashwood   
 Avenue? 

7. If a new link road is provided, do you support the closure of Bog Height Road at the Golden Cup 
 (Option 1) or to the west of No. 43 Bog Height Road (Option 2)?

9. Are there any other matters you wish to comment on?

Yes              No                    Don’t Know  

Yes              No                    Don’t Know  

Yes              No                    Don’t Know  

Yes              No                    Don’t Know  

Option 1    Option 2

8. We will build ponds into any development to ‘retain’ surface water before it leaves the site at a   
 regulated rate.  Do you support this approach?

Please complete this form and leave it in the box provided or alternatively, email any comments   
by the 15th December 2017 to heyslane@cassassociates.co.uk

Page 161



1225 – BANK HEY, BLACKBURN                                 CASS ASSOCIATES 

PRE-APPLICATION CONSULTATION STATEMENT  JULY 2019 

4. FAQ and Answers Document 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 162



Land to the East of Bank Hey, Blackburn 

Public Consultation 

Frequently Asked Questions  

New HousingNew HousingNew HousingNew Housing    

Q1  Why not build on brownfield sites elsewhere in Blackburn rather than here? 

A1  The land is allocated for housing in the Blackburn with Darwen Local Plan Part 2. It is one of a 

number of strategic housing sites around the edge of the town which will help to meet long term 

housing needs and stimulate economic growth. The Local Plan envisages that, over a long period, 

housing will be built on both these strategic sites and brownfield sites.  There are insufficient 

brownfield sites to meet the housing needs of the borough. 

Q2  What measures will be put in place to minimise overlooking and overshadowing from the new 

houses to the existing? 

A2  Where there is a direct relationship between new and existing housing the guidance to developers 

will stress that a combination of reasonable distances between properties and intervening planting 

and boundary treatment will be used to minimise overlooking and overshadowing. Subsequent 

planning applications will provide full details of these measures and give further opportunity for 

residents to comment.  The Council applies minimum separation distances between properties to 

safeguard amenity. 

Q3 Can the pedestrian link through the space between The Greenwood and Orchard Close be moved 

away from existing houses? 

A3 Options for a pedestrian route will be investigated taking into account land ownership and physical 

constraints. 

Greenspace and Existing FeaturesGreenspace and Existing FeaturesGreenspace and Existing FeaturesGreenspace and Existing Features                        

Q4  Will it be possible to retain existing features such as woodland and dry stone walls? 

A4  The earthworks to create the development plots will require the removal of some trees and lengths 

of walls but the most significant groups of trees on the site will be retained and protected.  This will 

contribute to wider areas of greenspace that run around and between the parcels of housing. 

Q5  Who will maintain the greenspace areas? 

A5  The intention is to set up a management company which will be charged with the maintenance and 

management of greenspace and other amenities such as play areas. 

Q6  How will important wildlife habitats be affected? 

A6 We have carried out wildlife surveys. Where possible, the most important habitats will be retained 

and included in the greenspace areas. There will also be opportunities to create new habitats for 

wildlife.  The Council applies policies to safeguard important wildlife sites. 

Local AmenitiesLocal AmenitiesLocal AmenitiesLocal Amenities    

Q7 Will there be sufficient capacity in the local schools? 

A7 The impact of development on local primary school capacity is currently being assessed by 

Blackburn with Darwen Council in its role as Local Education Authority.  It is expected that 

developers will contribute towards improvements.  This might be through expansion of a local school 

or through a contribution towards a new primary school on the Gib Lane development.  There is 

sufficient capacity in secondary schools to meet the needs of future households. 

Page 163



Q8 Will local health services be in a position to accommodate the increased number of households? 

A8 The Council is in regular contact with the Clinical Commissioning Group and NHS England about 

meeting the needs of new planned households. Both organisations have been consulted further as 

a part of the masterplanning process. 

Transport and Traffic Transport and Traffic Transport and Traffic Transport and Traffic     

Q9  Is Heys Lane adequate to safely accept the traffic generated by the new development, particularly 

as the Gib Lane development is now being built? 

A9  The Gib Lane development (700 dwellings) has been accounted for in our traffic assessments as 

well as another committed development at site of the former Sappi Paper Mill.  

 The capacity of the junctions at either end of Heys Lane will be assessed in a way that is based on 

the Bank Hey development fully built out as well as the committed development site fully 

constructed.  

Q10  Is Bog Height Road of a sufficient standard to accept the traffic generated by this development?  

A10  The capacity of the junctions at either end of Bog Height Road (the A666 / Bog Height Road junction 

and the Bog Height Road / Tockholes Road / Heys Lane / Broken Stone Road junction) will be 

assessed with the Bank Hey development fully built out as well as with the committed development 

site fully constructed.  

Q11  Is there an option to form a new link to Ashwood Avenue but to keep Bog Height Road open to 

traffic? 

A11  Yes, all options will be considered through any future planning application process. 

Q12  When will the new link onto Ashwood Avenue be built? 

A12  If it is agreed that a new link road from Ashwood Avenue to Bog Height Road should be built, then 

the timescales for its construction will be established at the planning application stage. 

Q13  Is there sufficient capacity along Jack Walker Way and at its junction with the A666? 

A13  The capacity of the junctions at either end of Jack Walker Way will be assessed with the Bank Hey 

development fully built out as well as with the committed development site fully constructed.  

Q14  Will there be better traffic management measures along Jack Walker Way? 

A14  We will discuss improved traffic management measures along Jack Walker Way with Blackburn with 

Darwen Borough Council through the consultation period following submission of any planning 

application. 

Q15  How will parking be managed around the Redeemer Primary School? 

A15  We will discuss parking around the Redeemer Primary School with Blackburn with Darwen Borough 

Council through the consultation period following submission of any planning application. 

DrainageDrainageDrainageDrainage    

Q16 Will there be sufficient capacity in the proposed drainage attenuation basins? 

A16  The surface water attenuation ponds as designed at this preliminary stage have been sized with 

capacity to ensure no flooding on or off the site. Detailed design will follow the finalised masterplan 

so as to precisely inform the construction of surface water management controls. 

  

Page 164



Q17  How will the drainage attenuation basins and watercourses be maintained? 

A17   The drainage network and the control features such as the attenuation basins will be maintained by 

the management company which is to be set up to maintain all greenspaces. 

Q18 What other drainage measures will be put in place besides the attenuation basins? 

A18  This will be further defined at the detailed design phase and may be subject to change. However, 

the drainage network as a whole will be based on well tested principles of surface water 

management, including the use of soakaways as a form of primary source control (from roofs and 

driveways), vegetated swales to slow drainage velocities and reduce overall water discharge 

volumes and the use of underground storage to further mitigate the potential for on and off-site 

flooding.  

Q19 What measures will be adopted to prevent the flooding of gardens and houses immediately adjacent 

to the site? 

A19 All surface water flows leaving the site will be restricted to an acceptable limit, known as the 

greenfield discharge rate.  This discharge rate corresponds to the pre-development runoff rate from 

the site.  The greenfield runoff rate will set the limit for surface water flows. All outfalls from the 

drainage system will be directed to the existing watercourses which are located at the eastern 

boundary of the site.  This will reduce the potential for overland flooding. 

 

Page 165



1225 – BANK HEY, BLACKBURN                                 CASS ASSOCIATES 

PRE-APPLICATION CONSULTATION STATEMENT  JULY 2019 

5. Feedback from Other Stakeholders 

 

Page 166



Page 1 of 2 

Date: 13 December 2017 
Our ref:  233913 
 
  

 
 
David Bailey  
Lea Hough & Co 
 
 
BY EMAIL ONLY 
 

 

  

 Hornbeam House 

 Crewe Business Park 

 Electra Way 

 Crewe 

 Cheshire 

 CW1 6GJ 

 

 T 0300 060 3900 

  

Dear Mr Bailey 
 
Planning consultation: Housing Development 
Location: Land at Bank Hey, Blackburn 
 
Thank you for your consultation on the above dated 12 December 2017 which was received by 
Natural England on 12 December 2017. 
 
Natural England is a non-departmental public body. Our statutory purpose is to ensure that the 
natural environment is conserved, enhanced, and managed for the benefit of present and future 
generations, thereby contributing to sustainable development.  
 
The Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) 
The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 
 
Natural England’s comments in relation to this application are provided in the following sections. 
 
Statutory nature conservation sites – no objection 
Based upon the information provided, Natural England advises the Council that the proposal is 
unlikely to affect any statutorily protected sites or landscapes.  
 
Protected species 
We have not assessed this application and associated documents for impacts on protected species. 
 
Natural England has published Standing Advice on protected species.  
 
You should apply our Standing Advice to this application as it is a material consideration in the 
determination of applications in the same way as any individual response received from Natural 
England following consultation.   
 
The Standing Advice should not be treated as giving any indication or providing any assurance in 
respect of European Protected Species (EPS) that the proposed development is unlikely to affect 
the EPS present on the site; nor should it be interpreted as meaning that Natural England has 
reached any views as to whether a licence is needed (which is the developer’s responsibility) or 
may be granted. 
 
If you have any specific questions on aspects that are not covered by our Standing Advice for 
European Protected Species or have difficulty in applying it to this application please contact us with 

Page 167

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/protected-species-and-sites-how-to-review-planning-proposals


Page 2 of 2 

details at consultations@naturalengland.org.uk.  
 
Local sites  
If the proposal site is on or adjacent to a local site, e.g. Local Wildlife Site, Regionally Important 
Geological/Geomorphological Site (RIGS) or Local Nature Reserve (LNR) the authority should 
ensure it has sufficient information to fully understand the impact of the proposal on the local site 
before it determines the application. 
 
Biodiversity enhancements  
This application may provide opportunities to incorporate features into the design which are 
beneficial to wildlife, such as the incorporation of roosting opportunities for bats or the installation of 
bird nest boxes. The authority should consider securing measures to enhance the biodiversity of the 
site from the applicant, if it is minded to grant permission for this application. This is in accordance 
with Paragraph 118 of the National Planning Policy Framework. Additionally, we would draw your 
attention to Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act (2006) which states 
that ‘Every public authority must, in exercising its functions, have regard, so far as is consistent with 
the proper exercise of those functions, to the purpose of conserving biodiversity’. Section 40(3) of 
the same Act also states that ‘conserving biodiversity includes, in relation to a living organism or 
type of habitat, restoring or enhancing a population or habitat’. 
 
Landscape enhancements  
This application may provide opportunities to enhance the character and local distinctiveness of the 
surrounding natural and built environment; use natural resources more sustainably; and bring 
benefits for the local community, for example through green space provision and access to and 
contact with nature. Landscape characterisation and townscape assessments, and associated 
sensitivity and capacity assessments provide tools for planners and developers to consider new 
development and ensure that it makes a positive contribution in terms of design, form and location, 
to the character and functions of the landscape and avoids any unacceptable impacts. 
 
Sites of Special Scientific Interest Impact Risk Zones 
The Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 
requires local planning authorities to consult Natural England on “Development in or likely to affect a 
Site of Special Scientific Interest” (Schedule 4, w). Our SSSI Impact Risk Zones are a GIS dataset 
designed to be used during the planning application validation process to help local planning 
authorities decide when to consult Natural England on developments likely to affect a SSSI. The 
dataset and user guidance can be accessed from the data.gov.uk website 
 
We would be happy to comment further should the need arise but if in the meantime you have any 
queries please do not hesitate to contact us.  
 
For any queries regarding this letter, for new consultations, or to provide further information on this 
consultation please send your correspondences to consultations@naturalengland.org.uk. 
 
We really value your feedback to help us improve the service we offer. We have attached a 
feedback form to this letter and welcome any comments you might have about our service.  
 
Yours sincerely 
 
David Allinton 
Consultations Team 
 

Page 168

mailto:consultations@naturalengland.org.uk
https://naturalengland-defra.opendata.arcgis.com/datasets/sssi-impact-risk-zones-england?geometry=-32.18%2C48.014%2C27.849%2C57.298


From: ddunlop@lancswt.org.uk
Sent: 11/01/2018 16:39:00
To: Diane.Griffiths@cassassociates.co.uk
Cc: rwitcombe@lancswt.org.uk
Subject: FW: Land at Bank Hey, Blackburn, Blackburn with Darwen Borough, Lancashire
Project: 1225
Description: Bank Hey, Blackburn
Locaton: 
Client: Lea Hough & Co

FYI, as per Mr Bailey’s email.

David Dunlop

The Wildlife Trust for Lancashire, Manchester & North Merseyside

From: David Dunlop 

Sent: 11 January 2018 16:26

To: 'David Bailey' <David.Bailey@leahough.co.uk>

Cc: Mike Collier <mcollier@lancswt.org.uk>

Subject: RE: Land at Bank Hey, Blackburn, Blackburn with Darwen Borough, Lancashire

Hello again, Mr Bailey (cc Rebecca Witcombe, MyPlace Volunteer, for information)

Further to my initial response, a week’s bout of ‘flu has since interrupted me, but I’ve now got back to this consultation.

I note that “Further technical work has been undertaken and some is still ongoing to provide an evidence base in relation to access, drainage, ecology, trees, air quality 

and ground conditions”: the results of the technical work on ecology would, of course, lie within our core area of charitable expertise and remit; along with public 

engagement with and understanding of wildlife & wild places. I await the outcome of that with interest.

However, I can offer these initial comments. 

Although much of the Bank Hey area seems to be dominated by fairly intensively farmed pasture, examination of Google Earth also suggests that there is, or recently was, 

an area of damper, perhaps more seminatural grassland at the higher, southern end of the site. Higher Bog Height Pasture Local Wildlife Site (BHS 62 SE09) would appear 

to lie just outside and across Bog Height Road from that damper area of the proposed development site.

Local Wildlife Sites are known within Lancashire, including Blackburn with Darwen and Blackpool unitary authorities, as “Biological Heritage Sites”. The reasons for Higher 

Bog Height Pasture Local Wildlife Site’s identification as site of importance for wildlife in a county or greater context, together with a boundary map and site description, 

may be obtained from the Lancashire Environment Record Network (LERN); as may data on key habitats and species in and around your proposal site. Such data should 

be used to enable your ecological adviser to make an objective assessment of the ecological networks running through the proposal site, their current quality, and gaps in 

the current network; and any opportunities to buffer, expand and reconnect the Local Wildlife Site into the wider local ecological network. That should inform your 

proposals for mitigation and enhancement works to comply with National Planning Policy Framework and Local Plan policy. 

I  also note that the development proposal, as envisaged, would appear to result in the loss of two ponds and a currently partly open watercourse. There doesn’t appear 

to be any direct mitigation proposed for those losses; with the new ponds proposed being part of a SuDS rather than designed as biodiversity mitigation habitat per se. 

The creation and, presumably, subsequent sympathetic management of seminatural habitat as part of public open space associated with the development is welcomed 

in principle, but, in the absence of the baseline evidence base referred to previously, and any detail on what exactly is proposed, we cannot comment further at this 

stage: similarly in terms of the proposed dwellings themselves and the engagement of putative new residents with new and existing wildlife features on and around the 

proposal site and their enjoyment and understanding of their local natural environment.

There is some more background on such matters in the Blackburn with Darwen Supplementary Planning Document on Green Infrastructure & Ecological Networks (see: 

https://www.blackburn.gov.uk/Pages/SupplementaryPlanningDocuments.aspx).

You may also be interested in ‘Homes for people and wildlife  how to build housing in a naturefriendly way, published today.

Kind regards

Dave
David Dunlop

Conservation Officer for Central & Western Lancashire

(Blackburn with Darwen, Chorley, Preston, South Ribble, West Lancashire)

Tel: 01772317 238 

Mob: NONE

Email: ddunlop@lancswt.org.uk

twitter: @LaWT_d

We’re a membership charity: joining details are online at: http://www.lancswt.org.uk/membership. 

The Wildlife Trust for Lancashire, Manchester & North Merseyside
(Blackburn with Darwen, Blackpool, Bolton, Burnley, Bury, Chorley, Fylde, Hyndburn, Knowsley, Lancaster, Liverpool, Manchester, Oldham, Pendle, Preston, Ribble Valley, Rochdale, Rossendale, St Helens, Salford, Sefton, South Ribble, 

West Lancashire, Wigan, Wyre)

Web Site: www.lancswt.org.uk

Visit www.wildlifetrusts.org for details of our  campaigns for A Living Landscape & Living Seas.

Page 1 of 3

29/01/2018about:blank

Page 169



cc 

Rebecca Witcombe

Myplace Volunteer Coordinator

Wildlife Trust for Lancashire, Manchester and North Merseyside

East Lancashire Voluntary Sector Resource Centre

6264 Yorkshire Street

Burnley

Lancashire

BB11 3BT

01282 704605

07717 366816

rwitcombe@lancswt.org.uk

From: David Bailey [mailto:David.Bailey@leahough.co.uk] 

Sent: 12 December 2017 10:49

To: David Bailey <David.Bailey@leahough.co.uk>

Subject: Land at Bank Hey, Blackburn

Dear Sirs

On behalf of landowners, we are developing a Masterplan document for land at Bank Hey/Heys Lane, Blackburn, with a view to this being subsequently submitted to 

Blackburn with Darwen Council for adoption.

The site, which extends to approximately 100 acres, is a residential allocation in the Blackburn with Darwen Local Plan. The site has challenging gradients and has been 

the subject of an earthworks design process to identify suitable development parcels. These are identified on the Illustrative Masterplan attached.

Further technical work has been undertaken and some is still ongoing to provide an evidence base in relation to access, drainage, ecology, trees, air quality and ground 

conditions. Planning and design work is also being undertaken with a view to setting the parameters for future applications. 

Also attached are copies of consultation boards which were presented at a public event held on 7th December. 

As part of Blackburn’s adoption requirements, comments are sought from statutory consultees and your details have been provided by Blackburn with Darwen for us to 

circulate the available information for your consideration.

Comments should be provided no later than 19th January to:

heyslane@cassassociates.co.uk

Alternatively, for further information, please do not hesitate to contact me. 

Regards

David Bailey

Tel:  01772 458866 

Mob: 07894 935423  

Email: david.bailey@leahough.co.uk

LeaHough
CHARTERED SURVEYORSCHARTERED SURVEYORSCHARTERED SURVEYORSCHARTERED SURVEYORS

You can follow us on Twitter twitter.com/Lea_Hough

8 Eaton Avenue, Matrix Office Park, Buckshaw Village, Lancashire, PR7 7NA.

Lea Hough & Co is a Limited Liability Partnership

Reg Office 7 Ferry Road Office Park, Preston, PR2 2HY

Registered in England and Wales.  Company No. OC306054

The information contained in this email is intended only for the use of the intended recipient at the email address to which it has been addressed.  If the reader of this message is not an intended recipient you are hereby notified 

that you have received this document in error and that any review, dissemination or copying of the message or associated attachments is strictly prohibited.  If you have received this email in error, please contact the sender by 

return email or call 01772 458866 and ask for the sender and then delete it immediately from your system.  Please note that neither Lea Hough & Co nor the sender accepts any responsibility for viruses and we strongly recommend 

that you scan attachments (if any).

We wish everyone a very Merry Christmas and a Happy New Year.

Our offices will close on Friday, 22nd December 

Registered address: The Barn, Berkeley Drive, Bamber Bridge, PR5 6BY. 
Charity number 229325, Company number 731548.
This message and any files transmitted with it are confidential and intended solely for the individual(s) addressed. If you have received this e-
mail in error, disclosing, copying, distributing or retaining this message or any part of it is strictly prohibited; please notify the sender 
immediately and delete it from your system. Any views or opinions presented are solely those of the author and do not necessarily represent 
those of The Wildlife Trust for Lancashire, Manchester and North Merseyside. The Trust accepts no liability for any damage caused by any 
virus transmitted with this e-mail, so although virus checked before transmission, the recipient should also check for the presence of viruses. 
The information contained in this email may be subject to public disclosure under the Freedom of Information Act 2000. Unless the 
information is legally exempt from disclosure, the confidentiality of this email and any subsequent reply cannot be guaranteed.

Page 2 of 3

29/01/2018about:blank

Page 170



and reopen on Tuesday 2nd  January, 2018.

Rather than sending Christmas cards, Lea Hough will be making a donation to the charity “Pop ‘n’ Grow”

Page 3 of 3

29/01/2018about:blank

Page 171



From: Tim.Bettany-Simmons@canalrivertrust.org.uk
Sent: 12/12/2017 11:37:00
To: Diane.Griffiths@cassassociates.co.uk
Cc: 
Subject: RE: Land at Bank Hey, Blackburn
Project: 1225
Description: Bank Hey, Blackburn
Locaton: 
Client: Lea Hough & Co

Dear Mr Bailey

Thank you for your consultation.  Having reviewed the documentation, as the site is some distance from the 

Leeds & Liverpool canal and our assets, the Canal & River Trust have no comments to make on the proposed 

development.

Kind regards 

Tim Bettany-Simmons BA (HONS), MSc, MRTPI
Area Planner North West & North Wales / Cynlluniwr Ardal Gogledd Orllewin a Gogledd Cymru

M  07342 057926
E  Tim.Bettany-Simmons@canalrivertrust.org.uk

Canal & River Trust  /  Glandwr Cymru, 
Red Bull Wharf, Congleton Road South, Church Lawton, Stoke-on-Trent, Staffordshire, ST7 3AP

Follow @canalrivertrust from the Canal & River Trust on Twitter

Please visit our website to find out more about the Canal & River Trust and download our ‘Shaping our Future document’ on the About 
Us page / Ewch i http://www.canalrivertrust.org.uk/cymraeg i ddysgu mwy am Glandwr Cymru ac i lawrlwytho ein dogfen ‘Llunio ein 
Dyfodol' ar y dudalen Amdanom ni.

From: David Bailey [mailto:David.Bailey@leahough.co.uk] 

Sent: 12 December 2017 10:49

To: David Bailey <David.Bailey@leahough.co.uk>

Subject: Land at Bank Hey, Blackburn

Dear Sirs

On behalf of landowners, we are developing a Masterplan document for land at Bank Hey/Heys Lane, 

Blackburn, with a view to this being subsequently submitted to Blackburn with Darwen Council for adoption.

The site, which extends to approximately 100 acres, is a residential allocation in the Blackburn with Darwen 

Local Plan. The site has challenging gradients and has been the subject of an earthworks design process to 

identify suitable development parcels. These are identified on the Illustrative Masterplan attached.

Further technical work has been undertaken and some is still ongoing to provide an evidence base in 

relation to access, drainage, ecology, trees, air quality and ground conditions. Planning and design work is 

also being undertaken with a view to setting the parameters for future applications. 

Also attached are copies of consultation boards which were presented at a public event held on 7th

December. 

Page 1 of 3

29/01/2018about:blank

Page 172



As part of Blackburn’s adoption requirements, comments are sought from statutory consultees and your 

details have been provided by Blackburn with Darwen for us to circulate the available information for your 

consideration.

Comments should be provided no later than 19th January to:

heyslane@cassassociates.co.uk

Alternatively, for further information, please do not hesitate to contact me. 

Regards

David Bailey

Tel:  01772 458866 

Mob: 07894 935423  

Email: david.bailey@leahough.co.uk

LeaHough
CHARTERED SURVEYORSCHARTERED SURVEYORSCHARTERED SURVEYORSCHARTERED SURVEYORS

You can follow us on Twitter twitter.com/Lea_Hough

8 Eaton Avenue, Matrix Office Park, Buckshaw Village, Lancashire, PR7 7NA.

Lea Hough & Co is a Limited Liability Partnership

Reg Office 7 Ferry Road Office Park, Preston, PR2 2HY

Registered in England and Wales.  Company No. OC306054

The information contained in this email is intended only for the use of the intended recipient at the email address to which it has been addressed.  

If the reader of this message is not an intended recipient you are hereby notified that you have received this document in error and that any 

review, dissemination or copying of the message or associated attachments is strictly prohibited.  If you have received this email in error, please 

contact the sender by return email or call 01772 458866 and ask for the sender and then delete it immediately from your system.  Please note that 

neither Lea Hough & Co nor the sender accepts any responsibility for viruses and we strongly recommend that you scan attachments (if any).

We wish everyone a very Merry Christmas and a Happy New Year.

Our offices will close on Friday, 22nd December 

and reopen on Tuesday 2nd  January, 2018.

Rather than sending Christmas cards, Lea Hough will be making a donation to the charity “Pop ‘n’ Grow”

Keep in touch Sign up for the Canal & River Trust e-newsletter canalrivertrust.org.uk/newsletter 
Become a fan on facebook.com/canalrivertrust Follow us on twitter.com/canalrivertrust and 
instagram.com/canalrivertrust This email and its attachments are intended solely for the use of the 
intended recipient. If you are not the intended recipient of this email and its attachments, you must 
take no action based upon them; please delete without copying or forwarding and inform the sender 
that you received them in error. Any views or opinions expressed are solely those of the author and 
do not necessarily represent those of The Canal & River Trust. Canal & River Trust is a charitable 
company limited by guarantee registered in England & Wales with company number 7807276 and 
charity number 1146792. Registered office address First Floor North, Station House, 500 Elder Gate, 
Milton Keynes MK9 1BB.

Cadw mewn cysylltiad Cofrestrwch i dderbyn e-gylchlythyr Glandwr Cymru 

Page 2 of 3

29/01/2018about:blank

Page 173



canalrivertrust.org.uk/newsletter Cefnogwch ni ar facebook.com/canalrivertrust Dilynwch ni ar 
twitter.com/canalrivertrust ac instagram.com/canalrivertrust

This email and its attachments are intended solely for the use of the intended recipient. If you are not 
the intended recipient of this email and its attachments, you must take no action based upon them; 
please delete without copying or forwarding and inform the sender that you received them in error. 
Any views or opinions expressed are solely those of the author and do not necessarily represent those 
of The Canal & River Trust. Canal & River Trust is a charitable company limited by guarantee 
registered in England & Wales with company number 7807276 and charity number 1146792. 
Registered office address First Floor North, Station House, 500 Elder Gate, Milton Keynes MK9 
1BB.

Mae’r e-bost hwn a’i atodiadau ar gyfer defnydd y derbynnydd bwriedig yn unig. Os nad chi yw 
derbynnydd bwriedig yr e-bost hwn a’i atodiadau, ni ddylech gymryd unrhyw gamau ar sail y 
cynnwys, ond yn hytrach dylech eu dileu heb eu copïo na’u hanfon ymlaen a rhoi gwybod i’r 
anfonwr eich bod wedi eu derbyn ar ddamwain. Mae unrhyw farn neu safbwynt a fynegir yn eiddo 
i’r awdur yn unig ac nid ydynt o reidrwydd yn cynrychioli barn a safbwyntiau Glandwr Cymru.

Mae Glandwr Cymru yn gwmni cyfyngedig drwy warant a gofrestrwyd yng Nghymru a Lloegr gyda 
rhif cwmni 7807276 a rhif elusen gofrestredig 1146792. Swyddfa gofrestredig: First Floor North, 
Station House, 500 Elder Gate, Milton Keynes MK9 1BB.

Page 3 of 3

29/01/2018about:blank

Page 174



Environment Agency 

Lutra House Walton Summit, Bamber Bridge, Preston, PR5 8BX. 
Customer services line: 03708 506 506 
www.gov.uk/environment-agency 

Cont/d.. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Mr David Bailey 
Lea Hough & Co 
8 Eaton Avenue 
Buckshaw Village 
Chorley 
PR7 7NA 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Our ref: NO/2018/110450/01-L02 
Your ref: Bank Hey 
 
Date:  18 January 2018 
 
 

 
Dear Mr Bailey 
 
MASTERPLAN DOCUMENT FOR RESIDENTIAL ALLOCATION LAND AT BANK 
HEY/HEYS LANE, BLACKBURN    
LAND BETWEEN HEYS LANE AND BOG HEIGHT ROAD, BLACKBURN       
 
Thank you for consulting us on the above, which we received 12 December 2017. 
 

Our Preliminary Opinion on this proposal is that the development as submitted raises 
some environmental concerns/issues and the developer will need to undertake further 
work to show how these issues can be satisfactorily addressed to ensure no adverse 
environmental impacts. 
 
Based on the information submitted, we wish to make the following comments: 
 
Historic Landfill 
Our records show that site for the proposed development covers an area that has been 
used as an historic landfill.  Records of materials in-filled include: 

 solid wastes consisting of inert materials from demolition and construction; 

 solid industrial waste of a kind which contain no poisonous, noxious or polluting 
materials; and 

 food waste received until 1987, and significant concentrations of landfill gas have 
been measured. 

 
Given this previous use we would suggest that a site investigation is undertaken as set 
out below:  
 
1) A preliminary risk assessment which has identified: 

 all previous uses; 

 potential contaminants associated with those uses; 

 a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors; and 

 potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site. 

Page 175



  

End 
 

2

 
2) A site investigation scheme, based on (1) to provide information for a detailed 
assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, including those off site. 
 
3) The results of the site investigation and detailed risk assessment referred to in (2) 
and, based on these, an options appraisal and remediation strategy giving full details of 
the remediation measures required and how they are to be undertaken.  
 
4) A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to 
demonstrate that the works set out in the remediation strategy in (3) are complete and 
identifying any requirements for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, 
maintenance and arrangements for contingency action.  
 
If the site investigation is not provided in support of the planning application we would 
request that the Local Planning Authority conditions any grant of permission to this 
effect. 
  
 
 
 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Mrs Liz Locke 
Sustainable Places Officer 
 
e-mail: clplanning @environment-agency.gov.uk 
 
 
 

Page 176



From: Warren.Hilton@highwaysengland.co.uk
Sent: 13/12/2017 13:45:00
To: Diane.Griffiths@cassassociates.co.uk
Cc: David.Wild@highwaysengland.co.uk
Subject: RE: Land at Bank Hey, Blackburn
Project: 1225
Description: Bank Hey, Blackburn
Locaton: 
Client: Lea Hough & Co

Attachment(s): 1225-008 Illustrative Masterplan.pdf, Bank Hey Consultation Boards_30 Nov 17 
LOW RES.PDF 

Dear David,

Thank you for contacting us for comments to inform early planning design work for housing 
development on the Bank Hey allocated site.

The strategic road network (SRN) that we operate nearest to this site comprises the M65 
motorway. The nearest motorway junction to the site is Junction 4, where the SRN only 
extends to the ends of the sliproads and does not include the roundabout, signals of Earcroft 
Way that are part of the local road network operated by Blackburn with Darwen Council. In 
addition, Junction 5 is also readily accessible from the site, but is similar to Junction 4 where 
the roundabout and signals controlling the junction are the responsibility of the local 
authority.

In this context, Highways England’s interest in the traffic impacts of these proposals for up to 
642 homes on the Bank Hey site extends to understanding the effects of the development at 
peak times upon the operation of both these junctions, and in particular concerning the 
ability of vehicles to leave the motorway / potential for mainline queuing issues to emerge or 
be exacerbated by the proposals. Consequently, we would recommend that the eventual 
Transport Assessment TA) demonstrates appropriate trip assignment and modelling of the 
impacts on both junctions for weekday AM/PM peak periods for the year the development 
first becomes available for occupation, but based upon a full build-out. This exercise should 
be repeated for a point ten years after this date, which is a requirement of the governing DfT 
Policy Circular 02/2013 ‘The Strategic Road Network and the Delivery of Sustainable 
Development’. Although we do not currently have traffic models available for either junction, 
we are aware that Blackburn with Darwen Council may have recent modelling available of 
both junctions 

We would therefore request that the TA fully reflects the above and wider requirements of 
policy Circular 02/2013, and is developed using the principles set out in the guidance 
document ‘The strategic road network: Planning for the future - A guide to working with 
Highways England on planning matters’, which are both available online.

In addition to this, we will also expect to see measures to reduce private vehicle demand 
and promote transport sustainability within the development. For example, this should be 
promoted through design (such as provision of direct, high standard walking and cycling 
routes through the site to nearby amenities and public transport access points) and 
implemented and monitored as part of a Travel Plan for the site.

Page 1 of 3

29/01/2018about:blank

Page 177



We hope that this information is useful. If you would like to discuss anything about this email, 
please contact me.

Kind regards,

Warren Hilton, Assistant Asset Manager
Highways England | Piccadilly Gate | Store Street | Manchester | M1 2WD
Tel: +44 (0) 300 470 5226
Web: http://www.highways.gov.uk

From: David Bailey [mailto:David.Bailey@leahough.co.uk] 

Sent: 12 December 2017 10:43
To: Planning NW

Subject: Land at Bank Hey, Blackburn

Dear Sirs

On behalf of landowners, we are developing a Masterplan document for land at Bank Hey/Heys Lane, 

Blackburn, with a view to this being subsequently submitted to Blackburn with Darwen Council for adoption.

The site, which extends to approximately 100 acres, is a residential allocation in the Blackburn with Darwen 

Local Plan. The site has challenging gradients and has been the subject of an earthworks design process to 

identify suitable development parcels. These are identified on the Illustrative Masterplan attached.

Further technical work has been undertaken and some is still ongoing to provide an evidence base in 

relation to access, drainage, ecology, trees, air quality and ground conditions. Planning and design work is 

also being undertaken with a view to setting the parameters for future applications. 

Also attached are copies of consultation boards which were presented at a public event held on 7th

December. 

As part of Blackburn’s adoption requirements, comments are sought from statutory consultees and your 

details have been provided by Blackburn with Darwen for us to circulate the available information for your 

consideration.

Comments should be provided no later than 19th January to:

heyslane@cassassociates.co.uk

Alternatively, for further information, please do not hesitate to contact me. 

Regards

David Bailey

Tel:  01772 458866 

Mob: 07894 935423  

Email: david.bailey@leahough.co.uk

LeaHough
CHARTERED SURVEYORSCHARTERED SURVEYORSCHARTERED SURVEYORSCHARTERED SURVEYORS

You can follow us on Twitter twitter.com/Lea_Hough

8 Eaton Avenue, Matrix Office Park, Buckshaw Village, Lancashire, PR7 7NA.

Page 2 of 3

29/01/2018about:blank

Page 178



Lea Hough & Co is a Limited Liability Partnership

Reg Office 7 Ferry Road Office Park, Preston, PR2 2HY

Registered in England and Wales.  Company No. OC306054

The information contained in this email is intended only for the use of the intended recipient at the email address to which it has been addressed.  If 

the reader of this message is not an intended recipient you are hereby notified that you have received this document in error and that any review, 

dissemination or copying of the message or associated attachments is strictly prohibited.  If you have received this email in error, please contact the 

sender by return email or call 01772 458866 and ask for the sender and then delete it immediately from your system.  Please note that neither Lea 

Hough & Co nor the sender accepts any responsibility for viruses and we strongly recommend that you scan attachments (if any).

We wish everyone a very Merry Christmas and a Happy New Year.

Our offices will close on Friday, 22nd December 

and reopen on Tuesday 2nd  January, 2018.

Rather than sending Christmas cards, Lea Hough will be making a donation to the charity “Pop ‘n’ Grow”

______________________________________________________________________
This email has been scanned by the Symantec Email Security.cloud service.
For more information please visit http://www.symanteccloud.com
______________________________________________________________________

This email may contain information which is confidential and is intended only for use of the 
recipient/s named above. If you are not an intended recipient, you are hereby notified that 
any copying, distribution, disclosure, reliance upon or other use of the contents of this email 
is strictly prohibited. If you have received this email in error, please notify the sender and 
destroy it.

Highways England Company Limited | General enquiries: 0300 123 5000 |National 
Traffic Operations Centre, 3 Ridgeway, Quinton Business Park, Birmingham B32 1AF |
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/highways-england | 
info@highwaysengland.co.uk

Registered in England and Wales no 9346363 | Registered Office: Bridge House, 1 Walnut 
Tree Close, Guildford, Surrey GU1 4LZ  

Consider the environment. Please don't print this e-mail unless you really need to.

Page 3 of 3

29/01/2018about:blank

Page 179



EBD: V1/16 Page 1 of 7 

 

EXECUTIVE BOARD DECISION 

REPORT OF:  
 

Executive Member for Finance and Governance
                   

LEAD OFFICERS: Director of Finance and Customer Services 
  
 

DATE: 11 June 2020 

 

PORTFOLIO/S 
AFFECTED:  
 

All                                      

WARD/S AFFECTED: All                                                                 

KEY DECISION: YES      NO    

 

SUBJECT: CORPORATE REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING REPORT QUARTER 4 - 2019/20 
OUTTURN POSITION  
 

 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The report details the overall revenue position of the Council for the year ended 31st March 2020, 

highlighting the key issues for review. It also determines the year end position with regard to portfolio 

under/overspends and the impact on earmarked and unallocated reserves. 

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
The Executive Board is asked to approve: 

• the portfolio budget adjustments outlined in Appendix 1. 

• carry forward of the specific amounts shown in Appendix 1 from 2019/20 to 2020/21. 

• the earmarked reserves position shown in Appendix 2 

• the variations to revenue expenditure, as listed in Section 6, thereby giving rise to a revised        

balance of £7.173 million on the unallocated General Fund revenue reserve at 31st March 2020.  

 

3. BACKGROUND 
All portfolios are required to examine their revenue budget position on a monthly basis. Regular reports 
are submitted to Executive Board for review along with a final report, detailing the financial outturn 
position. 
 

 

4. KEY ISSUES & RISKS 
Actual net revenue expenditure at 31st March 2020 was £140.802 million, compared to an original 
budget of £137.345 million i.e. an increase in net expenditure of £3.457 million.  
 

Page 180

Agenda Item 8.5



EBD: V1/16 Page 2 of 7 

Portfolio controllable expenditure, including Schools & Education (DSG), was £118.997 million for the 

year, which was £2.777 million more than the revised budget of £116.220 million, approved by 

Executive Board in February 2020. 

General Fund unallocated reserves are £7.173 million at 31st March 2020, compared to £5.902m 

million at 31st March 2019. The increase relates to a number of transfers both to and from unallocated 

reserves that were approved during the year, together with final outturn adjustments detailed in Section 

6. 

The Council holds earmarked reserves of £19.152 million for discretionary purposes. These include;  

• £1.075 million to fund improvements to assets and infrastructure 

• £2.604 million to meet the cost of downsizing and transformation in future years, including 

potential redundancy costs  

• £3.341 million for People services, including amounts set aside to meet future demand pressures 

• £1.111 million for Place and Resources services  

• £0.163 million set aside in respect of welfare and local taxation reform.  

• £8.309 million in respect of grants, contributions and other budgets carried forward from 2019/20 

to 2020/21 to meet specific costs (this includes £5.151 million in respect of the first tranche of 

COVID 19 funding from central government received late in March 2020). 

• £2.549 million set aside for specified purposes.  

The Council also holds reserves of £9.114 million in relation to expenditure for Schools and Education, 

and £0.365 million is held in respect of joint arrangements, charitable purposes and other ring-fenced 

commitments. 

 

5. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 
 
The information contained within the report accords with the three year budget forecast within the 

Medium Term Financial Strategy 2019-22, as approved at Finance Council on 25th February 2019. 

 

6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 REVENUE BUDGETS AND EXPENDITURE  
 

6.1.1 Revenue Budget Overview 
 
Portfolio controllable budgets were overspent by £5.312 million at 31st March 2020; this has been 
funded through the Council’s reserves. The summary of the outturn revenue position is as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 181



EBD: V1/16 Page 3 of 7 

 Original 
Budget (after 

portfolio 
changes) 

Revised Budget 
(incl outturn 

adjustments at 
Appendix 1) 

Actual 
Outturn 

Variation from 
Revised Budget 

Over/ (Under) 
spend 

Net Expenditure £000 £000 £000 £000 

Adults & Prevention Services 50,035 49,811 49,523 (288) 

Public Health and Wellbeing 2,323 1,995 1,829 (166) 

Children, Young People & 
Education 

30,782 30,950 34,615 3,665 

Environmental Services 8,926 8.795 8,619 (176) 

Growth & Development 7,705 6,322 6,312 (10) 

Digital & Customer Services 5,526 5,611 5,361 (250) 

Finance & Governance 10,804 11,142 10,650 (492) 

Schools and Education (DSG) (941) (941) 2,088 3,029 

Net portfolio controllable 
expenditure 

115,160 113,685 118,997 5,312 

Contribution from schools for 
prudential borrowing 

(650) (650) (650) 0 

Contribution to capital 
expenditure 

300 1,073 1,073 0 

Interest and debt repayment  19,559 17,929 17,787 (142) 

Amounts to be allocated / 
contingencies 

4,151 2,897 2,897 0 

Parish councils 184 184 184 0 

Total net expenditure 138,704 135,118 140,288 5,170 

Contribution (from)/to reserves (1,359) 7,684 2,878 (4,806) 

Total net budget 137,345 142,802 143,166 364 

     

Financed by:     

Non-ringfenced Government 
grants 

(53,234) (58,691) (59,055) (364) 

Non-domestic rates (30,843) (30,843) (30,843) 0 

Council tax (52,758) (52,758) (52,758) 0 

Net deficit on Collection Fund (510) (510) (510) 0 

Total financing (137,345) (142,802) (143,166) (364) 

 
Page 182



EBD: V1/16 Page 4 of 7 

6.1.2 Performance against budgets 
Appendix 1 details the portfolio budgets at 31st December 2019, as approved by the Executive Board 

in February 2020 (totalling £116.220 million), together with the details of all of the adjustments 

recommended to the Board for approval in this Quarter 4 Outturn report; these result in a revised total 

budget allocation across the portfolios of £113.685 million, and reflect: 

• transfers to and from earmarked reserves to support spending on specific schemes for which 

these reserves were established, or to replenish these reserves  

• transfers from unallocated reserves to support budget pressures 

• transfers to unallocated reserves in respect of savings made 

• transfers from sums held in contingencies 

• transfers to earmarked or unallocated reserves in respect of grants / contributions and other 

year-end budget carryover requests 

The outturn position and key financial issues for each portfolio are as follows: 

Adults and Prevention Services 
The final outturn position for the portfolio was an underspend of £288,000. Principally, the variation 

reflects an overspend of £623,000 on external commissioning budgets, offset by contributions in 

respect of the Disabled Facilities Grant administration fee of £161,000 and Adult Personal Social 

Services funding of £139,000 together with other managed savings across the portfolio, predominantly 

on staffing. 

Throughout the course of 2019/20 the portfolio has faced pressures from demand on the commissioned 

services budget. However the implementation of demand management strategies, delivering savings 

as part of budget strategy, and management of transitions have assisted in mitigating these pressures 

as far as possible. 

It is anticipated that these pressures will continue into 2020/21 and so the department has plans in 

place to review specific areas of the commissioning budget to try to contain costs and continue 

developing further efficiency programmes going forward. These include review in the area of joint 

financing, invest to save opportunities to facilitate more effective demand management and contract 

negotiation to reduce void costs. 

 
Public Health and Wellbeing 
The portfolio ended the year with an underspend of £165,000 in relation to Leisure & Culture services. 

In the main this was due to income performance being better than expected for budget heads in the 

area of halls & entertainment as well as public halls hospitality exceeding the income targets.  

The Public Health department has achieved a breakeven position at outturn, following the transfer of 

ring-fenced grant funding of £422,000 to the Public Health Reserve. The transfer relates to agreed and 

contracted expenditure, in respect of programmes that will continue into 2020/21. 

Children, Young People and Education 
As reported throughout the year, the Children’s Services portfolio continued to experience increased 

levels of demand resulting in significant cost pressures in 2019/20. The portfolio’s final position for the 

year shows an overspend of £3,665,300. Efforts have been made wherever possible to contain these 

costs and a new Duty and Advice service has been introduced in order to manage the “front door” and 
Page 183



EBD: V1/16 Page 5 of 7 

assessment activity more effectively. This new service has had a positive impact and the numbers of 

referrals have been reduced significantly, however it will take time before we see fewer numbers of 

‘looked after’ children and a resultant reduction in the cost pressures. 

 

The main variations arose across the placement budgets, with the largest overspend being £4,014,000 

against externally commissioned placements. Other significant overspends were seen against special 

guardianship orders (£548,000) and the fostering service (£491,000). These cost pressures were 

partially offset by utilisation of external funding and other savings achieved across the remainder of the 

portfolio.    

 

Environmental Services 

The portfolio had forecast a breakeven position for the year end, however savings on waste disposal 
arising from reduced tonnages offset the portfolio pressures and has resulted in an underspend at 
outturn of £176,000.  
 

Growth and Development 

The portfolio had previously reported pressures in respect of highway maintenance, the Mall market 

and the bus station but following action taken to mitigate these pressures during the year, the outturn 

position resulted in a minor underspend of £10,000. 

Digital and Customer Services 

The portfolio had forecast an underspend of £250,000 at the end of Quarter 3 due to restructure within 

the ITM&G Team and a number of vacancies held during the year, the final outturn position is as 

previously forecast.  

 

Finance and Governance 

The portfolio has underspent by £492,000 having previously reported a break even position. There are 

two main reasons for this variance; a significantly better than forecast outturn on our profit share 

agreement with the Mall for 2019/20, and increased income from commercial rents. 

 

Dedicated Schools Grant / Schools Block 

Schools and Education is primarily funded by the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG). Expenditure against 
this grant is monitored by the Schools Forum, at which financial reports are considered on a regular 
basis. 
 
The reported deficit of £3.029 million is made up of a reduction across all of the individual school 
balances of £736,000, and an overspend of £2,293,000 in respect of centrally retained budgets. The 
majority of the latter is attributable to the High Needs Block and is due to demand pressures in respect 
of children with Special Educational Needs. The Department for Education (DfE) have invested an 
additional £2.2 million (12%) into the Council’s High Needs Block in the financial year 2020/21. 
 
The above variations reduce the level of the School Balances Reserve to £5.274 million and the 
Dedicated Schools Grant Reserve to £3.840 million. 
 
6.2 General Fund Unallocated Reserves 
 

The table below shows the movements in unallocated reserves since the last Executive Board report 
in February 2020. 
 
 
 

Page 184



EBD: V1/16 Page 6 of 7 

 £’000 £’000 

Forecast unallocated reserves as per Executive Board  

Report February 2020 
 

8,876 

Transfers to / from unallocated reserves   

Net savings in respect of interest and debt repayment costs 142  

Carbon Reduction Commitment saving 290  

Additional government grant income  350  

Funding for PFI affordability gap (95)  

Net increase in “ringfenced” budgets  (76)  

Other net variations (31)  

  580 

Net cost of portfolio overspends (excluding Schools & 

Education DSG) 
 

(2,283) 

Balance on unallocated general fund reserves at 31 

March 2020 
 

7,173 

 
6.3 Earmarked reserves 
Total earmarked reserves stand at £28.631 million at 31st March 2020 comprising reserves for 

discretionary use by the Council of £19.152 million and other earmarked reserves of £9.479 million, 

which largely comprise reserves held in respect of schools.   

Details of the requested application of reserves are included in Appendix 1.  

Details of all earmarked reserve balances at 31st March 2020 are shown in Appendix 2. This Appendix 

shows all movements in the specific reserves since the February 2020 Executive Board report 

including: 

• utilisation of the individual reserves 

• increases made to these reserves from unallocated reserves or creation of new reserves 

• revenue contributions made to capital that are no longer required in 2019/20 

• transfers to reserves in respect of grants / contributions and other budgets for carry forward from 

2019/20 into 2020/21 

 

7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
The Council has a duty to ensure it can deliver a balanced budget. The Local Government Act 2003 
imposes a duty on an authority to monitor its budgets during the year and consider what action to take 
if a potential deterioration is identified. 
 

 

Page 185



EBD: V1/16 Page 7 of 7 

8. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
None. 
 

 

9. EQUALITY AND HEALTH IMPLICATIONS 
Please select one of the options below.  Where appropriate please include the hyperlink to the 
EIA. 
 
Option 1    Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) not required – the EIA checklist has been completed. 

 
Option 2    In determining this matter the Executive Member needs to consider the EIA associated 
with this item in advance of making the decision. (insert EIA link here)  
 
Option 3    In determining this matter the Executive Board Members need to consider the EIA 
associated with this item in advance of making the decision. (insert EIA attachment) 
 

 

10. CONSULTATIONS 
 
Not applicable 

 

11. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE  
The recommendations are made further to advice from the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151 
Officer has confirmed that they do not incur unlawful expenditure.  They are also compliant with equality 
legislation and an equality analysis and impact assessment has been considered. The 
recommendations reflect the core principles of good governance set out in the Council’s Code of 
Corporate Governance. 
 

 

12. DECLARATION OF INTEREST 
All Declarations of Interest of any Executive Member consulted and note of any dispensation granted 
by the Chief Executive will be recorded in the Summary of Decisions published on the day following the 
meeting. 

 

VERSION: 0.01 

 

CONTACT OFFICER: Julie Jewson (Extn 5893)  

DATE: 28th May 2020 

BACKGROUND 

PAPER: 

N/A 

 

Page 186



Adults and 

Prevention 

Services

Public Health & 

Wellbeing

Children, Young 

People & 

Education

Environmental 

Services

Growth & 

Development

Digital & 

Customer 

Services

Finance & 

Governance

Schools & 

Education (DSG) TOTAL

£  £  £  £  £  £  £  £  £ 

 Controllable Budget approved at Executive Board February 2020 50,518,420 2,476,254 31,081,289 8,741,615 7,983,591 5,538,947 10,820,951 (941,000) 116,220,067 

 ER/VR and Pension Strain adjustments   4,800 (74,500) 3,500 8,800 23,400 (34,000)

 Better Care Fund (103,300) (103,300)

 CCTV Hub Reserve (32,502) (32,502)

 Flexible Homelessness Support grant (FHSG) - utilise funds  transferred 

to reserve in year 10,000 10,000 

 Utilise funds set aside for Strengthen Communities - Volunteering in 

Lancashire (SCVL) ESF Project 30,700 30,700 

 Transfer back to Commuted Sums (S106) Reserve - Spring Vale Garden (2,000) (2,000)

 Transfer back to Commuted Sums (S106) Reserve  - Green Lane Multi 

Use Games Area (3,000) (3,000)

 Transfer to Arts Acquisition Reserve  (1,073) (1,073)

 Transfer to Turton Charity Reserve  (7,200) (7,200)

 Transfer to YOT Partnership Reserve  (140,905) (140,905)

 Transfer to LSCB Safeguarding Partners Fund 18,829 18,829 

 Transfer to Troubled Families Reserve  (93,792) (93,792)

 Transfer to Troubled Families / Targetted Youth Support Reserve (40,000) (40,000)

 Transfer from SEN Reform Grant Reserve 141,901 141,901 

 Utilise prior year underspend on PFI codes to part fund affordability 

gap 13,450 13,450 

 Transfer to Schools Improvement (SSIF) Reserve  (51,560) (51,560)

 Transfer from Commuted Sums (S106) Reserve to fund additional 

payment to community group 10,000 10,000 

  Developers Contributions (S106 income) received in year  (1,181,701) (1,181,701)

Transfer to Highways Winter Maintenance Reserve (70,671) (70,671)

 Transfer from Building Control Reserve 39,163 39,163 

 Transfer from Digital Programme Reserve 82,200 82,200 

 Transfer from Welfare and Council Tax Reforms Reserve - Funding for 

emergency support to Nightsafe, Thomas and Foodbank 15,000 15,000 

 Transfer from Office Accommodation and property improvements 

reserve to fund corporate accomodation spending 13,620 13,620 

 Community Support Unit - request to carry forward underspend - 

business case SO (35,700) (35,700)

 Carry forward Library Resource Fund (9,500) (9,500)

 Early Years request for carry forward due to COVID-19 halt on 

maintenance (14,300) (14,300)

 Carry over re Virtual School  (47,800) (47,800)

 Community Hygiene - request carry forward income from Land 

Charges to fund future service pressures (4,089) (4,089)

 Carry forward Support for the Local Plan (105,400) (105,400)

0 

A
P

P
EN

D
IX

 1

 SCHEDULE OF BUDGET ADJUSTMENTS REQUESTED - QUARTER 4 2019/20 

Transfers (to)/from earmarked reserves

Version 0.1   03/06/20

P
age 187



Adults and 

Prevention 

Services

Public Health & 

Wellbeing

Children, Young 

People & 

Education

Environmental 

Services

Growth & 

Development

Digital & 

Customer 

Services

Finance & 

Governance

Schools & 

Education (DSG) TOTAL

 SCHEDULE OF BUDGET ADJUSTMENTS REQUESTED - QUARTER 4 2019/20 

 Ringfenced accounts: 0 

   Benefit award payments   371,751 371,751 

   Benefit overpayment provision   (267,471) (267,471)

   Coroners   (6,473) (6,473)

   Flood Defence Levy   35 35 

   Non Distributed costs   (21,657) (21,657)

 Funding for PFI affordability gap 95,017 95,017 

Apprentice Levy 52,000 24,400 75,700 23,800 26,600 19,600 25,900 248,000 

Corporate funding for apprentices 418,000 418,000 

Contribution to Greater Lancashire Plan via NNDR 75% Pilot Pool 65,700 65,700 

0 

Underspends arising from unspent grants and contributions

  Stay Safe monies (9,339) (9,339)

 Accommodation Based Support Grant  (10,811) (10,811)

 Home Office monies (Dovetail) (13,128) (13,128)

 Youth Endowment Fund (21,145) (21,145)

 Talk English monies (20,604) (20,604)

 Social Integration funding (536,621) (536,621)

 Communities Fund/Localities    (14,000) (14,000)

 Burdens Fund monies (2,361) (2,361)

  Public Health England Grant to earmarked reserve (funds required in 

2020-21 for delivery of Public Health service)    (422,105) (422,105)

 Arts Council  (28,800) (28,800)

 Museum & Arts Project  (20,000) (20,000)

 Museum & Schools Grant (17,300) (17,300)

 Practitioner Training Grant  (3,249) (3,249)

 Linking Network (10,000) (10,000)

 S278 contribuitions  (216,000) (216,000)

 Capacity Funding Grant Darwen Town Centre (162,000) (162,000)

 NHS funding for LPRES integration with Mosaic and spine mini services 

(5652) (29,600) (29,600)

 Combined Authority Grant (48,240) (48,240)

  One Public Estate grant   (310,545) (310,545)

0 

Other budget adjustments

 COVID 19 cost funded via additional grant funding 20,300 41,500 61,800 

0 

0 

 Revised Controllable Budget as at 31st March 2020 49,811,409 1,994,676 30,950,080 8,795,126 6,322,382 5,611,147 11,141,471 (941,000) 113,685,291

A
P

P
EN

D
IX

 1

Transfers (to)/from unallocated reserves

Transfers (to)/from contingency

Version 0.1   03/06/20

P
age 188



APPENDIX 2

Balance at 31 

December 2019

Balance at 31 

March 2020

As reported to Exec 

Board February 2020

Utilisation of 

reserves

Carry over of 

grants & 

contributions / 

other increase in 

reserves

Q3

£000 £000 £000 £000
Welfare, council tax and business rates reforms

Welfare and council tax reforms 178 (15) 163

Brexit Preparation
Brexit Preparation Funding 315 315

Investment in assets and infrastructure
Office Accommodation and property improvements 812 (14) 798
Highways winter maintenance 24 71 95
Support for the Local Plan 0 105 105
Flood Defence 77 77

Support for Other Resources and Transformation projects
Legal Advice Reserve 105 105
Partnerships & Transformation 78 78
Insurance risk investment fund 43 43

Support for People Services
Schools Improvement (SSIF) 184 52 236
Troubled Families / Targetted Youth Support 134 134
YOT partnership 150 141 291
Music Services 117 117
Disabled Facilities Grants 289 289
Future Demand Pressures 1,799 1,799
Better Care Fund  372 103 475

Support for Place Services

Investment to support business rates growth 320 320
Place Shaping Investment Reserve 250 250

Contingent sums to support future downsizing and transformation programmes
Support for future redundancy costs 501 (41) 75 535
Support for part year effect of future savings plans 1,187 1,187
Digital Programme  964 (82) 882

Amounts b/fwd from previous year(s) in respect of unspent grants and contributions

Transformation Challenge Award 64 64
SEN / SEND Reform Grant /SEND Prep for Empl 183 (142) 41
Public Health Grant 0 422 422
Transforming Lives 37 37
One Public Estate grant 163 311 474
Electoral Grant 57 57
DCLG Transparency Code New Burdens 13 13
Adult PSS - Local Reform and Community Voices 108 108
Adult PSS - War Pensions Disregard 30 30
Flexible Housing Support Grant (FHSG) 48 (10) 38
FHSG Top-up 15 15
Homelessness Reduction Act New Burdens Funding 67 67
Social Integration funding 270 537 807
NHS Funding for LPRES integration with Mosaic and spine mini services 0 29 29
S278 contributions 216 216
Capacity Funding Grant Darwen Town Centre 162 162
COVID-19 Funding from MHCLG (62) 5,213 5,151
Combined Authority Grant 48 48
Arts Council 29 29
Museum & Arts Project 20 20
Museum & Schools Grant 17 17
Stay Safe Grant 9 9
Accommodation Based Support Grant 11 11
Home Office monies (Dovetail) 13 13
Youth Endowment Fund 21 21
Talk English Grant 21 21
Communities Fund/Localities   14 14
Burdens Fund monies 2 2
Practitioner Training Grant 3 3
Linking Network 10 10
Custom build Grant 15 15

Amounts committed in future year budgets/MTFS
Budget carry over for implementation of Concerto (Property system) 20 20
Budget carry over for Intack Depot driveway 10 10

Requested Transfers to/(from) 

earmarked reserves in Qtr 4

DETAILS OF GENERAL FUND EARMARKED RESERVES FOR USE BY THE COUNCIL

Page 189



APPENDIX 2

Balance at 31 

December 2019

Balance at 31 

March 2020

As reported to Exec 

Board February 2020

Utilisation of 

reserves

Carry over of 

grants & 

contributions / 

other increase in 

reserves

Q3

£000 £000 £000 £000

Requested Transfers to/(from) 

earmarked reserves in Qtr 4

DETAILS OF GENERAL FUND EARMARKED RESERVES FOR USE BY THE COUNCIL

CCTV Hub carry forward 73 33 106
Development Investment Fund (Capital) 1 1
Underspend on PFI codes 13 (13) 0
Strengthening Communities Volunteering in Lancashire (SCVL) 128 (31) 97
Carry over for Virtual School 0 48 48
Carry forward Library Resource Fund 0 9 9
Community Support Unit - request to carry forward underspend - business case SO 36 36

Early Years request for carry forward due to COVID-19 halt on maintenance 14 14
Community Hygiene - request carry forward income from Land Charges 4 4

Reserves held for specified purposes
Developers Contributions (S106 Income) * (147) (10) 1,226 1,069
Future Maintenance of Wainwright Bridge 306 162 468
Future Maintenance of Witton Park 3G Pitches 25 25
Future remediation costs in respect of former landfill sites 400 400
Highways claims anticipated for years up to current year but not yet received 300 300
Art Acquisitions Fund 16 1 17
W. Ferrier Bequest (for museum re Kathleen Ferrier) 20 20
Allowance for contingent liabilities (e.g. MMI) 250 250

TOTAL EARMARKED RESERVES FOR DISCRETIONARY USE 10,235 (420) 9,337 19,152

Other Earmarked' Reserves 
Reserves held in respect of joint arrangements and charitable bodies

Darwen Market Traders Association 2 2
Joint Building Control Account 201 (39) 162
Turton Tower Charity 59 7 66
LSCB Safeguarding Partners Fund 155 (20) 135

Reserves held in relation to schools
Dedicated Schools Grant - Surplus 6,993 (2,293) (860) 3,840
LMS Schools Balances 5,150 (736) 860 5,274

TOTAL 'OTHER EARMARKED' RESERVES 12,560 (3,088) 7 9,479

TOTAL EARMARKED RESERVES 22,795 (3,508) 9,344 28,631

UNALLOCATED RESERVES 8,876 (4,632) 2,929 7,173

Page 190



EXECUTIVE BOARD DECISION 

 

REPORT OF: Executive Member for Finance and Governance, 
Executive Member for Growth and Development 

LEAD OFFICERS: Director of Growth & Development 

DATE: 
 

Thursday, 11 June 2020 

 

PORTFOLIO(S) AFFECTED: Growth and Development  

WARD/S AFFECTED: Darwen East; Darwen South;  

KEY DECISION: Y  

 

SUBJECT: 

Part 1 - of Council Land off Ellison Fold Way (EFW) off Marsh House Lane, Darwen 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1 This report outlines the outcome of an informal tender exercise for Council owned land off 
Marsh House Lane in Darwen, referred to as EFW - Phase 1, and seeks approval to 
dispose of the site for housing development to Bidder A, the company recommended as 
preferred bidder. 

 
1.2 To note that Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council and Lea Hough (appointed land agent) 

have jointly brought forward this residential development opportunity, which incorporates 
Council and privately owned land, through an informal tender process administered by Council 
officers. 

 
1.3 To note that the sale of the land will be undertaken on behalf of the Council and the private 

landowners by jointly appointed solicitors.  
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

That the Executive Board: 
 
2.1 Approves the appointment of Bidder A as preferred bidder. 
 
2.2 Delegates authority to conclude negotiations, including terms of the land sale and disposal 

contracts, to the Growth Programme Director in consultation with the Executive Members for 
Finance and Governance and Growth and Development to approve the final terms. 

 
2.3 Notes the Council has been advised that Bidder A is also the preferred developer for the 

Phase 2 development at Ellison Fold Way. 
 

3. BACKGROUND 

 
3.1 The EFW Phase 1 development land comprises four parcels (shown edged red on the 

attached plan Appendix A) which are in Council and private ownerships. Parcels 1, 2A and 2C 
are Council land and parcel 2B is private land.  The EFW Phase 2 land area is also illustrated 
on the plan attached at Appendix A. 

 

Page 191

Agenda Item 9.1



3.2 The Council land parcels 1, 2A and 2C have been marketed for sale by informal tender as 
confirmed in the Executive Board Decision - Growth Programme 2019/20: Site Disposal & 
Development Projects March 2019. 

 
3.3 The tender period was from 20th January 2020 to 16th March 2020.   
 
3.4 A ‘Data Room’ was set up on the Council’s website which contained all tender 

information. A technical pack comprising reports and surveys commissioned on the 
Council’s land parcel was also available upon request and accessible via a unique web 
link, which was issued by the Growth Team. A total of 17 potential bidders requested and 
were issued with the link. 

 
3.5 The joint marketing strategy with Lea Hough included: 

 targeted electronic mailshot to over 120 developers and contractors;  

 over 7000 registered users targeted by Place North West, which translated into 305 
industry users viewing the tender information; 

 promotion on the Council and Right Move websites; and  

 telephone and 1-1 meetings with potential bidders. 
 
3.6 The informal tender form required interested parties to:  

 Make an offer for the housing development site using the technical surveys provided 
whilst still undertaking their own due diligence; 

 Make an offer conditional on planning 

 Offer to include the requested s106 contributions as determined by the Local Planning 
Authority; 

 Show proposed layout, house types, tenure and numbers;  

 Demonstrate previous housing development experience; 

 Demonstrate financial resources and source of finance ; and 

 Outline timeframe for development.  
 
3.7 The tenders have been evaluated in accordance with the criteria referred to under 3.6 above. 

 

4. KEY ISSUES & RISKS 

 
4.1 The Council received significant interest in the EFW Phase 1 development opportunity. Six 

informal tenders were received by the closing date of 12.00 pm 16th March 2020. Tenders 
were opened at 4.00 pm on the 17th March 2020. 

 
4.2 Whist 4 of the bidders were known to Council officers and Lea Hough, only one of the known 

bidders had previously developed in the borough in recent years, and were attracted by the 
quality of the site on offer and the comprehensive data pack. 

 
4.3 The offers received prior to shortlisting and requesting additional information are confirmed in 

Table A of the Part 2 report. 
 
4.4  Following a clarification process from all bidders, submissions from Bidder E and Bidder F 

were not progressed to the shortlisting process due to low value land offers and scheme 
concerns. 

 
4.5 The 4 bids that were shortlisted and fully evaluated are fully detailed in Table B of the Part 2 

report. 
 

Page 192



4.6   Analysis of recent land sales in the Borough of similar development size and density 
highlights    that the offer by Bidder A represents a significant bid for the land and the Council 
will have achieved best value by disposing of the site for the offered amount. 

 
4.7   Upon analysis the trend for each of the bidders shows that fewer units per acre are 

delivered on the Council’s plots, reflecting site constraints and demonstrating that the 
decision to jointly market the sites with the land agent has proved to be beneficial and 
unlocked additional value of the Council’s land. 

 
4.8   Bidder A’s offer not only represents the best value following full evaluation of conditions of 

offer; Bidder A also provided a thorough understanding of the site constraints, accurate 
interpretation of local market requirements, a good level of detail showing an appropriate 
scheme layout and design, with significant previous experience of high quality housing 
delivery and open space proposals.  Bidder A is an established, knowledgeable and 
reputable local developer and has been active in the borough for many years.    

 
4.9   For these reasons it is recommended that the Council accept Bidder A’s offer and appoint 

the company as preferred bidder. Bidder A has provisionally accepted the conditions of sale 
and Heads of Terms in the tender documentation.   

 
4.10 Parcel 3 (shown edged red on the attached plan Appendix A) is also Council owned land and 

is 0.12 ha in size.  This supplementary land parcel will support the development of EFW 
Phase 2 and will be used as garden areas or ancillary open space for the overall 
development. Whilst not essential, it is recommended to include this land in the overall 
transaction to enable an enhanced scheme to be delivered and is valued on a pro-rata basis.  

 
4.11 The transfer of land parcel 3 will be subject to satisfying any restrictions or covenants on the 

land title which may restrict the disposal. Final details of this will be undertaken during the 
land conveyancing stage.  
 

4.12 To note, Bidder A has been continuing to construct homes in the Borough throughout the 
COVID-19 lockdown stage.   

 
4.13 The main heads of terms are detailed in the Part 2 report. 

 

5. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

 
The disposal of the site via an informal tender is in line with the Council’s disposal policy to secure 
best consideration and satisfies procurement requirements. 

 

6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
6.1 The purchase price will be split pro-rata to land area and detailed in the Part 2 report.  

 
6.2 The Council will receive a capital receipt and the development will support future increases in 

Council Tax income as well as New Homes Bonus. 
 

6.3 The Council will receive a section 106 contribution as detailed in the Part 2 report. 
 
6.4 The Legal costs for the jointly appointed solicitors will represent cost efficiencies and ensure 

both parties are represented with consistency. 
 

 

7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 Page 193



7.1 The Council will look to safeguard its interests in ensuring that its land is developed in line with 
its future revenue benefit projections by agreeing a build programme with the developer to the 
extent that it can legally do so without undertaking formal procurement. 

 
7.2 As the proposed disposal is for the freehold of the land, then various aspects of S123 of the 

Local Government Act 1972 (“the Act”) are considered to apply. 
 
7.3 The Council seeks to achieve best consideration reasonably obtainable for the site, unless the 

Council can apply the exemptions permitted by Government Circular. Although the Council 
has a general power of competence pursuant to s1 of the Localism Act 2011 to do anything 
that individuals can legally do, the Local Government Act 1972 and General Disposal Consent 
(England) 2003 to seek Best Consideration still applies and so this must be minded when the 
Council makes any decision to sell via any process, including an informal tender process. 

 

8. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

 
The disposal will be managed by the Growth team and Lea Hough.  The jointly appointed solicitors 
will be required to complete all the legal formalities relating to the freehold disposal and will 
interface with the Council’s legal team on matters relating to formal execution of contract 
documentation etc.. 

 

9. EQUALITY AND HEALTH IMPLICATIONS 

Please select one of the options below.   
 

Option 1   ☒ Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) not required – the EIA checklist has been 

 completed. 
 

Option 2   ☐ In determining this matter the Executive Member needs to consider the EIA 

 associated with this item in advance of making the decision.  
 

Option 3   ☐ In determining this matter the Executive Board Members need to consider the EIA 

 associated with this item in advance of making the decision. 
 

 

10. CONSULTATIONS 

 
A series of public consultations took place as part of the local plan process, resulting in the 
Council allocating the site for housing development in the Blackburn with Darwen Local Plan Part 
2 (2015).  Further statutory stakeholder and public consultations will be undertaken during the full 
planning application process. 

 

11. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE 

The recommendations are made further to advice from the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151 
Officer has confirmed that they do not incur unlawful expenditure.  They are also compliant with 
equality legislation and an equality analysis and impact assessment has been considered. The 
recommendations reflect the core principles of good governance set out in the Council’s Code of 
Corporate Governance. 
 

 

12. DECLARATION OF INTEREST 

All Declarations of Interest of any Executive Member consulted and note of any dispensation 
granted by the Chief Executive will be recorded in the Summary of Decisions published on the day 
following the meeting. 

 Page 194



CONTACT OFFICER: Simon Jones, Growth Programme Director 

DATE: 19th May 2020 

BACKGROUND 
PAPER: 

Growth Programme 2019/20: Site Disposal & Development Projects – 
EBD March 2019 

    

Page 195



247.5m

39

29

27

to
21

B
R

U
S

S
E

L
L

S
 R

O
A

D

to

233.5m

8

7

El Sub Sta

Pond

A
V
A

LL
O

N
 W

A
Y

26

39

38

27

51

Tank

1 to  1 2

5

Pat h (um
)

12

JU
BIL

EE C
LO

SE

Hi gh fi el d C
o urt

2

2

1  to  12

Well Springs 1

B
E

A
U

M
O

N
T

 W
A

Y

8

1

4

GATE

P
a th

P
ath

 ( um
)

75

63

P
a th  ( u m

)

Well

Pat h ( um )

87

3

2

El Sub Sta

Marsh House Mill

1 2

M AR SHAM GROVE

27 1 64

1 4

8

3

L
IS

B
O

N
 D

R
IV

E

2

Recreation Ground

38

19

15

14

11

26

2

Shelter

1 62

1

1 54

219.8m

179
191189

2 6

4 0

14

1

15

17

11

52

39

37

60

99

50

1

E LLISON FOLD LANE

41

155

11

212.8m

to

1 4

167

1

MA RS H HOUSE  LA NE

1 48

NAP LES ROAD

2

Trough

Brocklehead Farm

Slurry Bed

W
ar

d 
B

dy

W
a rd B

d y

FW

253.9m

R
O
M

A
N
 R

O
A
D

C
P

242.3m

P
at
h 
(u
m

)

Caravan Site

FW

1 6

1 74

20

18

1 781 76

C
P

E
lli

s o
n

 F
ol

d  
L a

n e

Pa th ( um)

W
ar

d
 B

dy

P
at h

 ( um
)

10
2

Tra
ck

W
ard Bdy

235.0m

R O
M

A
N  R

OA
D

104

74

Le
ve

nh
ol
m
e

FW

229.2m

25

Gas Gov

10
0

27

M
ay

fa
irBre

nt
woo

d

A
i n

sd
al

e

90

86

88

ESS

35

29

27

54

66

24

MARSH

19

23

25

13

T ho
rn

v il le

T he
 C

ro
f t

B
e la ire

C
ON

I STO
N
 D R

I VE

13

42

Pa th

14

17

13

TH
IRLM

ERE D
RIVE

11

6

10

18

52

1

1

2

11

18

H
A
W

T
H

O
R
N

 A
V
E
N

U
E

20

1
0

30

11

D
ra in

Drain

D
ra in

Pond

1
5

38

Shaft

4

2

214.8m

78

212.8m

2

72

80

3

1 27

1 25

6

Dra ins

CR

D
ef

D
ef

3

Path (u
m

)

206.7m

10
8

85

P
R

I O
R

Y
 D

R
IV

E

95

149

5

D
rai n

W
ard

 B
dy

3

MARSH HOUSE

T
O

W
E

R
 V

IE
W

De f

9 8

10
6

1 40

1

1 38

El Sub Sta

11 6

1 30

7 3

10
0

1

D
ra

in

De f

E
LL

IS
O
N
 FO

LD
 W

A
Y

9 8

1
0

5

5 3

4 3

41

55

9

7

1

1
4

CLOSE

ELY

1

11

87

10

21

15

2
0

59

3 1

El Su b Sta

71

1
4

1

Gardens

Cambridge

5

5 4

2

5

C
A

M
B

R
ID

G
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

6 8

39

3
5

37

2

6

4
5

61

7 0

75

49

E LLISON FOLD TERR ACE

1

SUD ELL
 C LO SE

6 6

15

Drai n

5

8

2 1

11

2

MILTON

7 2

2

3

2

8 6

4

1

S
H

E
L

L
E

Y
 G

R
O

V
E

7 4

CLOSE

1

19

17

Shelter

47

199.6m

24

7

E
S
S
E
X

 S
T
R

E
E
T

3
0

1
5

52
8

2
4

2
5

7

El Sub Sta

2

4

70

OA
K 

GR
OVE

LIN DEN CRESC ENT

1

1 23

11
9

121

113

11
4

6 2

1
2

5 2

1
8

154

6
5

148

E
S

S
E

X
 S

T
R

E
E

T

52

50

2

2

192.3m

1 0

R
F

O
L

K
 S

T
R

E
E

T

5 0

2

5
5

E
S

S E
X

 ST
R

E
E

T

House

LB

Marsh

Lower

1

18

5

ar d
ens

10

1

7

6

BURNS WA LK

1

30

W
E

S
TH

A
L L

 G
A

R
D

E
N

S

Pond

2
3

17

19

1

12
0

2

2
9

7

3
6

2
4

12

RST G ARDEN S

1000 50

metres

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019. Ordnance Survey licence number: 100019493

Appendix A - Ellison Fold Way Site Plan

Site 2a
(Council)
0.53 ha

Scale 1:4000

Site 2b
(Landeer)
1.7 ha

Site 1
(Council)
0.84 ha

Page 196



EBD: V4/19 Page 1 of 4 

 

EXECUTIVE BOARD DECISION 

REPORT OF:  
 

Leader  
 

LEAD OFFICERS: Chief Executive 
 

DATE: 11 June 2020 

 

PORTFOLIO/S 
AFFECTED:  
 

All 
 

WARD/S AFFECTED: All                                    

KEY DECISION: YES      NO    

 

SUBJECT: Update on Decisions Taken under Emergency Powers in relation to the Council’s 
initial response to the Covid-19 Pandemic 
 

 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
To advise Executive Board of urgent decisions taken and published by the Chief Executive under her 
emergency powers in managing the Council’s initial emergency response to the current Covid-19 
pandemic. 
 

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
That the Executive Board: 
Notes the decisions taken by the Chief Executive under emergency powers in relation to the Covid-19 
pandemic 

i) Decision of 3rd April in respect of securing emergency strategic food supplies through 
the Lancashire LRF  

ii) Decision of 24th April in respect of securing strategic supplies of PPE through the 
Lancashire LRF 

iii) Decisions of 7th May in respect of food and other essential supplies to be distributed 
through the Blackburn with Darwen Food Hub 

 

 

3. BACKGROUND 
The Chief Executive (who also undertakes the statutory Head of Paid Service role), in accordance with 
the Blackburn with Darwen Constitution Section 16, has delegated powers under the Officer Scheme 
of Delegation “To take any action, including incurring expenditure, in connection with an emergency or 
disaster in a district”.   
 
In addition, all local authority Chief Executive officers are responsible for ensuring their local authority 
complies with the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 and that the local authority continues to perform its 
statutory functions.  In relation to the current situation, the Council must also have regard to Article 2 of 
the EHCR, as the ultimate aim of expenditure is to protect individual’s right to life.  
 
The Coronavirus pandemic also required the implementation of the Lancashire Local Resilience Forum 
(LRF) Strategic Gold Command structure and reporting through to Central Government under the Civil Page 197

Agenda Item 9.2



EBD: V4/19 Page 2 of 4 

contingencies Act 2004 to coordinate the multi-agency response across Lancashire, including 
Blackburn with Darwen, with the primary aim to protect life.   
 
As part of the urgent action required to plan for the continuation of essential social care and other 
support to the most vulnerable across Lancashire-wide communities, particularly for those who were 
required to ‘shield’ and/or self-isolate in accordance with government guidance, it was agreed that the 
three Upper Tier Councils with social care responsibilities urgently access and store a strategic food 
supply for essential food parcels; these being Lancashire County Council, Blackpool Council and 
Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council on behalf of the LRF (Published 3rd April 2020). 
 
As part of the urgent action required to deliver essential services, including social care and other support 
to the most vulnerable across our communities, it was agreed that the three Upper Tier Councils with 
social care responsibilities, being BwD, Blackpool and Lancashire County Councils, urgently and 
collectively, through the LRF, sourced and secured sufficient supplies of PPE for frontline staff and for 
the commissioned and independent care sector in our local authority areas (Published 24th April 2020). 
 
Early in the response to the pandemic, the Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government 
(MHCLG) required all local authorities to set up community support hubs for the most vulnerable 
residents which included the provision of food and essential supplies to those who were in most need, 
including those shielding or self-isolating with no other means of support. In support of this, the Council 
made urgent arrangements with suppliers in order to secure volume supply of ambient food for the 
Blackburn with Darwen Help Hub (Published 7th May 2020). 
 

 

4. KEY ISSUES & RISKS 
Decisions were taken to protect life and provide support to essential key workers and extremely 
vulnerable people in the borough. It is anticipated that emergency government funding will be 
available to cover the additional costs of emergency supplies and essential PPE. 
 

 

5. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 
There are no policy implications arising from this report. 
 

 

6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
Funding for the purchases of essential food and PPE supplies is expected to be covered by the 
additional funding from central government made available to Councils to deal with the impact of the 
Covid-19 pandemic. 
 

 

7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
As referenced in the report the Chief Executive (who also undertakes the statutory Head of Paid 

Service role) has delegated powers under the Officer Scheme of Delegation “To take any action, 

including incurring expenditure, in connection with an emergency or disaster in a district”.  In addition, 

all local authority chief executive officers are responsible for ensuring their local authority complies 

with the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 and that the local authority continues to perform its functions.  

In relation to the current situation, the Council must also have regard to Article 2 of the EHCR, as the 

ultimate aim of expenditure is to protect individual’s right to life.   

Contracts have been awarded pursuant to a negotiated procedure without prior publication, as 
permitted by Regulation 32 (2c) of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015. 
 

 Page 198



EBD: V4/19 Page 3 of 4 

8. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
Resources have been redeployed across the Council to key priority areas including the Help Hub. 
 

 

9. EQUALITY AND HEALTH IMPLICATIONS 
Please select one of the options below.  Where appropriate please include the hyperlink to the 
EIA. 
 
Option 1    Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) not required – the EIA checklist has been completed. 

 
Option 2    In determining this matter the Executive Member needs to consider the EIA associated 
with this item in advance of making the decision. (insert EIA link here)  
 
Option 3    In determining this matter the Executive Board Members need to consider the EIA 
associated with this item in advance of making the decision. (insert EIA attachment) 
 

 

10. CONSULTATIONS 
The Lancashire Resilience Forum and the Chief Executive Officers of Blackpool and Lancashire County 
Councils were consulted and agreed to the actions in respect of strategic food reserves and PPE.  
 
The Leader of the Council was also consulted and advised of the actions to be taken ahead of the 
decisions being made by the Chief Executive. 
 

 

11. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE  
The recommendations are made further to advice from the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151 
Officer has confirmed that they do not incur unlawful expenditure.  They are also compliant with equality 
legislation and an equality analysis and impact assessment has been considered. The 
recommendations reflect the core principles of good governance set out in the Council’s Code of 
Corporate Governance. 
 

 

12. DECLARATION OF INTEREST 
All Declarations of Interest of any Executive Member consulted and note of any dispensation granted 
by the Chief Executive will be recorded in the Summary of Decisions published on the day following the 
meeting. 

 

 

VERSION: 1 

 

CONTACT OFFICER: Denise Park, Chief Executive 

DATE: 2 June 2020 

BACKGROUND 

PAPER: 

Officer decisions published, 3rd April, 24th April, 7th May 2020 

Page 199



EBD: V4/19 Page 4 of 4 

 

Page 200



EBD: V4/19 Page 1 of 4 

 

EXECUTIVE BOARD DECISION 

REPORT OF:  
 

Leader 
 

LEAD OFFICERS: Chief Executive 
 
 

DATE: 11th June 2020 

 

PORTFOLIO/S 
AFFECTED:  
 

All                           
 

WARD/S AFFECTED: All                                    

KEY DECISION: YES      NO    

 

SUBJECT: Report on the progress against the Corporate Plan 2019/2020 for six months to Year-end 
(October 2019 to March 2020). 

 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
To provide Executive Board the opportunity to review progress against the Council’s strategic priorities 
documented within the Corporate Plan (2019-23) and to provide assurance that appropriate actions are 
being taken to address key areas of concern. 

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
That the Executive Board: 
 

1. Note the overall performance against the delivery of the Council’s strategic objectives as 
illustrated in Appendix One  

2. Note the remedial action to improve delivery against the 2019-2023 Corporate priorities which 
are giving cause for concern, as outlined in Appendix Two 

3. A further report will be presented to Council Forum in July to note the council’s performance in 
the immediate response to the Coronavirus pandemic. 

 

3. BACKGROUND 
In March 2019, the Council endorsed the Corporate Plan 2019-2023, which outlines eight corporate 
priorities and ambitions providing a focus for our activity over the coming years. 
 
To help us measure our performance against our corporate priorities and ambitions a new performance 
framework is in place.  The Council currently measures performance based on 69 Key Performance 
Indicators (KPIs).   
 

 

4. KEY ISSUES & RISKS 
4.1 Performance summary  
 
The attachments to this report provide an overview of the Council’s performance up to 31st March 2020.  
Elected members will be aware that since early March, the Council has been responding to the 
emergencies of the Coronavirus pandemic.  Therefore, in some instances we have not been able to 
report data for all of the 69 KPIs.  

Page 201

Agenda Item 9.3



EBD: V4/19 Page 2 of 4 

Our response to the pandemic will have a profound effect on our council finances and this is being 
reflected across Local Government throughout the country.  The Leader has written to both the Prime 
Minister and the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government expressing 
concern that the Council will be faced with very serious financial difficulties if the Government does not 
reimburse Councils for the costs associated with the crises and reflect on providing needs based 
funding allocations as we move towards recovery.     
 
Despite our persistent financial challenges the Council, as always, has responded quickly and 
successfully to put in place all of the new measures and guidance expected by the Government and in 
particular to support our most vulnerable and shielded.  This is testament to the fantastic efforts of our 
workforce. We have received 32 compliments during the covid-19 lockdown period complementing our 
services and efforts during this crises. Our staff have worked tirelessly over the wide range of services 
in response to Covid-19.  Including: 
 

 Our Help Hub set up last month has received 3,120 calls and posted to 58,000 homes in the borough 

with information about the Hub as well as refuse/recycling advice.   

 Almost 33,000 food parcels have been delivered to vulnerable residents who would otherwise have 

no support, and we will continue to deliver to over 1,800 homes each week.   

 We have supported over 3,400 businesses and paid over c.£37m in business grants (i.e. over 80% 

of businesses that we believe may be potentially eligible for these grants).  We are also contacting 

all businesses in our Borough who have not already approached us regarding the grant scheme.  

We are also hosting regular online local business support sessions and facilitating sessions with 

council officers, lenders and local business experts. 

 Our library has made 288 deliveries to vulnerable people through continuation of Home Delivery 

Services and our museums have gone online with a mix of digital collections, downloadable 

activities, virtual tours and YouTube channels for each venue. 

Further updates and information will be presented to Council Forum in July.   
 
There are 69 measures within the Corporate Plan (2019-20) linked to the Council’s priority objectives. 
Each portfolio has been asked to allocate a red, amber or green forecast to the measures that they 
own.  
  
Of the 69 measures, information for the period is as follows:  

 5% (4 actual) have been forecast as “red” where performance is, or is likely to be off track  

 22% (15 actual) have been forecast “amber” where delivery is on track and currently being 
managed  

 52% (36 actual) have been forecast “green” or on track  

 21% (14 actual) of the measures data and or a RAG rating is currently unavailable  
 
The following guidelines have been provided to ensure a standardised approach to allocating these 
forecasts:  
 

Red 

 The measure is likely to fail or perform poorly in the future  

 The measure falls below a set national target / statutory required performance.  

 The measure may also be below a minimum requirement for the particular service as agreed 
by the department  

 The lead department perceives there could be a potential serious risk to the Council  
 
Amber  Page 202



EBD: V4/19 Page 3 of 4 

 The measure is at risk of failure, but the lead department feels this is currently being managed  

 Actions are or need to be in place to ensure that the end of year position is achieved  
 
Green  

 The measure is on target/ over performing / over achieving (if departmental target has been 
set)  

 The lead department perceives there is currently no risk to the council in relation to this measure. 
 
The table below shows a breakdown of the measures across priorities: 
 

Priority Total Red Amber Green Data is 
currently 

unavailable 

People  (27) 
A good quality 

of life for all of 

our residents 

 

P1 – Supporting young people 
and raising aspirations 
 

6 0 1 1 4 

P2 – Safeguarding and 
supporting the most 
vulnerable people 
 

8 0 4 3 1 

P3 – Reducing health inequalities 

and improving health outcomes 
13 1 3 6 3  

Place (12) 
Community 

pride in a 

vibrant place 

to live and 

visit 

P4 – Connected communities 
 

7 0 2 5 0 

P5 – Safe and clean 
environment 
 

5 0 2 3 0 

Economy (14) 

A strong and 

inclusive 

economy with 

continued 

growth 

P6 – Strong, growing economy to 

enable social mobility 

 

10 0 0 8 2 

P7 – Supporting our town centres 

and businesses 4 0 0 4 0 

Council (16) 

Delivered by a 

strong and 

resilient 

council 

P8 – Transparent and effective 

organisation 

16 3 3 6 4  

Total 69 4 15 36 14 

Overall percentage 100% 5% 22% 52% 21% 

 

 

5. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 
There are no additional policy implications. The proposed activity over the next 12 months will 
strengthen existing policies. 

 
Page 203



EBD: V4/19 Page 4 of 4 

6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
There are no additional financial implications. Activity will be managed within department existing 
budgets. 

 

7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
There are no legal implications as a result of this report. 

 

8. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
There are no resource implications as a result of this report. Resource implications of any actions 
referred to in the report will be included in an appropriate briefing paper. 

 

9. EQUALITY AND HEALTH IMPLICATIONS 
Please select one of the options below.  Where appropriate please include the hyperlink to the 
EIA. 
 
Option 1    Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) not required – the EIA checklist has been completed. 

 
Option 2    In determining this matter the Executive Member needs to consider the EIA associated 
with this item in advance of making the decision. Corporate Plan 2019 EIA 
 
Option 3    In determining this matter the Executive Board Members need to consider the EIA 
associated with this item in advance of making the decision.  

 

10. CONSULTATIONS 
The report has been developed in consultation with the relevant Council officers and Executive 
Members 

 

11. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE  
The recommendations are made further to advice from the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151 
Officer has confirmed that they do not incur unlawful expenditure.  They are also compliant with 
equality legislation and an equality analysis and impact assessment has been considered. The 
recommendations reflect the core principles of good governance set out in the Council’s Code of 
Corporate Governance. 

 

12. DECLARATION OF INTEREST 
All Declarations of Interest of any Executive Member consulted and note of any dispensation granted 
by the Chief Executive will be recorded in the Summary of Decisions published on the day following 
the meeting. 

 

VERSION: 0.01 

 

CONTACT OFFICER: Denise Park 

DATE: 02/06/2020 

BACKGROUND 

PAPER: 

Corporate Plan 2019-2023 

 

Page 204

file:///Z:/PLACE%20Strategy%20Unit/Strategy%20Unit/Corporate%20Plan%20refresh/Corporate%20Plan%202019%20EIA%20v1.pdf


1 
  

Appendix One: Corporate Plan 2019/2020:  
Performance Report for year–end (1st October 2019 – 31st March 2020)  

 
Priority Performance measure Portfolio Department Good 

performance 
is 

Baseline 19/20 target Half year 
performance  

and rating 
(Q1 & Q2 – April  
to September 19) 

 
** reported to 
Policy Council 

December 2019 

Year-end  
Performance  

and rating  
(Q3 & Q4 – October 19  

to March 20) 
 
 
 
 

P1 – Supporting young 
people and raising 
aspirations 
 
We will:  
» work with parents and 
carers to enable them to 
access good quality early 
years education and 
learning so that our 
children are ready for a 
strong start at school.  
 
» work with our schools, 
communities and partners 
to continue to nurture 
well-rounded independent 
young people.  
 
» work with all of the 
schools, colleges and 
partners to support young 
people in achieving their 
full potential.  
 
» work with partners to 
ensure young people have 
access to clear careers 
advice and guidance and 
are equipped with the skills 
and qualities to access jobs 
 
 

1. % of children and 
young people in care 
performing at 
nationally expected 
levels: 
a) At the end of 

primary school 
 

Children’s, Young 
People & 
Education Cllr 
Maureen Bateson 

Children’s Services & 
Education 

Higher 2017/18 
CIOC 12 months + 
 
41.7% 
5+ English / Maths 

Achieve at or 
above national 
average for 
CIOC 2018/19 
 
Provisional 
National target 
37% 

Provisional data 
2018/19 
All CIOC. 

39% 
Reading, Writing, 

Maths 
 

(AMBER) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(Data Unavailable) 
 

2. % of children and 
young people in care 
performing at 
nationally expected 
levels: 
b) At the end of 
secondary school 

Children’s, Young 
People & 
Education Cllr 
Maureen Bateson 

Children’s Services & 
Education 

Higher 2017/18 
CIOC 12 months + 
 
10.5% 
5+ English / Maths 

Achieve at or 
above national 
average for 
CIOC 2018/19. 
Provisional 
National target 
10% 

Provisional data 
2018/19 
All CIOC. 

25% 
5+ English / Maths 

 
(AMBER) 

 
 
 
 
 
 

(Data Unavailable) 
 

3. % increase in uptake of 
the two years old offer 
by eligible children  
 

Children’s, Young 
People & 
Education Cllr 
Maureen Bateson 

Children’s Services & 
Education 

Higher 58% 
(2018/19) 

3% increase on 
2018/19 

64% 
 

(GREEN) 
 

 
 

(Data Unavailable) 

4. Personal Education 
Plans for cared for 
children  
 
a) % of children & 

young people with 
plans in place 

Children’s, Young 
People & 
Education  Cllr 
Maureen Bateson 

Children’s Services & 
Education 

Higher 84% 
(2018/19) 
 

95% 
 

82% 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(AMBER) 

93%. 
PEPs are completed termly and we had a 
significant improvement in the autumn term 
with the ePEP in place via the delegation portal. 
Spring term PEP completion was impacted by 
the start of the pandemic. Summer term PEPs 
are still to be completed but we have issued 
amended guidance to provide flexibility during 
this time. The PEP will form an important record 
of the education support provided to our CIOC 
during this time. 

 
(AMBER) 

 

5. Personal Education 
Plans for cared for 
children  
 
b) % of audited plans 
rated as Good or 
Outstanding 

Children’s, Young 
People & 
Education Cllr 
Maureen Bateson 

Children’s Services & 
Education 

Higher 46% 
(2018/19) 

 

50% 
 

52% 
 
 
 
 

(GREEN) 

 
 
 
 
 

(Data Unavailable) 

P
age 205



2 
  

Priority Performance measure Portfolio Department Good 
performance 

is 

Baseline 19/20 target Half year 
performance  

and rating 
(Q1 & Q2 – April  
to September 19) 

 
** reported to 
Policy Council 

December 2019 

Year-end  
Performance  

and rating  
(Q3 & Q4 – October 19  

to March 20) 
 
 
 
 

6. Council Apprenticeship 
start-ups  

Finance & 
Governance Cllr 
Vicky McGurk 
 

HR, Legal & Governance Higher New measure 20 apprentices 32 apprentices 
 

(GREEN) 

20 Apprenticeship vacancies - 240 applicants 
 

(GREEN) 

P2 – Safeguarding and 
supporting the most 
vulnerable people 
 
We will:  
» provide support locally 
and at the earliest 
opportunity to ensure 
people are safeguarded 
and protected.  
 
» work with partners to 
guarantee that people in 
need of support and 
protection continue to 
receive it from the right 
agencies at the right time 
for as long as they need it.  
 
» support our safeguarding 
partnerships arrangements 
to ensure that local 
agencies co-ordinate their 
work to safeguard 
vulnerable people of all 
ages and are effective. 
 

7. % of Transforming Lives 
Cases closed with 
outcomes achieved 

 

Adult Services  & 
Prevention 
Cllr Mustafa Desai 

Adults & Prevention Higher 50% 56% 
 

60% 
 

(GREEN) 
 

68%  
 

(GREEN) 

8. % of children in care for 
2 ½ years who have 
remained in the same 
placement for at least 2 
years 

 

Children’s, Young 
People & 
Education  Cllr 
Maureen Bateson 

Children’s Services & 
Education 

Higher  Achieve at or 
above national 
average for 
2019/20 

64% 
 
 
 

(AMBER) 

 
 
 
 

(Data Unavailable) 

9. % of children leaving 
care where a Special 
Guardianship Order 
(SGO) placement is 
granted. 

Children’s, Young 
People & 
Education  Cllr 
Maureen Bateson 

Children’s Services & 
Education 

Higher 23%  
(2018/19) 
 

Higher than 
2018/19 (23%) 

12% 
April – Sept 2019 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(AMBER) 

16% (April 2019 to March 2020)  
 

For the year April 2019 to March 2020, 31 SGOs 
were granted in total. Since the impact of Covid-
19 court hearings have been held remotely, but 
those cases which present as contested 
hearings, are being adjourned currently as it is 
felt that these need to be held face to face. This 
includes those cases where there are contests 
as regards SGO’s being granted. 
 
31 SGOs were granted in 2019/20. The courts 
are also not prioritising the applications to 
discharge care orders across the service – but 
this is being explored with a view to solutions 
being found within the judiciary.  

 
(AMBER) 

 

10. Number of children 
open to children’s 
social care including; 
those who are Child in 
Need, looked after or 
open to child 
protection.  

Children’s, Young 
People & 
Education Cllr 
Maureen Bateson 

Children’s Services & 
Education 

Lower 1,852 
(open referrals as 
at end March 2019) 

10% reduction 
on 2018/19 

1,809  
(open referrals as at 

end September 
2019) 

 
(AMBER) 

1,551  
(open referrals as at end March 2020)  

 
 
 

(GREEN) 
 

11. Rate of cared for 
children per 10,000 
compared with the 
regional and national 
average. 

Children’s, Young 
People & 
Education Cllr 
Maureen Bateson 

Children’s Services & 
Education 

Lower 104 per 10k as at 
31st March 2019 

At or below the 
regional 
average 

104 per 10,000 head  
of 0 to 18 population 

 
 
 

(AMBER) 

107 per 10,000 head of 0 to 18 population.  
 

In 2019, an average of 12 children a month 
exited care.  

 
(AMBER) 

P
age 206



3 
  

Priority Performance measure Portfolio Department Good 
performance 

is 

Baseline 19/20 target Half year 
performance  

and rating 
(Q1 & Q2 – April  
to September 19) 

 
** reported to 
Policy Council 

December 2019 

Year-end  
Performance  

and rating  
(Q3 & Q4 – October 19  

to March 20) 
 
 
 
 

12. Rate of re-referrals into 
Children’s Social Care 
 

Children’s, Young 
People & 
Education Cllr 
Maureen Bateson 

Children’s Services & 
Education 

Lower 17.9% 
(BWD 2018/19) 

At or below 
national 
average 
(2018/19 
national 
average 22.6%) 
 

23% 
(April to September 

2019) 
 
 
 

(AMBER) 

21.5%  
(April 2019 to March 2020)  

 
Our re-referral rate is in line with the average 
across the North West regionally. 

 
(AMBER) 

 

13. Number of young 
people identified as 
young carers 

Children’s, Young 
People & 
Education  Cllr 
Maureen Bateson 

Children’s Services & 
Education 

Higher 114  
young people 
(2018/19) 
 

200  
young people 

83  
young people 

 
(GREEN) 

170 young people  
(as at end March 2020) 

   
(GREEN) 

 

14. Percentage of 
commissioned 
residential placements 
for Looked After 
Children as a total of all 
Looked After Children 
placements.  

Children’s, Young 
People & 
Education  
Cllr Maureen 
Bateson 

Children’s Services & 
Education 

 7.1% 
(2018/19) 

Maintain 6.9% 
 
 

(AMBER) 

6.7%. 
 
 

(AMBER) 
 

P3 – Reducing health 
inequalities and improving 
health outcomes 
 
We will:  
» work with people earlier 
to prevent ill health and 
poor wellbeing, promoting 
self-care and supporting 
independence to enable 
people to live well at 
home.  
 
» work with our partners to 
make sure that our 
residents have access to 
good quality sporting and 
leisure facilities across the 
Borough and can access 
wellbeing activity in their 
local neighbourhoods.  
 
» work with the NHS, third 
sector, public sector 
partners and business to 
improve people’s mental 

15. Continue to achieve 
over 85% of Learning 
Disability service users 
living in settled 
accommodation 

Adult Services  & 
Prevention  
Cllr Mustafa Desai 

Adults & Prevention Higher 90.8% 
(2018/19) 
 

85% 92.3% 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(GREEN) 

Performance in the first half of the year was 
92.3%. Unable to comment on full-year effect 
as this indicator is generated from the annual 
Adult Social Care returns and the deadline has 
been delayed until July 8th due to Covid-19. The 
actual outcome will be reported soon after. 
 

(Data Unavailable) 
 

16. Number of those in 
residential care aged 65 
and above to be within 
5% of the 2018-19 
figure. 

Adult Services  & 
Prevention  
Cllr Mustafa Desai 

Adults & Prevention Lower 198 
(2018/19) 

 

Between 188 – 
208 annually 

73 
 
 

(AMBER) 

157 
 
 

(GREEN) 
 

17. Increase the number in 
Extra Care by 10% 

Adult Services  & 
Prevention  
Cllr Mustafa Desai 

Adults & Prevention Higher 107 
(2018/19) 

118 annually 113 
 

(GREEN) 

160 
 

(GREEN) 
 

18. Reduce Delayed 
Transfers of Care 
(DToC) attributable to 
Social  Care by 
optimising use of the 
integrated discharge 
pathways 

Adult Services  & 
Prevention  
Cllr Mustafa Desai 

Adults & Prevention Lower N/A Mandated 
Target  
2.6 per 100k 
population 

 

3.04 
 

(RED) 

0.59 
 

(GREEN) 
 
The last DToC report was issued in February 
2020 and shows improved performance. DToC 
performance reporting has been suspended 
since February in light of Covid-19.   

P
age 207



4 
  

Priority Performance measure Portfolio Department Good 
performance 

is 

Baseline 19/20 target Half year 
performance  

and rating 
(Q1 & Q2 – April  
to September 19) 

 
** reported to 
Policy Council 

December 2019 

Year-end  
Performance  

and rating  
(Q3 & Q4 – October 19  

to March 20) 
 
 
 
 

health and wellbeing 
through advice, support 
and activities. 
 
» consider the impact on 
health and wellbeing in all 
of our services.  
 
» work with local NHS 
services to reform, 
integrate and improve the 
health and social care 
system and to extend the 
investment in prevention 
for all of our residents. 
 

19. Greater than 85% of 
people aged 65 and 
over independent at 
home for 91 days or 
more following hospital 
discharge. 

Adult Services  & 
Prevention  
Cllr Mustafa Desai 

Adults & Prevention Higher 91% 
(2018/19) 

Greater than 
85% 

87% 
 
 
 

(GREEN) 
 

 
 
 
 

(Data Unavailable) 

20. Increased number of 
residents referred and 
discussed at the  
integrated 
neighbourhood team 
(INTs) weekly meeting 

Adult Services  & 
Prevention  
Cllr Mustafa Desai 

Adults & Prevention Higher 740 
(2018/19) 

Greater than 5% 
- 194 per 
quarter 

339  
 
 
 

(AMBER) 
 

657  
(as at 29th February 20) 

 
 

(RED)  

21. Ensure 90% of Mental 
Health Act requests are 
responded to within  8 
hours of notification 

Adult Services  & 
Prevention  
Cllr Mustafa Desai 

Adults & Prevention Higher Baseline year 90% 100% 
 
 

(GREEN) 
 

100% 
 
 

(GREEN) 
 

22. % of alcohol retailers 
compliant with 
licensing conditions. 

Environmental 
Services  
Cllr Jim Smith 

Environment & Operations Higher ≥95% ≥95% 98.7% 
 

(GREEN) 
 

 
 

(Data Unavailable) 

23. Number of leisure 
attendances (including 
pitches) 
 

Public Health & 
Wellbeing  
Cllr Damian 
Talbot 

Public Health & Wellbeing Higher 917,783 920, 000 524, 406 
 
 
 
 
 

(GREEN) 
 

379,390 
(Q3 & Q4 up to facility closures 

on March 11th 2020) 
 

Cumulative Year-end Total: 903,796 
 

(GREEN) 
 
COVID-19 PERFORMANCE: Leisure facilities 
remain closed. Until re-opening there will be no 
attendances nor income generation.       
 

24. Total number of 
referrals into the BwD 
wellbeing service 
 

Public Health & 
Wellbeing  
Cllr Damian 
Talbot 

Public Health & Wellbeing Higher 2,050 2,000 932 
 

(GREEN) 
 

2,049  
 

(GREEN)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    
 

 

25. Reduce smoking in 
adults 
 

Public Health & 
Wellbeing 
Cllr Damian 
Talbot 

Public Health & Wellbeing Lower 16.2% 
(2018) 

Tobacco Free 
Lancashire  
vision target is 
12% by 2021 

Annual performance 
for  

2019 due in Q4 
 

(AMBER) 
 

Updated data on this KPI has not been 
published.  
 

 
(AMBER) 

 

26. Proportion of all in drug 
treatment who 
successfully completed 

Public Health & 
Wellbeing 

Public Health & Wellbeing Higher 22.3% 24% 19.4% end of Q1.  
Q2 data is scheduled  
to be released end of  

20% 
(at the end of February 2020) 

 

P
age 208



5 
  

Priority Performance measure Portfolio Department Good 
performance 

is 

Baseline 19/20 target Half year 
performance  

and rating 
(Q1 & Q2 – April  
to September 19) 

 
** reported to 
Policy Council 

December 2019 

Year-end  
Performance  

and rating  
(Q3 & Q4 – October 19  

to March 20) 
 
 
 
 

treatment and did not 
re-present within six 
months. 
 

Cllr Damian 
Talbot 

November 2019 
 

(AMBER) 
 

 
 

(AMBER) 
 

27. Child obesity – child 
measurement 
programme survey for 
both reception and 
year 6 children – 
prevalence of 
overweight (including 
obesity) 

 

Public Health & 
Wellbeing 
Cllr Damian 
Talbot 

Public Health & Wellbeing Lower Reception 23.2% 
Year 6 34.6% 
(2017/18) 
 

Halve childhood 
obesity by 2030 
and significantly 
reduce the 
health 
inequalities that 
exist. 
(Childhood 
Obesity – A plan 
for action, 
Chapter 2) 

Annual data released  
October 2020. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(AMBER) 
 

Reception 21%  
Year 6 36.8%  

(NCMP data 2018/19). 
 
Caution should be taken in interpreting these 
figures.  This data is from a different cohort of 

children to 2018/19 and is therefore not 
comparable.  

 
(AMBER) 

P4 – Connected 
communities 
 
We will:  
» ensure that residents 
have access to a broad 
range of good quality 
festivals and events across 
the Borough to bring 
neighbourhoods and 
communities together.  
 
» make volunteering easier 
and work with partners 
and residents to direct 
volunteer support where 
it’s needed the most.  
 
» support communities and 
community groups to 
access funding and other 
resources.  
 
» work with communities 
to become digitally 
enabled.  
 
» recognise the 
achievements of our 
communities and the 
valuable contribution of 
residents.  

28. Number of referrals 
“Stepped Down” from 
Social Work Teams to 
the Neighbourhood 
Service for Community 
Connectors and 
Volunteers 

Adult Services  & 
Prevention 
Cllr Mustafa Desai 

Adults & Prevention Higher 102 
(2018/19) 

200 79 
 
 

 
 
 
 

(AMBER) 

86 referrals were ‘stepped down’ during 
Quarter 3 and 4 

 
Cumulative Year-end Total: 165 referrals 
‘stepped down’ during 2019/20 period which 
equates to 82.5% of the target. 
 

(AMBER) 
 

29. Number of individuals 
engaged in activity 
across the Our 
Community Our Future 
Programme 

Adult Services  & 
Prevention 
Cllr Mustafa Desai 

Adults & Prevention Higher N/A 2,674 753 
 
 

(AMBER) 

3,349 
Cumulative figure for the 2019/20 period 

 
(GREEN) 

30. Number of community 
groups engaged in 
activity across the Our 
Community, Our Future 
Programme 

 

Adult Services  & 
Prevention 
Cllr Mustafa Desai 

Adults & Prevention Higher N/A 181 143 
 
 
 

(GREEN) 

239  
Cumulative figure for the 2019/20 period  

 
 

(GREEN) 

31. Number of volunteers 
supporting Council 
services 

 

Adult Services  & 
Prevention 
Cllr Mustafa Desai 

Adults & Prevention Higher 1,173 volunteers 
(2018/19) 
 

1,812 
volunteers 
 
 

1,380 volunteers 
 

(GREEN) 

1,551 volunteers  
 

(AMBER) 

32. Number of citizens 
engaged through 
Digital Health and Care 
Hubs 
 

Public Health & 
Wellbeing 
Cllr Damian 
Talbot 

Public Health & Wellbeing Higher N/A 200 102 
 
 
 

(GREEN) 

COVID-19 RESPONSE: The number of vulnerable 
people contacted triaged and supported via the 
Help Hub is 3,120 (Figure correct as at 15th May 
2020)  

(GREEN) 
 

33. Number of volunteer 
hours supporting 

Public Health & 
Wellbeing  

Public Health & Wellbeing Higher 34,866  
(2018/19) 

30,000 
volunteer hours 

Libraries: 6,942 
Leisure: 1,930 

Libraries: 5,810 
Leisure: 3,170 

P
age 209



6 
  

Priority Performance measure Portfolio Department Good 
performance 

is 

Baseline 19/20 target Half year 
performance  

and rating 
(Q1 & Q2 – April  
to September 19) 

 
** reported to 
Policy Council 

December 2019 

Year-end  
Performance  

and rating  
(Q3 & Q4 – October 19  

to March 20) 
 
 
 
 

 
» support activity to enable 
people from different 
backgrounds or beliefs to 
integrate. 

Culture and Leisure  
services delivery  
 
 

Cllr Damian 
Talbot 

Arts & Heritage: 
6,020 

Total: 14,892 
volunteer hours 

 
 

(GREEN) 

Museums 2,980   
Total: 11,960 volunteer hours  

(Quarters 3 & 4) 
 

Cumulative Year-end Total:  26,852 
volunteer hours 

                                    
(GREEN)       

                                                                                                                                                      

34. Number of cultural 
events and activities 
across arts and 
heritage services 

 
 

Public Health & 
Wellbeing 
Cllr Damian 
Talbot 

Public Health & Wellbeing Higher 182  
(2018/19) 
 

150 cultural 
events & 
activities 
 

Libraries: 10 
Arts & Heritage: 61 
Total: 71 cultural 

events  
& activities 

 
(GREEN) 

Libraries: 5  
Arts & Heritage: 92  

(Quarters 3 & 4) 
 

Cumulative Year-end Total: 166 
 

(GREEN) 
 

P5 – Safe and clean 
environment 
 
We will:  
» work with our residents, 
schools and businesses to 
raise awareness of the 
positive environmental and 
financial impacts of 
recycling.  
 
» work with communities, 
environmental 
organisations and groups 
to help keep 
neighbourhoods clean and 
tidy.  
 
» continue to invest in our 
roads and pavements to 
make sure they are safer.  
 
» work with our citizens 
and businesses to promote 
behaviours, using 
enforcement action where 
necessary and in the best 
interest of public 
protection. 
 

35. Increase in number of 
your call community 
litter pickers 
 

Environmental 
Services 
Cllr Jim Smith 

Environment & Operations Higher 820 volunteers 900 volunteers 1,120  
Volunteers 

 
(GREEN) 

For the end of year, there were 1,316 
volunteers with clean up packs. 

 
 (GREEN) 

 

36. Increase number of S80 
prosecutions for 
enviro-crime offences 
 

Environmental 
Services 
Cllr Jim Smith 

Environment & Operations Higher 28 80 23 
S80 prosecutions 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(AMBER) 

There were 34 prosecutions for Q3 & Q4. 
 
Giving a total 57 Prosecutions across the year, 
plus a further 29 Fixed Penalty Notices and 7 
Simple Cautions issued. An additional 30 cases 
sent to the Courts have either been adjourned 
and/or postponed, due to the closure of the 
Magistrates Court due to Covid 19, which would 
have been planned and heard in March; which 
would have seen us exceed our annual target.  
 

(AMBER) 
 

37. Number of 4-hour 
repair/make safe 
following inspection of 
dangerous defects on 
the highways 

Environmental 
Services 
Cllr Jim Smith 

Environment & Operations Higher 96% 98% 99.42% 
 
 

(GREEN) 

100% 
 
 

(GREEN) 
 

38. Increase the household 
recycling rate 
 

Environmental 
Services  
Cllr Jim Smith 

Environment & Operations Higher 28% 30% Q1: 31% 
Q2 data not available 

from Govt. until 6 
months after the Q2 

end.  
 

(GREEN) 

 
End of year KPI data is not yet available.  

 
 
 

(GREEN) 
 

P
age 210



7 
  

Priority Performance measure Portfolio Department Good 
performance 

is 

Baseline 19/20 target Half year 
performance  

and rating 
(Q1 & Q2 – April  
to September 19) 

 
** reported to 
Policy Council 

December 2019 

Year-end  
Performance  

and rating  
(Q3 & Q4 – October 19  

to March 20) 
 
 
 
 

39. Reduce waste to 
landfill 

Environmental 
Services 
Cllr Jim Smith 

Environment & Operations Lower 50% 40% 44% 
Provisional data  
for Q1 and Q2 

 
(AMBER) 

 
End of year KPI data is not yet available.  

 
 

(AMBER) 
 

P6 – Strong, growing 
economy to enable social 
mobility 
 
We will:  
» work with our partners to 
improve productivity 
through skills, innovation, 
sector and trade 
programmes.  
 
» develop and deliver a 
strategic pipeline of growth 
programmes attracting 
investment and generating 
new economic, housing 
and infrastructure growth 
opportunities.  
 
» deliver sustained growth 
and higher value 
employment for all our 
residents as an enabler to 
social mobility.  
 
» provide a broad and good 
quality house choice for all 
our residents, transforming 
old housing stock, building 
new homes and working 
with private and social 
landlords to improve the 
rental market.  
 
» work with partners and 
investors to secure the 
Borough regionally and 
nationally as an investment 
priority. 

40. Number of adult 
qualifications achieved 
(via the Adult Learning 
contract) 

Adult Services  & 
Prevention 
Cllr Mustafa Desai 

Adults & Prevention Higher 400 
(2018/19)   

400 572 
 
 
 
 
 

(GREEN) 

229 
 

As this programme works on an academic year 
- this is the number of qualifications from 
August 2019 only.  

 
(GREEN) 

 

41. Number of people 
supported into 
employment or 
learning 

Adult Services  & 
Prevention 
Cllr Mustafa Desai 

Adults & Prevention Higher 845 1,166 289 
 

(AMBER) 

1,092 
 

(GREEN) 

42. Private rented sector 
homes, which have 
been inspected and 
have had Cat 1 and 2 
hazards removed 

Environmental 
Services 
Cllr Jim Smith 

Environment & Operations Higher 371 Category 1  
& 2 hazards 
removed 
(2018/19) 

250 Category 1  
& 2 hazards 
removed 
 

134 
 
 

(GREEN) 
 

 
 
 

(Data Unavailable) 

43. Unlicensed properties 
identified and licensed, 
and audit/inspections 
undertaken. 

Environmental 
Services 
Cllr Jim Smith 

Environment & Operations Higher 370 licences issued 
144 inspected 
(2018/19) 

150 licences  
200 
audits/inspectio
ns 
 

104 
audited/inspected 
88 licenses issued 

 
(AMBER) 

 
 
 
 

(Data Unavailable) 
 

44. Number of long term 
(over 6 months) empty 
properties brought 
back into use 
 

Growth & 
Development 
Cllr Phil Riley 

Growth & Development Higher 271 195  311 
 
 
 

(GREEN) 

248 
Cumulative Year-end Total: 559 

 
(GREEN)                                                                                                                                     

 
 

45. Monitoring against 
national planning 
performance targets 
2018: Major projects 
decided in 13 weeks  

Growth & 
Development  
Cllr Phil Riley 

Growth & Development Higher 80%
  

85% 95% 
 
 

(GREEN) 

96% 
 

 
(GREEN) 

 

46. Monitoring against 
national planning 
performance targets 
2018: Non-major 
projects decided in 8 
weeks 

Growth & 
Development 
Cllr Phil Riley 

Growth & Development Higher 90% 92% 92% 
 
 

(GREEN) 

92%  
 
 

(GREEN) 

P
age 211



8 
  

Priority Performance measure Portfolio Department Good 
performance 

is 

Baseline 19/20 target Half year 
performance  

and rating 
(Q1 & Q2 – April  
to September 19) 

 
** reported to 
Policy Council 

December 2019 

Year-end  
Performance  

and rating  
(Q3 & Q4 – October 19  

to March 20) 
 
 
 
 

47. Appeals: Major 
applications allowed 
preceding 2 years 
 

Growth & 
Development 
Cllr Phil Riley 

Growth & Development Lower 2% 2% 0% 
 

(GREEN) 

0%  
 

(GREEN) 

48. Appeals: Non-major 
applications allowed 
preceding 2 years  
 

Growth & 
Development 
Cllr Phil Riley 

Growth & Development Lower 2% 2% 0.01% 
 

(GREEN) 

0.88%  
 

(GREEN) 

49. Development of new 
employment space in 
the year (m2) 

Growth & 
Development 
Cllr Phil Riley 

Growth & Development Higher N/A 10,000 sq.m  16,411 sq.m. 
 

(GREEN) 

16,765 sq.m 
  

(GREEN)  
 

Plus a further 17,194 sq.m in Hyndburn but 
attributed BwD's employment land 
requirements (Frontier Park).                                                                                                                                     

 

P7 – Supporting our town 
centres and businesses 
 
We will:  
» work with partners to 
strengthen the economic 
and cultural offers of 
Blackburn and Darwen 
town centres.  
 
» promote and encourage 
local procurement to 
support local businesses.  
 
» work with business 
partners to promote 
Blackburn with Darwen 
and support wider 
engagement with new 
investors to the Borough.  
 
» encourage 
entrepreneurship and new 
business growth drawing 
on our young, culturally 
rich and dynamic 
population. 
 

50. Number of ticketed 
events at King Georges 
Hall (KGH)  

Environmental 
Services 
Cllr Damian 
Talbot 

Environment & Operations Higher 129 ticketed events 135 ticketed 
events 

47 ticketed events 
 
 
 

(AMBER) 

97 ticketed events (Q3 & Q4) 
 

Cumulative Year-end Total: 144 
 

(GREEN)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     
 

COVID-19 PERFORMANCE: Theatres remain 
closed under Government guidance and are not 
expected to re-open until the latter stages of 
recovery.  

51. Total attendances for 
ticketed events at King 
Georges Hall (KGH) 

 
 

Environmental 
Services 
Cllr Damian 
Talbot 

Environment & Operations Higher 2019/20 Baseline 
year 

105,000 
attendances 

22,854 attendances 
 
 
 
 

(AMBER) 
  

84,649 attendances (Q3 & Q4) 
 

Cumulative Year-end Total:  
107,503 Attendances  

 
(GREEN) 

52. Number of ticketed 
events at Darwen 
Library Theatre (DLT) 
 

Environmental 
Services 
Cllr Damian 
Talbot 

Environment & Operations Higher 125 ticketed events 130 ticketed 
events 

61 ticketed events 
 
 
 
 

(AMBER) 

76 ticketed events (Q3 & Q4) 
 

Cumulative Year-end Total:  
137 ticketed events 

 
(GREEN)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      

 
COVID-19 PERFORMANCE: Theatres remain 
closed under Government guidance and are not 
expected to re-open until the latter stages of 
recovery.  

P
age 212



9 
  

Priority Performance measure Portfolio Department Good 
performance 

is 

Baseline 19/20 target Half year 
performance  

and rating 
(Q1 & Q2 – April  
to September 19) 

 
** reported to 
Policy Council 

December 2019 

Year-end  
Performance  

and rating  
(Q3 & Q4 – October 19  

to March 20) 
 
 
 
 

53. Total attendances for 
ticketed events at 
Darwen Library Theatre 
(DLT) 

 

Environmental 
Services  
Cllr Damian 
Talbot 

Environment & Operations Higher 2019/20 Baseline 
year 

19,000 
attendances 

5,466 attendances 
 
 
 
 
 

(AMBER) 

11,759 attendances (Q3 & Q4) - lower 
pantomime attendances than projected 

 
Cumulative Year-end Total:  

17,225  Attendances      
 

(GREEN) 
                                                                                                                                                         

P8 – Transparent and 
effective organisation 
 
We will:  
» ensure that all our 
services are delivered in a 
cost effective and efficient 
way supported by 
technology and in 
collaboration with our 
partners and citizens.  
 
» make best use of our 
available resources and 
assets providing value for 
money for residents and 
businesses.  
 
» be open and transparent 
in our leadership and 
governance.  
 
» maximise external 
funding and be 
commercially active 
bringing greater resilience 
to our finances.  
 
» take active steps across 
all council departments to 
reduce our carbon 
footprint and be even 
more environmentally and 
ecologically aware. 
 
 

54. Online satisfaction 
rates for new Blackburn 
with Darwen website 
 

Digital & 
Customer 
Services  
Cllr Quesir 
Mahmood 

Digital & Business Change Higher New measure  
2019/20 

60% 55% 
 
 

(GREEN) 

 
 
 

(Data Unavailable) 

55. Number of digital 
champions trained 
within the Council 

 

Digital & 
Customer 
Services  
Cllr Quesir 
Mahmood 

Digital & Business Change Higher New measure  
2019/20 

5%  
 
 

(AMBER) 

5% 
 
 

(GREEN) 

56. Number of online 
customer transactions 
and forms completed 

Digital & 
Customer 
Services  
Cllr Quesir 
Mahmood 

Digital & Business Change Higher 152,000 (full year) 155,000 68,608 
Higher seasonal 

demand in 
December / January 

  
(GREEN) 

95,066 
(01 September 19 – 31 March 20) 

 
Cumulative Year-end Total: 163,674 

 
(GREEN) 

 

57. Response to Freedom 
of Information 
Requests within 
timescale 

Digital & 
Customer 
Services  
Cllr Quesir 
Mahmood 

Digital & Business Change Higher 97.73% 
(2018/19) 

90% 96.11% 
 
 

(GREEN) 

95.16% 
 
 

(GREEN) 

58. Response to 
Environmental 
Information Requests 
within timescale 

Digital & 
Customer 
Services  
Cllr Quesir 
Mahmood 

Digital & Business Change Higher 86.16% 
(2018/19) 

90% 87.17% 
 

(AMBER) 

 
 

(GREEN) 

59. Response to Subject 
Access Requests under 
the Data Protection Act 
within timescale 

Digital & 
Customer 
Services  
Cllr Quesir 
Mahmood 

Digital & Business Change Higher 67.98% 
(2018/19) 

90% 77.87% 
 
 

(AMBER) 

 
 
 

(AMBER) 

60. Undisputed and valid 
supplier invoices paid 
within 30 days 
 

Finance & 
Governance Cllr 
Vicky McGurk 
 

Finance & Customer 
Services 

Higher 85% 
(2018/19) 

100% 64% 
 
 
 
 

(RED) 

74% Year End 
 

Since 13th March invoices have been processed 
daily, previously this was twice a week.  

 
(RED)  

 

P
age 213



10 
  

Priority Performance measure Portfolio Department Good 
performance 

is 

Baseline 19/20 target Half year 
performance  

and rating 
(Q1 & Q2 – April  
to September 19) 

 
** reported to 
Policy Council 

December 2019 

Year-end  
Performance  

and rating  
(Q3 & Q4 – October 19  

to March 20) 
 
 
 
 

61. 95.5% collection of 
Council Tax  
 

Finance & 
Governance Cllr 
Vicky McGurk 
 

Finance & Customer 
Services 

Higher 95.10% 
(2018/19) 

95.5% 52.81% 
 

(AMBER) 

94.9%  (Quarter 4)  
 

 (GREEN) 
 

62. 98.5 % collection of 
Business Rates 

 

Finance & 
Governance Cllr 
Vicky McGurk 

Finance & Customer 
Services 

Higher 98.3% 
(2018/19) 

98.5% 55.9% 
 

(GREEN) 

98.34%  
 

(GREEN) 
 

63. Current ratio of total 
useable reserves 
(excluding Public 
Health and schools) to 
net revenue 
expenditure 
 

Finance & 
Governance Cllr 
Vicky McGurk 

Finance & Customer 
Services 

Higher  24.03%  
(2017/18) 
 
 

Average level 
reported by all 
Unitary 
Authorities 
 
(Average level 
across all 
Unitary 
Authorities in 
2017/18 = 
38.48%) 

17.65% 
(2018/19 data 

published August 
2019) 

 
(Average level across 

all Unitary 
Authorities in 

2018/19 is 41.37%) 
 

(RED) 

The deadline for completion of the Revenue 
Outturn (RO) Returns for MHCLG for 2019/20, 

and their subsequent publication, has been 
deferred due to Covid-19. 

As such it is not possible to report on the 
position for BwD at this time.   

 
 
 
 

(Data Unavailable) 
 

64. Percentage change in 
reserves over the past 3 
years 
 

Finance & 
Governance Cllr 
Vicky McGurk 
 

Finance & Customer 
Services 

Higher  26.54% i.e. 
reduction in 
2017/18 
 
 

Average level 
reported by all 
Unitary 
Authorities  
 
 
(Average in 
2017/18 = 
increase of 
3.94%) 
 

21.17% 
i.e. reduction in 

2018/19 
(2018/19 data 

published August 
2019) 

(Average across all 
Unitary Authorities in 

2018/19 = increase 
of 9.26%) 

 
(RED) 

The deadline for completion of the Revenue 
Outturn (RO) Returns for MHCLG for 2019/20, 

and their subsequent publication, has been 
deferred due to Covid-19. 

As such it is not possible to report on the 
position for BwD at this time. 

 
 
 
 
 

(Data Unavailable) 
 

65. Achieve a breakeven or 
underspend against 
overall portfolio and 
corporate budgets 
 

Finance & 
Governance Cllr 
Vicky McGurk 
 

Finance & Customer 
Services 

Higher Breakeven Breakeven or 
underspend  

Forecast outturn, 
based on 

information as at 
30th September 

2019, is an 
overspend of £2.750 

million across the 
portfolio budgets. 

 
(RED) 

Final outturn (excl DSG) is an overspend of 
£2.283m across the portfolio budgets.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(RED)  
 

66. 10% year on year 
reduction of carbon 

Growth & 
Development  
Cllr Phil Riley 

Growth & Development Lower 10% reduction 10% year on 
year reduction 

 
 
 

Carbon 5% reduction achieved. 
*data for Blackburn Leisure Centre not 
available  

P
age 214



11 
  

Priority Performance measure Portfolio Department Good 
performance 

is 

Baseline 19/20 target Half year 
performance  

and rating 
(Q1 & Q2 – April  
to September 19) 

 
** reported to 
Policy Council 

December 2019 

Year-end  
Performance  

and rating  
(Q3 & Q4 – October 19  

to March 20) 
 
 
 
 

emissions from Council 
facilities 

(AMBER) (AMBER) 

67. Response time and 
progress of stage One 
complaints to the 
Council 
 

Finance & 
Governance Cllr 
Vicky McGurk 

HR, Legal & Governance Higher 85% 
(2018/19) 

90% Q1 – 87% 
Q2 – 71% 

 
(AMBER) 

80%  
 

 
(AMBER) 

 

68. Reduction in employee 
absence through 
sickness 
 

Finance & 
Governance Cllr 
Vicky McGurk 

HR, Legal & Governance Lower 8.81 days per 
annum 
(2018/19) 

8 days per 
annum 

 

Q1 = 1.56 
Q2 = 2.16 

 
 
 

(AMBER) 

Q3 = 2.39        
Q4 = 2.55 (2.40 excluding COVID-19)                                                                 

 
2019/20 = 9 days (8.81 days ex COVID-19)                                                                                                   

 
(RED) 

 

69. Information relating to 
RIDDOR 
 

Finance & 
Governance Cllr 
Vicky McGurk 

HR, Legal & Governance Lower 13 per annum 
(2018/19) 

10 per annum 1 RIDDOR 
 

(GREEN) 

 
 

(Data Unavailable) 
 

 

   

 

P
age 215



Appendix Two: Corporate Plan 2019/2020: Performance Report  
Year-end (1 October 2019 to 31 March 2020) Exception Reports 

 

1 
 

Priority: 
P3 – Reducing health inequalities and improving health outcomes 

 KPI No. 20 Increased number of residents referred and discussed at the integrated neighbourhood team (INTs) weekly meeting 
P8 – Transparent and effective organisation 

 KPI No. 60. Undisputed and valid supplier invoices paid within 30 days 

 KPI No. 65. Achieve a breakeven or underspend against overall portfolio and corporate budget  

 KPI No. 68 Reduction in employee absence through sickness 
 

Priority:  P3 – Reducing health inequalities and improving health outcomes 

Performance Measure: No. 20  Increased number of residents referred and 
discussed at the  integrated neighbourhood team (INTs) weekly meeting 

Good performance is: Higher  

Target:   Greater than 5% - 194 per quarter Baseline: 740 (2018/19) 

Quarterly 
performance 

Half year performance and RAG rating 
339 

 
(AMBER) 

 

Year-end performance and RAG rating 
657 as at 29th Feb 2020. 

 
(RED) 

 

What is the reason for the performance?   In Quarter 3 (1st July – 30th September) 188 referrals have been made to the INTs, an increase in 8 compared to the 
previous quarter. In Quarter 4 from 1st January to the 29th February 2020, 130 referrals have been made. The Quarter 4 figure does not include March as the figures 
are not yet available. The full year effect will be reported as soon as possible.  
 
Mosaic intelligence continues to identify the number of individuals within the INT process who are known to Adult Social Care and discussed during meetings.  
Throughout the Covid-19 period, the weekly INT meetings have continued and taken place virtually. Attendance from key INT partners has been good overall.  
Quarter 4 shows a reduction in referrals into all four INTs compared to the previous quarters however the total number of INT referrals in Quarter 4 compared to the 
figure in 2019 is similar, 141. It is felt that the reason for the reduction in referrals in quarter 4 is due to the impact of Covid-19 and individual INT members acting on 
individual cases in a pro-active way without making a full referral into the INT. There has also been a reduction in face to face visits during the Covid 19 period. The 
Integration Leads will to explore this further over the next 4-8 weeks.  

What is the likely impact of continued performance? There is a risk that some individuals will not be referred into the INT integrated care meeting who would benefit 
from a multi-disciplinary approach to assessment and care planning. This may lead to duplicated assessments and a less streamlined process. 

What activities have been or are being put in place to address these issues?  The Integration Leads will scrutinise the data once the full Q4 figure is known, more fully 
understand the reason for reduction in referrals and identify opportunities to increase referrals. The impact of Covid 19 on ordinary activity needs to be understood 
more fully.    

P
age 216



2 
 

 
 

Are there any decisions likely to be required of Executive Members in the future, in relation to this issue? No. 

Priority:   P8 – Transparent and effective organisation 

Performance Measure: No. 60 Undisputed and valid supplier invoices paid within 
30 days 

Good performance is: Higher  

Target:  100% Baseline: 85% (2018/19) 

Quarterly 
performance 

Half year performance and RAG rating 
64% 

 
 

(RED) 

Year-end performance and RAG rating 
74% Year End 

Since 13th March invoices have been processed daily, previously this was twice 

a week.  In addition, going forward we can track when an invoice was received 

by the Council, when Accounts Payable received the invoice and when the 

payment was made which will enable us to identify where and why delays in 

the process are occurring. 

(RED) 

What is the reason for the performance?  Work is underway to identify those budget areas who only raise orders on receipt of invoices and/or, who hold invoices 
within their department, which therefore impacts on the Finance Team’s ability to pay the invoices within 30 days from the date of the invoice. As Civica automatically 
matches invoices to orders to facilitate smooth and quick payment, the vast majority of the delays relate to the aforementioned issues.  
 

What is the likely impact of continued performance? Section 113 of the UK Statutory Instrument - The Public Contracts Regulation 2015 - stipulates that payment 
must be made by the contracting authority to the contractor for goods and services received, no later than ‘the end of a period of 30 days from the date on which the 
relevant invoice is regarded as valid and undisputed’. 
 
The authority must also report on the internet, and include in their statutory accounts/annual report, the proportion of invoices that were paid in accordance with 
those obligations, expressed as a percentage of the total number of invoices that were, or should have been, paid in accordance with those obligations. 
 
Failure to pay within these terms could have detrimental impact on suppliers, as this impairs cashflow, and could impact on the authority if interest is charged for late 
payment outside of these terms. 
 

What activities have been or are being put in place to address these issues?  Work is underway to identify those budget areas (portfolios, departments, cost centres 
and budget holders) who only raise orders on receipt of invoices and/or, who hold invoices within their department, which therefore impacts on the Finance Team’s 
ability to pay the invoices within 30 days from the date of the invoice. 

P
age 217



3 
 

 
 

Are there any decisions likely to be required of Executive Members in the future, in relation to this issue? No. 

Priority:   P8 – Transparent and effective organisation 

Performance Measure: No. 65 Achieve a breakeven or underspend against 
overall portfolio and corporate budgets 

Good performance is: Higher 

Target:   Breakeven or underspend Baseline: Breakeven 

Quarterly 
performance 

Half year performance and RAG rating 
Forecast outturn, based on information as at 

30th September 2019, is an overspend of £2.750 million  
across the portfolio budgets. 

 
 
 

(RED) 

Year-end performance and RAG rating 
Final outturn (excluding the Schools and Education portfolio which is funded 

through specific schools reserves) is an overspend of £2.283m across the 

portfolio budgets. 

The major contributing factor to the overspend is the ongoing service and 

demand led pressures within Children's Services 

(RED) 

What is the reason for the performance?   The forecast outturn at 30th September 2019, was for an overspend across the portfolio budgets of £2.750 million, reflecting 
a £3.0 million overspend on Children’s Services due to increasing demand pressures and complexity of need, offset by a forecast underspend of £250k in respect of 
budget savings within the Digital and Business Change portfolio.  
  
Based on the draft outturn position for 2019/20, the actual outturn is slightly better than forecast with an overspend of £2.283 million, of which £3.665 million relates 
to the overspend on Children’s Services, as referred to above, offset by  total underspend of £1.382 million across all the other portfolio budgets. 
 

What is the likely impact of continued performance? Any overspend will need to be funded from reserves. 
 
Reserves have been diminishing and current reserve levels are very low in comparison to other unitary authorities and to other authorities across the country of a 
similar size and complexity. 
 
Once reserves are fully utilised, in the absence of further funding, the council will not be able to operate. 

What activities have been or are being put in place to address these issues? The Executive Members and their Directors continue to develop and implement the 
council’s savings programmes to close the budget gap and to contain the overspend. Demand management strategies have also been reviewed and developed further 
in Children’s Services to try and curtail the upward trajectory of spend. 
 

P
age 218



4 
 

 
 

 

The use of reserves to balance the budget each year, i.e. to offset overspends due to unfunded cost pressures and slippage in delivery of the savings programme, is 
closely monitored. 
 
It is understood across the Council that reserve levels are extremely low, and every effort must be made to contain spending within agreed budgets. 
 
A conscious effort is made to increase reserves wherever possible e.g. through one-off receipts such as the gain made on refinancing the PFI scheme. 

Are there any decisions likely to be required of Executive Members in the future, in relation to this issue?  Finance Council approves the budget for each financial 
year and the budget position for the Council is reported to Executive Board each quarter. 
 
The level of reserves are presented to the Executive Board each quarter for consideration and approval as part of the Corporate Revenue Monitoring report and the 
movement in each of the reserves (both General and Earmarked) is detailed to explain both the utilisation of each reserve and any items that have increased reserve 
levels. 

Priority:   P8 – Transparent and effective organisation 

Performance Measure: No. 68  Reduction in employee absence through sickness Good performance is: Lower 

Target: 8 days per annum Baseline: 8.81 days per annum (2018/19) 

Quarterly 
performance 

Half year performance and RAG rating 
Q1 = 1.56 
Q2 = 2.16 

 
 

(AMBER) 

Year-end performance and RAG rating 
Q3 = 2.39 

Q4 = 2.55 (2.40 excluding COVID-19) 
2019/20 = 9 days (8.81 days ex COVID-19) 

 
(RED) 

What is the reason for the performance?   Sickness absence improvement is a long-standing target for the council and work continues under the monitoring of the 
policy and corporate resources overview and scrutiny committee.  Directors and Heads of Service have contributed significantly to improve performance over recent 
years.  What is not understood nationally and reflected here locally as yet is the likely `Covid-19` impact on the weeks at the latter of quarter 3 and throughout quarter 
4 of undiagnosed as` Covid-19` related absences.  These may only be recorded as cold/flu symptoms. 

What is the likely impact of continued performance?  The council’s performance is key to our reputation in the community as a leader in employment and delivery of 
excellent services.  Failure to continue to improve attendance at work therefore would damage the council’s reputation.   

What activities have been or are being put in place to address these issues?  A continuous programme of improvement has been progressed as reported through to 
the Corporate Policy Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  This is continuing to improve performance towards the target of 8 days. 

Are there any decisions likely to be required of Executive Members in the future, in relation to this issue?  No 

P
age 219



EXECUTIVE BOARD DECISION 

 

REPORT OF: Executive Member for Finance and Governance, 
Executive Member for Growth and Development 

LEAD OFFICERS: Director of Growth & Development 

DATE: 
 

Thursday, 11 June 2020 

 

PORTFOLIO(S) AFFECTED: Growth and Development  

WARD/S AFFECTED: Livesey with Pleasington;  

KEY DECISION: N  

 

SUBJECT: 

Petition regarding disposal of open space Land off Old Gates Drive and the disposal of open 
space land on Old Gates Drive. 

 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

This report has been prepared to inform the Board that a petition has been received from residents 
in relation to Council owned land at Lomond Gardens/Old Gates Drive, Blackburn.   
 
Residents object to proposed access from the existing public open space on Old Gates Drive to 
serve the new housing development, utilisation of Old Gates Drive as an access road for 
temporary construction works and creating a permanent access road to serve a new housing 
development at Lomond Gardens.  They also have concerns of increased traffic during the 
construction phase and post development. 

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

That the Executive Board: 
 
Notes the petition.  The proposed access to the development will be considered and will be 
subject to a new formal reserved matters application or a Full planning application. The Growth 
team will report back to the lead petitioner. 
 

 

3. BACKGROUND 

Outline planning permission was granted at the 15th August 2019 Planning & Highways 
Committee for up to 35 dwellings on the open space land, which is located to the south of Lomond 
Gardens, and to the east and north of Old Gates Drive.  This permission only related to the 
principle of residential development on the land, with all matters reserved including the proposed 
access.  In response to the public consultation period, 5 letters of objection were received. The 
planning application reference is 10/19/0542. 
 
In line with Executive Board approval on 12th March 2020, statutory requirements for Appropriation 
of Land and Disposal of Open Space notices for land at Old Gates Drive were released on 9th, 
16th and 23rd April 2020. The extent of the land that the notices relate to is shown by the red line 
boundary in Appendix 1. 
A petition containing 239 signatures was received on 30th April 2020 in relation to the site, with 
objections to temporary and permanent access pre and post development stages and increased 
volume of traffic. 

Page 220

Agenda Item 10.1



 
At the time of the Petition Report being prepared, no new planning applications relating to the site 
have been received by the Council. 

 

4. KEY ISSUES & RISKS 

The proposed access to the development site is being considered by the preferred developer, and 
will be subject to a new formal reserved matters application or a Full planning application.  
 
The application will be subject to a full consultation with the local residents on Old Gates Drive, 
Lomond Gardens and the surrounding streets, inviting comments on the proposed application, 
which will be taken into consideration by the planning case officer.  The contents of the petition will 
also be included in any consideration of the matters of the proposed appropriation or proposed 
disposal of open space.  
 
A detailed Transport Assessment will be required to be submitted with the application, which will 
be subject to a detailed review by the Council’s Highway Officers. 

 

5. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

The proposed disposal is in accordance with the Council’s disposal policy and will meet the 
strategic aims of the Council’s Growth Programme. 

 

6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

None 
 

 

7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Part 7 of the Council’s Constitution relates to Petitions. This is considered to be an ‘ordinary’ 
petition as it is signed by at least 6 local people.  Although many of the issues raised are 
considered planning matters that are more suitably dealt with elsewhere, the petition sufficiently 
overlaps with more general policy concerns that it is appropriate it is reported here too   7 also sets 
out the general parameters of the potential responses or feedback formats that the Council ought 
to consider in response.  This report’s recommendation is considered under Part 7 to be an 
appropriate form of response to formally consider the substantive application. 

 

8. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

 
None 

 

9. EQUALITY AND HEALTH IMPLICATIONS 

Please select one of the options below.   
 

Option 1   ☒ Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) not required – the EIA checklist has been 

 completed. 
 

Option 2   ☐ In determining this matter the Executive Member needs to consider the EIA 

 associated with this item in advance of making the decision.  
 

Option 3   ☐ In determining this matter the Executive Board Members need to consider the EIA 

 associated with this item in advance of making the decision. 
 

 

10. CONSULTATIONS 

 
Page 221



None 
 

11. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE 

The recommendations are made further to advice from the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151 
Officer has confirmed that they do not incur unlawful expenditure.  They are also compliant with 
equality legislation and an equality analysis and impact assessment has been considered. The 
recommendations reflect the core principles of good governance set out in the Council’s Code of 
Corporate Governance. 
 

 

12. DECLARATION OF INTEREST 

All Declarations of Interest of any Executive Member consulted and note of any dispensation 
granted by the Chief Executive will be recorded in the Summary of Decisions published on the day 
following the meeting. 

 

CONTACT OFFICER: PMO Growth,  pmogrowth@blackburn.gov.uk 

DATE: 18th May 2020 

BACKGROUND 
PAPER: 

None 

    

Page 222



Recreation Ground

U
n

d

W
a
rd

 B
d

y

P
a

th
 (u

m
)

Path (um)

Path (um)

Path (um)

1
5

1
1

2
6

1
4

Springfield

Nook Cottage

6

LOMOND GARDENS

1

2
9

12
7

2

9

5

48

3
4

SOLWAY AVENUE

1
5

1
1

O
L
D

 G
A

T
E

S
 D

1
4

23

20

El Sub Sta

30

32

33

18

Path (um)

L
D

 G
A

T
E

S
 D

R
IV

E

53

38

43

4
4

Blackburn with Darwen Borough
Council

01254 585962

pmogrowth@blackburn.gov.uk

Scale 1:1250 @ A4

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019.
Ordnance Survey licence number: 100019493

LOCATION:
LAND AT LOMOND GARDENS

Appendix A - LAND AT LOMOND GARDENS COUNCIL OWNERSHIP PLAN

Page 71Page 223



Recipient: Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council

Letter: Greetings,

Objected to Disposal of Open Space Land off Old Gates Drive

(BB2 5BY) and the disposal of open space land on Old Gates Drive.

The objection also includes the utilization of Old Gates Drive as the access 
road for temporary construction works and to make this a permanent
access road for the new estate (Lomand Gardens).

During construction work Old Gates Drive will see large volumes of traffic in
the form of muck away wagons causing noise, dirt/dust and road deterioration
and large volumes of construction materials deliveries as well as operatives 
vehicles.

After construction completion and If the new access road is granted 
Old Gates Drive will see an anticipated minimum 60 vehicles but assumed 70 
(35 houses x 2 cars per house hold) using the already dilapidated and congested 
Old Gates Drive. 

Please see petition below of the circa 239 opposing signatures to your 
proposals.

Regards
Mr Matt Diffey c/o Old Gates Drive Residents

30/04/2020

Page 224



Signatures

Name Location Date

Matt Diffey UK 2020-04-16

Kevin Allcock Blackburn, UK 2020-04-16

Sheila Morris Blackburn, UK 2020-04-16

Heidi Pugh Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-16

Kat Demos Guildford, UK 2020-04-16

matthew burgess ware, UK 2020-04-16

Lindsay Nuttall Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-16

Amy Banks Darwen, UK 2020-04-16

Paul Nuttall Blackburn, UK 2020-04-16

Susan Streit Lancashire, Scotland, UK 2020-04-16

Natasha Heyes Darwen, England, UK 2020-04-16

Matt Diffey Blackburn, UK 2020-04-16

Denis Noblett Blackburn, UK 2020-04-16

Gail Green Peterborough, UK 2020-04-16

Gregor Whittle Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-16

michelle duckworth Blackburn, UK 2020-04-16

Victoria Wilding Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-16

Kieron Wilding Wirral, England, UK 2020-04-16

Peter Clarkson Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-16

Clare Leadley Blackburn, UK 2020-04-16

Page 225



Name Location Date

Ged Johnson Darwen, England, UK 2020-04-16

Sarah Drinkido2@gmail.
com

Blackburn, UK 2020-04-16

Stuart Wilkinson Blackburn, UK 2020-04-16

Vicky Austin Blackburn, UK 2020-04-16

Sarah Mitchell London, UK 2020-04-16

Anita Sephton Wigan, UK 2020-04-16

Steve *******. Ince-in-Makerfield, UK 2020-04-16

anne doran SKELMERSDALE, UK 2020-04-16

Owen Blake Bristol, UK 2020-04-16

Anna Knowles Burnley, England, UK 2020-04-16

Angela McKay Blackburn, UK 2020-04-16

Ann Dixon London, UK 2020-04-16

Sara Fowler Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-16

Patrick Rowan Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-16

Kim Smith Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-16

Zaheera Khan Blackburn, UK 2020-04-16

Fiona Hamilton Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

Liz Low Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

Simon Buxton-Moore Lymm, UK 2020-04-17

Chris Carter Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

Julia Gordon Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

Page 226



Name Location Date

Eileen Whittle Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

Tony Wilkinson Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

Jackie Entwistle Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

Alison Donnellyshorrock Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

Steph Robinson Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

Charlotte Garnett Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

Neil Carter Blackburn, UK 2020-04-17

John Airey Blackburn, UK 2020-04-17

Tony Entwistle Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

Sylvia Edmond Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

Robert Pegg Widnes, UK 2020-04-17

Malgorzata Soczewka Linton, UK 2020-04-17

Paul Barton Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

Laura Barton Blackburn, UK 2020-04-17

Francis Tipping Blackburn, UK 2020-04-17

David Duckworth Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

Christine Hogan Blackburn, UK 2020-04-17

Jenny Moir Blackburn, UK 2020-04-17

Charlie Richardson Newbury, UK 2020-04-17

Bethany Whittaker UK 2020-04-17

Karen Grogan Blackburn, UK 2020-04-17

Rachel Kirkham-Moore Blackburn, UK 2020-04-17

Page 227



Name Location Date

Antonietta Campbell Bolton, England, UK 2020-04-17

Terry Hannon Blackburn, UK 2020-04-17

Paul Richardson Chessington, England, UK 2020-04-17

Patricia Gilgunn Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

Nicola Jones Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

Ian Greenacre Blackburn lancashire, England, UK 2020-04-17

robert lumb Blackburn, UK 2020-04-17

Jo Eccles Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

Nick cooper Blackburn, UK 2020-04-17

Michelle Barton Blackburn, UK 2020-04-17

Pam Carter Blackburn, UK 2020-04-17

David Barrett Feniscowles Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

lisa gallagher Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

Annette McMeel Preston, UK 2020-04-17

Jane Nutt Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

Graham Dean Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

Shirley Austin Blackburn, UK 2020-04-17

barbara fox darwen lanca, England, UK 2020-04-17

Karl Pugh Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

Claire Jacobs UK 2020-04-17

Joan Venables Blackburn, UK 2020-04-17

Gabrielle Fawcett Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

Page 228



Name Location Date

Lisa Armas Blackburn, UK 2020-04-17

christopher bentley Darwen, England, UK 2020-04-17

Andi Willacy Maida Vale, UK 2020-04-17

Nikki Marsland Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

Becky Melia Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

Rodger Parkhouse Manchester, England, UK 2020-04-17

Fee Fleming UK 2020-04-17

Christopher Gosling Darwen, England, UK 2020-04-17

margaret heald Feniscowles, England, UK 2020-04-17

Adam Eccles Blackburn, Lancashire, United
Kingdom, England, UK

2020-04-17

Laura Little Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

Craig wilkinson Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

Karlton Whittaker Blackburn, UK 2020-04-17

Lucy Woods Rishton, England, UK 2020-04-17

Susan Pateman Blackburn, UK 2020-04-17

sol sharif blackburn, UK 2020-04-17

Duncan Brooks Blackburn, UK 2020-04-17

Paul Foley Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

Jonny Stonham Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

Brian Hopwood Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

Ben Hargreaves Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

Page 229



Name Location Date

Clare Slater Darwen, UK 2020-04-17

Joyce Jones Blackburn, UK 2020-04-17

Mark Milaszewicz Rossendale, UK 2020-04-17

Julie Shorrock Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

claire kershaw Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

Anita shuttleworth Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

Keith Mcnally Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

Isobel Maxwell Altrincham, England, UK 2020-04-17

Andrew Scott Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

Jacqui Stewart Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

Jennifer Willets Blackburn, UK 2020-04-17

Paul Brown Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

geoffrey morgan Glasgow, Scotland, UK 2020-04-17

Jilly Duxbury UK 2020-04-17

Audrey Willacy Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

Liz Whittall blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

Colin Fowler Blackburn, UK 2020-04-17

Fiona Edwards Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

Chris Diffey Whalley, UK 2020-04-17

Lyndon Morris Blackburn, UK 2020-04-17

Chris Courtney Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

Laura Diffey Blackburn, UK 2020-04-17

Page 230



Name Location Date

David Chadwick Bolton, UK 2020-04-17

Jason Bianco Manchester, England, UK 2020-04-17

Jason Cothliff Manchester, England, UK 2020-04-17

Danny Devitt Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

Laura Auld Preston, UK 2020-04-17

Jamie Coughlin Blackburn, UK 2020-04-17

Gina Mcloughlin Blackburn, UK 2020-04-17

Laura Coughlin Blackburn, UK 2020-04-17

Andrew Smith Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

Ben Stobbart Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

Laura Baker Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

Karen Warner Blackburn, UK 2020-04-17

Sheila Wright Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

Heather talbot Blackburn, UK 2020-04-17

Julia Morrison Blackburn, UK 2020-04-17

Lisa Clough Bolton, UK 2020-04-17

Charlotte Smith blackburn, UK 2020-04-17

Tracy Smith Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

lisa Griffin Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

Shaun Grime gt harwood, England, UK 2020-04-17

Alison Ingleby Blackburn, UK 2020-04-17

Diane Parker Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

Page 231



Name Location Date

Debbie wilding Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

Diane Greaves Blackburn, UK 2020-04-17

Maiah Greaves Blackburn, UK 2020-04-17

Stuart Greaves Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-17

claire earnshaw Feniscowles, England, UK 2020-04-17

Jane Pilkington Manchester, England, UK 2020-04-17

Jean Prescott Stockport, UK 2020-04-17

julie holdsworth Mellor, England, UK 2020-04-17

Lindsay Williams Blackburn, UK 2020-04-18

Kelly Farran Blackburn, UK 2020-04-18

Wendy Holliday Blackburn, UK 2020-04-18

Sara Sciambarella Darwen, England, UK 2020-04-18

Peter Duxbury 56. Old Gates Drivr. Feniscowles.
Blackburn., UK

2020-04-18

Joseph Walsh Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-18

Gary Austin Blackburn, UK 2020-04-18

sharron marsden Blackpool, England, UK 2020-04-18

Jeanette Fish Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-18

Karen Peacock 56 Old Gates Drive, England, UK 2020-04-18

Pam Chadwick Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-18

Fi Quigley UK 2020-04-18

Donna halleron Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-18

Page 232



Name Location Date

Steve Parker Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-18

Mick Longland Blackburn, UK 2020-04-18

Alison Swinhoe Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-18

Richard Clayton Blackburn, UK 2020-04-18

Stephen Lomax Darwen, England, UK 2020-04-18

Brian Egan Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-18

ann higginson Lytham Saint Annes, England, UK 2020-04-18

Sian Dobbs Nottingham, England, UK 2020-04-18

Paul Kelly Blackburn, UK 2020-04-18

valerie paterson Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-18

Andy King Squamish, Canada 2020-04-19

Geoff Baron Blackburn, UK 2020-04-19

Rachel Smith Blackburn, UK 2020-04-19

Derek Parker Blackburn, UK 2020-04-19

Joan Bradley Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-19

Lynne Nightingale Blackburn, UK 2020-04-19

Bob Dent Blackburn, UK 2020-04-19

Chris Davies Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-19

Mark Willacy Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-19

Stewart Aspin Blackburn, UK 2020-04-19

Derek Smith Blackburn, UK 2020-04-19

Angela McKay Blackburn, UK 2020-04-19

Page 233



Name Location Date

Louise Ainsworth Manchester, England, UK 2020-04-19

Emma Clough Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-19

Ahmed Al-dosari Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-19

Stuart Whaley Cambridge, UK 2020-04-19

Nisar Ahmad Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-19

Fee Fleming Blackburn, UK 2020-04-19

Nick Adams Blackburn, UK 2020-04-19

Badar Munir Nelson, UK 2020-04-19

Taeeba Yameen Brierfield, UK 2020-04-19

Nick Cornwell Whalley, England, UK 2020-04-20

Nicola Whalley Blackburn, UK 2020-04-20

Johno Whalley Blackburn, UK 2020-04-20

Maureen Park Blackburn, UK 2020-04-20

Kara Walmsley Walsall, UK 2020-04-20

Annice Harrison Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-20

Andy Fleming Rock Hill, South Carolina, US 2020-04-20

Anthony Urso Charlotte, North Carolina, US 2020-04-20

Niamh Holcroft Blackburn, UK 2020-04-20

Euan Miller Blackburn, UK 2020-04-20

sophia ceraldi Blackburn, UK 2020-04-20

Rebecca Scott Blackburn, UK 2020-04-20

Mandy Leaver Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-20

Page 234



Name Location Date

Lynsey Scott Blackburn, UK 2020-04-20

Jordan Scott Blackburn, UK 2020-04-21

Susan McCann Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-22

Derek Robinson Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-22

Alyson Vinnyey Blackburn, UK 2020-04-22

Gerry Raynor London, England, UK 2020-04-22

Gabrielle Lawson Preston, UK 2020-04-23

Beth Speak Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-23

Brian Wilson Wakefield, UK 2020-04-23

Robyn Drinkwater Blackburn, UK 2020-04-23

Karen Turner Blackburn, UK 2020-04-24

Paul Hickey Ruislip, England, UK 2020-04-24

Nicholas Allen Manchester, England, UK 2020-04-24

Sylvia Fislhwick Widnes, UK 2020-04-24

Mavis Dickinson Salford, UK 2020-04-24

Alberto Armas Blackburn, UK 2020-04-24

Greenhalgh Greenhalgh Blackburn, UK 2020-04-24

carol staffa Blackburn, UK 2020-04-24

Dave P Blackburn, UK 2020-04-24

Alan davis barnoldswick, England, UK 2020-04-24

Chris Slater Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-24

Louise Wade Darwen, UK 2020-04-26

Page 235



Name Location Date

Sherryl Wright Blackburn, England, UK 2020-04-28

Russell Croker Ilford, UK 2020-04-28

Page 236



Document is Restricted

Page 237

Agenda Item 11.1
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	3 Declarations of Interest
	8.1 Fostering Report Quarter 3
	Fostering Q3 Appendix

	8.2 Adoption Bi-Annual Report
	Adoption Bi-Annual Report Appendix

	8.3 School Holiday Pattern 2021/2022
	Appendix 1 - EIA
	Appendix 2 School Holiday Pattern

	8.4 Masterplan - Bank Hey
	Appendix 1 Masterplan
	Masterplan Appendix 2
	Masterplan Appendix 3
	Appendix 1.pdf
	Appendix 1 Title Page.pdf
	Leaflet Drop

	Appendix 2.pdf
	Appendix 2 Title Page.pdf
	Bank Hey Consultation Boards_30 Nov 17 LOW RES

	Appendix 3.pdf
	Appendix 3 Title Page.pdf
	Bank Hey_Questionnaire_

	Appendix 5-edited.pdf
	Appendix 5 Title Page.pdf
	233913NE Letter
	Conservation Officer Comments
	CRT Response
	EA Response
	Highways Response

	Appendix 5-edited.pdf
	Appendix 5 Title Page.pdf
	233913NE Letter
	Conservation Officer Comments
	CRT Response
	EA Response
	Highways Response



	8.5 Corporate Revenue Budget Monitoring Report - Quarter 4 - 2019/20
	QTR 4 2019-20 Revenue Monitoring Appendix 1
	QTR 4 2019-20 Revenue Monitoring Appendix 2

	9.1 Disposal of Land off Ellison Fold Way, Darwen
	Appendix - Ellison Fold Way

	9.2 Update on Decisions taken under Emergency Powers in relation to the Council's initial response to the Covid-19 Pandemic
	9.3 Corporate Plan Progress Report
	Appendix 1 Corporate Plan
	Appendix 2 Corporate Plan

	10.1 Petition: Disposal of Open Space off Old Gates Drive
	Appendix 1 Old Gates Drive
	9.2 Disposal of Council land at Lomond Gardens, Blackburn, Site Appropriation and Disposal of Open Space
	Appendix 1 Disposal of Land at Lomond Gardens Red Line Boundary


	Appendix 2 Old Gates Drive

	11.1 Disposal of Land off Ellison Way, Darwen



